

Title	Non-motor symptoms in the aav-a-synuclein rat model of Parkinson's disease: exercise as a therapeutic intervention
Authors	Dolan, Erin
Publication date	2017
Original Citation	Dolan, E. 2017. Non-motor symptoms in the aav-a-synuclein rat model of Parkinson's disease: exercise as a therapeutic intervention. PhD Thesis, University College Cork.
Type of publication	Doctoral thesis
Rights	© 2017, Erin Dolan http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc- nd/3.0/
Download date	2025-08-27 06:29:58
Item downloaded from	https://hdl.handle.net/10468/6623



University College Cork, Ireland Coláiste na hOllscoile Corcaigh Ollscoil na hÉireann

## THE NATIONAL UNIVERSITY OF IRELAND

Coláiste na hOllscoile, Corcaigh

## **UNIVERSITY COLLEGE CORK**

### **Department of Anatomy and Neuroscience**

Head of Department: Prof. John F. Cryan



# NON-MOTOR SYMPTOMS IN THE AAV-α-SYNUCLEIN RAT MODEL OF PARKINSON'S DISEASE: EXERCISE AS A THERAPEUTIC INTERVENTION

Thesis presented by

## Erin Dolan, MPharm Hons

### **Department of Anatomy and Neuroscience**

under the supervision of

Prof. Aideen Sullivan, Dr. Yvonne Nolan

for the degree of

**Doctor of Philosophy (PhD)** 

July, 2017

# Table of Contents

1.0	Abstract	.7
2.0	Abbreviations1	L <b>O</b>
3.0	General Introduction1	L <b>8</b>
3	.1 Current treatment of motor symptoms of Parkinson's disease	20
	3.1.1 Pharmacological therapy2	20
	3.1.2 Surgical therapy2	21
	3.1.3 Neurotrophic factors as therapy in PD2	22
	3.1.4 Cell-based therapies2	23
3	.2 Non-motor symptoms of PD2	25
	3.2.1 Cognitive impairment and dementia2	26
	3.2.2 Dysexecutive syndrome	28
	3.2.3 Neuropsychiatric	29
	3.2.4 Autonomic	32
	3.2.5 Olfaction	32
	3.2.6 Sleep	33
	3.2.7 Gastro-intestinal	3
3	.3 Current treatment of non-motor symptoms of Parkinson's disease3	\$5
	3.3.1 Cognitive impairment, dementia and dysexecutive syndrome	35
	3.3.2 Neuropsychiatric conditions	37
	3.3.3 Sleep	39
	3.3.4 Autonomic dysfunction	10
	3.3.5 Gastro-intestinal dysfunction4	10
3	.4 Modelling motor and non-motor symptoms of PD4	1
	3.4.1 The 6-OHDA lesion model4	12
	3.4.2 The rotenone model4	16
	3.4.3 The MPTP model	19
	3.4.4 The BSSG model	51
	3.4.5 Transgenic models	51
	3.4.6 The α-synuclein model5	52
3	.5 $\alpha$ -synuclein and its role in PD5	6
	3.5.1 The SNCA gene and PD5	6
	3.5.2 Structure and function of $\alpha$ -synuclein	57
	3.5.3 Post-translational modification of $\alpha$ -synuclein6	50
	3.5.4 $\alpha\text{-synuclein}$ seeding and the aggregation process6	51
	3.5.5 Mechanisms of $\alpha$ -synuclein- induced cell death6	55

3.6 Inflammation in PD	66
3.6.1 Inflammation and aging	68
3.6.2 Systemic inflammation in PD	71
3.6.3 Central inflammation in PD	72
3.6.4 Supportive evidence from animal models of PD	72
3.6.5 Inflammation and $\alpha$ -synuclein	74
3.7 Neurogenesis in PD	75
3.7.1 Neurogenesis	75
3.7.2 Neurogenesis and PD	78
3.8 Exercise and PD	80
3.8.1 Systemic effects of exercise	80
3.8.2 Central effects of exercise	81
3.8.3 Exercise in PD	82
3.8.4 Exercise-induced changes in animal models of PD	83
3.9 Summary	87
4.0 Materials and Methods	88
4.1 Virus preparation	89
4.2 Solution preparations	90
4.3 Animal work	92
4.3.1 Animal husbandry	92
4.3.2 Stereotaxic surgery	93
4.3.3 Tissue processing	94
4.4 Immunohistochemistry	94
4.5 Immunofluorescence	95
4.6 Behavioural testing	97
4.6.1 Motor testing	97
4.6.1.1 Corridor test	97
4.6.1.2 Cylinder test	97
4.6.1.3 Stepping test	98
4.6.1.4 Rotarod performance	99
4.6.1.5 Open Field test	99
4.6.2 Non-motor testing	100
4.6.2.1 Olfactory discrimination	100
4.6.2.2 Spontaneous alternations in the Y maze	100
4.6.2.3 Conditioned Taste Aversion	101
4.6.2.4 Social recognition	102

4.6.2.5 Discrete alternations in the Y-maze	102
4.6.2.6 Elevated Plus Maze	
4.6.2.7 Modified Spontaneous Location Recognition Task	105
4.7 Imaging and image analysis	107
4.8 Statistical analysis	
5.0 Characterisation of neuropathological, motor and non-motor sympt	oms in
an α-synuclein rat model of Parkinson's disease	
5.1 Abstract	
5.2 Introduction	
5.3 Experimental design	
5.3.1 Animal husbandry	
5.3.2 Stereotaxic surgery	
5.3.3 Experimental design	
5.3.4 Motor testing	116
5.3.5 Cognitive testing	116
5.4 Results	116
5.4.1 Administration of α-synuclein had no effect on body weight	116
5.4.2 Over expression of $\alpha$ -synuclein into the SN	118
5.4.3 Unilateral intra-nigral administration of AAV-α-synuclein has differential effects on contralateral motor function	121
5.4.4 Bilateral intra-nigral administration of AAV- $\alpha$ synuclein does no	ot affect
sensorimotor function	124
5.4.5 Propagation of α-synuclein	124
5.4.6 Spontaneous alternations in the Y-maze	126
5.4.7 Conditioned Taste Aversion	128
5.4.8 Olfactory discrimination	130
5.4.9 Social recognition	132
5.5 Discussion	
6.0 Neuroprotective effects of voluntary running on non-motor sympto $\alpha$ -synuclein rat model of Parkinson's disease	ms in an 146
6.1 Abstract	
6.2 Introduction	
6.3 Experimental design	
6.4 Results	
6.4.1 Running distance and body weights	
6.4.2 Overexpression of $\alpha$ -synuclein into SN and associated motor	
impairment	152

6.4.3 General locomotor activity	153
6.4.4 Hippocampal-associated memory tasks	157
6.4.5 Anxiety-related behaviours	160
6.4.6 Olfactory discrimination	162
6.4.7 Hippocampal neurogenesis	163
6.5 Discussion	166
7.0 General discussion	175
7.1 Final conclusions	185
8.0 Future perspectives	186
9.0 Bibliography	189
10.0 Publications arising from this work	
11.0 Acknowledgements	

## Declaration

All work presented in this thesis is original and entirely my own. The work was carried out under the supervision of Prof. Aideen Sullivan and Dr. Yvonne Nolan between October 2013 and June 2017 in the Department of Anatomy and Neuroscience, University College Cork, Ireland. This dissertation has not been submitted in whole or in part for any other degree, diploma or qualification at any other University.

Erin Dolan

July 2017

Chapter 1

# 1.0 Abstract

Parkinson's disease (PD) is no longer primarily classified as a motor disorder due to the emergence of a number of non-motor symptoms (NMS) of the disease. These NMS are highly prevalent and greatly affect the quality of life of patients with PD. Thus, an animal model that replicates these symptoms is greatly needed to enhance the translational impact of preclinical research. The AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein rat model is the only animal model to date that has been shown to robustly and consistently reproduce the primary neuropathological and behavioural features of PD. However, there has been little research on the ability of the model to replicate NMS of the disease. Moreover, this model is most commonly employed unilaterally, which can confound cognitive testing due to contralateral functional compensation. Thus, the aim of this thesis was to use an AAV2/6 viral vector overexpressing human wild-type  $\alpha$ -synuclein to characterise NMS of PD, exploring behavioural phenotypes of both unilaterally- and bilaterally-administered  $\alpha$ synuclein. Furthermore, it set out to explore whether voluntary exercise could ameliorate motor and NMS in this PD model, including if exercise could protect against hippocampal-associated cognitive deficits by modulating adult hippocampal neurogenesis.

We demonstrated that unilateral and bilateral administration of AAV- $\alpha$ synuclein induced distinct patterns of nigrostriatal degeneration and associated motor dysfunction. Overexpression of AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein was used to model NMS associated with PD, including deficits in hippocampalassociated tasks. This was coupled with  $\alpha$ -synuclein-positive immunostaining in the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus, confirming the

propagation of the protein throughout distinct regions of the brain. Bilateral intranigral administration of AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein was found to induce motor dysfunction and a significant loss of nigral dopaminergic neurons, neither of which were rescued by voluntary running. Overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein also resulted in significant impairment on a neurogenesis-dependent pattern separation task, as well as anxiety-like behaviours on both the open field and the elevated plus maze. Voluntary running improved performance on the pattern separation task only. This was substantiated by an effect on hippocampal neurogenesis levels in the dorsal, and not ventral, dentate gyrus, suggesting that the functional effects on pattern separation were mediated by increasing neurogenesis.

Chapter 2

2.0 Abbreviations

- AAV adeno-associated virus
- ACC Anterior cingulate cortex
- ADAGIO (Attenuation of disease progression with Azilect given once-daily)
- ADL Activities of daily living
- AHN Adult hippocampal neurogenesis
- ALS/PDC Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis-parkinsonism dementia complex
- BBB Blood brain barrier
- BDNF Brain-derived neurotrophic factor
- BMP Bone morphogenetic protein
- BrdU 3 5-Bromo-2'-deoxyuridine
- BSSG β-sitosterol β-d-glucoside
- CD Charles river (sd)
- CED Convection-enhanced delivery
- CGI Clinical Global Impression
- CHO Chinese Hamster Ovary
- CNS Central nervous system
- COMT Catechol-O methyl transferase
- COX Cyclo-oxygenase
- CRT Choice reaction time

CRTT – Choice reaction time task

- CS Conditioned stimulus
- CSF Cerebrospinal fluid
- CTA Conditioned taste aversion
- DA Dopamine
- DBS Deep brain stimulation
- DCX Doublecortin
- DG Dentate gyrus
- DHA Docosahexaenoic acid
- dIPFC Dorso-lateral prefrontal cortex
- E Embryonic day
- ENS Enteric nervous system
- EPM Elevated plus maze
- FGF Fibroblast growth factor
- FST Forced swim test
- G Gram
- GCL Granule cell layer
- GDF5 Growth/differentiation factor 5
- GDNF Glial cell-line derived neurotrophic factor

GFAP - Glial fibrillary acidic protein

GFP – Green fluorescent protein

GREFEX - Groupe de Réflexion sur l'Evaluation des Fonctions Exécutives

HMG-CoA - 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A

ICV – Intracerebroventricular

IFN – Interferon

IL – Interleukin

iNOS - inducible nitric oxide synthase

L-dopa – levo-dopa

LE - Long Evans

LH - Lister Hooded

LPS – Lipopolysaccharide

M - Molar

MCI – Mild cognitive impairment

MI - Millilitre

MFB – Medial forebrain bundle

Mg - Milligram

MMSE – Mini-mental state examination

MPP<sup>+</sup> - 1-methyl-4-phenylpyridine

MPTP - 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine

- MSA Multiple system atrophy
- MWM Morris water maze
- NAC Non-amyloid-β component
- NDS Normal donkey serum
- NGS Normal goat serum
- NICE National Institute for Clinical Health and Excellence
- NMDA N-methyl-D-aspartate
- NMS Non-motor symptoms
- NOR Novel object recognition
- NPC Neural progenitor cell
- NTF Neurotrophic factor
- NRTN Neurturin
- **OD** Olfactory discrimination
- OF Open field
- OFC Orbitofrontal cortex
- OL Object location
- OR Object recognition
- PD Parkinson's disease

#### PDD – Parkinson's disease dementia

- PD MCI Parkinson's disease with mild cognitive impairment
- PDQ Parkinson's disease questionnaire
- PD SURG PD surgical trial
- PFC Prefrontal cortex
- PFF Pre-formed fibril
- PLK Polo-like kinase
- PPAR Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors
- PRET PD Progressive resistance exercise trial in PD
- RANTES regulated on activation, normal T-cell expressed and secreted
- RBD Rapid eye movement sleep behaviour disorder
- REM Rapid eye movement
- RL Reversal learning
- RTT Reaction time task
- ROS Reactive oxygen species
- SA Spontaneous alternations
- SD Sprague Dawley
- SGZ Subgranular zone
- SIH Stress-induced hypothermia

SN – substantia nigra

- $SNCA \alpha$ -synuclein gene
- SPT Sucrose preference test
- SNpc substantia nigra pars compacta
- SR Social recognition
- SRTT Serial reaction time task
- SSRI Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors
- SVZ Subventricular zone
- TCA Tricyclic antidepressants
- TGF $\beta$  transforming growth factor  $\beta$
- TH tyrosine hydroxylase
- TLR Toll-like receptor
- TNF- $\alpha$  Tumour necrosis factor  $\alpha$
- $\mu$ l Microlitre
- UPDRS Unified Parkinson's disease rating scale
- US Unconditioned stimulus
- Vg Viral genomes
- VI Ventrolateral
- VM Ventral mesencephalon

VMAT – Vesicular monoamine transporter

VTA - Ventral tegmental area

Wt – wild-type

6-OHDA – 6-hydroxydopamine

Chapter 3

# **3.0 General Introduction**

Parkinson's disease (PD) was first reported by James Parkinson in "An essay on the shaking palsy" in 1817 (Parkinson, 1817). In it, he described the shaking palsy as an "involuntary tremulous motion, with lessened muscular power, in parts not in action and even when supported; with a propensity to bend the trunk forwards, and to pass from a walking to a running pace: the senses and intellects being uninjured", and goes on to detail several patients who report a slow but progressive disorder primarily characterised by motor dysfunction including hand and arm tremors, akinesia and gait problems. A small number of cases also refer to non-motor symptoms such as constipation and speech disruption. Since that initial report, now 200 years ago, our knowledge and understanding of PD has been greatly advanced by modern science. PD is now described as a degeneration of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra pars compacta (SNpc) region of the brain, and the concomitant loss of the neurotransmitter dopamine (DA) along the nigrostriatal pathway leads to the primary motor symptoms associated with PD, namely bradykinesia, tremor, rigidity and postural instability. As the disease progresses, secondary symptoms manifest themselves as psychiatric and cognitive dysfunction, broadly termed "non-motor symptoms" (NMS), including depression, dementia and sleep disturbances (reviewed by Cooney & Stacy 2016; Todorova et al. 2014). PD is now the second most common neurodegenerative disease in the world (Feng et al., 2010). Due to an ageing global population, the incidence of PD is on the rise (Savica et al., 2016), and is estimated to double in prevalence by 2030 (Dorsey et al., 2007). This increases not only the financial and economic impact of the disease

(Martinez-Martín et al. 2015; reviewed by Rodriguez-Blazquez et al. 2015) but also caregiver burden (Corallo et al., 2016; Grün et al., 2016) and thus underlines the importance for continued research into new therapies.

# **3.1** Current treatment of motor symptoms of Parkinson's disease

#### 3.1.1 Pharmacological therapy

Management of the motor symptoms of PD employs various mechanisms to replace the lost DA in the nigro-striatal system. Recommended first line therapy involves treatment with either DA agonists such as pramipexole, rotigotine or ropinirole which act directly at dopamine receptors, or with the amino acid dopamine precursor levo-dopa (L-dopa) (National Institute for Clinical Health and Excellence 2006; reviewed by Kakkar & Dahiya 2015) . Ldopa can be rapidly and extensively converted to dopamine in the periphery, so to prevent this it is administered with dopa-decarboxylase inhibitors such as carbidopa or benserazide, or may be combined with catechol-O methyl transferase (COMT) inhibitors such as entacapone or tolcapone. This not only limits side-effects but also ensures that maximal amounts of free L-dopa are available to cross the blood brain barrier (BBB) and reach effective concentrations in the brain. One of the main issues surrounding L-dopa treatment is the eventual emergence of dyskinesias and fluctuations in response leading to erratic control of motor symptoms, which can become

increasingly problematic for patients (reviewed by Salat & Tolosa 2013). Other serious problems associated with prolonged L-dopa therapy include the development of compulsive disorders and neuropsychiatric symptoms (Voon et al., 2009; Ahlskog, 2011). Duodopa, a new gel infusion of L-dopa and carbidopa in combination which can be administered directly into the gastro-intestinal system, has been shown to significantly reduce motor fluctuations without increasing dyskinesias (Fernandez et al., 2015; Wirdefeldt et al., 2016). However, this preparation is currently only licensed for severe, refractory PD (Healthcare and Products Regulatory Agency, Summary of Product Characteristics) and the administration involves the insertion of a permanent tube via percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy, which can be invasive and confer additional risks onto the patient. National Institute for Clinical Health and Excellence (NICE) guidance also outlines the use of Amantadine, an N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor antagonist, and  $\beta$ -blockers for symptomatic control of motor symptoms but it does not recommend these agents as first line therapy (National Institute for Clinical Health and Excellence, 2006)

#### 3.1.2 Surgical therapy

As the efficacy of L-dopa treatment wanes in some patients, it generally becomes necessary to use additional therapies to better control motor symptoms. These include surgery such as deep brain stimulation (DBS). DBS involves the implantation of an electrode into a suitable brain area, usually the subthalamic nucleus or globus pallidus, in an attempt to regulate altered

dopaminergic activity that is inherent to PD. Early results from the PD SURG trial (PD surgical trial) (Williams et al., 2010) indicate that patients who received both DBS and current best medical therapy did significantly better in activities of daily living scores and improvements on a PD questionnaire (PDQ) scale, a measure of pain disability, than patients who received medical therapy alone. However, this coincided with an increased number of adverse events that were mostly surgery-related (Williams et al., 2010). There is a nine-year follow-up planned for this trial and thus long-term efficacy will be addressed in the coming years. There are also reports of DBS alleviating some of the non-motor symptoms of PD such as depression or anxiety (reviewed by Kim et al. 2015), although the exact mechanisms of these effects remain unknown.

#### 3.1.3 Neurotrophic factors as therapy in PD

Novel therapeutic strategies in Parkinson's disease are mainly focused on neuroprotection of the existing dopaminergic neurons. Neurotrophic factors (NTFs) are known to play a crucial role in the development and maintenance of neuronal subtypes, including dopaminergic neurons, and so have been extensively researched as a potential therapy for PD (reviewed by Sullivan & Toulouse 2011). NTFs from the TGF $\beta$  superfamily are the most characterised in this respect (reviewed by Hegarty et al. 2014), and include glial cell-line derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF), neurturin (NRTN) and growth/differentiation factor 5 (GDF5). Due to promising results from both *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies that showed neuroprotective effects (reviewed by Bartus et al., 2007 and Sullivan and Toulouse, 2011), clinical trials in humans have been carried out using both GDNF and NRTN. However, issues surrounding the poor dissemination of GDNF (Nutt et al., 2003) and NRTN (Bartus et al., 2015; Marks et al., 2010) throughout the brain, and the development of anti-GDNF antibodies (Lang et al., 2006; Tatarewicz et al., 2007) have limited progress.

A unique method of adeno-associated viral (AAV) vector-mediated overexpression of GDNF has been shown to achieve, through multiple injections and aided by convection-enhanced delivery (CED), the distribution necessary to ensure successful and widespread GDNF expression in the brain of non-human primates (Richardson et al., 2011). This protocol is currently being implemented in a phase 1 clinical trial in patients with advanced stage PD in the US (NIH trial NCT01621581).

#### 3.1.4 Cell-based therapies

Initial proof-of-concept work pioneered chiefly by Anders Bjorklund's group in Lund, Sweden in the 1980s proved that harvesting dopaminergic neurons from the developing VM of embryonic rodents and subsequently transplanting them into the adult rodent striatum post-neurotoxic lesion resulted not only in cell survival and integration, but in restoration of dopaminergic neuronal activity and alleviation of motor deficits (Bjorklund and Steveni, 1979; Brundin et al., 1987, 1986; Perlow et al., 1979). The

results from the first human studies were initially encouraging, with significant improvements in motor symptoms, dopamine synthesis and storage as well as decreases in the amount of I-dopa medication required by patients (Lindvall et al., 1990, 1989; Sawle et al., 1992; Wenning et al., 1997; Widner et al., 1992). This led to two large placebo-controlled trials in the US, which unfortunately both failed to reach significance in their primary endpoints (Freed et al., 2001; Olanow et al., 2003), Interestingly, longerterm follow up of these patients reported a lasting improvement in UPDRS scores at 2 and 4 years post-grafting (Ma et al., 2010), suggesting a delayed yet sustained effect. Moreover, very long term data recently published supports this theory, with Kefalopoulou et al reporting that two patients, 15and 18 years-post transplant, have remained without dopaminergic medication for the last 10 years and display only mild Parkinsonian symptoms (Kefalopoulou et al., 2014). Post-mortem analysis of another graft patient, 24 years post-transplant, confirmed the long-term viability of the transplant (Li et al., 2016). However, due to problems such as the development of graft-induced dyskinesias and ethical issues surrounding the source of foetal tissue for the transplantations, progress in foetal tissue transplantation has largely been halted. Instead, focus has been shifted to developing and optimising protocols for the use of stem cell based therapies, and readying these therapies for clinical trials, which are the main focuses of the newly formed GForce-PD consortium (www.gforce-pd.com).

Although there are a variety of treatment options currently available to patients with PD, the therapies are only aimed at slowing the progression of

the disease and none are without caveats. In order to develop robust and effective new therapeutic options, more representative models of the disease must be used during the screening process to increase the translational impact of new drugs.

#### **3.2** Non-motor symptoms of PD

Although it was initially thought that PD was primarily a motor disorder, in recent years there has been widespread recognition of a broad range of NMS that are associated with this disease. In fact, there have been calls to reclassify PD as a syndrome rather than a disease to underline the importance of recognising PD as a multifaceted condition with a wide variety of symptoms that affect both the central and peripheral nervous system (reviewed by Titova et al. 2016). Interestingly, it has been shown that some of the NMS associated with PD can in fact precede motor symptoms by a number of years, termed the prodromal stage of the disease (Pont-Sunyer et al., 2015). Constipation has been reported to occur more than 10 years prior to motor symptoms, followed by the presence of mood disturbances, loss of smell and fatigue that all occur between 2-10 years preceding diagnosis (Pont-Sunyer et al., 2015; Postuma et al., 2012). Importantly, it was recently shown that some of these NMS can accurately predict cognitive decline and survival in PD patients (De Lau et al., 2014; Fullard et al., 2016; Shoji et al., 2014), and so a thorough understanding of these NMS is key to

better management and outcomes for PD patients (Visanji and Marras, 2015).

#### 3.2.1 Cognitive impairment and dementia

Cognitive impairment is common in PD patients, and includes deficits in working memory, visuospatial processing, language fluency and verbal learning (Siegert et al. 2008; reviewed by Goldman & Postuma 2014). It is mostly associated with frontal lobe dysfunction from either cortical atrophy (Auning et al., 2014; Green et al., 2002; Pereira et al., 2014; Rektorova et al., 2014) or Lewy body pathology (Kehagia et al., 2012). The prevalence of cognitive impairment ranges widely between studies, between 19 and 36% in separate cohorts of early, untreated PD patients (Aarsland et al., 2009; Elgh et al., 2009; Foltynie et al., 2004; Muslimovic et al., 2005). This variability may be explained in part by differences in tests used to assess cognitive functioning, and underlines the difficulty in quantifying cognitive deficits. Due to the emerging importance of NMS and their role in predicting survival in PD patients, the Movement Disorder Society recently published diagnostic criteria for mild cognitive impairment in PD (PD-MCI) (Litvan et al., 2012), with a view to standardise diagnoses and highlight patients with the potential to progress to PD dementia (PDD). PDD is characterised by a broad dysexecutive syndrome, with profound impairments in visuospatial functioning, memory and attention, as well as the development of neuropsychiatric symptoms such as hallucinations (Hanagasi et al., 2016).

Recent studies employing the new criteria reported a prevalence of PD-MCI in approximately 42.5% of patients (Domellöf et al., 2015; Yarnall et al., 2014). Long-term follow-up data from the initially examined cohorts, (the ParkWest study in Norway (Aarsland et al., 2009) and the CamPaiGN study in the UK (Foltynie et al., 2004)) have shown that up to 46% of PD patients with diagnosed MCI in the initial studies progressed to PDD by 10 years (Williams-Gray et al., 2013). The main factors associated with advancing from PD to PDD are MCI, specifically semantic fluency and inability to copy intersecting pentagon figures, age and severity of motor impairment (Pedersen et al., 2013; Williams-Gray et al., 2013, 2009). Other work has demonstrated a link between the presence of co-morbid neuropsychiatric conditions such as depression or hallucinations and PDD (Wang et al., 2014).

Interestingly, a proportion of patients initially diagnosed with MCI in the ParkWest study (Aarsland et al., 2009) reverted to normal cognition by the 1-year follow up, suggesting more complex underlying mechanisms. This heterogeneous nature of MCI and the differences in PDD progression was addressed by Kehagia and colleagues (2012) in their "dual syndrome hypothesis", which states that MCI and PDD are in fact two independent, although partially overlapping, syndromes. PD-MCI is characterised by a tremor-dominant motor phenotype with deficits in working memory and executive function reflective of dysfunctional fronto-striatal circuitry that is sensitive to DA therapy. However, PDD is characterised by a primarily akinetic motor phenotype with pronounced gait disturbances and deficits in semantic fluency and visuospatial function reflective of posterior cortical

and temporal lobe dysfunction which may be ameliorated by cholinergic therapy (Kehagia et al., 2012). This theory was further strengthened by a study carried out by Nombela (2014), showing that impairments in tasks assessing visuospatial, executive and memory encoding domains were associated with region-specific deficits in cortical activity (Nombela et al., 2014). Since then, a series of papers have further separated PD cohorts into 5 cognitively differentiated subtypes based on cluster analysis: 1) cognitively intact, 2) no cognitive impairment but slight mental slowness, 3) slightly impaired overall cognitive ability, 4) severe mental slowing and overall cognitive impairment and 5) severe cognitive impairment across all domains (Dujardin et al., 2015, 2013). Collectively, the evidence points to a spectrum of severity in cognitive impairment in PD patients, which has been shown to be far more complex and intricate than initially thought.

#### 3.2.2 Dysexecutive syndrome

Executive function encompasses all of the mental processes required for goal-directed behaviours, including planning, decision making, execution and effective performance, and contributes to the ability of a person to be useful, socially responsible and constructive throughout life (Lezak, 1982). So long as executive functioning remains intact, even people with marked cognitive impairment can still maintain their independence and productivity (Lezak, 1982). Due to its complexity, measuring executive function is difficult and includes a wide variety of tasks measuring outputs such as response

inhibition, attentional shifting, cognitive flexibility, rule detection, strategic planning and concept formation (reviewed by Jurado & Rosselli 2007). To combat this, the Groupe de Réflexion sur l'Evaluation des Fonctions Exécutives (GREFEX) published proposed criteria for diagnosing dysexecutive syndrome which encompassed both behavioural and cognitive domains (Godefroy et al., 2010). These criteria have been recently updated and shown to be highly diagnostically accurate (Roussel et al., 2016). Executive dysfunction has been well characterised in PD patients (Kudlicka et al. 2011; reviewed by Ceravolo et al. 2012), and can affect ADL as simple as getting up, dressing, cooking and general multi-tasking (Koerts et al., 2011). It is thought to be due in part to dysfunctional fronto-striatal circuits that connect the basal ganglia to the frontal cortical regions and originate in the dorsolateral PFC (dIPFC), the orbitofrontal cortex (OFC) and the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) (Lewis et al., 2012; Zgaljardic et al., 2006). Interestingly, recent work has shown that distinct functional-anatomical networks within the PFC may be responsible for the processing of different forms of executive function, with the dIPFC and ACC largely associated with cognitive control and the OFC more related to decision making (Glascher et al., 2012).

#### 3.2.3 Neuropsychiatric

There are a wide variety of neuropsychiatric disturbances that have been associated with PD, and importantly they have been shown to be associated with disease factors such as motor symptom fluctuations and disease severity and duration (Sagna et al., 2014). PD patients are more likely to suffer from depression than age-matched controls, with an estimated prevalence of 17% of PD patients suffering from major depressive disorder and 35% suffering from clinically significant depressive symptoms (Reijnders et al., 2008). A wide variety of factors are thought to contribute to an individual's risk of developing depression, including environmental factors (Gallagher and Schrag, 2012), genetic contributions (Collins and Williams-Gray, 2016) and psychological factors such as the ability to cope with a diagnosis of PD (Schrag et al., 2001). Interestingly, Even and Weintraub (2012) recently hypothesised that there are three different subtypes of comorbid depression in PD patients: patients who would experience depression regardless of a PD diagnosis, patients who would be depressed if they were diagnosed with another chronic and debilitating illness, and patients whose depression is specifically linked to the pathophysiology of PD (Even and Weintraub, 2012). This distinction may have important implications for the choice of treatment in these patients. Depressive symptoms associated with PD are thought to be due in part to dysfunctional catecholaminergic and serotonergic neurotransmitter systems (reviewed by Aarsland & Gregoric 2015). Post mortem analysis of brain tissue from PD patients has shown widespread deficits in dopaminergic, noradrenergic and serotonergic innervation throughout the basal ganglia, cortical and limbic regions of the brain (Buddhala et al., 2015), as well as decreased DA and noradrenaline transporter binding in the locus coeruleus and throughout the limbic system (Remy et al., 2005; Vriend et al., 2013). Moreover, Lewy body

pathology has been discovered in brainstem areas that are linked to depression including the noradrenergic locus coeruleus (Itoi and Sugimoto, 2010) and serotonergic raphe nuclei (Lowry et al. 2008; reviewed by Gallagher & Schrag 2012).

Anxiety disorders are also highly common in PD, with some studies estimating the prevalence of some form of anxiety at up to 50% (Leentjens et al. 2011; Rutten et al. 2015; Pontone et al. 2009). Anxiety disorders include generalised anxiety and panic disorder, as well as social anxiety (Dissanayaka et al., 2010). Although it was initially thought that anxiety in PD is "reactive" as a result of being diagnosed with a chronic and debilitating degenerative condition, growing evidence now suggests that it is directly related to the pathophysiology of PD (Prediger et al., 2012) and can in fact be present for years preceding the onset of motor symptoms (Bower et al., 2010). Anxiety in PD is frequently associated with depression (Brown et al., 2011), and as such it is likely that some of their underlying mechanisms overlap. Dysfunctional transmission in dopaminergic, serotonergic and noradrenergic systems have all been linked to anxiety in PD (reviewed by Prediger et al. 2012), however the exact workings remain poorly understood.

It is also estimated that apathy is present in up to 36% of PD patients (Pagonabarraga et al., 2015). Although the mechanisms underlying apathy in PD remain unclear (Dujardin and Defebvre, 2012), it is thought that dysfunction in both the dopaminergic system (Czernecki et al., 2008) and

neural circuitry connecting the basal ganglia to the prefrontal cortex (Levy and Czernecki, 2006) may play roles.

#### 3.2.4 Autonomic

Autonomic system deficits, also termed dysautonomia, are well characterised in PD and can affect up to 84% of PD patients (Arnao et al., 2015). These symptoms include orthostatic hypotension (Vichayanrat et al., 2016), weight loss (Umehara et al., 2016), differences in pain perception (Rada et al., 2016) and urinary and sexual dysfunction (Pfeiffer, 2010). Notably, they have been shown to markedly impact upon the quality of life of patients, significantly affecting ADL, emotional well-being, social support and communication and body discomfort (Tomic et al., 2016).

#### 3.2.5 Olfaction

Olfactory disturbances are very common and are estimated to affect up to 70% of PD patients (Hawkes et al., 1997). The olfactory bulb is thought to be the first site of  $\alpha$ -synuclein pathology according to the Braak hypothesis (Heiko Braak et al., 2003), and smell disturbances have been shown to be present years preceding motor symptoms in PD patients (Pont-Sunyer et al., 2015; Postuma et al., 2012). Interestingly, olfactory deficits appear to be specific to PD and could be used to diagnostically discriminate between PD and other neurodegenerative conditions (Krismer et al., 2016)

Sleep disturbances are very common in patients with PD, and encompass a broad range of symptoms including circadian rhythm disturbances, restless legs syndrome, rapid eye movement (REM) sleep behaviour disorder (RBD), insomnia and excessive daytime sleepiness (reviewed by Chahine et al. 2016; Fifel 2016). RBD is defined as a multifaceted parasomnia characterized by the loss of atonia that normally occurs during REM sleep, and is associated with often violent dream enactment behaviour (Chahine et al., 2016; Schenck and Mahowald, 2002). It has recently been shown to be perhaps the most sensitive and specific prodromal marker for future development of PD (Fereshtenejad et al., 2017). Several longitudinal studies have reported that up to 90% of patients with RBD go on to develop either PD or another form of synucleinopathy (Boeve et al., 2013; Iranzo et al., 2014). Similarly, RBD in PD patients is associated with more severe and debilitating motor and NMS (Chahine et al., 2016), and increased  $\alpha$ -synuclein deposition throughout the brain (Postuma et al., 2015). Although the neuropathology of these symptoms is currently poorly understood, any alterations in sleep patterns can have drastic effects on quality of life and management of symptoms (Prakash et al., 2016).

#### 3.2.7 Gastro-intestinal

Constipation is the most frequently reported gastro-intestinal symptom of PD, affecting up to 63% of PD patients (reviewed by Stirpe et al. 2016).

Additionally, other gastro-intestinal disturbances include decreased gastric emptying (gastroparesis), malnutrition, dysphagia and small intestinal bacterial overgrowth (reviewed by Fasano et al. 2015). It has also been shown that PD patients exhibit increased intestinal permeability and inflammation when compared to healthy controls (Clairembault et al., 2015, 2014), and that PD patients have significantly different colonic bacterial composition when compared to controls (Keshavarzian et al., 2015).

Due to the fact that constipation is often present for years preceding the onset of motor symptoms in PD patients, there has been a lot of interest surrounding the role of the gastro-intestinal system in PD. The idea that the initial insult that triggers PD could commence in the gastro-intestinal tract was first posited by Braak and colleagues (2003), who outlined potential neuronal networks that could be used to transport  $\alpha$ -synuclein from the enteric to the central nervous system (Braak et al., 2003). Since then, there have been numerous reports that support this theory. The vermiform appendix has been shown to be rich in  $\alpha$ -synuclein (Gray et al., 2014), and interestingly an appendectomy may protect against the onset of PD (Mendes et al., 2015). Similarly,  $\alpha$ -synuclein positive inclusions have been detected in the gastric mucosa of PD patients (Sánchez-Ferro et al., 2014), and in the gastro-intestinal system up to 8 years prior to the onset of motor symptoms (Hilton et al., 2014). Importantly, Holmqvist (2014) injected  $\alpha$ -synuclein into the gastro-intestinal system of rats, near the myenteric plexus, and discovered that the protein was transported *via* the vagus nerve into the dorsal motor nucleus of the brainstem, and so provided the first experimental evidence of  $\alpha$ -synuclein propagation from gut to brain (Holmqvist et al., 2014). Furthermore, a truncal vagotomy has been shown to decrease the risk of PD in human studies, underlining the relevance of the vagal nerve to the pathogenesis of the disease (Svensson et al., 2015).

# **3.3 Current treatment of non-motor symptoms of Parkinson's disease**

#### 3.3.1 Cognitive impairment, dementia and dysexecutive syndrome

Due to the fact that cortical cholinergic activity is more severely affected in PDD compared to Alzheimer's disease (Bohnen et al., 2003), it stands to reason that drugs affecting the cholinergic system such as cholinesterase inhibitors would be therapeutically appropriate for treatment of these patients. A large systematic review and meta-analysis carried out in 2015 reported that treatment with cholinesterase inhibitors such as donepezil, galantamine and rivastigmine in PDD can significantly improve cognitive function, ADL and caregiver burden and are generally well-tolerated (Wang et al., 2015). Specifically, rivastigmine is the only currently licensed cholinesterase inhibitor for use in PDD (<u>www.bnf.org</u>) and double-blinded placebo-controlled clinical trials have shown that it is effective in improving general cognitive domains (Schmitt et al. 2010), executive function (Schmitt et al. 2010) and ADL (Olin et al., 2010). Memantine, a NMDA receptor
antagonist, did not significantly improve cognitive function measured by the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) but did increase scores on a Clinical Global Impression (CGI) scale (Wang et al., 2015) and has been shown to improve executive function in the form of attention, episodic memory and goal attainment (Leroi et al., 2014; Wesnes et al., 2015). Despite the prevalence of MCI in PD patients and the link between MCI and progression to PDD, there is relatively little evidence to inform treatment of MCI in PD patients. Interestingly, cholinesterase inhibitors do not seem to be effective in MCI, perhaps further supporting the "dual syndrome hypothesis" of two independent but partially overlapping syndromes affecting different neurotransmitter systems (Kehagia et al., 2012). Galantamine was shown to have no effect on memory, executive function or visuospatial performance in non-demented patients (Grace et al., 2009). Similarly, treatment with rivastigmine resulted in non-significant trends toward improvement of cognitive measures (Mamikonyan et al., 2015). Rasagiline, a monoamine oxidase B inhibitor, has shown promise in alleviating attention and certain executive functions (Hanagasi et al., 2011). Atomoxetine, a selective noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor, has been effective in ameliorating executive and cognitive dysfunction in PD, although only in small numbers of patients (Marsh et al., 2009; Weintraub et al., 2010). A clinical trial investigating the effects of piribedil, a dopamine agonist, on motor symptoms also carried out a smaller sub-study investigating the effects on cognition, and found that piribedil significantly enhanced executive function (Castro-Caldas et al., 2006).

### 3.3.2 Neuropsychiatric conditions

#### 3.3.2.1 Depression

Although depression is a frequent and debilitating co-morbidity in PD, antidepressant treatment either through behavioural therapy or pharmacological means, has been shown not only to increase quality of life (Menza et al., 2009) but also to enhance executive functioning and working memory (Dobkin et al., 2014). Despite this, a series of reports and a Cochrane review have deemed that there is insufficient evidence either for effectiveness or safety of antidepressants for use in treatment of PD (Chung et al., 2003; Ghazi-noori et al., 2003; Liu et al., 2013; Miyasaki et al., 2006; Price et al., 2011; Skapinakis et al., 2010). Notwithstanding, a recent systematic review and meta-analysis concluded that in fact, there is a significant effect of the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI) class drugs (citalopram, sertraline, fluoxetine and paroxetine) on depression in PD patients (Bomasang-Layno et al., 2015). Furthermore, although all the clinical trials to date do not provide sufficient power to allow broad recommendations, evidence gleaned from smaller trials suggest that multiple medications may be beneficial (reviewed by Cooney & Stacy 2016). Tricyclic antidepressants (TCA) (amitriptyline, nortriptyline) and serotoninnoradrenaline reuptake inhibitors (venlafaxine) have shown some degree of efficacy in alleviating depressive symptoms in PD patients (Liu et al., 2013; Richard et al., 2012). Buproprion, a selective noradrenergic and

dopaminergic uptake inhibitor, has been suggested as a suitable treatment due to its combined neurotransmitter effects (Raskin and Durst, 2010) and has been used to great effect but in very small patient populations (Goetz et al., 1984; Załuska and Dyduch, 2011). Pramipexole, a DA agonist used to treat motor symptoms of PD, has shown antidepressant effects (Barone et al., 2010, 2006; Leentjens et al., 2009). The ADAGIO study (Attenuation of disease progression with Azilect given once-daily) was started in 2008 to assess the role of rasagiline, a monoamine oxidase B inhibitor as adjunct therapy in PD (Olanow et al., 2008). Interestingly, when administered with previously initiated antidepressant therapy in trial participants (either a TCA or an SSRI), rasagiline improved depressive symptoms when compared to placebo (Smith et al., 2015). Importantly, given the proven deficits in several brain neurotransmitter systems in depression and PD, it appears logical that a drug, or a combination of drugs, that target more than one system may be the most applicable in PD patients suffering from these disorders.

# 3.3.2.2 Anxiety and apathy

To date, there are no guidelines for the treatment of anxiety in PD patients and there have been no clinical trials carried out to address this question (Seppi et al., 2011). Treatment of anxiety in patients with PD is the same as those without (Akbar and Friedman, 2015; Cooney and Stacy, 2016), with more cautious consideration recommended regarding the contribution of side-effects to falls risk in PD patients in particular. The situation is similar with treatment of apathy in PD, with limited evidence to adequately inform guidelines or recommendations. One small double-blinded placebocontrolled clinical trial found that transdermal rivastigmine, a cholinesterase inhibitor, decreased measures of apathy and increased ADL (Devos et al., 2014) while a second found that piribedil, a DA agonist, reduced apathy and depression scores and improved quality of life (Thobois et al., 2013). Methylphenidate, a stimulant that inhibits DA uptake, has also been shown to have positive effects on PD patients suffering from apathy (Chatterjee and Fahn, 2002; Moreau et al., 2012), though again only in very small patient numbers of patients.

#### 3.3.3 Sleep

In general, clonazepam is the most commonly used therapy for sleep disturbances, particularly RBD where it effective in up to 90% of cases (Olson et al., 2000; Schenck et al., 2013; Sforza et al., 1997). However, as it is a benzodiazepine side effects include excessive daytime sleepiness, which can contribute to fall risk in PD patients (Videnovic, 2017) and as such caution should be used when prescribing (Aurora et al., 2010). Several small studies have also shown that melatonin can be effective in increasing REM sleep, either by itself or as an adjunct therapy (Boeve et al., 2003; Kunz and Bes, 1999; Takeuchi et al., 2001). However, in general there are very limited clinical trials for treatment of sleep disturbances specifically in PD patients (Amara et al., 2017; Chahine et al., 2016).

#### 3.3.4 Autonomic dysfunction

Postural hypotension can generally be managed in PD patients, depending on the severity of symptoms. Non-pharmacological measures include increasing water and salt intake and wearing compression stockings (Wu and Hohler, 2015). Fludrocortisone, a corticosteroid that increases systemic sensitivity to circulating catecholamines is the first-line treatment for orthostatic hypotension (Wu and Hohler, 2015). Droxidopa (L-threodihydroxyphenylserine), a synthetic pro-drug that is converted to noradrenaline *in vivo*, has been recently approved for the treatment of hypotension in the US and is currently completing phase 3 clinical trials in Europe (Wu and Hohler, 2015). Results from earlier trials have shown that droxidopa can significantly improve symptoms and standing blood pressure measurements as well as decreasing falls (Kaufmann et al., 2015), which is of particular importance in PD patients (Hauser et al., 2016).

### 3.3.5 Gastro-intestinal dysfunction

Due to the lack of high quality evidence for treatment of gastro-intestinal symptoms specific to PD patients, treatment of constipation and associated gastro-intestinal dysfunctions are usually the same as in the general population (Knudsen et al., 2016; Reichmann et al., 2016).

# 3.4 Modelling motor and non-motor symptoms of PD

There are currently several experimental animal models of PD in use that can be broadly divided into groups based on the method of neuronal damage. Dopaminergic neuronal damage can be induced by specific neurotoxins,  $\alpha$ -synuclein overexpression or by transgenic models. Although some of these agents can be administered systemically, most of the models require stereotaxic surgery. An advantage of this is that the required solution can be injected into the brain unilaterally, allowing the contralateral hemisphere of the same animal to act as a control in *post mortem* tissue analysis. Motor impairment can be assessed using a series of lateralised tasks including the stepping test (Olsson et al., 1995), the cylinder test (Schallert et al., 2000), the corridor test (Dowd et al., 2005) and apomorphine- or amphetamine-induced rotations (Ungerstedt and Arbuthnott, 1970). However, problems arise when attempting to investigate non-motor dysfunction in a unilateral model, as it is well-known that the contralateral hemisphere can compensate for the damaged side and thus mask any potential deficits. For this reason, bilateral stereotactic injections are best used to analyse cognitive function. Motor function in bilateral models can be examined using tests such as motor co-ordination and sensorimotor integration on the Rotarod apparatus (Rozas et al., 1997), or gross locomotor activity in the open field (reviewed by Sestakova et al. 2013).

For the purposes of this thesis, all the papers discussed below are on studies that used rat models, unless otherwise specified.

### 3.4.1 The 6-OHDA lesion model

This model of PD is characterised by injection of the selective catecholaminergic neurotoxin 6-OHDA into the midbrain, leading to an immediate and profound degeneration of dopaminergic neurons. It has been shown to be a reliable and consistent model of PD, reproducing some of the main pathological features, namely nigro-striatal dopaminergic degeneration, which in turn manifests behaviourally as motor dysfunction (Ungerstedt, 1968). 6-OHDA can be administered either into the MFB, the striatum or the SN, and administration of the toxin at each of the sites results in different behavioural and neuropathological effects (reviewed by Blandini et al. 2008). It is generally administered with noradrenergic and serotonergic protective agents to ensure that it selectively targets dopaminergic neurons (reviewed by Blandini et al. 2008). Although this model has not been shown to induce development of  $\alpha$ -synuclein-positive inclusions in the brain (reviewed by Bové & Perier 2012), it has been used to investigate the NMS of PD (see Table 3.1). Bilateral 6-OHDA administration into the rat SN has been shown to impair spatial working memory in a Morris water maze (MWM) task (Ferro et al., 2005), and has also led to anhedonia and apathylike behaviour, measured by decreased sucrose consumption (Santiago et al., 2015) in a self-administration operant chamber (Favier et al., 2014) and increased time taken to eat 100 sucrose pellets (Pioli et al., 2008), as well as increased immobility time in the forced swim test (FST) (Santiago et al., 2015). Bilateral striatal administration of 6-OHDA has been more extensively characterised and has been shown to induce a wide variety of cognitive and emotional impairment, including spatial working memory deficits (Lindner et al. 1999; Tadaiesky et al. 2008; Chen et al. 2014; Matheus et al. 2016; Betancourt et al. 2016), anxiety and anhedonia-like behaviour (Chen et al., 2014, 2011; Kumari et al., 2015; Santiago et al., 2015; Silva et al., 2016), working memory deficits including social and object recognition (Aidi-Knani et al., 2015; Chen et al., 2014; Matheus et al., 2008) and executive dysfunction in attentional set-shifting and decision making (Courtière et al., 2011, 2005; Eagle et al., 2015; Tait et al., 2016; Temel et al., 2005).

Publication	Breed	Administration	Dose	Behavioural	Result
	and sex	site		tests	
				MWM	-
Chen	Adult	Dorsal	2 x	EPM	$\downarrow$
(2011)	male SD	striatum	2 A 10 5ug	FST	-
(2011)	maic 5D	Stratum	10.548	Social	$\downarrow$
				interaction	
	Adult	VI area of	2 x	MWM	$\downarrow$
Tadaeisky	male	dorsal striatum	2 Λ 12μσ	SR	$\downarrow$
	Wistar		1248	OD	-
	Adult				
Lindner	male SD,	VI area of	2 x	MMM	J
Lindifer	3m and	dorsal striatum	12.5µg		¥
	12m				
			2 x		ل in
			8µg	Sucrose	SN
	Adult	SNpc or VTA	for	consumption	
	Wistar –	1w between	SNpc		ل in
Pioli	no sex	left and right injections	2 x	SA in Y maze	VTA
	specified		2µg		• • • •
	opeenee		for	Object	_
			VTA	exploration	
			-		
_	Adult		2 x		
Ferro	male	SNpc	6µg	MWM	$\downarrow$
	Wistar		-		
Courtiere	Adult	Dorsal	2 x	RTT	$\downarrow$
2011	male LE	striatum	12µg	A I	
Tait	Adult	Dorsomedial	2 X	Attentional	$\downarrow$ RL
	male LH	striatum	δμg	set-snifting	
Eagle	Adult male CD	DUISAI	ZX	discrimination	$\downarrow$
	male CD	Striatum	5.5µg		1
	A dul+				$\mathbf{v}$
Chen	Auuit	Striatum	2 x	Secial	$\mathbf{v}$
(2014)	Mictor	Striaturii	12µg	interaction	$\mathbf{V}$
	VVISLAI				
				Operant	$\mathbf{v}$
Favior	Adult	SNIDC	2 x	sucrose solf	.1.
Faviei	male SD	зирс	6µg	administration	$\mathbf{v}$
	Adult			administration	
Temel	male	Striatum	2 x	CRT	
remei	Lewis	Stratum	20µg	CIVI	V
Courtiere	Adult	Dorsal	2 x		
2005	male LE	striatum	8µg	RTT	$ \downarrow$
	Adult				
Da Silva	male	VI area of	2 x	EPM	$\downarrow$
	Wistar	dorsal striatum	12µg	SPT	$\downarrow$
	Adult				
Domenger	male	Neostriatum	2 x	SRTT	$\downarrow$
	Wistar		8µg		•
	Adult	Lateral	2 x		
Betancourt	male SD	caudate	8µg	Barnes maze	$\downarrow$

Aidi-Knani	Adult male Wistar	Dorsomedial striatum	2 x 12µg	NOR SR EPM	$\downarrow$ $\downarrow$ $\downarrow$
Branchi	Adult male Wistar	Dorsal striatum	2 x 10.5μg	MWM EPM SPT SR FST	- ↑ - ↓ ↓
Kumari	Adult female SD	SNpc	2 x 10.5μg	OD FST	$\downarrow$
Matheus (2016a)	Adult male Wistar	Dorsolateral striatum	2 x 10µg	NOR Y maze	$\downarrow$
Matheus (2016b)	Adult male Wistar	Dorsolateral striatum	2 x 10µg	SPT FST EPM Social withdrawal Splash test	$\begin{array}{c} \downarrow \\ \downarrow \\ - \\ \downarrow \\ \downarrow \\ \downarrow \end{array}$
Santiago	Adult male Wistar	SN	2 x 6µg	FST SPT	$\downarrow$

**Table 3.1. Summary of the effects of bilateral 6-OHDA lesion on cognitive and emotional behaviours.**  $\uparrow$  denotes increased or enhanced performance, - denotes no change in performance and  $\downarrow$  denotes decreased or impaired performance. Abbreviations: SD = Sprague Dawley; MWM = Morris water maze; EPM = elevated plus maze; FST = forced swim test; VI = ventrolateral; SR = social recognition; OD = olfactory discrimination; SNpc = substantia nigra pars compacta; VTA = ventral tegmental area; SA = spontaneous alternations; LE = Long Evans; RL = reversal learning; RTT = reaction time task; LH = lister hooded; CD = Charles river (sd); SPT = sucrose preference test; OR = object recognition; CRT = choice reaction time; SRTT = serial reaction time task; NOR = novel object recognition

There have also been some reports of cognitive and emotional deficits after unilateral intracerebral administration of 6-OHDA (see Table 3.2). A unilateral lesion of 6-OHDA into the MFB has been shown to induce anxietylike behaviour in the elevated plus maze (EPM) and marble burying tasks (Jungnickel et al., 2011; O'Connor et al., 2016) as well as spatial working memory deficits in the radial arm maze (Pérez et al., 2009) and the MWM (Ma et al., 2014). However, similar papers have shown conflicting evidence in both anxiety and cognitive measures (Carvalho et al., 2013), highlighting the variability of using unilateral lesion models to characterise cognitive deficits.

### 3.4.2 The rotenone model

Rotenone is a naturally occurring toxin commonly used as an insecticide and pesticide, and has been used in PD research since the 1980s. Interestingly, exposure to pesticides has been linked to increased risk of PD in humans (Bellou et al., 2016). The rotenone animal model gained traction when a paper published by Betarbet and colleagues (2000) proved that systemic administration of rotenone in rats could induce both the pathological and behavioural hallmarks of PD, including hypokinesia and rigidity, as well as the development of  $\alpha$ -synuclein-positive aggregates in nigral neurons (Betarbet et al., 2000). Since then, it has also been shown to cause a variety of NMS (see Table 3.3).

Bilateral intra-nigral administration of rotenone in rats has been shown to induce deficits in working memory on object recognition tests (Dos Santos et al., 2013), loss of olfactory function (Rodrigues et al., 2014) and depressive-like behaviour in the FST and sucrose preference test (Santiago et al., 2010). Systemic administration of rotenone *via* chronic intra-

Publication	Breed	Administration	Dose Behavioural		Result
	and sex	site		tests	
Lelos	Adult	MFB	12µg	CRTT	$\downarrow$
	female				
	Lister				
Carvalho	Adult	MFB	12µg	EPM	-
	Wistar			MWM	$\downarrow$
	Han			SPT	$\downarrow$
				Acoustic	$\downarrow$
				startle test	
Jungnickel	Adult	MFB – 2	1 x 9µg	EPM	$\downarrow$
	female	injections	1 x	OF	-
	SD		10.8µg		
Ma	Adult	MFB – 2	2 x	MWM	$\downarrow$
	male SD	injections	12µg		
Nezhadi	Adult	SN	8µg	MWM	$\downarrow$
	male			NOR	$\downarrow$
	Wistar			OL	$\downarrow$
O'Connor	Adult	MFB	13.5µg	EPM	$\downarrow$
	male SD			Marble	$\downarrow$
				burying	
Perez	Male SD	MFB	8µg	Radial arm	$\downarrow$
				maze	

Table 3.2. Summary of the effects of unilateral 6-OHDA lesion on cognitive and emotional behaviours in rats.  $\uparrow$  denotes increased or enhanced performance, denotes no change in performance and  $\downarrow$  denotes decreased or impaired performance. Abbreviations: MFB = medial forebrain bundle; CRTT = choice reaction time task; MWM = Morris water maze; EPM = elevated plus maze; FST = forced swim test; SPT = sucrose preference test; OF = open field; NOR = novel object recognition; OL = object location; SD = Sprague-Dawley

peritoneal injection or osmotic mini-pump infusion can also cause sleep disturbances (García-García et al., 2005; Lax et al., 2012), gastro-intestinal dysfunction such as delayed gastric transit and emptying (Drolet et al., 2009; Greene et al., 2009), as well as depressive-like behaviour in the FST (Bassani et al., 2014; Zaminelli et al., 2014). Although this model displays some of the primary behavioural and pathological features of PD, it is not without its caveats. High variability and low reproducibility of lesions as well as high mortality rates and systemic toxicity have all limited the use of this model (Cicchetti et al., 2009; Johnson and Bobrovskaya, 2015). Moreover, attempts to circumnavigate some of these issues using different administration methods such as oral or intranasal delivery in mice and rats have had varied success (Inden et al., 2007; Rojo et al., 2007; Sasajima et al., 2015).

Publication	Breed and sex	Administration site	Dose	Behavioural tests	Result
Bassani	Adult male Wistar	Intraperitoneal	2.5mg/kg for 10d	FST	$\downarrow$
Dos Santos	Adult male Wistar	Bilateral into SNpc	2 x 12µg	OR	$\downarrow$
Rodrigues	Adult male Wistar	Bilateral into SNpc	2 x 12µg	OD	$\downarrow$
Santiago	Adult male Wistar	Bilateral into SNpc	2 x 12µg	FST SPT	$\downarrow$
Zaminelli	Adult male Wistar	Intraperitoneal	2.5mg/kg for 10d	FST	$\downarrow$

Table 3.3. Summary of the effects of rotenone administration on cognitive and emotional behaviours in rats.  $\uparrow$  denotes increased or enhanced performance, denotes no change in performance and  $\downarrow$  denotes decreased or impaired performance. Abbreviations: SNpc = substantia nigra pars compacta; FST = forced swim test; SPT = sucrose preference test; OR = object recognition;

### 3.4.3 The MPTP model

This model utilises the metabolism of MPTP in vivo to the neurotoxin MPP<sup>+</sup>, which impairs mitochondrial respiration (Nicklas et al., 1985) and causes selective damage to the nigro-striatal system. It thus replicates many of the motor deficits seen in PD (reviewed by Bové & Perier 2012). MPTP itself is not toxic and can cross the BBB, meaning that it can be administered systemically. Some forms of cognitive dysfunction have been characterised using the MPTP model (see Table 3.4). Bilateral intra-nigral administration in rats has been shown to cause working memory deficits in avoidance tasks (Gevaerd et al. 2001; Kumar et al. 2009; Gevaerd et al. 2001b), alternation tasks (Braga et al., 2005) as well as social and object recognition (Hsieh et al. 2012; Huang et al. 2015; Ho et al. 2014). A single intra-nasal dose of MPTP has also been shown to induce depressive-like behaviour in the FST and working memory deficits in social recognition (Castro et al., 2013). Similar to the 6-OHDA model, the MPTP model has not been shown to cause  $\alpha$ synuclein aggregation *in vivo* (Shimoji et al., 2005).

Publication	Breed	Administration	Dose Behavioural		Result
	and sex	site	-	tests	-
Braga	Adult male Wistar	Bilateral into SNpc	2 x 0.5µmol	Delayed Y maze alternations	$\downarrow$
Castro	Adult male Wistar	Intranasal	2 x 1mg	FST SPT MWM SR	↓ - - ↓
Gevaerd (both)	Adult male Wistar	Bilateral into SNpc	2 x 1µmol	Two-way active avoidance task	$\downarrow$
Ho, Hsieh, Huang	Adult male Wistar	Bilateral into SNpc	2 x 1µmol	T maze OR	$\downarrow$
Kumar	Adult male Wistar	Bilateral into SNpc	2 x 100μg	MWM Passive avoidance task	$\downarrow$
Miyoshi	Adult male Wistar	Bilateral into SNpc	2 x 0.5μmol	MWM x 3 versions: Spatial working; Spatial reference; Cued	↓ - ↓
Ferro	Adult male Wistar	Bilateral into SNpc	2 x 100μg	MWM	$\downarrow$

Table 3.4. Summary of the effects of MPTP administration on cognitive and emotional behaviours in rats.  $\uparrow$  denotes increased or enhanced performance, denotes no change in performance and  $\downarrow$  denotes decreased or impaired performance. Abbreviations: SNpc = substantia nigra pars compacta; MWM = Morris water maze; FST = forced swim test; SR = social recognition; SPT = sucrose preference test; OR = object recognition;

### 3.4.4 The BSSG model

A novel and interesting model of PD was recently reported by Van Kampen and colleagues (2015). This model utilises a dietary neurotoxin derived from the cycad seed, which has previously been linked with Guamanian amyotrophic lateral sclerosis-parkinsonism dementia complex (ALS/PDC) (Steele and McGeer, 2008). In the report by Van Kampen *et al*, rats were fed a diet containing  $\beta$ -sitosterol  $\beta$ -d-glucoside (BSSG) for 4 months. The animals first displayed olfactory deficits, followed by locomotor impairment in the form of decreased activity and co-ordination, before finally progressing to cognitive dysfunction measured by working memory deficits in both the radial arm maze and alternations in the T-maze. This was coupled with marked degeneration of TH-positive neurons in the SN and striatal innervation by nigro-striatal neurons. Most interestingly,  $\alpha$ -synuclein positive inclusions were observed, present first in the olfactory bulb and then at later time-points throughout the striatum, SN, entorhinal cortex and CA1 and dentate gyrus regions of the hippocampus.

## 3.4.5 Transgenic models

The vast majority of transgenic rodent models of PD are in mice, and so are outside the scope of the purpose of this thesis (Magen and Chesselet, 2010). However, there are a small number of transgenic rat lines, fewer still those that have investigated non-motor symptoms of PD. Transgenic overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein in Sprague-Dawley (SD) rats has been shown to induce olfactory dysfunction and  $\alpha$ -synuclein-positive pathology in the olfactory bulbs (Lelan et al., 2011; Nuber et al., 2013), and also to induce an anxiety-like phenotype (Kohl et al., 2016). Interestingly, the birth of new neurons in the adult hippocampus, known as hippocampal neurogenesis, was severely compromised in these rats, which potentially could affect functioning of the hippocampus and associated learning and memory, although this was not examined from a behavioural perspective in this paper (Kohl et al., 2016).

#### 3.4.6 The $\alpha$ -synuclein model

The  $\alpha$ -synuclein model of PD was first described by Kirik *et al* (2002), when an AAV vector was used to overexpress both wild-type and mutated forms of human  $\alpha$ -synuclein in the dopaminergic neurons of the rat SN. Unilateral administration of either vector induced neuronal degeneration in the nigra specific to DA neurons and a decrease in striatal DA levels. Animals also developed significant unilateral motor impairment in the paw-reaching test and apomorphine-induced rotations (Kirik et al., 2002). This paper was the first proof-of-concept that  $\alpha$ -synuclein overexpression in the midbrain could replicate the basic pathological, neurochemical and behavioural features of the disease, and established the model as a viable representation of PD. Since then, the model has been adapted as various capsid protein serotypes of AAV have been used in order to achieve better transduction of nigral dopaminergic neurons, as it is the capsid protein and not the core protein that determines the entry method of the virus into the cell. Vectors derived from AAV2, 5, 6 and 9 capsid proteins have all been utilised in rats to varying success (M Decressac et al., 2012; Mulcahy et al., 2013; Shahaduzzaman et al., 2015; Taschenberger et al., 2012). A number of studies have been reported that have used AAV1 core protein-derived vectors (Koprich et al., 2011, 2010). One of the distinct advantages of this model is the progressive nature of the neuronal degeneration and motor dysfunction, which more closely replicates the human condition compared to previous models (reviewed by Volpicelli-Daley et al. 2016). Surprisingly, given the success of the model, relatively little has been characterised with regards to NMS (see Table 3.5). Bilateral intra-nigral administration of wild-type  $\alpha$ -synuclein has been shown to induce depressive-like behaviour in the FST and sucrose preference test (SPT) (Caudal et al., 2015), although the same tests previously carried out by another group reported no effect of  $\alpha$ -synuclein (Campos et al., 2013). A novel approach to inducing overexpression of wildtype  $\alpha$ -synuclein in the adult rat forebrain was carried out by injecting the AAV vector bilaterally into the striatum of postnatal day 2-4 pups (Aldrin-Kirk et al., 2014). This group reported that there were no deficits in spatial learning in the MWM (Aldrin-Kirk et al., 2014). However, administration of wild-type  $\alpha$ -synuclein into the ventral tegmental area (VTA) and medial septum/diagonal band of Broca of rats has been shown to induce deficits in spatial working memory in the MWM (Hall et al., 2013). Caution should be

exercised when interpreting this result in the context of PD as administration into this region is not wholly representative of a PD model.

The so-called "third generation" of the  $\alpha$ -synuclein model of PD has been developed in very recent years, whereby different forms of  $\alpha$ -synuclein such as pre-formed fibrils (Paumier et al., 2015), recombinant monomers, oligomers and PD lysate taken from human brains (Holmqvist et al., 2014; Peelaerts et al., 2015) have all been used to investigate and potentially characterise the differential effects of the  $\alpha$ -synuclein structure itself on motor symptoms. To date, no studies have reported on non-motor symptoms using these approaches.

Although the  $\alpha$ -synuclein model is perhaps the most accurate representation of the progressive nature of human PD (reviewed by Lindgren et al. 2012), it is not without its caveats. The marked variation in the serotype of viral vectors and the different forms of the  $\alpha$ -synuclein protein (wild-type, mutated) that are used by various research groups lead to differing neuronal transduction efficiencies,  $\alpha$ -synuclein expression and behavioural and pathological phenotypes, which makes it difficult to compare and extrapolate between the studies that have been published.

Publication	Breed & Sex	Administration site	Virus serotype & protein form	Dose	Behavioural tests	Result
Caudal	Adult female SD	SN	AAV6 Human wt α- synuclein	2.3 x 10 <sup>11</sup>	FST SPT EPM SIH	↓ ↓
Alvarsson	Adult female SD	VTA	AAV6 Human wt α- synuclein	2.3 x 10 <sup>11</sup>	Passive avoidance task EPM FST	↓ - -
Campos	Adult male Wistar	SN	AAV2 Human α- synuclein	11 x 10 <sup>11</sup>	EPM FST MWM SPT	- - -
Aldrin-Kirk	Neo- natal SD	Str	AAV6 Human wt α- synuclein	3.5 x 10 <sup>9</sup>	MWM	-
Hall	Adult female SD	VTA and MS/DBB	AAV5 Human wt α- synuclein	VTA 5.5 x 10 <sup>10</sup> MS/DBB 1.48 x 10 <sup>11</sup>	MWM	¥

Table 3.5. Summary of the effects of  $\alpha$ -synuclein overexpression on cognitive and emotional behaviours in rats.  $\uparrow$  denotes increased or enhanced performance, denotes no change in performance and  $\downarrow$  denotes decreased or impaired performance. Abbreviations: SD = Sprague Dawley; wt = wild-type; SN = substantia nigra; MWM = Morris water maze; FST = forced swim test; SIH = stress-induced hypothermia; SPT = sucrose preference test; EPM = elevated plus maze; VTA = ventral tegmental area

# 3.5 $\alpha$ -synuclein and its role in PD

#### 3.5.1 The SNCA gene and PD

One of the earliest indications of the link between  $\alpha$ -synuclein and PD was published by Polymeropolous et al (1997), where a genotype analysis was carried out on an Italian family with autosomal dominant inheritance of a PD phenotype. They discovered recombination events in the  $\alpha$ -synuclein gene (SNCA) located on chromosome 4, namely an alanine to threonine substitution at position 53 (Ala53Thr, later shortened to A53T), which resulted in a shift from  $\alpha$ -helix to  $\beta$ -sheet structure of the  $\alpha$ -synuclein protein (Polymeropoulos et al., 1997). This link was further strengthened later that same year with a seminal paper from Spillantini and colleagues (1997), who published the first evidence that aggregated  $\alpha$ -synuclein was the primary constituent of Lewy bodies and Lewy neurites. Since then, various other point mutations have been characterised and linked to familial PD, including A30P (Krüger et al., 1998) and E46K (Zarranz et al., 2004), as well as both duplication (Chartier-Harlin et al., 2004) and triplication (Singleton, 2003) of the whole  $\alpha$ -synuclein gene. Further mutations that have been discovered in recent years include H50Q (Appel-Cresswell et al., 2013; Proukakis et al., 2013), G51D (Kiely et al., 2013; Lesage et al., 2013) and A53E (Pasanen et al., 2014). Importantly, the various mutations each appear to result in distinct phenotypes of PD, both in vivo (reviewed by Kasten & Klein 2013) and experimentally in vitro (Sahay et al. 2015; Lu et al. 2015; Ono et al. 2011; Burré et al. 2013).

### 3.5.2 Structure and function of $\alpha$ -synuclein

 $\alpha$ -synuclein is a 140-amino acid protein (14.5kDa) which is encoded by the gene SNCA and is highly conserved in vertebrates (Bisaglia et al., 2009). It belongs to a small family of synuclein proteins which also includes  $\beta$ synuclein and  $\gamma$ -synuclein (Lavedan, 1998).  $\alpha$ -synuclein belongs to a class of intrinsically unstructured proteins owing to its lack of defined structure in its native state (Uversky 2003), and this unique characteristic endows a remarkable conformational plasticity which has been shown to be dependent on the cellular environment (Bai et al., 2016; Lawand et al., 2015). In its native form,  $\alpha$ -synuclein exists without any stable tertiary structure (Eliezer et al., 2001). Upon binding to phospholipid cellular membranes,  $\alpha$ -synuclein adopts a predominantly  $\alpha$ -helical structure (Davidson et al., 1998; Eliezer et al., 2001), however it is the misfolding of the protein into a  $\beta$ -sheet-rich conformation and the subsequent aggregation into insoluble fibrils which form the characteristic Lewy bodies and Lewy neurites that are seen in PD.

Structurally, the native protein is made up of three distinct domains (see Figure 3.1): (1) a positively-charged lipid-binding N-terminal region (2) a central hydrophobic region known as NAC (for non-amyloid- $\beta$  component of Alzheimer's disease) and (3) an acidic carboxyl terminus that remains unstructured (Eliezer et al. 2001; Stefanis 2012; Jain et al. 2013; Burré et al. 2013). Although it was initially thought that the central NAC region was key for the formation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein aggregates (Lawand et al. 2015; Burré et al.

2013; Rodriguez et al. 2015), there is also increasing evidence to support the importance of the N-terminus in the aggregation process. The N-terminus has been shown to be critical for  $\alpha$ -synuclein membrane interaction and permeabilisation (Gaugler et al., 2012; Lorenzen et al., 2014), and all known clinical mutations for PD are located on the N-terminus (Dehay et al., 2015). A recent study evaluating antibodies against either the N-terminus or central region of  $\alpha$ -synuclein found that the N-terminus antibody conferred more protection against dopaminergic neuronal cell loss and against some behavioural deficits compared to the central region antibody (Shahaduzzaman et al., 2015). Interestingly, recent work focusing on the role of the C-terminus has also shown that this region can modulate the aggregation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein (Izawa et al., 2012; Izumi et al., 2016; Sahin et al., 2016). Furthermore, a new compound that targets the C-terminus can improve motor deficits and reduce  $\alpha$ -synuclein accumulation in several transgenic rodent models of PD (Wrasidlo et al., 2016). Taken together, all this evidence further consolidates the fact that still, relatively little is known about the differential effects and interplay of the structural sub-regions of  $\alpha$ -synuclein.



Figure 3.1. Schematic depicting the structure of  $\alpha$ -synuclein

The endogenous functions of native  $\alpha$ -synuclein are yet to be fully elucidated. Although this protein is found throughout the body (Böttner et al., 2012), it is most highly expressed in the brain. Its localisation at presynaptic nerve terminals and its interaction with membrane proteins suggest that it plays a role in neurotransmitter release (Bendor et al., 2013). Additionally, it has been shown to be involved in facilitating the assembly of the SNARE complex (a family of vesicular fusion proteins) (Burré et al., 2010), vesicular trafficking (Lee et al., 2011; Nemani et al., 2011), neuronal maturation in the dentate gyrus (Winner et al., 2012), DA transmission (reviewed by Butler et al. 2016; Buck et al. 2015) and possibly in transcriptional regulation in the nucleus, though the latter is still highly debated (for review see Wales et al. 2013; Villar-Piqué et al. 2015).

### 3.5.3 Post-translational modification of $\alpha$ -synuclein

 $\alpha$ -synuclein can undergo a wide variety of post-translational modifications, including N-terminal acetylation (Anderson et al. 2006; reviewed by Moriarty et al. 2014), sumoylation (Dorval and Fraser, 2006), ubiquitination (Hasegawa et al., 2002; Nonaka et al., 2005), transglutamination (Junn et al., 2003) and nitration (Barrett & Greenamyre 2015), however it is phosphorylation, specifically at serine residue 129 that has been the most widely studied with respect to PD (for full review on phosphorylation of  $\alpha$ synuclein see Tenreiro et al. 2014; Xu et al. 2015 and Oueslati 2016). First discovered by Fujiwara (2002), s129-phosphorylated  $\alpha$ -synuclein is the most abundantly expressed protein in Lewy bodies (Anderson et al., 2006). It is present under normal conditions in the human brain (Muntané et al., 2012), however it is strikingly increased in the brains of patients with PD and other synucleinopathies (Fujiwara et al., 2002). Although increased levels of phospho-s129 have also been reported in animal models of PD, including the 6-OHDA lesion model (Ganapathy et al., 2016), the rAAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein overexpression model (Aldrin-Kirk et al., 2014) and transgenic mouse models (Amschl et al., 2013; Spinelli et al., 2014), the role of phosphorylated  $\alpha$ -synuclein in the pathogenesis of PD is poorly understood. Some groups have reported that phospho-s129 potentiates the toxicity of  $\alpha$ -synuclein (Gorbatyuk et al., 2008; Sato et al., 2011), and can modulate inclusion formation and  $\alpha$ -synuclein fibrillation (reviewed by Tenreiro et al. 2014), while others argue that there are no differences between the effects of wild type and phospho-s129  $\alpha$ -synuclein on nigro-striatal neuronal degeneration

or aggregation kinetics (McFarland et al., 2009; Schreurs et al., 2014). Recent work by Samuel *et al* (2015) and Ma *et al* (2016) suggest that phosphorylated  $\alpha$ -synuclein may have different effects depending on whether the wild-type or mutant protein is present. Interestingly, inducing phosphorylation of endogenous  $\alpha$ -synuclein through modulation of polo-like kinases (PLKs) does not cause nigral dopaminergic neurodegeneration or accumulation of phosphor-s129 (Buck et al., 2015). Additionally, phosphorylation at serine 87 seems to protect against the aggregation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein and associated toxicities (Oueslati et al., 2012; Paleologou et al., 2010), strengthening the argument that the various individual structures of  $\alpha$ -synuclein are responsible for its distinct effects.

#### 3.5.4 $\alpha$ -synuclein seeding and the aggregation process

The Braak hypothesis (Braak et al. 2003) describes the pathological staging of PD based on the presence of  $\alpha$ -synuclein inclusions in certain regions of the brain, and theorised that  $\alpha$ -synuclein proliferates throughout these regions in an ordered and predetermined manner. Starting in the dorsal IX/X motor nucleus (and often in the anterior olfactory nucleus), the disease pathology ascends rostrally in the brainstem and through susceptible brain regions in the midbrain and basal forebrain including subcortical and mesocortical regions and olfactory structures, before reaching the neocortex (Braak et al. 2003). Each stage of the process correlates with increasing severity and type of disease symptoms and clinical manifestations of the disease. Evidence for the movement of  $\alpha$ -synuclein throughout the brain was further strengthened by the discovery of Lewy body pathology within grafted tissue from post mortem analysis of patients who had received foetal mesencephalic transplants (Kordower et al. 2008; Kordower et al. 2008b). This also suggests that  $\alpha$ -synuclein has the ability to travel between host and graft tissue (Li et al., 2008). This led to the theory that  $\alpha$ synuclein can self-propagate throughout the brain in a "prion-like" manner (reviewed by Sato et al. 2014 and Recasens & Dehay 2014) via a seeding mechanism, whereby exogenous  $\alpha$ -synuclein is taken up into neurons via endocytosis and induces endogenously expressed  $\alpha$ -synuclein to form inclusions. These aggregates then cause cell disruption and death, leading to the release of more  $\alpha$ -synuclein, which is then available for further neuronal uptake, so continuing the process. There have been several in vivo and in vitro studies published in support of this theory. Sacino and colleagues (2013) reported that the addition of exogenous pre-formed fibrils (PFFs) to primary mixed neuronal-glial cultures (derived from postnatal day 0 mouse brain) was not sufficient to induce endogenous  $\alpha$ -synuclein aggregates. However, overexpression of human wild-type  $\alpha$ -synuclein *via* an AAV vector with the extracellular addition of the PFF "seed" resulted in a rapid and marked increase in  $\alpha$ -synuclein inclusions primarily formed of endogenous  $\alpha$ -synuclein. Interestingly, the morphology of the Lewy body was shown to be primarily dependent on the structure of the seed applied i.e. wild-type or mutant, rather than the type of  $\alpha$ -synuclein expressed (Sacino et al., 2013). Furthermore, the addition of  $\alpha$ -synuclein PFFs to mouse hippocampal

primary cultures can accelerate the aggregation of monomeric  $\alpha$ -synuclein to fibrils (Mahul-Mellier et al., 2015). It has also been shown that injection of human recombinant  $\alpha$ -synuclein fibrils into the mouse SN induces accumulation of endogenous  $\alpha$ -synuclein up to 3 months after the fibril administration (Masuda-suzukake et al., 2013), as well as propagation of  $\alpha$ synuclein pathology throughout various interconnected brain regions (Masuda-suzukake et al., 2014).

Broadly, the aggregation process (reviewed in depth by Narkiewicz et al. 2014) is the transformation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein from its native form to a  $\beta$ -rich fibrillary structure, which has been shown to be the primary component of Lewy bodies (Araki et al., 2015).  $\alpha$ -synuclein aggregation begins with the formation of intermediary oligomeric structures through the repeated addition of monomers (Buell et al., 2014). These oligomers then further aggregate, undergoing a series of conformational changes from protofilaments to protofibrils before becoming mature  $\alpha$ -synuclein fibrils (Qin et al., 2007). Although it was initially thought that the mature  $\alpha$ synuclein fibrils were cytotoxic, growing evidence suggests that oligomers may also contribute to cell damage and death (reviewed by Forloni et al. 2016 and Roberts & Brown 2015). Oligomeric α-synuclein has been detected in *post mortem* brain tissue from PD patients (Paleologou et al., 2009), and has been shown in vitro to disrupt membranes (Perdersen et al., 2015; van Rooijen et al., 2010) leading to calcium influx (Danzer et al., 2007) and can result in high levels of oxidative stress in neurons (Cremades et al., 2012).

There are a wide variety of factors that can influence the aggregation process, including the lipid composition (Hellstrand et al., 2013; Tsujimura et al., 2015) or pH (Buell et al., 2014) of the cellular environment, the specific isoform of  $\alpha$ -synuclein that is present (Bungeroth et al., 2014; Lemkau et al., 2013; Manda et al., 2014; Nielsen et al., 2013), the presence of neurotransmitters (Jain and Bhat, 2014; Outeiro et al., 2009; Pham and Cappai, 2013) and their respective oxidative states (Fischer and Mansfield, 2015; Follmer et al., 2015) and post-translational modifications of the protein (Kang et al., 2013, 2012; Krumova et al., 2011).

Importantly, what is evident is that  $\alpha$ -synuclein is an incredibly versatile protein that can dynamically alter its structure in response to various intracellular and extracellular cues. The initial conformation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein can drastically impact the final structure of the aggregation process (Bai et al., 2016; Chen et al., 2015). Growing evidence suggests that different structural forms of  $\alpha$ -synuclein, or indeed the various post-translational modifications that the protein undergoes, may explain the distinct pathologies seen within the classes of synucleinopathies (Bousset et al., 2013; Peelaerts et al., 2015; Prusiner et al., 2015). Peelaerts and colleagues extensively characterised behavioural and histopathological effects of administration of either  $\alpha$ -synuclein ribbons, fibrils or oligomers, and found that each structural moiety elicited a different phenotype (Peelaerts et al., 2015).  $\alpha$ -synuclein fibrils proved to be the most neurotoxic, causing progressive motor impairment and cell death, whereas administration of  $\alpha$ -synuclein ribbons caused a distinct pattern of phosphorylated  $\alpha$ -synuclein

accumulation in oligodendroglial cells, more characteristic of multiple system atrophy (MSA).

### 3.5.5 Mechanisms of $\alpha$ -synuclein- induced cell death

Various mechanisms of  $\alpha$ -synuclein-induced cell death have been reported (reviewed by Gallegos et al. 2015; Waxman & Giasson 2009; Yasuda et al. 2013). These include mitochondrial dysfunction (Parihar et al. 2008; Parihar et al. 2009; Sarafian et al. 2013; Luth et al. 2014; reviewed by Zaltieri et al. 2015), endoplasmic reticulum stress (Colla et al., 2012; Gully et al., 2016), dysregulation of autophagy (reviewed by Wang et al. 2016), lipid membrane disruption (Chaudhary et al., 2014; J. Lee et al., 2012; Mazzulli et al., 2016; Pacheco et al., 2015; Reynolds et al., 2011; Rooijen et al., 2010), pore formation (Tosatto et al., 2012) and calcium influx resulting in abnormal calcium homeostasis (Danzer et al., 2007; Tosatto et al., 2012; Tsigelny et al., 2012), as well as oxidative stress and inhibition of microtubule assembly (Oikawa et al., 2016; Prots et al., 2013). However, there are two conflicting schools of thought on the underlying process of  $\alpha$ -synuclein-mediated neuronal death. Although it has been widely accepted that dopaminergic neurodegeneration inherent to PD is caused by the aggregation of  $\alpha$ synuclein in Lewy bodies, a so-called gain-of-toxicity function (Oikawa et al., 2016) more recent work postulates that a loss of endogenous function of pre-synaptic  $\alpha$ -synuclein through its sequestration into Lewy bodies could also be involved (reviewed by Benskey 2016). However, evidence from SNCA

knock-out studies does seem to contradict this, as degeneration of dopaminergic cell bodies, fibres or synapses do not develop in  $\alpha$ -synuclein null <sup>-/-</sup> mice (a homozygous knockout model lacking the SNCA gene), nor do these mice display any overt phenotype (Abeliovich et al., 2000). Benskey and colleagues argue that this could be as a result of a developmental coping mechanism from the SNCA gene knock-out (Benskey et al., 2016). Interestingly, SNCA knockdown in adult rats has been shown to reduce striatal DA content (Zharikov et al., 2015) and result in marked TH-positive cell loss with accompanying motor deficits (Gorbatyuk et al., 2010). Additionally, co-expression of endogenous rat  $\alpha$ -synuclein with small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) selectively targeting endogenous  $\alpha$ -synuclein partially reversed the PD phenotype in these animals (Gorbatyuk et al., 2010). Similarly, knockdown of endogenous  $\alpha$ -synuclein in non-human primates also results in degeneration of dopaminergic neurons (Collier et al., 2016).

# 3.6 Inflammation in PD

Growing evidence supports a role for inflammation in the pathogenesis of PD (reviewed by Lee et al. 2009). Age is the most common risk factor for many neurodegenerative diseases (Ascherio and Schwarzschild, 2016) and is accompanied by a chronic low-grade systemic up-regulation of proinflammatory mediators in the absence of overt infection. The term

"inflammaging" has been coined to describe this chronic process (Chung et al. 2009; Franceschi & Campisi 2014). Importantly, dopaminergic neurons in the SN and striatum appear to be particularly vulnerable to inflammatory insult (reviewed by Barnum & Tansey 2010), and so neuroinflammation can significantly contribute to the pathogenesis of PD (Block and Hong, 2007). Of note, head trauma is known to induce an inflammatory reaction in the brain. It has been shown to cause progressive nigro-striatal dopaminergic cell loss in the rat brain (Hutson et al., 2011), and is linked to higher prevalence of PD in humans (Ascherio and Schwarzschild, 2016). Epidemiological evidence for a role of inflammation in PD comes from the fact that the regular use of several anti-inflammatory medications, including the non-steroidal antiinflammatory drug ibuprofen (Chen et al., 2005; Gao et al., 2011) and the statin (3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase inhibitors) class of drugs (Gao et al., 2012) decrease the risk of PD. Similarly, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPARs) are nuclear receptors that play an important role in modulating inflammation (Michalik et al., 2006) and PPAR agonists including pioglitazone and rosiglitazone have been shown to exert neuroprotective effects in animals models of PD (Barbiero et al., 2014; Carta and Simuni, 2014; Falcone et al., 2014).



*Figure 3.2. Schematic depicting structural and morphological changes in microglia. Taken from Ransohoff (2016).* 

## 3.6.1 Inflammation and aging

Microglia are the resident innate immune cells of the brain, and are found in high concentrations in the SN and striatum (Lawson et al., 1990). Their main functions include immune modulation and mediation of innate immune responses (Doorn et al., 2012). They can be activated by a number of stimuli, including stress, head injury, infections, neuronal damage and environmental toxins (reviewed by von Bernhardi et al. 2015), and function to clear the cellular environment *via* phagocytosis of debris from damaged or leaky cells (Nimmerjahn et al., 2005; van Rossum and Hanisch, 2004). In most cases, this reaction is self-limiting. However, in some cases, microglia can remain chronically activated and continually release a myriad of proinflammatory cytokines and ROS. This chronic activation leads to aberrant microglial functioning, as they kill otherwise viable cells, particularly neurons (Long-Smith et al., 2009). The resulting cell death triggers further microglial activation, resulting in a vicious cycle of long-lived and self-propelling inflammation and oxidative stress known as reactive microgliosis.

Interestingly, the process of aging is considered to contribute to neuroinflammation, and even healthy aged brain tissue displays widespread microglial activation throughout various brain regions (Schuitemaker et al., 2012). However, it remains unclear what drives this increase in upregulated microglia. Aging has been shown to cause changes in brain volume and cortical thinning, as well as neuronal loss and shrinkage (Anderson et al., 1983; Sykova et al., 1998; Terry et al., 1987) and microglia may be reacting to these profound changes in the microenvironment. Alternatively, it has been hypothesised that aging may have a direct impact upon the structure of microglia (Conde and Streit, 2006). Morphological changes have previously been reported in microglia from aged animal and human studies, including cytosolic inclusions, cytoplasmic hypertrophy and other ultrastructural abnormalities collectively termed microglial dystrophy (Vaughan & Peters 1974; Peinado et al. 1998; Streit et al. 2004, see Figure 3.2). Given that the ability of microglia to monitor and respond to pathogens is dependent on their structural complexity, any structural dysfunction could lead to profound functional impairments and subsequently impact on the health of the brain. Microglia in aged mice cause significantly more dopaminergic neuronal death in an MPTP model of PD and are slower to react to acute injury when compared to younger counterparts (Damani et al., 2011; Sawada et al., 2007). Recent work has shown that microglia are differentially susceptible to aging dependent on their phenotype and

location in the brain (Grabert et al., 2016). In addition, several reports have shown that there is a possible shift in cytokine balance with aging, as levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as interleukin (IL)-6 and tumour necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$  in the brain increase (Lukiw, 2004; Ye and Johnson, 1999) and are accompanied by a subsequent decrease in the levels of antiinflammatory cytokine IL-10 in the brain (Ye and Johnson, 2001). Aging is accompanied by a cumulative increase in environmental toxins, including ROS, in both the body and brain (Chung et al. 2009), and coupled with the increased permeability of the BBB also seen in aging (reviewed by Gorlé et al. 2016), the brain is left particularly vulnerable to inflammatory insult. The shift toward a more pro-inflammatory state and subsequent neuronal damage can lead to prolonged microglial activation and contribute further to reactive microgliosis. Furthermore, there is growing evidence to support the phenomenon of microglial "priming", namely that chronic exposure to inflammation that is consistent with the aging process results in an exaggerated response to a second inflammatory stimulus (reviewed by Hoeijmakers et al. 2016; Perry & Holmes 2014).

Taken together, it is clear that the aging process significantly affects both the structure and function of microglia. However, whether this dysfunction is as a result of chronic over-activation of microglia, or of an inability of microglia to complete normal cellular functions is still highly debated (reviewed by Harry 2013; von Bernhardi et al. 2015). Given that the main predisposing risk factor to developing PD is increasing age (Ascherio and Schwarzschild, 2016),

it stands to reason that the age-related changes in microglial functioning may play a part in the progression of the disease.

# 3.6.2 Systemic inflammation in PD

Several studies have confirmed the link between systemic inflammation and PD. Increased levels of cytokines TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-2, IL-6, IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , the chemokine RANTES (regulated on activation, normal T-cell expressed and secreted, also known as CCL-5) and markers of oxidative stress have all been observed in serum of PD patients compared to age-matched control subjects (Andican et al., 2012; Brodacki et al., 2008; Dobbs et al., 1999; Reale et al., 2009; Rentzos et al., 2009, 2007; Stypula et al., 1996). Serum levels of cytokine receptors such as TNF- $\alpha$  receptor 1 are also increased in PD patients (Scalzo et al., 2009). Interestingly, growing evidence suggests that peripheral inflammatory markers may prove useful tools for not only predicting PD (Chen et al., 2008) but also for differentiating between the various subtypes of PD (Constantinescu et al., 2010). It has also been shown that levels of peripheral cytokines and their receptors in PD patients positively correlate with disease progression (measured on the Hoehn-Yahr scale), severity and duration (Reale et al., 2009; Tang et al., 2014) as well as with non-motor symptoms such as depression and fatigue (Lindqvist et al., 2012; Menza et al., 2010; Pereira et al., 2016; Rocha et al., 2014; X.-M. Wang et al., 2016; Williams-Gray et al., 2016).
#### 3.6.3 Central inflammation in PD

The first evidence that linked neuro-inflammation to the progression of PD came from the presence of activated microglia in the SN of post mortem brain tissue from PD patients (McGeer et al., 1988). Since then, there has been a myriad of data published supporting this association. Increased levels of cytokines and cytokine receptors have been detected in the SN of PD patients in comparison to controls (Mogi et al., 2000, 2007). Similarly, expression of toll-like receptor (TLR) 2, a potent activator of microglia, is significantly enhanced in the SN and anterior cingulate cortex of PD patients (Doorn et al., 2014; Dzamko et al., 2016). Enzymes associated with inflammation, such as inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) and cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2), have also been identified post mortem in PD brains (Hunot et al., 1996; Knott et al., 2000). Modern imaging studies have shown reactive microgliosis in the SN and striatum (Iannaccone et al., 2013) as well as the occipital, temporal and parietal cortices of PD patients (Gerhard et al., 2006; Terada et al., 2016), highlighting the potential role the inflammatory reaction may play in the pathogenesis of NMS in PD.

#### 3.6.4 Supportive evidence from animal models of PD

Evidence from animal studies further supports the link between neuroinflammation and PD. Chronic overexpression of the cytokine IL-1 $\beta$  in the SN of rats results in nigral dopaminergic degeneration and motor deficits, as well as glial activation (Ferrari et al., 2006). The MPTP model of PD has been

shown to cause marked microglial activation in the SN in both mice (Czlonkowska et al., 1996) and monkeys (McGeer et al., 2003; Vazquez-Claverie et al., 2009) as well as increases in levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines in the SN of mice (Mandel et al., 2000; Shimoji et al., 2009). Given that the 6-OHDA model by its very nature causes cell death through oxidative stress (reviewed by Barnum & Tansey 2010), it stands to reason that administration of 6-OHDA would also result in a profound inflammatory reaction (reviewed by Cebrian et al. 2015), including enhanced microglial activation and increased levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Cicchetti et al., 2002; Marinova-Mutafchieva et al., 2009; Na et al., 2010; Nagatsu and Sawada, 2005). Blockade of TNF- $\alpha$  or the TNF receptor has also been shown to attenuate nigral dopaminergic cell death in a 6-OHDA rat model (McCoy et al., 2006; Mccoy et al., 2008). The rotenone model of PD induces cell death at least in part by the formation of ROS, and so will result in a similar range of neuro-inflammatory effects (Cicchetti et al., 2009). The use of the Gram-negative bacterial endotoxin component LPS as a potent activator of microglia has enabled investigations into the precise contributions of various inflammatory mediators on the pathogenesis of PD. Administration of LPS into the SN activates microglia to release a range of pro-inflammatory cytokines and neurotoxic factors such as ROS (Sharma & Nehru 2015 and reviewed by Liu & Bing 2011). It selectively damages dopaminergic neurons and results in motor deficits similar to those seen in other animal PD models (Hoban et al., 2013). Interestingly, administration of LPS in combination with  $\alpha$ -synuclein overexpression enhanced dopaminergic results in

neurodegeneration and motor deficits compared to either LPS or  $\alpha$ -synuclein alone (Mulcahy et al., 2013, 2012).

#### 3.6.5 Inflammation and $\alpha$ -synuclein

Overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein also results in a robust neuro-inflammatory reaction. Microglia are activated by the presence of  $\alpha$ -synuclein (Alvarez-Erviti et al., 2011; Codolo et al., 2013; Wilms et al., 2009), releasing a raft of pro-inflammatory cytokines and ROS that have been shown to contribute to dopaminergic cell death (Wang et al. 2016; Klegeris et al. 2008; Zhang et al. 2007; Theodore et al. 2008; Chung et al. 2009; Sanchez-Guajardo et al. 2010; Cao et al. 2010). Critically, in the context of PD, age-dependent deficits in microglial function have been shown to have deleterious effects on the ability of microglia to protect against  $\alpha$ -synuclein-mediated neurotoxicity (Bliederhaeuser et al., 2015). Interestingly, the activation state seems to be dependent on the type of protein present (wild-type, mutant) (Hoenen et al., 2016) and the aggregation state of the protein (Hoffmann et al., 2016). Similarly, microglia isolated from aged animals are unable to efficiently phagocytose  $\alpha$ -synuclein oligomers *in vitro* (Bliederhaeuser et al., 2015). Furthermore, previous exposure of microglia to  $\alpha$ -synuclein results in a significantly heightened response to TLR stimulation, so-called microglial priming (Roodveldt et al., 2013). A recent paper by Christiansen (2016) showed that vaccination against  $\alpha$ -synuclein in mice can modulate the

microglial population to a more anti-inflammatory phenotype (Christiansen et al., 2016).

## 3.7 Neurogenesis in PD

#### 3.7.1 Neurogenesis

Neurogenesis is defined as the generation of new neurons from neural progenitor cells (NPCs), and it is a key contributor to synaptic plasticity in the adult brain (for reviews see Lee et al. 2012; Regensburger et al. 2014; Sailor et al. 2017). Neurogenesis has been shown to occur, at least in rodents, throughout the lifespan in distinct niches of the brain, namely the subgranular zone (SGZ) of the dentate gyrus (DG) and the subventricular zone (SVZ) of the lateral ventricles (Altman, 1969; Eriksson et al., 1998). Adult neurogenesis has also been shown within the striatum in humans and has been suggested to contribute to the generation of new striatal interneurons (Eriksson et al., 1998; Gage, 2012; Frisén et al, 2015). While the functional significance of new adult striatal neurons is yet to be fully understood, it is possible that they contribute to motor and cognitive functions such as behavioural flexibility (Ernst and Frisén, 2015). Some of the newly born neurons become functionally integrated into neural circuitry (Jessberger and Kempermann, 2003; van Praag et al., 2002), and in the case of adult hippocampal neurogenesis (AHN) they are thought to play a key role in learning and memory processing and emotional regulation (van Praag et

al. 2002; van Praag et al. 2005; Gould et al. 1999; reviewed by Oomen et al. 2015). Specifically, animal studies in which AHN was ablated have revealed that the new-born neurons significantly contribute to spatial memory and pattern separation (Clelland et al. 2009; Raber et al. 2004). Pattern separation is defined as the process by which overlapping or similar representations are transformed into less similar outputs (Sahay et al., 2011), and it is a process that has been shown to be dependent on AHN (Bekinschtein et al., 2014, 2013, 2011; Clelland et al., 2009). Inhibition of AHN, either by pharmacological or transgenic methods, increases anxiety-like behaviours in rodents (Po et al., 2015; Revest et al., 2009). Conversely, enhanced neurogenesis can alleviate anxiety and depressive-like behaviours (Hill et al., 2015), and many anti-depressant medications have been shown to not only increase AHN (Boldrini et al., 2009; Malberg et al., 2000), but to be dependent on AHN for their efficacy (Santarelli et al., 2003).

AHN is sensitive to local and systemic environmental changes. Animal studies in mice and macaques have shown that AHN is enhanced by environmental enrichment (Kempermann et al., 1997), dietary restriction (Lee et al., 2002) and exercise (Farmer et al., 2004; van Praag et al., 1999). Conversely, stress (Gould et al., 1998), peripheral inflammation (reviewed by Chesnokova et al. 2016) and neuroinflammation (Butovsky et al. 2006; reviewed by Sierra et al. 2014; Ryan & Nolan 2016) have all been shown to detrimentally affect AHN. Moreover, blockade of the LPS-induced inflammatory reaction using anti-inflammatory medication (Indomethacin,

a non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug) can restore AHN (Monje et al., 2003).

Aging also has a profound impact on neurogenesis (reviewed by Lee et al. 2012). Aged animals show significantly decreased levels of NPC proliferation, differentiation and new-born neuron survival (Bondolfi et al. 2004; Kuhn et al. 1996; Heine et al. 2004; reviewed by Drapeau & Abrous 2008). Aging results in widespread microglial activation and upregulation of proinflammatory cytokines (H. Chung et al., 2009; Schuitemaker et al., 2012), which can detrimentally affect AHN (Butovsky et al. 2006; reviewed by Sierra et al. 2014; Ryan & Nolan 2016). The functional implications of age-related decreases in AHN, and whether it plays a part in age-related deficits in spatial memory, are still unclear (reviewed by Drapeau & Abrous 2008). Spatial memory impairments in aged animals have been associated with deficits in hippocampal circuitry (Bitencourt et al., 2017; Haberman et al., 2017; Rowe et al., 2007; Yoo et al., 2016). A study by Driscoll and colleagues positively correlated levels of neurogenesis, measured by doublecortin (DCX; a marker of immature neurons) and performance on hippocampal-associated memory tasks in aged animals, including the MWM, a measure of spatial working memory (Driscoll et al., 2006). However, similar studies have not been able to replicate this finding (Bizon and Gallagher, 2003; Merrill et al., 2003).

One way to address the potential link between age-related deficits in AHN and cognitive decline is to delineate the effects of enhancing AHN on

hippocampal-assocated learning and memory tasks (reviewed by Ryan & Nolan 2016). Animal studies have repeatedly demonstrated that exercise is a potent enhancer of AHN, both in young and aged brains (Farmer et al., 2004; Kronenberg et al., 2006; van Praag et al., 2005, 1999). Importantly, exercise has also been shown to improve performance on hippocampal-associated learning and memory tasks, including pattern separation (Creer et al., 2010; Gibbons et al., 2014; Marlatt, 2012; Wu et al., 2015). Although this link is by no means causative, it certainly suggests that exercise-induced cognitive enhancement in neurodegenerative diseases may be dependent on AHN.

#### 3.7.2 Neurogenesis and PD

Although the majority of work surrounding the link between neurogenesis and PD has been focused on neurogenesis in the SVZ (reviewed by Regensburger et al. 2014; Le Grand et al. 2015; Lamm et al. 2014), there are a few studies linking AHN to the pathogenesis of PD in humans (Regensburger et al., 2014). *Post mortem* brain tissue analysis from PD patients revealed decreased NPC proliferation in the SGZ of the hippocampus (Hoglinger et al., 2004). Several studies also support the role of DA in modularing AHN. For example, DA depletion by a 6-OHDA lesion of the nigrostriatal pathway has been shown to impair NPC proliferation in the SGZ of rats (Hoglinger et al., 2004). Similarly, MPTP-treated mice exhibited decreased DA levels in the hippocampus and decreases in the survival of

newly-born neurons in the SGZ (Schlachetzki et al., 2016). The mesocorticolimbic DA pathway and dopaminergic projections to the dorsal hippocampus have also been shown to be of signicant importance in modulating hippocampal-associated learning and memory (Kempadoo et al., 2016; Wisman et al., 2008).

Of particular importance in the context of PD is the growing evidence linking AHN and  $\alpha$ -synuclein (reviewed by Le Grand et al. 2015).  $\alpha$ -synuclein has been detected in the hippocampus of *post mortem* PD brain tissue (Flores-Cuadrado et al., 2016). A pluripotent stem cell line derived from a PD patient with a SNCA gene triplication exhibited a marked decrease in NPC differentiation when compared to a cell line derived from a healthy control subject (Oliveira et al., 2015). Moreover, animal studies have repeatedly demonstrated that  $\alpha$ -synuclein can decrease hippocampal neuronal proliferation and survival both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Crews et al., 2008; Desplats et al., 2012; Kohl et al., 2016; Marxreiter et al., 2013; Winner et al., 2012, 2004). Given that AHN can be detrimentally affected by  $\alpha$ -synuclein pathology, and that it also may contribute to several NMS which occur in PD, it stands to reason that employing neurogenic modulators such as exercise may provide a useful interventional tool for targeting cognitive symptoms in PD.

## 3.8 Exercise and PD

Although both motor and NMS of PD are primarily managed using pharmaceutical treatments, there is a wealth of evidence to support lifestyle interventions such as aerobic exercise having a role to play in neuroprotection and symptom management for neurodegenerative disorders (reviewed by Paillard et al. 2015 and Inskip et al. 2016). Exercise can be defined as a subset of physical activity that is planned, structured, repetitive, and purposeful in the sense that improvement or maintenance of physical fitness is the objective (Shephard and Balady, 1999). Interestingly, exercise has been shown to not only play a role in attenuating symptoms in patients with existing PD, but vigorous exercise in mid-life has been shown to lead to a reduced incidence of PD in later life (Xu *et al.*, 2010; Ahlskog, 2011).

#### 3.8.1 Systemic effects of exercise

Regular exercise can increase cardiovascular endurance and capacity, enhance muscular tone, increase muscular strength, improve metabolism, and decrease adiposity (reviewed by Bergman 2013; Egan & Zierath 2013; Spielman et al. 2016) and is listed as one of the key recommendations for cardiovascular disease prevention by the National Institute for Clinical Excellence (NICE, <u>www.nice.org.uk</u>). Along with other modifiable lifestyle factors such as diet (for e.g. limited salt and fat intake), epidemiological

evidence supports the fact that exercise can help reduce the risk of cardiovascular disease (Claas and Arnett, 2016), stroke (Niewada and Michel, 2016), diabetes (Schrauwen and van Marken Lichtenbelt, 2016) and cancer (Lemanne et al., 2013). Exercise has been shown to exert systemic anti-inflammatory effects throughout the body, including decreased visceral fat mass and increased production and release of anti-inflammatory cytokines from skeletal muscle (reviewed by Gleeson et al. 2011). Interestingly in the context of inflammation in PD, at least some of these effects appear to mediated *via* TLRs (Zheng et al. 2015; for review see Flynn & McFarlin 2006; Gleeson et al. 2006).

## 3.8.2 Central effects of exercise

As well as the comprehensive benefits of exercise on systemic health, it can also have profound effects on the CNS including enhanced neuroplasticity, neurorestoration and neuroprotection (Hirsch et al., 2016; Petzinger et al., 2013). Exercise increases grey matter volume (Sehm et al., 2014), corticomotor excitability (Fisher et al., 2008), striatal DA receptor density and DA levels in studies of patients with PD (Fisher et al., 2013). NTFs such as BDNF are upregulated from the brain after exercise in human studies (Rasmussen et al. 2009; Wagner et al. 2017; reviewed by Dinoff et al. 2016). Exercise profoundly enhances hippocampal neurogenesis (reviewed by Ma et al. 2017) and can improve spatial memory and memory-processing (Vilela et al. 2016; reviewed by Roig et al. 2013). Exercise has been shown to ameliorate

cognitive deficits seen in CNS disorders such as dementia (reviewed by Groot et al. 2016), schizophrenia (reviewed by Vakhrusheva et al. 2016), depression (reviewed by Knöchel et al. 2012), Alzheimer's disease (reviewed by Paillard et al. 2015) and PD (reviewed by Murray et al. 2014; Paillard et al. 2015; Petzinger et al. 2015).

#### 3.8.3 Exercise in PD

The first link between exercise and PD, published over 20 years ago, reported that exercise during adulthood significantly lowered the risk of developing PD in later life (Sasco et al., 1992). This has been confirmed more recently in larger scale epidemiological studies (Shih et al., 2016; Yang et al., 2015). Exercise has also been shown to affect both motor and NMS in patients who have already been diagnosed with PD (reviewed by Cusso et al. 2016 and Dashtipour et al. 2015). A 1h regimen of forced exercise on an exercise bicycle can improve UPDRS scores by up to 50% after a single session (Alberts et al., 2016). The progressive resistance exercise trial in PD study (PRET-PD) was designed to investigate the effects of exercise on both motor and non-motor aspects of PD, and reported that structured exercise programs enhance both physical function (Prodoehl et al., 2015) and cognitive function in the form of attention and working memory (David et al., 2015) in PD patients. Exercise has also been shown to improve various forms of executive function (Altmann et al., 2016; Cruise et al., 2011; Duchesne et al., 2015; Ridgel et al., 2010; Tanaka et al., 2009) as well as

olfaction (Rosenfeldt et al., 2016), mood and language fluency in PD patients (Altmann et al., 2016; Picelli et al., 2016).

#### 3.8.4 Exercise-induced changes in animal models of PD

Animal studies have allowed more detailed research into the mechanisms of exercise-induced neuroplasticity and neuroprotection. In the context of animal models of PD, both the 6-OHDA and MPTP models have been extensively investigated using exercise as an intervention. However, due to the fact that rats are relatively resistant to the effects of MPTP (reviewed by Bové & Perier 2012), all the work carried out to date using this model has been in mice. For the purposes of this thesis, I will limit the discussion to reports of exercise-induced changes in the pathogenesis of PD in studies that used rat models.

Forced exercise in the form of treadmill running (see table 3.6 for further information on type and duration of exercise intervention) either before or after unilateral administration of 6-OHDA into the striatum has been shown to protect against dopaminergic cell death in the SN (Cho et al., 2013; Choe et al., 2012; Real et al., 2013; Yoon et al., 2007), upregulate the expression of NTFs in the striatum (Tajiri et al., 2010) and increase the proliferation of new neurons in the dentate gyrus (Cho et al., 2013). Exercise was found to rescue 6-OHDA-induced motor deficits as measured by rotational behaviour and by the cylinder test (Choe et al., 2012; O'Dell et al., 2007; Real et al.,

2013; Tajiri et al., 2010) and to ameliorate short-term memory deficits in a step-down avoidance task (Cho et al., 2013).

Forced exercise in the form of treadmill running after a unilateral 6-OHDA lesion of the MFB protected against striatal dopaminergic cell degeneration and restored 6-OHDA-induced deficits in striatal DA levels (Poulton and Muir, 2005; Shi et al., 2017; Tillerson et al., 2003). Exposure to either forced or voluntary exercise (in the form of access to a running wheel in the home cage, see Table 3.7 for further information) in the same model rescued motor deficits (Tillerson et al. 2003; Dutra et al. 2012; Hendricks et al. 2012; Howells et al. 2005). It has also been shown to normalise the impaired firing rates of striatal dopaminergic neurons (Shi et al., 2017) and decrease 6-OHDA-induced inflammation in the striatum, as measured by glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) reactivity (Dutra et al., 2012).

Author	Breed and sex	Exercise type and duration	Tests	Effect of exercise on performance
Cho	Adult female SD	Forced treadmill 30m/d for 14d, starting 4wk post- lesion	Step-down avoidance task	Ţ
Choe	Adult male SD	Forced treadmill 30m twice daily for 16d, starting 5d post-lesion	Rotations	↑
O'Dell	Adult male SD	Forced or voluntary wheel running, starting 2.5wk before lesion and continuing for 4wk	Cylinder Stepping Elevated grid	↑ ↑ ↑
Real	Adult male Wistar	Forced treadmill 3/wk, starting either 4w before lesion for 8 wk or 2d after lesion for 4wk	Rotations	↑
Tajiri	Adult female SD	Forced treadmill, 30m/day, 5d/wk starting 24h post-lesion	Cylinder Rotations	↑ ↑
Yoon	Adult male SD	Forced treadmill for 30m/d starting 24h post- lesion	Rotations	<b>↑</b>



Interestingly, employing exercise as a neuroprotective rather than neurorestorative intervention has had variable results, with some groups reporting that exercise had no effect on motor symptoms when animals were exposed to either a forced or voluntary exercise regimen prior to a 6-OHDA lesion of the MFB (Landers et al., 2014, 2013). However, it is worth noting that these studies only examined motor behaviours and did not investigate the specific neurobiological effects of exercise. This also serves to highlight the importance of the timing of the exercise regime when compared to the intervention. To date, no studies have reported on either neuroprotective or neurorestorative effects of exercise using the  $\alpha$ -synuclein rat model of PD.

Author	Breed and sex	Exercise type and duration	Tests	Effect of exercise on performance
Poulton	Adult female LE	Forced treadmillCylinder20m twice daily, 6/wkSteppingfor 1 month. StartedLadder rungeither 24h (early) or 1wkwalking(late) post-surgeryRotations		↑ ↑ - ↑ early
Tillerson	Adult male F344	Forced treadmill 15m twice daily for 9d, starting on the day of surgery	Stepping Cylinder Whisker	个 个 个
Shi	Adult male SD	Forced treadmill, 5d/wk starting 1d before lesion and continuing for 4wk	Rotations	Ŷ
Dutra	Adult male Wistar	Forced treadmill 5/wk, starting 3d post-surgery for 4wk	Rotations Narrow beam	↑ ↑
Hendricks	Male SD	Voluntary access to running wheel in homecage, starting 1wk pre-surgery	Stepping	Ŷ
Landers (2013)	Adolescent male LE rats	Forced treadmill for 5d/wk or voluntary wheel running for 6wk prior to lesion	Rotations Cylinder Rearings	
Landers (2014)	Adult male LE rats	Forced treadmill for 5d/wk for 4 wks, either before or after lesion	Rotations Cylinder Rearings	-
Howells	Adult male LE	Voluntary access to running wheel in homecage, starting 1wk pre-surgery	Rotations	$\uparrow$

**Table 3.7. Effects of exercise on the unilateral MFB lesion of 6-OHDA.** ↑ denotes enhanced or recovered behavioural performance, - denotes no change in behaviour. Abbreviations: LE = Long Evans; SD = Sprague Dawley;

## 3.9 Summary

To summarise, PD is a multifactorial disorder with a broad range of NMS that are inherent to the disease process, and are thought to be reflective of  $\alpha$ synuclein pathology in internconnected brainr regions. However, to date there is no PD model that accurately and consistently reproduces these important features. Recently, the AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein rodent model has been shown to recapitulate the progressive nature of PD, however the role of  $\alpha$ synuclein in the development of NMS has yet to be addressed. Thus, the hypothesis for this thesis is:

The propagation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein throughout the brain in PD is linked to the presence of NMS

To test this hypothesis, our aims were:

- a) To identify whether the AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein model can replicate the proliferation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein through the brain
- b) To interrogate the link between the presence of  $\alpha$ -synuclein throughout the brain and the pathogenesis of NMS
- c) To examine whether a neuroprotective intervention such as exercise could protect against NMS, specifically hippocampal-associated memory tasks
- d) To investigate if exercise could protect against  $\alpha$ -synuclein-induced cognitive deficits by modulating adult hippocampal neurogenesis

Chapter 4

# 4.0 Materials and Methods

## 4.1 Virus preparation

 $\alpha$ -synuclein and GFP plasmids were kindly donated by Dr. Eilis Dowd (National University of Ireland, Galway). The viruses were constructed (Vector Biosystems Inc, Philadelphia, USA) as described by Decressac *et al* (2012a). Briefly, AAV2 inverted terminal repeats (ITR) coding for either human wild type human  $\alpha$ -synuclein (figure 4.1A) or GFP (figure 4.1B) were packaged using AAV6 capsid proteins to create an AAV2/6 viral vector. Transgene expression was driven by a synapsin-1 promoter and enhanced using a woodchuck hepatitis virus posttranscriptional regulatory factor (WPRE). Viruses were titred by quantitative PCR (qPCR) using the following primers:

Forward 5' tcc ttg tat aaa tcc tgg ttg ctg 3'

Reverse 5' agc tga cag gtg gtg gca at 3'

The final viral titres for AAV2/6- $\alpha$ syn and AAV2/6-GFP were 5.2x10<sup>13</sup>gc/ml and 5.0x10<sup>13</sup>gc/ml respectively.



Figure 4.1 AAV2 plasmid encoding (A) human wildtype  $\alpha$ -synuclein and (B) GFP control

# 4.2 Solution preparations

## 4.2.1 Amphetamine

A 1mg/ml stock solution of amphetamine was prepared by dissolving 30mg D-amphetamine sulphate (Sigma, Ireland) in 30mls sterile water. Animals were injected intraperitoneally (i.p.) with a 2.5mg/kg dose. Amphetamine is imported, stored and used under licence 5/230-1-2013 issued annually by the Healthcare and Products Regulatory Agency (HPRA).

## 4.2.2 Lithium chloride (LiCl)

A 0.15M solution of lithium chloride (Sigma, Ireland) was prepared by dissolving 3.18g in 500ml of sterile water. Animals received an i.p. dose at 2% of their bodyweight. This dose is based on previously published literature (Inui et al., 2013).

## 4.2.3 5-Bromo-2'-deoxyuridine (BrdU)

A 10mg/ml stock solution of BrdU was prepared by dissolving 750mg BrdU (Sigma, Ireland) in 75mls sterile water. Animals were injected i.p. with 75mg/kg in 4 doses, each 2h apart.

## 4.2.4 Phosphate buffered saline (PBS)

A solution containing NaCl (162 mM), Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> (16.2 mM), Na<sub>2</sub>H<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> (3.8 mM) (all Sigma, Ireland) was prepared in dH<sub>2</sub>O and adjusted to a pH of 7.2-7.4.

## 4.2.5 Phosphate buffer solution (PB)

A solution containing NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>.H<sub>2</sub>O (0.2M) and Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>.2H<sub>2</sub>O (0.2M) was prepared in dH<sub>2</sub>O and adjusted to a pH of 7.2-7.4.

#### 4.2.6 Paraformaldehyde (PFA)

PFA (160 g) (Sigma, Ireland) was dissolved in 1500 ml of distilled  $H_2O$  (d  $H_2O$ ) with continuous stirring on a heated stirrer. Once the solution reached 60-65°C, 1 M NaOH was added drop-wise until the solution cleared. The solution was brought to 2 L with dH<sub>2</sub>O, diluted 1:1 with 0.2M PBS to give a final concentration of 4% and adjusted to pH 7.4 before being cooled to 4°C.

## 4.3 Animal work

#### 4.3.1 Animal husbandry

Rats were maintained on a 12h:12h light: dark cycle (lights on at 08.00h) under regulated temperature (21±2°C) and humidity (30-50%). Standard rat chow and water were available ad libitum, unless behavioural testing dictated otherwise temporarily. Animals were group- housed 2-3 per cage in either standard housing conditions or cages with access to custom-designed running wheels (Activity Wheel, Tecniplast, UK) unless behavioural testing dictated otherwise temporarily. All experiments were conducted in accordance with the European Directive 2010/63/EU, and under an authorization issued by the Health Products Regulatory Authority Ireland (HPRA; AE19130/P010) and approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of University College Cork (Approval number 2013/030).

#### 4.3.2 Stereotaxic surgery

All surgery for the characterisation study was conducted under general anaesthesia induced by an i.p. injection of ketamine and xylazine (80mg/kg and 8mg/kg respectively, Zoetis Ireland Ltd and Vetoquinol Ltd, UK) in sterile 0.9% NaCl. Due to a high mortality rate with injectable anaesthesia and on veterinary advice, all surgery in the running study was conducted under general anaesthesia induced by inhaled isoflurane (Virbac, Ireland).

Animals were placed in a stereotaxic frame (Kopf Instruments) and an incision was made through the skin over the skull and the skull was exposed. Following the location of bregma and the coordinates of the target injection site a drill was used to expose dura. Animals that received a unilateral injection were administered with  $3\mu$ l (3.1 x  $10^8$  gc/ $3\mu$ l) of the appropriate solution into the right SN at co-ordinates AP -5.3, ML -2.0 and DV -7.2 relative to bregma. Animals that received bilateral injections were administered with 3  $\mu$ l (1.5 x 10<sup>8</sup>gc/3 $\mu$ l for study 1, 3.1 x 10<sup>9</sup>gc/3 $\mu$ l for study 2) of the appropriate solution into each of the left and right SN at co-ordinates AP -5.3, ML ±2.0 and DV -7.2 relative to bregma. All solutions were infused at a rate of  $1 \mu$ /min, with an additional two minutes allowed for diffusion before the needle was withdrawn. Following injection, the incision was sutured and the rats were allowed to recover on a heating mat before returning to their home cage. Animals were also administered with the analgesic carprofen (Rimadyl<sup>®</sup> 5mg/kg, s.c., Zoetis Ireland Ltd) and glucose solution (5% in sterile saline) immediately following the procedure. Animals that received BrdU

injection as a measure of cell survival were administered with 75mg/kg in 4 doses, each 2h apart one week following surgery.

#### 4.3.3 Tissue processing

At the appropriate time-points following surgery, animals to be sacrificed for immunohistochemistry were deeply anaesthetised with sodium pentobarbital (100 mg/kg i.p, Merial Animal Health, UK) and transcardially perfused with 100 ml ice-cold heparinised saline (1000IU/I) (Wockhardt, UK) followed by 150 ml of 4% paraformaldehyde (pH 7.4). The brains were removed and placed into 4% paraformaldehyde overnight for post-fixation prior to equilibration in 25% sucrose for a minimum of 48h. Brains were then frozen and stored at -80°C before being sectioned on a cryostat (Leica, UK). Coronal sections were collected at 40µm thickness in a 1:6 series. For analysis other than immunohistochemistry, animals were decapitated, brains were removed and the required brain regions were dissected out and immediately frozen on dry ice.

## 4.4 Immunohistochemistry

Endogenous peroxidase activity was quenched by incubating the tissue in a solution of 30% hydrogen peroxide/methanol in distilled water. Non-specific secondary antibody binding was blocked using 3% normal goat serum (NGS) in a solution of phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) with 0.1% Triton-X 100,

adjusted to pH 7.4. Sections were incubated overnight at room temperature with appropriate antibody

(mouse anti-α-synuclein 1:1000, Merck Millipore; mouse anti-TH 1:1000 Merck Millipore) in 1% NGS in PBS with 0.1% Triton-X 100. The sections were then incubated with the appropriate biotinylated secondary antibody (goat anti-mouse Vectastain peroxidase ABC kit, Vector, UK at 1:200 dilution) in PBS for 3 h, followed by incubation in a streptavidin-biotin horseradish peroxidase solution (Vector, UK). Immunoreactivity was visualised by incubating the sections with a 0.5% 3,3-diaminobenzidine tetrachloride (DAB) solution (containing PBS and hydrogen peroxide 30%) for 5 min. Sections were then washed in PBS, mounted on gelatine-coated microscope slides, dehydrated in an ascending series of alcohols (50%, 70% and 100%), cleared in histolene and cover-slipped using DPX mountant (Sigma, UK).

## 4.5 Immunofluorescence

Non-specific secondary antibody binding was blocked using 3% normal donkey serum (NDS) in a solution of PBS with 0.3% Triton–X100. Tissue sections were incubated overnight (or 48h in the case of doublecortin (DCX)) in the appropriate antibody (see Table 4.1) in 1% NDS in PBS with 0.3% Triton X-100. Sections were then incubated with the appropriate secondary antibodies (see Table 4.2) at 1:200 dilutions in 1% NDS in PBS, and incubated with bisbenzamide (1:5000) for nuclear staining, before being coverslipped (Dako fluorescent mounting media, Dako, UK).

Target	Antibody	Company	Source	Dilution
Dopaminergic neurons	Anti -tyrosine hydroxylase	Merck Millipore, Ireland	Polyclonal rabbit	1:250
Microglia	Anti -Iba1	Wako	Polyclonal rabbit	1:500
α-synuclein	Anti-α- synuclein	Merck Millipore, Ireland	Monoclonal mouse	1:250
GFP	Anti-GFP	Fisher Scientific, Ireland	Polyclonal rabbit	1:250
Immature neurons	Anti-DCX	Santa Cruz, USA	Polyclonal goat	1:100
Neuronal survival	Anti-BrdU	Abcam, UK	Monoclonal rat	1:250
Mature neurons	Anti-NeuN	Merck Millipore, Ireland	Monoclonal mouse	1:100

Table 4.1. Primary antibodies used for immunofluorescence

Secondary antibody	Company	Dilution	
AlexaFluor 488- conjugated donkey anti-mouse	Invitrogen, UK	1:500	
AlexaFluor 594- conjugated donkey anti-rat	Invitrogen, UK	1:500	
AlexaFluor 594- conjugated donkey anti-rabbit	Invitrogen, UK	1:500	
AlexaFluor 488- conjugated donkey anti-goat	Invitrogen, UK	1:500	
AlexaFluor 488- conjugated donkey anti-rabbit	Invitrogen, UK	1:500	

Table 4.2. Secondary antibodies used for immunofluorescence

### 4.6 Behavioural testing

#### 4.6.1 Motor testing

4.6.1.1 Corridor test

The corridor test of contralateral neglect was carried out as previously described (Dowd et al., 2005). Animals were maintained at 90% of their free-feeding weight for the duration of the test protocol, and were given a small number of food rewards in their cages each day.

On day 1, animals were habituated to the empty apparatus for 5 min. On the next day, food rewards (Coco-pops<sup>®</sup>) were scattered over the floor and animals were free to explore and collect the food rewards for 5 min. On day 3, animals were first placed into an empty corridor for 5 min before being moved to the second corridor for 5 min, which had food rewards placed into small pots that were located on either side of the corridor. Testing occurred on day 4, and animals were placed into an empty corridor for 5 min of habituation, before being moved to the "test" corridor for 5 min of 20 rewards had been taken. Data were expressed as the number of contralateral retrievals as a percentage of the total retrievals made.

## 4.6.1.2 Cylinder test

The cylinder test was carried out as previously described (Schallert et al., 2000). Animals were placed in a clear, glass cylinder and the first 20 forepaw touches were analysed. The cylinder was cleaned with 70% ethanol between

trials. Data were expressed as contralateral touches as a percentage of total touches made.

#### 4.6.1.3 Stepping test

The stepping test of forelimb akinesia was performed as described elsewhere (Olsson et al., 1995). Animals were habituated over a number of days to being held with both hindlimbs restrained. On days 1 and 2, animals were held with both hindlimbs restrained and their backs straight with forepaws resting on the countertop. Once the animals were comfortable, they were gently moved forward and backward along the counter in a "wheelbarrow" type motion. On days 3 and 4 of habituation, both hindlimbs and one forelimb were restrained with the remaining free forelimb resting on the countertop. Each animal was then moved both forward and backward over the countertop while making adjusting steps with the free forelimb, and this was repeated until each animal could be held comfortably and reached a stable baseline performance. On the day of testing, both hindlimbs and one forelimb were gently restrained, and the animal was held with the remaining forelimb placed onto the countertop. The animal was then moved sideways across the countertop at a steady pace (90cm in 5s) and the numbers of adjusting steps taken with the unrestrained forelimb over both directions were counted.

#### 4.6.1.4 Rotarod performance

Animals that had received bilateral injections of viral vectors were tested for motor performance using a protocol on the Rotarod apparatus, as described elsewhere (Rozas et al., 1997). Briefly, 24h before testing, animals were trained on the rotarod until they could remain on the apparatus for 120s without falling. On the day of testing, animals were placed on the rotarod and tested on the length of time they were able to stay on the apparatus at increasing speeds (5-40rpm) for a maximum of 300s was recorded.

In the second animal study, a more comprehensive Rotarod protocol was utilised in order to reduce variability that was seen in the first experiment. The protocol (adapted from Marei et al., 2015), consisted of 3 training sessions, each containing three trials of 120s. On day 1, rats were trained at 5rpm. On day 2, rats were trained in the morning at 10rpm, and in the afternoon at 15rpm. Testing took place on day 3, where rats completed 3 trials of 180s at 15rpm. Latency to fall and frequency of falls in the first 60s were measured for all animals. Rats were allowed at least 3min between trials to combat stress and fatigue.

## 4.6.1.5 Open Field test

Animals were placed in a white, round arena (90cm in diameter) and recorded for 10 min. Motor activity including velocity, distance travelled and time spent in the border zone (thigmotaxis) were measured using Ethovision XT software (Noldus Information Technology, Noldus, USA). Apparatus was cleaned with 70% ethanol between each test.

## 4.6.2 Non-motor testing

#### 4.6.2.1 Olfactory discrimination

The olfactory discrimination protocol was adapted from Tadaiesky *et al* (2008). Briefly, a cage (45cm long x 28cm wide x 20cm high) was divided into two equal compartments with an opening to allow free movement of the animal - one side contained each individual animal's used bedding and the other side contained fresh bedding. The animal was put into the fresh bedding compartment at the start of the trial. The time spent in each compartment was recorded over a period of 5 min. The total number of entries into both compartments was also recorded

## 4.6.2.2 Spontaneous alternations in the Y maze

Working memory was measured using spontaneous alternations in a Y maze, as described previously (Senechal et al., 2007). The Y maze apparatus was black, and consisted of 3 arms, positioned 120° from each other. Each arm was 10cm wide, 20cm high and 40cm long (outside length). Briefly, the animal was placed in a Y-shaped apparatus for one trial lasting 5 min. The animal was placed in the same arm at the beginning of each trial, and allowed to freely explore for the duration of the trial. A spontaneous alternation was defined as entry into all three arms on consecutive choices. Data were expressed as the percentage of alternation, which was calculated by:

Number of alternations/ (number of entries-2) \*100

## 4.6.2.3 Conditioned Taste Aversion

The conditioned taste aversion test was carried out as described previously, utilising lithium to induce nausea and malaise in animals to develop a taste aversion (Schramm-Sapyta et al., 2011). Prior to testing, animals were given a continuous 48 h exposure to two bottles in the home cage, each containing either tap water or 0.2% sucrose solution. The starting location of the bottles was counterbalanced, and after 24 h, half of the bottles were randomly switched to avoid development of a location bias.

On day 1 of the protocol, animals were water-deprived for 24 h. They were then allowed 15 min access to a bottle containing water, and the water consumption was measured. Animals were then allowed free access to water for 24 h. The next day (day 3), animals were water-deprived again for 24 h before being allowed 15 min access to a 0.2% sucrose solution. Sucrose consumption was measured and the animals were injected with either 0.9% NaCl solution or 0.15M LiCl (i.p.) at 2% of their bodyweight (Inui et al., 2013) before being allowed free access to drinking water. The next day (day 5), animals were again water-deprived for 24 h. On the final day (day 6), animals were allowed access to two water bottles for 15min, containing either water or sucrose solution and the consumption of each was measured. The percentage preference for the sugar solution was calculated as follows:

(sucrose solution consumed mls/ (total water and sucrose solution consumed mls) \*100

#### 4.6.2.4 Social recognition

Short-term social memory was assessed using the social recognition protocol adapted from Tadaeisky *et al* (2008). Adult rats were individually housed for 3 days prior to testing. On the day of testing, a juvenile rat was put in the cage with an adult rat and behaviour was recorded for 5 min. After a 30 min interval, the same juvenile rat was put back in the cage with the adult rat and behaviour was recorded for 5 min. Adult rats were scored for social interaction that included sniffing, touching and grooming of the juvenile rat. The discrimination ratio was calculated as:

Novel Exploration/ (Novel+Familiar Exploration)

## 4.6.2.5 Discrete alternations in the Y-maze

Spatial reference memory was assessed using the discrete alternations protocol, which was adapted from Deacon & Rawlins (2006) and carried out in a Y-maze apparatus (dimensions 10cm high, 20cm wide and 40cm long). In order to train the animals to enter the open arm of the maze apparatus and retrieve a food pellet, they were first habituated to the apparatus. On day 1, each cage of animals was placed into the Y-maze for four 3-min sessions, with all doors open and each arm containing a pot loaded with sugar pellets. On day 2, one arm was closed off and each animal was allowed to enter from the starting arm to the open arm to collect the food reward, with an equal number of left and right entries being completed. When all animals freely entered into the open arm to collect the food pellet (generally within 3 days) they were deemed trained and ready for the full test protocol. On the testing day, after each animal had collected the food pellet from the open arm, they were returned to the starting arm. The animal was turned to face the wall, and the door to the closed arm was lifted. The animal then either chose the "new" arm with a food reward, or the "familiar" arm which they had already entered. Correct arm entries were counted and results were presented as a percentage of all trials completed. The protocol was run again the next day, but to increase cognitive load a 1 min delay was added between the animal retrieving the first food pellet in the open arm and returning the animal back to the start arm with the closed arm lifted. The animal was returned to the home cage for this 1 min interval. The apparatus was cleaned with 70% ethanol between trials.

## 4.6.2.6 Elevated Plus Maze

Animals were assessed for anxiety-like behaviour using the elevated plus maze (Figure 4.2). Each animal was placed in the centre of the apparatus and allowed to explore for 5 min. Each trial was recorded and the number of arm entries and time spent in open and closed arms were manually scored.



Figure 4.2. Elevated plus maze apparatus and dimensions

#### 4.6.2.7 Modified Spontaneous Location Recognition Task

Pattern separation was assessed using the spontaneous location recognition task, previously described by Bekinschtein et al., (2013). The test was carried out in an open field arena (90cm in diameter), covered with bedding under dim lighting conditions. The testing room had three proximal cues and distal standard furniture. Behaviour was recorded using a camera suspended from the ceiling. All bedding was replaced, and the objects and the arena were cleaned with 70% ethanol between trials to remove odour cues.

Animals were habituated to the empty open field arena for 10 min per day for 5 consecutive days. After this habituation period, the testing protocol began. During the acquisition phase, animals were placed in the arena for 10 min and allowed to explore three identical objects, placed 15cm from the edge of the arena and 30cm from the centre. For the small separation paradigm, two of the objects (A2 and A3) were separated by a 50° angle, and the third (A1) at an equal distance between the two. For the large separation paradigm, the three objects were separated by 120° angles (see figure 4.3). Glass beer bottles (with labels removed) and soda cans were used as objects, and were affixed to the floor with Blu-tac. Twenty-four hours after acquisition, animals were presented with two identical copies of the previously-used objects, one (A4) placed in the same position as A1, and the second (A5) placed halfway between the



Figure 4.3. Modified spontaneous location recognition task apparatus set-up (A) and object location (B) for small and large separation paradigms. Taken from Bekinschtein et al 2014 and Bekinschtein et al 2013.

acquisition locations of A2 and A3. Animals were allowed to explore the objects for 5 min. Both objects and locations were counterbalanced across all groups. The times each animal spent exploring the object in the novel location (A5) and the familiar location (A4) were recorded and a discrimination ratio was calculated by:

Novel Exploration/ (Novel+Familiar Exploration)

## 4.7 Imaging and image analysis

Photomicrographs were taken on an Olympus BX53 microscope using Cellsens software package. Confocal photomicrographs were taken on an Olympus FV1000 confocal laser scanning biological microscope using the Olympus FV-10 ASW viewing software package. Images were analysed using ImageJ software (ImageJ v.1.51j8, National Institute of Health, USA).

The fluorescence intensity of TH-positive immunostaining in three coronal sections throughout the striatum was measured using ImageJ software. The mean pixel intensity was analysed in three fields of view per section and was expressed relative to a field through the unstained cortical tissue in each section to control for background fluorescence. Fluorescence intensity was analysed in the right hemisphere of each animal that received a bilateral injection. For animals that received a unilateral injection, the ipsilateral hemisphere was expressed as a percentage of the contralateral hemisphere. For cell quantification in the SN, cells positive for  $\alpha$ -synuclein and TH were counted in a 1:6 series. For cell quantification in the dentate gyrus, cells positive for BrdU and NeuN were counted in a 1:6 series, and cells positive for DCX were counted in a 1:12 series. Dorsal co-ordinates for the dentate gyrus were set at -1.8 to -5.2 relative to bregma, and ventral co-ordinates from -5.2 to -6.7 relative to bregma based on previous experience within our group.
#### 4.8 Statistical analysis

All raw data were analysed using the statistical package Statistica (Statistica, US) and graphed using the software GraphPad Prism v5 (GraphPad software, US). Data are expressed as means ± the standard error of the mean (SEM). Statistical analysis was carried out using a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) where three or more groups were being compared, repeated measures ANOVA where multiple time-points were being compared or factorial ANOVA where more than one factor was being analysed. This was followed by a *post-hoc* Fisher's LSD test or Dunnett's test if the ANOVA indicated significance. An unpaired Student's t-test was used where only two groups were compared. Differences were considered significant at p<0.05.

Chapter 5

### 5.0 Characterisation of neuropathological, motor

### and non-motor symptoms in an $\alpha$ -synuclein rat

### model of Parkinson's disease

#### 5.1 Abstract

The AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein rat model is the only animal model to date that has been shown to robustly and consistently reproduce the primary neuropathological and behavioural features of PD. However, there has been little research on the ability of the model to replicate NMS of the disease. Moreover, this model is most commonly employed unilaterally, which can confound cognitive testing due to contralateral functional compensation. Thus, the aims of this study were to investigate differences between the effects of unilateral and bilateral administration of AAV-α-synuclein into the rat SN, with regards to both motor and NMS of PD. We found that unilateral and bilateral administration of AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein induced distinct patterns of motor nigrostriatal degeneration and associated dysfunction. Overexpression of AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein was used to model NMS associated with PD, including deficits in hippocampal-associated tasks. This was coupled with  $\alpha$ -synuclein-positive immunostaining in the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus, confirming the propagation of the protein throughout distinct regions of the brain.

#### 5.2 Introduction

For many years, PD was primarily viewed as a motor disorder, however growing evidence supports the fact that a wide range of NMS are inherent to the disease process. Although there are several experimental animal models of PD currently in use, the recent development of the AAV- $\alpha$ synuclein overexpression model has been shown to be the most representative of the human disease, including replicating the progressive nature of the model as well as the formation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein aggregates. Despite this, relatively little work has focused on the ability of this model to reproduce the NMS of PD, or the link between the propagation of  $\alpha$ synuclein throughout the brain and the presence of NMS. Moreover, the majority of the research to date has employed the model as a hemiparkinsonian model; namely that the viral vector is administered unilaterally, which allows the contralateral hemisphere of the same brain to be used as a control in *post mortem* tissue analyses. Motor impairment is then assessed in vivo using well-characterised lateralised tasks including the stepping test (Olsson et al., 1995), the cylinder test (Schallert et al., 2000), the corridor test (Dowd et al., 2005) and apomorphine- or amphetamineinduced rotation tests (Ungerstedt and Arbuthnott, 1970). However, given that motor dysfunction in humans is generally not evident until approximately 30% of dopaminergic neurons in the SN are already damaged (reviewed by Burke and O'Malley, 2013), it is clear that significant compensatory mechanisms exist that allow for normal movement during the early phases of the disease. For example, axonal sprouting after striatal

denervation is well-documented in rodent models of PD and has been linked with behavioural recovery (reviewed by Arkadir et al., 2014; Zeng et al., 2012). Similarly, changes in the functional activation of specific brain regions, characterised by hypermetabolism on imaging studies, are also thought to play a role in compensation (reviewed by Gregory et al., 2017;Kordys et al., 2017). Moreover, recent work confirms not only the presence of cross-hemispheric dopamine projections, but also that these can functionally regulate dopamine release in the contralateral hemisphere (Fox et al., 2016). Taken together, it is evident that a number of compensatory mechanisms exist, and that they can significantly contribute to the pathogenesis of the disease. Additionally, it is well established that difficulties can arise when assessing cognitive deficits in lateralised models, and this is also thought to be due to contralateral compensation.

In light of this, the aims of this chapter are:

- a) To identify whether the AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein model can replicate the proliferation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein through the brain
- b) To interrogate the link between the presence of  $\alpha$ -synuclein throughout the brain and the pathogenesis of NMS
- c) To examine neuropathological and behavioural differences between unilaterally- and bilaterally-administered AAV-α-synuclein

To do this, animals received either unilateral or bilateral stereotaxic injections of AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein or AAV-GFP (control) viral vectors. To replicate

the progressive and long-term nature of the human disease, animals were repeatedly assessed over a period of 40 weeks on a series of motor tasks that measured lateralised and bilateral motor dysfunction, as well a number of cognitive tasks that measured various types of learning and memory processing.

#### 5.3 Experimental design

#### 5.3.1 Animal husbandry

Adult male Sprague Dawley rats (Envigo, UK) were maintained on a 12h:12h light: dark cycle (lights on at 08.00h) under regulated temperature (21±2°C) and humidity (30-50%) and pair-housed. Standard rat chow and water were available *ad libitum*, unless behavioural testing dictated otherwise temporarily. All experiments were conducted in accordance with the European Directive 2010/63/EU, and under an authorisation issued by the Health Products Regulatory Authority Ireland (HPRA, AE19130/P010) and approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of University College Cork (approval number 2013/030).

#### 5.3.2 Stereotaxic surgery

All surgery was conducted under general anaesthesia induced by an i.p. injection of ketamine and xylazine (80mg/kg and 8mg/kg respectively, Zoetis Ireland Ltd and Vetoquinol Ltd, UK) in sterile 0.9% NaCl. Briefly, animals were placed in a stereotaxic frame (Kopf Instruments) and an incision was made

through to the skull. Animals that received a unilateral injection were administered with 3µl (3.1 x 10<sup>8</sup> gc/3µl) of either AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein or AAV-GFP into the right SN at co-ordinates AP -5.3, ML -2.0 and DV -7.2 relative to bregma. Animals that received bilateral injections were administered with 3 µl (1.5 x 10<sup>8</sup>gc/3µl of either AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein or AAV-GFP into each of the left and right SN at co-ordinates AP -5.3, ML ±2.0 and DV -7.2 relative to bregma. All solutions were infused at a rate of 1 µl/min, with an additional two minutes allowed for diffusion before the needle was withdrawn. Following injection, the incisions were sutured and rats were allowed to recover on a heating mat before returning to their home cages. Animals were administered the analgesic carprofen (Rimadyl<sup>\*</sup> 5mg/kg, s.c., Zoetis Ireland Ltd) and 5% glucose solution immediately following the procedure. An additional cohort of intact control animals did not undergo surgery.

#### 5.3.3 Experimental design

Animals were randomly allocated to one of the following experimental groups as outlined in Table 5.1: AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein unilateral, AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein bilateral, AAV-GFP unilateral, AAV-GFP bilateral and intact controls. Motor and cognitive tests were carried out over the time-course of the experiment as outlined in Figure 5.1, and animals were sacrificed at 20 weeks (Cohort 1) or 40 weeks (Cohort 2) post-surgery. Due to significant delays in acquiring ethics approval for this animal work, a pilot study was incorporated into the experimental design. Cohort 1 consisted of smaller groups as they were used

for non-quantitative analysis of transgene expression. Cohort 2 was adequately powered for all behavioural testing and subsequent *post mortem* analysis (n=8-10).

	Number of animals	Number of animals	
Intact Control	4	8	
AAV-GFP bilateral	6	8	
AAV-αsyn bilateral	6	10	
AAV-GFP unilateral	6	8	
AAV-αsyn unilateral	6	10	
	Cohort 1	Cohort 2	
Total	28	44	

Table 5.1 Experimental groups



Figure 5.1 Experimental design. Abbreviations: SA = spontaneous alternations; SR = social recognition' CTA = conditioned taste aversion; OD = olfactory discrimination.

#### 5.3.4 Motor testing

Given that lateralised tasks are only appropriate in hemiparkinsonian models, animals that received unilateral injections were assessed for motor dysfunction using the cylinder test, the corridor test, the stepping test and the amphetamine-induced rotation test. Animals that received bilateral injections were assessed for motor deficits on the rotarod. Tests were carried out as described previously (Section 4.6.1). Animals in cohort 1 were tested alongside cohort 2 for motor deficits until they were sacrificed at 20 weeks, and so testing results up to this time-point are cumulative (Cohorts 1 and 2).

#### 5.3.5 Cognitive testing

Cognitive functioning was evaluated using conditioned taste aversion, olfactory discrimination, spontaneous alternations in the Y-maze and social recognition. Animals in cohort 1 were tested (with cohort 2) at the week 20 time-point before they were sacrificed. Results from weeks 30 and 40 post-surgery are those from cohort 2 only. All tests were carried out as described previously (Section 4.6.2).

#### 5.4 Results

5.4.1 Administration of  $\alpha$ -synuclein had no effect on body weight

There was no effect of administration of either AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein or AAV-GFP on the body weight of animals in each group (F[4,38] = 1.96, p = 0.11; Figure

5.2), although all groups gained weight over the time course of the experiment (F[4,152] = 141, p < 0.001).



Figure 5.2. Body weights in each of the treatment groups over the course of the experiment. Data are expressed as mean ± SEM and analysed using repeated measures ANOVA, \*\*\*p<0.001 vs week 0.

Long-term overexpression of unilateral and bilateral AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein induce distinct patterns of nigrostriatal degeneration

#### 5.4.2 Overexpression of $\alpha$ -synuclein into the SN

#### *Cohort 1 – 20 weeks post-surgery*

Cohort 1 was culled at 20 weeks post-surgery to confirm viral transduction and  $\alpha$ -synuclein expression. It is important to note that due to low n numbers the following data is not quantitative. Animals that received both unilateral and bilateral injections of AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein demonstrated considerable  $\alpha$ -synuclein expression in the SN (Figure 5.3). In animals injected unilaterally, this was accompanied by an apparent decrease in THpositive immunostaining in the SN when compared to the intact contralateral hemisphere, although this was not quantified (Figure 5.4).

#### Cohort 2 – 40 weeks post-surgery

Immunofluorescent analysis of the number of TH+/ $\alpha$ -synuclein+ cells in the SN demonstrated that both groups of animals that received AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein displayed approximately 20% transduction of dopaminergic neurons in the SN (Figure 5.5A). There was no difference in the number of co-localised TH+/ $\alpha$ -syn+ neurons between the groups (t[3] = 0.21, p = 0.84)



Figure 5.3 Representative photomicrographs of  $\alpha$ -synuclein-positive immunostaining in cohort 1 animals administered (A) unilateral and (B) bilateral AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein. Scale bar represents 10  $\mu$ m.



Figure 5.4. Representative photomicrographs of TH-positive immunostaining in cohort 1 animals administered with (A) bilateral AAV-GFP, (B) unilateral AAV-GFP, (C) bilateral AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein and (D) unilateral AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein in the SN. Scale bar represents 10  $\mu$ m, R denotes the right hemisphere.

In animals that received unilateral AAV-GFP and AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein, the number of TH-positive cells in the SN were expressed as a percentage of those in the intact contralateral hemisphere. There was no significant difference between groups (F[2,5] = 3.4, p = 0.11). However, *a priori* analysis revealed that overexpression of AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein resulted in a significant reduction of TH-positive cells when compared to the intact control group (p = 0.04; Figure 5.5B). In animals that received bilateral AAV-GFP and AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein, there was a trend towards a significant reduction in the total number of TH-positive cells when compared to controls (F[2,7] = 3.77, p = 0.07; Figure 5.5C). *A priori post hoc* analysis revealed that the trend is more likely due to an effect of the  $\alpha$ -synuclein overexpression (p = 0.07) rather than GFP (p = 0.12).

One-way ANOVA indicated that the extent of TH-positive staining in the striatum was significantly different in groups that received unilateral AAV-GFP and AAV-  $\alpha$ -synuclein (F2,63] = 3.55, p = 0.03; Figure 5.5D). *Post hoc* analysis revealed that this was due to differences between control animals and AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein (p = 0.04). Unilateral administration of AAV-GFP induced a trend towards a significant reduction in TH-positive immunostaining in the striatum (p = 0.052). There was a significant difference in the intensity of TH-positive immunostaining in the striatum between intact controls and animals that received either bilateral AAV-GFP and AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein (F[2,74] = 7.48, p = 0.001; Figure 5.5E). *Post hoc* analysis revealed a significant decrease in striatal staining intensity in both

AAV-GFP (p = 0.002) and AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein (p = 0.002) groups compared to intact controls.

# 5.4.3 Unilateral intra-nigral administration of AAV-α-synuclein has differential effects on contralateral motor function

In the corridor test of contralateral neglect, overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein had no effect on the number of contralateral retrievals at any of the timepoints examined (Group F[2,17] = 0.36, p = 0.7, Time [4,68] = 1.31, p = 0.27; Figure 5.6A). In the cylinder test of forelimb asymmetry, there were no significant differences in the number of contralateral touches between the groups (F[2,16] = 0.02, p = 0.97; Figure 5.6B), nor did the performance of the groups change over time (F[5,80] = 1.03, p = 0.4). In the stepping test measuring forelimb akinesia, there was no overall difference in the number of adjusting steps taken between the groups (Group F[2,20] = 1.5, p = 0.23; Figure 5.6C). However, the performance of the groups changed significantly over time (F[4,80] = 53.61, p = 0.0001). *A priori post hoc* analysis revealed that  $\alpha$ -synuclein animals performed significantly worse than intact controls at week 23 post-surgery (p = 0.04).



Figure 5.5 (A) The percentage transduction efficiency of the AAV viral vector animals administered unilateral and bilateral AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein. TH-positive cell counts in animals administered (B) unilateral and (C) bilateral injections. Fluorescence intensity of TH-positive immunostaining in the striatum in (D) unilateral and (E) bilateral groups. Representative images of TH-positive cells (F, I),  $\alpha$ -synuclein-positive cells (G,J) and merged images (H,K) in the SN of groups injected with unilateral (F-H) and bilateral (I-K) AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein. Scale bar represents 10µm. Data are expressed as mean ± SEM and analysed using one-way ANOVA with post hoc Dunnett's test, \*p<0.05 vs intact controls.



Figure 5.6 Lateralised motor impairment measured in (A) the corridor test (B) the cylinder test and (C) the stepping test. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using 2-way repeated measures ANOVA and post hoc Fisher's LSD, \*p<0.05 vs intact controls



Figure 5.7 Latency to fall measured on the rotarod. Data are shown as mean ± SEM and analysed using 2-way repeated measures ANOVA.

## 5.4.4 Bilateral intra-nigral administration of AAV- $\alpha$ synuclein does not affect sensorimotor function

There was no significant difference in the latency to fall off the rotarod between groups that had received bilateral injection of AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein or AAV-GFP and the intact controls (F[2,17] = 0.9, p = 0.42; Figure 5.7). All groups performed better on the task over the course of the experiment (F[5,85] = 9.5, p<0.0001).

#### 5.4.5 Propagation of $\alpha$ -synuclein

The patterns of AAV-mediated  $\alpha$ -synuclein were analysed in distinct brain regions for both cohort 1 and cohort 2 (see Table 5.2). Again, it is important to note that due to small group sizes in cohort 1, this data is not quantitative. Specifically,  $\alpha$ -synuclein-positive immunostaining was limited to the SN and VTA in cohort 1, which represents 20 weeks of AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein expression. In cohort 2, 40 weeks post-surgery,  $\alpha$ -synuclein-positive immunostaining was detected in the SN and VTA, as well as the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus (Figure 5.8). Interestingly,  $\alpha$ -synuclein was expressed in the dentate gyrus of both left and right hemispheres, regardless of whether animals had been injected with AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein unilaterally or bilaterally.

Brain region	SN	Hippocampus	Amygdala	Cortex	VTA
Cohort 1	+	-	-	-	+
Cohort 2	++	++	-	-	+

Table 5.2 Pattern of  $\alpha$ -synuclein expression in distinct brain regions in cohorts 1 and 2. + denotes present and – denotes absent.



Figure 5.8 Representative photomicrographs of  $\alpha$ -synuclein+ immunostaining in (A) the left and (B) the right dentate gyrus of unilateral-lesioned animals and (C) the left and (D) the right dentate gyrus of bilateral-lesioned animals. Scale bar represents 100  $\mu$ m.

## Long-term overexpression of AAV-α-synuclein induces distinct changes in non-motor behaviours

#### 5.4.6 Spontaneous alternations in the Y-maze

There was no significant difference in the percentage of spontaneous alternations between the groups (F[4,34] = 0.13, p = 0.96; Figure 5.9A). However, the percentage of alternations performed by animals in each group significantly increased at each time-point over the experiment (F[2,68] = 3.98, p = 0.02). The total number of arm entries were also recorded for this task. There was no difference in the number of entries made by each group (F[4,38] = 2.1, p = 0.08; Figure 5.9B), although there was a significant decrease in the total number of entries made by all animals over time from week 20 (F[2,76] = 30.13, p<0.0001).





Figure 5.9 (A) Percentage of alternations in a spontaneous alternations task. (B)The total number of arm entries completed during the task. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using 2-way repeated measures ANOVA and post hoc Fisher's LSD. ,\*p<0.05, \*\*\*p<0.001 vs week 20, #p<0.05 vs week 30.

#### 5.4.7 Conditioned Taste Aversion

Prior to the beginning of this protocol, all animals were given continuous access to water and sucrose solution in the home cage. All groups showed a clear preference for the sucrose solution (p<0.05; Figure 5.10A). The difference in preference for sucrose between lithium- and saline-injected animals during the actual test protocol was used as a measure of the degree of aversion induced by lithium. Overexpression of AAV-asynuclein did not affect an animal's ability to successfully develop a lithium-induced taste aversion, as animals in all groups, with the exception of those injected bilaterally with AAV-GFP, significantly decreased their consumption of sucrose in response to a lithium injection when compared to a saline injection (p < 0.05; Figure 5.10B). A one-way ANOVA indicated a significant difference in the percentage of sucrose consumption by animals in salineinjected groups (F[4,17] = 5.72, p = 0.004), and post hoc analysis revealed that animals that received bilateral AAV-GFP consumed significantly less sucrose in the test phase of the paradigm in comparison to intact controls (p = 0.002).



Figure 5.10 (A) Sucrose and water consumption in all treatment groups. (B) Conditioned taste aversion induced by lithium injected measured in all groups. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using independent samples t-test. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01.

#### 5.4.8 Olfactory discrimination

In the olfactory discrimination test, there was a significant difference in discrimination between groups regardless of the time-point (F[4,39] = 4.3)p= 0.005; figure 5.11A). Post hoc analysis revealed that the control group consistently spent more time exploring the novel compartment compared to every other group (Control vs AAV-GFP bilateral, AAV-GFP unilateral p < 0.01, Control vs AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein bilateral, AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein unilateral p < 0.001). There was a significant change in the performance of the groups at over each time-point (F[2,78] = 3.4, p = 0.05), and post hoc analysis revealed that all groups spent significantly more time exploring the novel compartment from between weeks 30 and 40 (p<0.05). The total number of entries into each compartment was also recorded. There was no difference in the number of entries made between all of the groups (F[4,35] = 1.1, p = 0.37; Figure 5.11B), however the number of entries decreased significantly over each time-point from week 20 (F[2,70] = 8.4, p = 0.0005). Post hoc analysis revealed that the number of entries made by animals in each group significant decreased from week 20 to week 30 (p = 0.04) and week 40 (p<0.0001) and again from week 30 to week 40 (0.005).



Figure 5.11 (A)The percentage of time spent in the novel odour compartment in an olfactory discrimination task. (B) The number of entries into each compartment was recorded for all groups. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using 2-way repeated measures ANOVA and post hoc Fisher's LSD. #p<0.05 vs all other groups, \*p<0.05 \*\*\*p<0.001 week 30 vs week 40, ~p<0.05 ~~~p<0.001 vs week 20.

There was a significant difference in the ability of each group of animals to recognise a juvenile rat that they have previously been exposed to (F[4,39] = 5.6, p = 0.001; Figure 5.12). *Post hoc* analysis revealed that this was due to significant impairment in animals from both AAV-GFP unilateral (p = 0.01) and AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein bilateral groups (p = 0.004) when compared to intact controls.



Figure 5.11 A) Discrimination ratio from a social recognition task. Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using one-way ANOVA and post hoc Dunnett's test, \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01 vs intact control group.

#### **5.5 Discussion**

The AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein model is one of the few animal models of PD that can reproduce the pathological hallmark of the disease;  $\alpha$ -synuclein-positive inclusions termed Lewy bodies. Although the model has been wellcharacterised in terms of neurochemical and neurobiological effects, as well as motor behaviours (Decressac et al., 2012), to date relatively little research has focused on the potential for this model to replicate NMS associated with PD. Moreover, the majority of the studies have employed unilaterally administered AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein, which enables the contralateral hemisphere to act as a control in *post mortem* analyses. However, given that significant compensatory mechanisms exist, including the recent discovery of crosshemispheric dopaminergic projections that can modulate dopamine transmission in the contralateral hemisphere (Fox et al., 2016), it is unclear what role these mechanisms may play in unilateral-lesion models. To our knowledge, to date there has been no study published that employed bilateral AAV-  $\alpha$ -synuclein as a viable model of PD. Thus, the aims of this study were to employ the AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein model to compare the neuropathological and behavioural effects induced by both unilateral and bilateral administration into the rat SN. Moreover, we investigated if longterm overexpression of both unilateral and bilateral AAV-α-synuclein could replicate a variety of NMS that are associated with PD.

To date, most of the published work using the AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein model has also employed an AAV-GFP vector as a control. This doubles as both a control for surgery and as a control for the expression of the AAV viral vector. However, the majority of these studies are designed to examine the acute effects of  $\alpha$ -synuclein overexpression, and as such these experiments are typically no longer than 12-16 weeks in duration (Decressac et al., 2012; Lundblad et al., 2012; Mulcahy et al., 2013). The present study was designed to specifically investigate whether long-term overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein leads to propagation of the protein throughout the brain resulting in associated NMS, and so both AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein and AAV-GFP were overexpressed in the SN for over 40 weeks. In reviewing the data from this chapter, a recurring concern that arose was the behavioural and pathological data from the animals that received the control AAV-GFP viral vector. Unilateral administration of AAV-GFP into the SN led to a marked decrease in the number of TH-positive neurons, while bilateral administration led to reductions in both the number of dopaminergic neurons and the intensity of striatal TH-positive immunostaining, at levels comparable to animals injected with AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein. Similarly, the performance of animals that received AAV-GFP was worse than animals in the intact control group, both in the social recognition and the conditioned taste aversion tasks. Although the use of GFP as a viral vector control is wellestablished in *in* vivo studies, a comprehensive overview of the literature demonstrates that, in fact, the effects of AAV-GFP are highly variable. AAV-GFP overexpression has been shown to result in non-significant decreases in dopaminergic neurons in the SN of between 10 and 20% of that of the intact contralateral side (Decressac et al., 2012; Gombash et al., 2013; Gorbatyuk et al., 2010; Kirik et al., 2003), as well as non-significant reductions in striatal TH-positive fibre density of up to 30% (Taschenberger et al., 2012) and nonsignificant effects on vesicular monoamine transporter (VMAT, a marker of dopamine transport)-positive neurons in the SN of 20% (Gaugler et al., 2012). Furthermore, overexpression of AAV-GFP has also been shown to increase the number of CD68+ and MHCII+ cells, both indicative of microglial activation (Sanchez-Guajardo et al., 2010). Despite these worrying trends, AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein groups in these studies are only being compared to AAV-GFP and so any GFP-induced effects are not being adequately controlled for. An elegant study by Koprich and colleagues (2010) compared the AAV- $\alpha$ synuclein and AAV-GFP vectors to an empty AAV vector, and reported that GFP resulted in a significant 37% reduction in TH-positive neurons in the SN (Koprich et al., 2010). Moreover, a recently published review article addresses concerns surrounding the use of GFP as a control in both in vitro and *in vivo* studies, and lists possible mechanisms by which GFP causes cell toxicity and immunogenicity (reviewed by Ansari et al., 2016). These include increased free radical oxygenation, activation of apoptotic pathways and enhanced cell permeability leading to cell death (Ansari et al., 2016). Despite this, the use of AAV-GFP remains the gold-standard for viral vector control in this field of research. However, for the purposes of this chapter, where possible we will directly compare AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein to intact control animals to negate the possible toxicity of the AAV-GFP groups.

Moreover, based on the findings from this chapter, we planned an additional experiment to delineate both acute and long-term specific AAV-GFP effects

from that of intact control animals as well as animals injected with sterile 0.9% NaCl. Unfortunately, due to problems with the relocation of the animal facility in UCC, animals had to be sacrificed before the expected end of the experiment. Nevertheless, in the subsequent chapter of this thesis, sterile 0.9% NaCl will be used a control instead of AAV-GFP.

Leaving aside the problems surrounding the AAV-GFP vector, in this chapter we show that both unilateral and bilateral administration of AAV- $\alpha$ synuclein resulted in the transduction of approximately 20% of dopaminergic neurons, and that both paradigms induce distinct patterns of nigrostriatal degeneration, and that the propagation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein throughout the brain appears to be at least partially dependent on the duration of expression. Interestingly, there was no difference in the percentage of TH-positive cells transduced with the viral vector between animals that received either unilateral or bilateral injections, despite the difference in doses of vector administered. Unilateral administration of AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein induced a significant reduction in the number of dopaminergic neurons in the SN and a significant, albeit moderate, decrease in the intensity of TH-positive immunostaining in the striatum. However, bilateral administration of the same vector resulted in a far more robust effect, inducing the loss of approximately 40% of nigral dopaminergic neurons as well as a more profound effect on striatal TH-positive immunostaining. Previously published studies using a similar unilaterally-administered AAV2/6 viral vector reported a reduction of approximately 80% in the number of TH-positive neurons in the SN and 60% decrease in the density of

striatal fibres (Decressac et al., 2012), and although in this study we used the same dose of vector we were unable to replicate the extent of nigrostriatal degeneration previously reported. Decressac and colleagues also demonstrated that a significant portion of the overexpressed  $\alpha$ -synuclein was phosphorylated at serine 129 (Decressac et al., 2012). Phosphorylated  $\alpha$ -synuclein is abundantly expressed in Lewy bodies (Anderson et al., 2006). Importantly, it is thought to potentiate the toxicity of  $\alpha$ -synuclein (Gorbatyuk et al., 2008; Sato et al., 2011) and can modulate the formation of Lewy bodies (reviewed by Tenreiro et al., 2014). It may be that the differences seen between that study and the present study may be explained by alterations in the proportion of  $\alpha$ -synuclein that is phosphorylated within the nigrostriatal system. Moreover, the recent discovery of cross-hemispheric dopamine projections that can modulate contralateral dopamine transmission (Fox et al., 2016) may contribute to the moderate reduction seen in striatal TH-positive fibres that we observed. Nevertheless, we have demonstrated that bilateral administration of AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein reproduces the primary pathological features of PD and is a viable alternative to unilateral animal models of PD.

Due to the complexity of analysing gross motor function, a series of motor tests was carried out to accurately assess and identify any motor impairment across a wide range of parameters. Using this paradigm, we found that unilateral AAV-mediated overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein induced significant impairment in the stepping test only, but not in the cylinder test or the corridor test. Previous work investigating behavioural effects of distinct

degrees of lesions of the nigrostriatal system induced by striatal administration of 6-OHDA also found that animals that received partial lesions, induced by a lower dose of 6-OHDA at a single site as opposed to multiple injections, showed minor effects in the stepping test before other motor tests (Kirik et al., 1998). This substantiates our study which only demonstrated deficits in this task. Furthermore, our data is in line with previously a published study that used an AAV2/5 viral vector, which demonstrated that, despite significant nigral dopaminergic neuronal loss and decreased TH-immunoreactivity in the striatum, unilateral intra-nigral administration of AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein was not sufficient to induce lateralised motor impairment (Naughton et al., 2017). Animals displayed significant motor deficits in the stepping test as well as the cylinder and whisker tests only when administration of AAV2/5-  $\alpha$ -synuclein was combined with administration of the organic pesticide rotenone, leading the authors to conclude that the dose of AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein used was "subclinical" (Naughton et al., 2017). Specifically, in that study animals were administered with 2 x 10<sup>10</sup> viral genomes (vg) of AAV2/5, and in this study animals were administered with  $3.1 \times 10^8$  gc of AAV2/6, however due to the different titration methods used across these studies it is difficult to directly compare the doses.

Given that lateralised motor tasks are only appropriate in animals that have received unilateral lesions, in this study animals that were administered with bilateral AAV-GFP or AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein were assessed for motor dysfunction using the rotarod. Overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein had no effect on the

latency to fall off the rotarod apparatus. Moreover, the performance of all groups changed over time. Given that this is an upward trend in duration of time spent on the rotarod, it is likely that the animals became habituated to both the apparatus and the protocol over time, perhaps reflecting intact motor learning in all groups of animals. These animals received the same total dose of viral vector as the groups administered unilaterally, but it was divided equally across both hemispheres so it is likely that overall motor dysfunction could take longer to manifest in comparison. In future studies, a rotarod protocol incorporating more training sessions may allow for more subtle effects of  $\alpha$ -synuclein overexpression to be elucidated.

Despite the detection of  $\alpha$ -synuclein-positive immunostaining in the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus, the behavioural results from hippocampalassociated tasks were variable. Overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein had no effect on the percentage of alternations in a spontaneous alternations task. Moreover, the reduction in the number of entries and enhanced performance by all groups over the course of the experiment suggest that repeated exposure to the apparatus and test paradigm resulted in habituation by the animals. This task is reflective of working memory, in that every response varies in accordance to the arm chosen each time (Sherrick et al., 1979) , and it exploits the animal's natural tendency to explore its environment. However, it is not without its caveats. Deacon and Rawlins (2006) described two main disadvantages to the spontaneous alternations protocol. Firstly, they state that the continuous nature of the task contributes to inter-trial interference and results in moderate alternation

rates typically seen in this paradigm. Secondly, animals with hippocampal damage notoriously adopt side preferences and thus could perform adequately in this task given it's continuous nature (Deacon and Rawlins, 2006). To combat these issues, they suggest that a discrete trial procedure is more suitable for detecting hippocampal damage; this protocol could be adopted in future studies.

The social recognition paradigm employed in this study measures short-term social memory, specifically the ability of an animal to recognise and remember a juvenile rat encountered 30 min previously. Recent evidence points to the involvement of a number of brain regions and neurotransmitter systems in the consolidation and retrieval of social recognition memory, including the dopaminergic systems in the hippocampus and basolateral amygdala (Garrido Zinn et al., 2016; Tanimizu et al., 2017). Moreover, social recognition memory has been shown to be at least partially dependent on adult hippocampal neurogenesis (Pereira-Caixeta et al., 2016). In this study, animals that received AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein bilaterally spent significantly more time investigating the juvenile rat on the second presentation, indicating that they did not recognise the rat from the first presentation. This is similar to previous work demonstrating that bilateral administration of 6-OHDA could induce deficits in social recognition memory (Tadaiesky et al., 2008). In the present study, animals that received unilateral AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein did not show significant deficits in social recognition, however the discrimination ratio for this group was higher than controls. In this testing paradigm, it is postulated that animals with intact social memory capabilities would spend less time exploring the juvenile rat during the second presentation, thus the calculated discrimination ratio would be less than 0.5 ("chance level", i.e. equal time spent exploring in each presentation). Given that the discrimination ratio for the AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein unilateral group is higher than this, albeit marginally, it is possible that this group did display some form of social recognition impairment, however the intact contralateral hemisphere compensated for this functional impairment. Interestingly, animals that received unilateral AAV-GFP also showed deficits in social recognition.

Olfactory deficits are a common NMS in patients with PD (Hawkes et al., 1997), and they can often be present years preceding diagnosis (Postuma et al., 2012). Olfactory dysfunction has been demonstrated in animal models of PD such as the 6-OHDA model (Kumari et al., 2015; Tadaiesky et al., 2008) and the MPTP model (Castro et al., 2012), however to date there has been no investigation of olfactory deficits in the AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein model. In this study, we used a previously published paradigm that involves a rat distinguishing between a novel odour (fresh cage bedding) and a familiar odour (its own used bedding). Although previous work has stated that this protocol relies on an animal showing preference for its own scent as opposed to a novel scent (Tadaiesky et al., 2008), we suggest that actually, the opposite is true. We have previously mentioned that an animal's natural tendency is to explore a novel environment, a feature that is exploited in many behavioural tasks such as spontaneous alternations in the Y-maze. In light of this, it seems likely that the same is true for this olfactory

discrimination task; an animal can recognise a novel odour over its own familiar odour and thus spend more time in the novel compartment. In this study, we show that control animals spent significantly more time in the novel compartment when compared to all other groups. Moreover, all groups increased the time spent in the novel compartment as the experiment progressed, and this was coupled with decreased number of entries, indicative of habituation to the test protocol. Our data is supported by a recent study employing the rotenone model in adult male rats, which also demonstrated control animals spent significantly more time in the novel compartment compared to familiar (Rodrigues et al., 2014). Although olfactory function is primarily associated with the olfactory bulb, the connections between the olfactory bulb and the hippocampus have been shown to be critical in odour sampling and processing (Chapuis et al., 2013; Gourevitch et al., 2010). Moreover, growing data supports a role for dopamine in olfactory processes, as blocking dopamine receptors in the olfactory bulb has been shown to negatively affect odour discrimination (Escanilla et al., 2009), and more recently a new dopaminergic nigroolfactory projection has been identified (Höglinger et al., 2015). In this study, it is likely that the combination of  $\alpha$ -synuclein pathology in the SN and hippocampus and associated reductions in dopaminergic neurons could be sufficient to induce deficits in olfactory function.

Taken together, it is clear that overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein in the SN can lead to propagation of the protein to the hippocampus, and that there it can significantly affect a number of hippocampal-associated behavioural tasks.

However, these effects are variable and so future studies may require more sensitive and specific tests to fully elucidate the subtle effects of  $\alpha$ -synuclein expression in the hippocampus. Nevertheless, our data is in line with other published studies that have repeatedly demonstrated the ability of  $\alpha$ -synuclein to propagate through interconnected brain regions (Luk et al., 2012; Mason et al., 2016; Paumier et al., 2015; Rey et al., 2013). Furthermore, it is the capacity of  $\alpha$ -synuclein to proliferate throughout the brain that has led to PD being considered as a prion-like disorder (reviewed by Brundin et al. 2016), and so any viable animal model of the disease must be able to replicate this.

Conditioned taste aversion is a classic conditioning paradigm and is associated with the basolateral amygdala (Osorio-Gómez et al., 2016), as well as the prefrontal cortex (Gonzalez et al., 2015) and insular cortex (Martinez-Moreno et al., 2016). A conditioned taste aversion is established when the taste of food (conditioned stimulus, CS) is followed by sickness (unconditioned stimulus, US). Generally, animals are quickly able to learn the association between the CS and the US, and the hedonic aspect shifts from positive to negative (reviewed by Yamamoto and Ueji, 2011). In this study, we employed sucrose as the CS and the malaise and nausea induced by lithium administration as the US. Thus, comparing the percentage of sucrose consumption in animals that received a saline (control) injection to animals that received a lithium injection is a measure of the success of the conditioned aversion. Overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein had no effect on the ability of animals to display aversive behaviour, as both AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein
unilateral and bilateral animals consumed significantly less sucrose solution when compared to the corresponding controls. Indeed,  $\alpha$ -synuclein-positive immunostaining was not detected in the amygdala, which substantiates the behavioural data. However, animals that received AAV-GFP bilaterally did not display a significant difference in percentage sucrose consumption when compared to their control counterparts, indicating that they did not develop the taste aversion. Although animals in this group showed a clear preference for sucrose during acquisition, and at levels similar to control animals, during the test phase they consumed significantly less sucrose when compared to controls. This may serve to confound the differences in preference percentage and perhaps explain this result.

To conclude, in this study we have shown that unilateral and bilateral administration of AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein induced distinct patterns of nigrostriatal degeneration in adult male SD rats. Specifically, animals injected with bilateral AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein demonstrated a more robust combination of nigral dopaminergic neuronal degeneration as well as associated loss of TH-positive fibres in the striatum. Moreover, unilateral overexpression of AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein induced deficits in the olfactory discrimination task while bilateral overexpression of AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein induced deficits in the social recognition tasks. We show that the AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein rat model can reproduce the proliferation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein throughout the brain, and that it appears that is at least partially dependent on the duration of expression. Moreover, this model can be used to replicate

NMS associated with the disease, although more sensitive behavioural tasks may be required to elucidate the subtle  $\alpha$ -synuclein-induced effects.

## Chapter 6

# 6.0 Neuroprotective effects of voluntary running

## on non-motor symptoms in an $\alpha$ -synuclein rat

## model of Parkinson's disease

## 6.1 Abstract

Parkinson's disease (PD) is no longer primarily classified as a motor disorder due to the emergence of a number of non-motor symptoms of the disease, including cognitive dysfunction. These non-motor symptoms are highly prevalent and greatly affect the quality of life of patients with PD, and so therapeutic interventions to alleviate these symptoms are urgently needed. The aim of this study was to investigate the potential neuroprotective effects of voluntary running on cognitive dysfunction in an AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein rat model. Bilateral intranigral administration of AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein was found to induce motor dysfunction and a significant loss of nigral dopaminergic neurons, neither of which were rescued by voluntary running. Overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein also resulted in significant impairment on a neurogenesis-dependent pattern separation task, as well as anxiety-like behaviours on both the open field and the elevated plus maze. Voluntary running improved performance on the pattern separation task only. This was substantiated by an effect on hippocampal neurogenesis levels in the dorsal, and not ventral, dentate gyrus, suggesting that the functional effects on pattern separation were mediated by increasing neurogenesis.

## **6.2 Introduction**

Recently, due to the increasing awareness of NMS in PD, the disease has begun to be recognised as a multifactorial syndrome rather than simply a motor disorder (reviewed by Titova et al. 2016). In order to increase the translational impact of preclinical research, there is an urgent need for animal models that can reproduce these NMS and so represent a more accurate depiction of the human disease. In chapter 5, we showed that bilateral intranigral administration of AAV-α-synuclein was a robust model of PD, resulting in dopaminergic neuronal degeneration in the SN as well as bilateral propagation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein through the brain. More specifically, we demonstrated  $\alpha$ -synuclein expression throughout the hippocampus, including in the dentate gyrus. Interestingly, the dentate gyrus is one of only two distinct niches in the brain whereby neurogenesis has been proven to occur throughout the adult lifespan (Altman, 1969; Eriksson et al., 1998). These newly born neurons have been shown to contribute to learning and memory processing, particularly pattern separation (Clelland et al., 2009), as well as emotional regulation (reviewed by Oomen et al. 2014). Inhibition or ablation of neurogenesis in animal models has been shown to increase anxiety and depressive-like behaviour and impair performance in cognitive tasks (reviewed by Ryan & Nolan 2016); conversely enhancing neurogenesis using methods such as environmental enrichment (reviewed by Bekinschtein et al., 2011), dietary restriction (reviewed by Morgan et al.,

2017) or aerobic exercise can alleviate these mood disturbances and improve cognitive performance (Creer et al., 2010; Hill et al., 2015).

The first link between exercise and PD was published by Sasco and colleagues (1992), who demonstrated that moderate exercise during adulthood can protect against the risk of developing a PD in later life (Sasco et al., 1992). This has been further strengthened by the recent publication of a large-scale prospective epidemiological study that also confirms the association (Yang et al., 2015). Moreover, exercise has also been shown to play a role in restoring motor function (Collett et al., 2017; Santos et al., 2017) and alleviating NMS in patients already diagnosed with PD (reviewed by Cusso et al. 2016 and Dashtipour et al. 2015).

Given the previous chapters finding that  $\alpha$ -synuclein propagates from the SN to the dentate gyrus, the role this region plays in specific cognitive and emotional functioning and it's potential to be modulated with interventions such as exercise, the aims of this chapter are:

- a) To investigate the effects of AAV-α-synuclein overexpression on specific hippocampal-associated behaviours, including pattern separation
- b) To examine the potential neuroprotective effects of aerobic exercise on  $\alpha$ synuclein-induced cognitive dysfunction
- c) To elucidate the mechanisms of exercise-induced neuroprotection, specifically considering the role of adult hippocampal neurogenesis

### 6.3 Experimental design

#### 6.3.1 Animal husbandry

Adult male Sprague Dawley rats (Envigo, UK) were maintained on a 12h:12h light: dark cycle (lights on at 08.00h) under regulated temperature (21±2°C) and humidity (30-50%) and pair-housed. Standard rat chow and water were available *ad libitum*, unless behavioural testing dictated otherwise temporarily. All experiments were conducted in accordance with the European Directive 2010/63/EU, and under an authorisation issued by the Health Products Regulatory Authority Ireland (HPRA, AE19130/P010) and approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of University College Cork (approval number 2013/030).

#### Stereotaxic surgery

All surgery was conducted under general anaesthesia induced by inhaled isoflurane. Due to concerns regarding toxicity of long-term expression of AAV-GFP from the previous chapter, in this study sham animals were administered with sterile 0.9% NaCl. Briefly, animals were placed in a stereotaxic frame (Kopf Instruments) and an incision was made through to the skull. Animals were administered with 3  $\mu$ l of either AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein (3.1 x 10<sup>9</sup>gc/3 $\mu$ l) or 0.9% sterile saline solution (sham) bilaterally into the SN at co-ordinates AP -5.3, ML ±2.0 and DV -7.2 relative to bregma. All solutions were infused at a rate of 1  $\mu$ l/min, with an additional 2 min allowed for diffusion before the needle was withdrawn. Following injection, the incisions were sutured and rats were allowed to recover on a heating mat before

returning to their home cages. Animals were administered the analgesic carprofen (Rimadyl<sup>®</sup> 5mg/kg, s.c., Zoetis Ireland Ltd) and 5% glucose solution immediately following the procedure.

## 6.3.2 Experimental design

One week following surgery, animals were administered with i.p. BrdU (Sigma, Ireland) 75mg/kg in 4 doses, each 2h apart. They were randomly divided into 4 groups; 'sham + sedentary' (n = 7), ' $\alpha$ -synuclein + sedentary' (n = 8), 'sham + running' (n = 6) and ' $\alpha$ -synuclein + running' (n = 8), and were pair-housed in either cages with free access to running wheels ('running' groups) (Activity wheel, Techniplast, UK) or standard housing cages ('sedentary' groups). Running wheels were connected to counters which allowed wheel revolutions to be continuously monitored. Motor and cognitive testing was carried out at selected time-points following surgery based on the previous study (see Figure 6.1 for experimental timeline).



Figure 6.1 Experimental design

#### 6.3.3 Behavioural testing

Behavioural testing was carried out as described previously (Section 4.6.2), and carried out at the time-points detailed in figure 6.1.

## 6.4 Results

6.4.1 Running distance and body weights

There was no significant difference in the average distance run per month between animals that were administered AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein or those administered saline (F [1,5] = 0.03, p = 0.86; Figure 6.2A). Both groups of animals ran significantly more in the initial 10 weeks of the experiment compared to baseline (F [9,45] = 15.5, p < 0.0001), however this declined at later time-points. Animals in all groups gained weight over the course of the experiment (F[9,207] = 862, p < 0.001; Figure 6.2B), however animals in the running groups weighed significantly less than their sedentary counterparts (F[1,23] = 20.97, p = 0.00013). Overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein had no effect on weight gain (F[1,23] = 0.14, p = 0.71).

6.4.2 Overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein into SN and associated motor impairment

Both groups of animals that received AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein displayed extensive transduction of dopaminergic neurons in the SN. There was no difference in

the number of co-localised TH+/ $\alpha$ -syn+ neurons between the groups (t (4) = 0.89, p = 0.42; Figure 6.3A). AAV-mediated overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein resulted in a significant degeneration in the number of dopaminergic neurons in the SN and this was persistent across each level of the SN (AP - 5.2, F [1,3] = 813, p < 0.0001; AP -5.6, F[1,4] = 19.45, p = 0.01; AP -6.0, F[1,4] = 8.6, p = 0.04; Figure 6.3B).

Voluntary running increased the number of dopaminergic neurons, only at the level immediately proximal to the administration site (AP -6.0, F [1,3] = 52.92, p = 0.005). There was a trend towards a significant reduction in THpositive immunostaining in the striatum in the AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein groups compared to sham controls (F [1,135] = 3.15, p = 0.07; Figure 6.3C), and *a priori post hoc* analysis revealed this was specific to the sedentary groups (sham sedentary vs  $\alpha$ -synuclein sedentary p = 0.06). The degeneration of dopaminergic neurons in the SN caused by  $\alpha$ -synuclein overexpression led to a significant impairment in sensorimotor integration on the rotarod (F [1,37] = 5.26 p = 0.02; Figure 6.3D). Voluntary running had no effect on motor function in the same task (F [1,37] = 0.33, p = 0.56).

#### 6.4.3 General locomotor activity

Voluntary running had no impact on the distance travelled (F [1, 23] = 0.57, p=0.45) or the average velocity (F [1, 23] = 0.57, p = 0.45) of the animals in the open field test. Overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein resulted in a hyperactive phenotype, with animals travelling a significantly greater distance than

controls (F [1, 23] = 4.4, p=0.045; Figure 6.4A) and at a significantly higher velocity (F [1,23] = 5.2, p = 0.03; Figure 6.4B).



Figure 6.2. (A) Average running distance per month of sham and AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein groups. (B) Average weight gain over the course of the experiment. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using repeated measures ANOVA, \*\*\*p<0.001, ###p<0.001.



Figure 6.3 (A) The percentage transduction efficiency of the AAV viral vector in both sedentary and running  $\alpha$ -synuclein groups. (B) TH-positive cell counts in the SN and (C) fluorescence intensity of TH-positive immunostaining in the striatum. (D) Motor performance measured on the rotarod. Representative images of (E, H) TH-positive cells in the SN, (F, I)  $\alpha$ -synuclein expression in the SN and (G-J) merged images. Scale bar represents 100  $\mu$ m. Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM, \*p<0.05, \*\*\*p<0.001 vs corresponding sham group, #p<0.05, ###p<0.001 vs corresponding sedentary group.



Figure 6.4 General locomotor activity measured by (A) distance travelled and (B) velocity travelled in the open field. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using 2-way factorial ANOVA and post hoc Fisher's LSD, \*p<0.05 vs corresponding sham group.

The percentage of alternations in a standard discrete alternation task was not affected by overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein (F [1,22] = 0.86, p=0.36; Figure 6.5A) or by voluntary running (F [1,22] = 1, p= 0.32). *A priori* testing revealed a trend towards a significant impairment in this task in  $\alpha$ -synuclein compared to sedentary groups (t (11) = 1.92, p = 0.08). To increase the cognitive load of the task, a 1 min delay was inserted into the protocol. However, neither overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein (F [1,22] = 0.46, p = 0.5; Figure 6.5B) or voluntary running (F [1,22] = 0.73, p = 0.4) had an effect on the percentage of alternations in this paradigm.

In the modified spontaneous location recognition task, there was no effect of  $\alpha$ -synuclein (F [1, 20] = 0.001, p =0.99) or voluntary running (F [1, 20] = 0.56, p = 0.46) on the ability of the animals to discriminate between the novel and familiar object locations in the large separation paradigm (Figure 6.5C). However, in the small separation paradigm, voluntary running significantly enhanced the discrimination ratio compared to that of the sedentary counterparts (F [1, 22] = 11.64, p=0.002; Figure 6.5D). There was a trend towards a significant



Figure 6.5 The percentage of alternations in (A) a standard discrete alternations protocol and (B) with a 1 min delay. Modified spontaneous location recognition test in both (C) a large separation paradigm and (D) a small separation paradigm. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using 2-way factorial ANOVA and post hoc Fisher's LSD, \*\*p<0.01 running vs sedentary counterparts, #p<0.05 vs  $\alpha$ -synuclein sedentary.

impairment in performance of the same task by  $\alpha$ -synuclein groups compared to sham groups (F [1, 22] = 3.24, p=0.08), and *a priori post hoc* analysis revealed that voluntary running rescued the partial deficit that was evident in  $\alpha$ -synuclein groups ( $\alpha$ -synuclein sedentary vs  $\alpha$ -synuclein running p = 0.007). These data indicating a deficit in hippocampal-associated tasks are substantiated by the observation of human  $\alpha$ -synuclein expression in the dentate gyrus (Figure 6.6), showing that  $\alpha$ -synuclein was transported to this brain area following administration of AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein into the SN.



Figure 6.6 Representative photomicrographs of  $\alpha$ -synuclein staining in the dentate gyrus of (A, B) AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein + sedentary and (C, D) AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein + running groups. Images taken at (A, C) 10x and (B, D) 20x. Scale bar represents 100  $\mu$ m.

#### 6.4.5 Anxiety-related behaviours

Testing in the elevated plus maze revealed that overexpression of  $\alpha$ synuclein resulted in the animals spending significantly more time in the closed arms of the maze when compared to control animals (F [1, 23] = 18.95, p=0.0002; Figure 6.7A) Voluntary running also increased the amount of time spent in the closed arms in comparison to sedentary animals (F [1, 23] = 4.39, p=0.04). Factorial ANOVA showed a significant interaction effect (treatment x running, F [1, 23] = 9, p=0.006), and *post hoc* analysis revealed a significant difference between the control sedentary and the  $\alpha$ -synuclein running groups (p=0.02), and a small effect of  $\alpha$ -synuclein on the nonrunning animals (saline sedentary vs  $\alpha$ -synuclein sedentary, p=0.08). Neither overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein (F [1, 23] = 0.14, p=0.7; Figure 6.7B) or voluntary running (F [1, 22] = 0.89, p=0.35) had any impact on the total number of closed arm entries per group.

In the open field, overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein resulted in a significant increase in thigmotaxis behaviour, as measured by the time the animals spent in the border zone of the open field arena, compared to sham controls (F [1, 23] = 5.5, p =0.027; Figure 6.7C), Voluntary running did not affect thigmotaxis behaviour ((F [1, 23] = 3.5, p = 0.074).



Figure 6.7 (A) Percentage of time spent in the closed arms of the elevated plus maze and (B) total number of entries into the closed arms. (C) Thigmotaxis behaviour measured by time spent in the border zones of the open field. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using 2-way factorial ANOVA and post hoc Fisher's LSD, \*p<0.05, \*\*\*p<0.001 vs corresponding sham controls, #p<0.05 vs sedentary counterparts.

#### 6.4.6 Olfactory discrimination

Overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein did not affect the percentage of time spent by the animals in the novel compartment (F [1, 23] = 1.45, p=0.24; Figure 6.8), nor was there a difference in the animal's performance between time points (F [1, 23] = 0.97, p=0.33). Voluntary running significantly decreased the amount of time spent by the animal in the novel compartment (F [1, 23] = 5.8, p=0.02). Post hoc analysis revealed that this effect was specific to  $\alpha$ synuclein groups (p=0.03), but that there was no effect of running on the control groups.



Figure 6.8 Performance in an olfactory discrimination task. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using 2-way repeated measures ANOVA and post hoc Fisher's LSD \*p<0.05 vs corresponding sedentary controls, #p<0.05 vs  $\alpha$ -synuclein sedentary.

The total number of DCX-positive cells in the dentate gyrus was significantly decreased by overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein (F [1,12] = 5.12, p = 0.043; Figure 6.9E). Subdivision of dentate gyrus regions revealed that this effect was specific to the dorsal (F [1,12] = 8.07, p = 0.01) and not found in the ventral region (F [1,12] = 0.16, p = 0.69). Voluntary running had no effect on the number of DCX-positive cells in the dentate gyrus (F [1,23] = 0.54, p = 0.47).

Overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein in the SN significantly decreased the total number of BrdU-positive neurons in the dorsal dentate gyrus (F[1,12] = 18.31, p = 0.001; Figure 6.10E) and this effect was persistent in the sub-regions of the dentate gyrus, including the granule cell layer

(F[1,12] = 4.94, p = 0.04) and the subgranular zone (F[1,12] = 12.38, p = 0.004; Figure 6.10E). Factorial ANOVA showed a significant interaction effect (treatment x running F[1,12] = 7.1, p = 0.02). *Post hoc* analysis revealed that, although voluntary running alleviated  $\alpha$ -synuclein-induced deficits in the number of BrdU-positive cells ( $\alpha$ -synuclein sedentary vs  $\alpha$ -synuclein running, p = 0.006), this effect was specific to the dorsal subgranular zone ( $\alpha$ -synuclein sedentary vs  $\alpha$ -synuclein (F[1,12] = 2.97, p = 0.1) nor voluntary running (F[1,12] = 1.36, p = 0.26) affected the number of BrdU-positive cells in the ventral dentate gyrus (Figure 6.10F).



Figure 6.9 DCX-positive immunostaining in the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus in (A) Sham + sedentary (B) AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein + sedentary (C) Sham + running and (D) AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein + running groups. (E) Number of DCX+ cells in the total, dorsal and ventral dentate gyrus. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using 2-way factorial ANOVA and post hoc Fisher's LSD, \*p<0.05 vs corresponding saline control. Scale bar represents 100  $\mu$ m.





Figure 6.10 BrdU+ neurons (indicated by the arrows) in the dentate gyrus in (A) sham + sedentary, (B) AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein + sedentary, (C) sham + running and (D) AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein + running groups. BrdU+ neurons in the granule cell layer (GCL) and subgranular zone (SGZ) in the (E) dorsal (F) and ventral dentate gyrus. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM and analysed using 2-way factorial ANOVA and post hoc Fisher's LSD, \*p<0.05, \*\*\*p<0.001 vs corresponding saline control, #p<0.05 vs  $\alpha$ -synuclein sedentary. Scale bar represents 100  $\mu$ m.

## 6.5 Discussion

A growing body of evidence supports the Braak hypothesis (Heiko Braak et al., 2003), which states that the aggregation and propagation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein throughout the brain is responsible for the array and progression of motor and NMS experienced by PD patients. Moreover, it has been proven that the neuropathological staging of the disease correlates with cognitive decline (Braak et al., 2006b). In this study, we show that bilateral overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein in the SN not only causes degeneration of nigral dopaminergic neurons and motor impairment, but that it also leads to deficits in hippocampal-associated memory tasks, specifically in tasks assessing the ability to "pattern separate". Furthermore, we show that these deficits are linked to alterations in adult hippocampal neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus.

AAV-mediated overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein has been well-characterised in the literature as a viable animal model of PD (reviewed by Lindgren et al. 2012). It is the only model to date that replicates all of the neuropathological, neurochemical and behavioural features of the disease, including the formation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein aggregates in nigral neurons (Kirik et al., 2003). The majority of the work published to date employs the model unilaterally, using lateralised tasks such as the cylinder test and the stepping test to measure motor dysfunction and allowing the contralateral hemisphere to act as a control in *post mortem* analyses. Here, we show that bilateral administration of  $\alpha$ -synuclein induces bilateral nigral dopaminergic

degeneration and a decrease in striatal TH innervation, which subsequently causes bilateral motor dysfunction that can be measured on a rotarod. Although the degree of striatal denervation was not as profound as that seen in animal with acute lesions of the nigrostriatal system such as those induced by stereotaxic injections of 6-OHDA, it was sufficient to result in a significant degree of motor impairment. Previous work by Kirik and colleagues (1998) described the different thresholds of TH-positive fibre loss in the rat striatum that are necessary to induce motor impairment on specific laboratory tasks. They showed that a 40-50% reduction in TH innervation was required to induce detectable deficits in the apomorphine-induced rotations task, but that 70-80% reduction was necessary for significant motor impairment in the stepping test and in a modified paw-reaching test (Kirik et al., 1998). It is worth noting that this work was carried out using the unilateral 6-OHDA model, and so although the results cannot be directly compared to the present study, the underlying premise that different degrees of striatal denervation are required to detect motor deficits on different tasks remains valid.

In the present study, voluntary running did not alleviate motor dysfunction, nor did it rescue the partial degeneration of dopaminergic nerve terminals in the striatum. Interestingly, voluntary running did protect against THpositive neuronal loss in the SN immediately proximal to the administration site of the viral vector. However, this neuroprotective effect was not sufficient to improve motor function. To our knowledge, this is the first study to investigate the effects of voluntary running on motor and NMS in an  $\alpha$ -

synuclein model of PD. Although several reports have employed exercise as an intervention in other animal models of PD including the MPTP model (Jang et al., 2017), the rotenone model (Shin et al., 2017) and the 6-OHDA model (Landers et al., 2013; Tillerson et al., 2003), results are highly variable and again, these models are not the most representative of the human disease when compared to the AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein model (reviewed by Volpicelli-Daley et al., 2016).

The rotarod protocol used in this study was a fixed speed test. A previous study, albeit one using the 6-OHDA model, has shown that an accelerating rotation rate on the rotarod allows a more specific correlation between motor deficits and lesion size (Monville et al., 2006). This is supported by the recent publication of a study by Wang and colleagues, who demonstrated that despite modest loss of TH-positive fibres in the striatum after intrastriatal administration of 6-OHDA (approximately 20% less than control animals), an accelerating rotarod protocol was sufficiently sensitive to detect motor dysfunction (Wang et al., 2013). Nonetheless, our results are in line with previously published work where bilateral administration of  $\alpha$ synuclein induced TH-positive cell loss in the SN and corresponding THpositive fibre loss in the adult rat striatum, coupled with mild motor deficits on a ledged beam-walking test (Caudal et al., 2015). Furthermore, this also highlights the variability in tests used to measure motor impairment in bilateral models of PD. There are a number of different rotarod protocols currently published, which use distinct training paradigms and different testing speeds (Goes et al., 2014; Marei et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2013); this

makes it difficult to extrapolate between the results of these studies. Gait disturbances and postural instability are classic motor symptoms of PD (reviewed by Sveinbjornsdottir 2016) and recent evidence suggests that gait analysis may be a more sensitive and specific method of detecting motor dysfunction in animal models of movement disorders (Vandeputte et al., 2010). Studies carried out on rats with bilateral 6-OHDA lesions confirms that these animals display a wide variety of gait disturbances post-lesion, including alterations in stride length, swing speed and stance duration; furthermore these symptoms are sensitive to L-dopa therapy (Westin et al., 2012). Moreover, gait disturbances can be used to differentiate between lesions induced by 6-OHDA administration into the striatum, into the MFB and into the SN, and some aspects of gait impairments positively correlate with the extent of loss of TH-positive cells in the SN (Zhou et al., 2015). Similarly, a time-course of gait analysis after a unilateral 6-OHDA lesion has been shown to be more sensitive to motor deficits and compensatory mechanisms than the apomorphine-induced rotations test (Hsieh et al., 2011). To our knowledge, there is currently no data investigating gait disturbances in the AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein rat model, however the technology is available and has been relatively well characterised and so this remains a possible avenue for future investigation.

Overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein in this study resulted in a hyperactive phenotype, exemplified by animals travelling greater distances and at higher velocities than sham animals. This confirms previous work by Aldrin-Kirk and colleagues (2014), who showed that administration of an AAV6 viral vector overexpressing  $\alpha$ -synuclein into the forebrain of SD pups resulted in hyperactive behaviour in the open field after 40 weeks (9 months). This was coupled with a significant degeneration of cholinergic interneurons in the striatum (Aldrin-Kirk et al., 2014). Although the exact role of cholinergic interneurons in the pathophysiology of PD is unclear, growing evidence suggests that these cells can modulate dopamine transmission in the striatum (Johnson et al., 2017; Kosillo et al., 2016), as well as modulating motor symptoms in animal models of PD (Kondabolu et al., 2016; Maurice et al., 2015; Ztaou et al., 2016). Interestingly, overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein in either a transgenic mouse line or through AAV administration in rats has been shown to reduce striatal dopamine levels, and it was suggested that this was *via* a direct effect on striatal cholinergic interneurons (Tozzi et al., 2015).

Cognitive impairment is a highly prevalent NMS in PD (Domellöf et al., 2015; Yarnall et al., 2014), and it can significantly impact upon the quality of life of PD patients (Bugalho et al., 2016; Kwon et al., 2016). Although there is a wealth of studies that have investigated cognitive impairment in animal models of PD, such as the 6-OHDA and MPTP models (reviewed by Lindgren & Dunnett 2012), relatively little has been published to date using the AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein rat model. One report by Campos and colleagues (2013) used bilateral nigral overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein in adult rats to investigate cognitive dysfunction, and showed that  $\alpha$ -synuclein had no effect on performance in three versions of the MWM task, which measured working and spatial reference memory as well as cognitive flexibility (Campos et al.,

2013). However, in that study, cognitive testing was carried out 7-8 weeks post-surgery and  $\alpha$ -synuclein expression in the hippocampus was not confirmed, so it is possible that the testing point was too early to ensure that viral integration,  $\alpha$ -synuclein expression and subsequent propagation to the hippocampus had occurred. In the present study, we show that although overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein had no effect on spatial working memory measured by a discrete alternations task, it significantly impaired the ability of animals to perform a pattern separation task. Pattern separation refers to the organisation of similar, overlapping episodic memories so that they may be recognised as singular and separate representations of each memory (Bekinschtein et al., 2013), and it has been shown to be uniquely dependent on adult hippocampal neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus (Clelland et al., 2009). Moreover, increasing levels of adult hippocampal neurogenesis in rodents by environmental enrichment or voluntary running can also enhance performance in a pattern separation task (reviewed by Bekinschtein et al. 2011). In this study, we have demonstrated that longterm voluntary running can rescue  $\alpha$ -synuclein-induced deficits in a small pattern separation task, and that this is likely to be mediated by alterations in adult hippocampal neurogenesis. Overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein caused significant decreases in the number of immature neurons (DCX+ cells) and the survival of newly born neurons (BrdU+/NeuN+) in the dorsal, and not the ventral, dentate gyrus. Similarly, voluntary running increased the survival of neurons only in the dorsal dentate gyrus. This effect was localised to the subgranular zone, which has been shown to be the specific region of the

dentate gyrus associated with adult hippocampal neurogenesis (reviewed by Goncalves et al. 2016). The dentate gyrus is known to be involved in various cognitive and emotional processing, and it is functionally divided along its longitudinal axis whereby the dorsal dentate gyrus is associated with learning and memory and the ventral region regulates anxiety and stress resilience (reviewed by O'Leary & Cryan 2014).

In this study, voluntary running did not ameliorate anxiety-like behaviour in the  $\alpha$ -synuclein groups, measured by thigmotaxis behaviour in the open field or by behaviour in the elevated plus maze. Moreover, voluntary running increased the amount of time spent by animals in the closed arms of the elevated plus maze when compared to sedentary controls. Although running has been widely regarded to confer anxiolytic benefits in animals (Duman et al., 2008; Greenwood et al., 2003), these findings are becoming increasingly controversial. Recent work, albeit in mice, has shown that voluntary running can induce anxiety-like behaviour in a number of behavioural tasks including the open field task, the light/dark box and the FST (Fuss et al., 2010a). Moreover, deletion of running-induced hippocampal neurogenesis by focalized irradiation was sufficient to reverse the anxious phenotype (Fuss et al. 2010), suggesting that the enhanced levels of neurogenesis somehow played a role in generating the anxious behaviour. Although we found no evidence that overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein had impaired neurogenesis in the ventral dentate gyrus,  $\alpha$ -synuclein overexpression did induce an anxietylike phenotype in both the open field and the elevated plus maze, suggesting alternative mechanisms in the regulation of these behaviours.

Olfactory discrimination is primarily functionally linked to the olfactory bulbs, however there is growing evidence to support a role for the olfactohippocampal network in olfactory discrimination tasks (Gourevitch et al., 2010; Knafo et al., 2005; Martin et al., 2007; Restivo et al., 2006; Uva and De Curtis, 2005). In this study, we show that overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein did not impact on an animal's ability to discriminate between their own odour and a fresh bedding odour. However, voluntary running significantly affected the capacity for discrimination between novel and familiar odours. Although the olfactory bulb is an established site for adult neurogenesis in rats, the role of the newly-born neurons in olfactory processes and memory remains inconclusive (Bardy and Pallotto, 2010). Ablation of adult neurogenesis in the olfactory bulb has not consistently resulted in deficits in odour discrimination (reviewed by Kageyama et al. 2012 and Lazarini & Lledo 2011), and so conversely enhancing neurogenesis such as in the present study may not lead to improved performance in an olfactory discrimination task. Perhaps a more sensitive task, such as an odour delayed nonmatching to sample task that has previously been shown to be impaired in patients with hippocampal lesions (Levy et al., 2004) would be more appropriate in future studies.

To conclude, in this study we have shown that bilateral administration of AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein into the adult rat SN results in bilateral degeneration of nigral dopaminergic neurons and of TH-positive fibres, as well as bilateral motor impairment measured on the rotarod. This model can also be used to replicate some of the primary NMS of PD, including hippocampal-associated

learning and memory tasks as well as anxiety-like behaviours. Moreover, we have shown that administration of AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein into the adult rat SN can lead to the propagation and expression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein in the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus where it can affect markers of adult hippocampal neurogenesis. Finally, we have shown that  $\alpha$ -synuclein-induced deficits in a pattern separation task and associated alterations in hippocampal neurogenesis can be alleviated by the neuroprotective effects of voluntary running.

Chapter 7

7.0 General discussion

Parkinson's disease is the second most common neurodegenerative disease in the world (Ascherio and Schwarzschild, 2016), and given an ageing global population the incidence is expected to double by 2010 (Dorsey et al., 2007). Although there are a variety of therapies currently available to treat both motor and NMS of the disease, these are only used for symptomatic relief and do nothing to halt the disease process itself. Moreover, by the time patients begin to display motor symptoms, it is estimated that up to 30% of the dopaminergic neurons in the SN have already been lost (reviewed by Burke and O'Malley, 2013). Thus, research into effective preventative strategies is highly desirable.

Given the difficulty in researching disease mechanisms in humans, a range of animal models of PD have been developed to allow comprehensive investigations of the neuropathological, neurobiological and neurochemical features of the disease. Each model has their own relative advantages and disadvantages (reviewed by Bové and Perier, 2012), however a recurring theme is the inability of any model to fully reproduce the progressive nature and Lewy body pathology that are characteristic of PD (reviewed by Lindgren et al., 2012 and Volpicelli-Daley et al., 2016), as well as the broad range of NMS that are also inherent to the disease (reviewed by Schapira et al., 2017). Moreover, the failure of many of the classic neurotoxin models to accurately predict translational success of neuroprotective compounds in clinical trials further hampers progress (reviewed by Athauda and Foltynie, 2015). The development of the AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein model by Kirik and colleagues (2002) was in many ways a turning point, as it was able to replicate the behavioural and neuropathological aspects of PD while also resulting in a progressive degeneration of dopaminergic neurons (Kirik et al., 2002). Since then, the model has enabled a wide range of critical preclinical research to be completed that would not have been possible in other neurotoxic models. The progressive nature of this model is one of its key features, as it has allowed for a more in-depth interrogation of the mechanisms of synaptic dysfunction when compared to other neurotoxin models such as 6-OHDA (reviewed by Volpicelli-Daley et al., 2016). Moreover, the AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein overexpression model has also provided a more comprehensive overview of the role of  $\alpha$ -synuclein in the pathogenesis of PD. For example, despite promising *in vivo* animal studies investigating the neuroprotective effects of NTFs such as GDNF, these results did not translate to successful clinical trials (reviewed by Olanow et al., 2015). By employing the AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein model, Decressac and colleagues (2012c) established that overexpression of  $\alpha$ synuclein in nigral dopaminergic neurons blocks GDNF signalling, providing a novel insight that would have been otherwise undiscovered in the neurotoxin models. Additionally, given that the AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein model is most representative of the human disease, it has allowed for a more thorough investigation into putative therapeutic targets (reviewed by Volpicelli-Daley et al., 2016).

The primary hypothesis of this thesis was that:

The propagation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein throughout the brain in PD is linked to the presence of NMS.

To test this hypothesis, this thesis employed the AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein model overexpressing human wild-type  $\alpha$ -synuclein to explore the ability of this model to replicate the proliferation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein throughout the brain, and whether this could be linked to the pathogenesis of NMS. In study 1, we show that both unilateral and bilateral administration of AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein induce distinct patterns of nigrostriatal degeneration. Interestingly, animals that received bilateral injections of AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein demonstrated a more robust degeneration of dopaminergic neurons and TH-positive fibres in the striatum, confirming that this administration paradigm is a viable model of PD. We confirmed that both unilateral and bilateral overexpression of  $\alpha$ synuclein in the SN induced bilateral propagation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein throughout distinct regions of the brain, including the hippocampus, and that it can affect some aspects of hippocampal-associated behaviours. Given this data, we then focused on the impact of  $\alpha$ -synuclein overexpression on specific cognitive and emotional tasks that are dependent on adult hippocampal neurogenesis. We also exmained the neuroprotective effects of exercise on  $\alpha$ -synuclein-induced deficits in these tasks. In study 2, we show that bilateral administration of AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein into the adult rat SN results in bilateral degeneration of nigral dopaminergic neurons and of TH-positive fibres, as well as bilateral motor impairment measured on the rotarod. Similarly, this model can be used to replicate some of the NMS associated with PD, including impairments in hippocampal-associated learning and memory tasks as well as anxiety-like behaviours. We demonstrated that administration of AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein into the adult rat SN can lead to the

propagation and expression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein in the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus where it can affect markers of adult hippocampal neurogenesis. Finally, we showed that  $\alpha$ -synuclein-induced deficits in a pattern separation task and associated alterations in hippocampal neurogenesis can be alleviated by the neuroprotective effects of voluntary running. To summarise, we have proven our initial hypothesis; namely, this thesis confirms that the propagation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein throughout the brain, a pathological feature inherent to PD, is linked to the pathogenesis NMS. More specifically, we have shown that overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein in the hippocampus results in significant impairment in hippocampal-associated tasks, some of which are dependent on neurogenesis.

However, there are a number of limitations to the work presented in this thesis. One of the most difficult aspects of the present studies was finding suitable behavioural tasks that were sufficiently sensitive to detect the subtle effects of  $\alpha$ -synuclein overexpression. Moreover, we also had to take into account significant expected motor impairment, and so initially we selected tasks that did not overly rely on the locomotor ability of each animal. In study 1, although we detected  $\alpha$ -synuclein in the hippocampus in animals that were administered with both unilateral and bilateral AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein, there were no clear behavioural effects as a result of this. Similarly, the extent of motor impairment that we observed was not directly comparable to previously published studies. In light of this, for study 2 we increased the dose of viral vector administered, and focused on behavioural tasks that assessed specific cognitive domains, such as pattern separation.
More generally, there are difficulties in extrapolating the data from this thesis to both the human condition and the wider community. Under experimental conditions, it is possible to link specifics of the AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein model, for example *post* mortem analysis of the extent of dopaminergic neuronal degeneration, to motor dysfunction. Similarly, in the exercise paradigm, an output such as distance run daily/weekly/monthly or levels of neurogenic markers can be correlated to performance in cognitive tasks. However, to compare results gleaned from an experimental model in an outbred rat strain to the heterogenous nature of PD in the human population is obviously quite a leap. Nevertheless, any information that can be gained from preclinical research in some way contributes to the greater knowledge in the field, and the more representative the animal model is, the higher the translational impact of the work.

Furthermore, despite the many advantages of the AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein model when compared to other neurotoxic animal models of PD, it is not without its caveats. Firstly, despite both genetic and pathological evidence that  $\alpha$ synuclein is inherently linked with the disease process (Polymeropoulos et al., 1997; Spillantini et al., 1997), there is still no known endogenous function for the protein. Its localisation at presynaptic nerve terminals and its interaction with membrane proteins suggest that it plays a role in neurotransmitter release (Bendor et al., 2013). Additionally, it has been shown to be involved in vesicular trafficking (reviewed by Lautenschlager et al., 2017) and dopamine transmission (Butler et al., 2016), all of which are dysregulated in PD. Secondly, the mechanism of  $\alpha$ -synuclein-induced cell

death is highly debated. The Braak hypothesis (Braak et al., 2003; Braak et al., 2003b), which was widely accepted, suggested that  $\alpha$ -synuclein pathology originates outside of the CNS, and once present in the gastrointestinal tract it can propagate in a prion-like manner along a vulnerable neuronal network to eventually reach the brain, where the proliferation and accumulation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein into Lewy bodies causes degeneration of dopaminergic neurons. However, in recent years, a number of publications have precipitated a critical re-think of this hypothesis. Engelender and Isacson recently published their "Threshold Theory for Parkinson's Disease" (Engelender and Isacson, 2017), where they suggest that  $\alpha$ -synuclein pathology is present in both the central and enteric nervous systems at the same time, and that the time of onset of motor and NMS are different due to variances in neuronal vulnerability and the presence of extensive compensatory networks in the brain that are not present in peripheral neurons (Engelender and Isacson, 2017). Similarly, Benskey and colleagues (2016) put forward their 'loss of function' hypothesis, where they postulated that the accumulation of endogenous  $\alpha$ -synuclein into LBs and LNs, and accompanying shift in subcellular localisation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein from presynaptic terminals to cell soma, impedes the ability of  $\alpha$ -synuclein to carry out its normal cellular functions and results in neuronal toxicity as seen in PD (Benskey et al., 2016). Thirdly, there is a growing body of evidence that indicates that the various clinical and pathological features of the synucleinopathies are increasingly dependent on the structure of the  $\alpha$ synuclein that is present. In vitro studies have demonstrated the existence

of structurally different  $\alpha$ -synuclein strains that display different levels of toxicity and seeding propensity (Bousset et al., 2013; Guo et al., 2013). This was built upon by Peelaerts and colleagues (2015), who fully characterised the distinct histopathological and behavioural phenotypes that are induced *in vivo* after administration of specific  $\alpha$ -synuclein strains (Peelaerts et al., 2015). Different strains of  $\alpha$ -synuclein have been shown to trigger distinct inflammatory reactions (Gustot et al., 2015) and have also demonstrated species-specific effects (Abdelmotilib et al., 2017).

Taken together, what is clear is that despite the overwhelming evidence that links  $\alpha$ -synuclein to the pathophysiology of PD, there are vast gaps in our knowledge. Nonetheless, targeting  $\alpha$ -synuclein as a potential therapy has shown promise and currently there are several different strategies that are being investigated, including immune targeting, reducing  $\alpha$ -synuclein aggregation or synthesis, blocking the propagation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein or enhancing the clearance and degradation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein (reviewed by Olanow and Kordower, 2017 and Wong and Krainc, 2017). Of these, immune targeting is currently the most developed method, and a series of animal studies that used either active or passive immunisation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein have repeatedly demonstrated significant reductions in  $\alpha$ -synuclein-induced neurodegeneration and propagation as well as ameliorating motor deficits (Covell et al., 2017; Games et al., 2014; Spencer et al., 2017; Tran et al., 2014). This has led very recently to the publication of data from the first-inhuman trial of PRX002, a monoclonal antibody targeting  $\alpha$ -synuclein, which demonstrated not only that the drug has a favourable safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetic profile but that it can reduce the amount of free serum  $\alpha$ synuclein in a dose-dependent manner (Schenk et al., 2017). Future work is focusing on the completion of a double-blind placebo-controlled trial in patients with PD (Schenk et al., 2017).

 $\alpha$ -synuclein is also showing increasing potential as a biomarker. Levels of  $\alpha$ synuclein in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) have repeatedly been shown to be elevated when compared to healthy age-matched controls (reviewed by Parnetti et al., 2013). More specifically, it appears that alterations in levels of the oligometric form of  $\alpha$ -synuclein in CSF are more sensitive (Aasly et al., 2014; Tokuda et al., 2010) and has been used to differentiate between PDD and Alzheimer's disease (Hansson et al., 2014). Recently, a combination of antibodies to detect both oligomeric and phosphorylated  $\alpha$ -synuclein in CSF has been employed and been shown to successfully discriminate between PD patients and controls (Majbour et al., 2016b). Importantly, this combination of antibodies was also sufficiently sensitive to detect longitudinal changes in  $\alpha$ -synuclein that reflect the progressive nature of PD (Majbour et al., 2016a). Nevertheless, lumbar punctures to collect CSF are invasive and high-risk procedures, and so alternative methods of biomarker detection would be highly worthwhile. Outside of the CNS,  $\alpha$ -synuclein has been detected in the enteric nervous system (ENS) (Braak et al., 2006a), the olfactory mucosa (Duda et al., 1999), the submandibular gland (Adler et al., 2016) and skin (Michell et al., 2005; Rodríguez-Leyva et al., 2014), although the evidence for using any of these as peripheral biomarkers remains controversial (reviewed by Malek et al., 2014 and Schneider et al., 2016).

In this thesis, we focused on the neuroprotective effects of voluntary exercise to ameliorate both motor and NMS of PD. Increasingly, lifestyle factors are being investigated for their relevance in decreasing the risk of developing PD, but also in the pathogenesis of the disease itself. Large-scale epidemiological studies have repeatedly shown that exercise can protect against the possibility of developing PD (Sasco et al., 1992; Shih et al., 2016; Yang et al., 2015). Moreover, acculumating evidence demonstrates that exercise can also alleviate both motor and NMS of PD (Cusso et al., 2016; LaHue et al., 2016). In this thesis, we showed that voluntary exercise ameliorated hippocampal-associated learning and memory tasks, and that this was likely mediated by modulation of adult hippocampal neurogenesis. The beneficial effects of exercise are thought to be mediated by a wide range of mechanisms, including enhanced hippocampal neurogenesis (reviewed by Ma et al., 2017), attenuation of neuroinflammation (reviewed by Ryan and Nolan, 2016), enhancement of antioxidant species (reviewed by Boccatonda et al., 2016 and de Sousa et al., 2017) and upregulation of the expression of neurotrophic factors (reviewed by Dinoff et al., 2016). Although neurotrophic factors such as GDNF and NRTN have shown some promising results in clinical trials (reviewed by Olanow et al., 2015), data from animal studies demonstrates that the trophic effects of GDNF are blocked by  $\alpha$ -synuclein-induced downregulation of the transciption factor Nurr1 and it's downstream receptor, Ret (M. Decressac et al., 2012). Given that in this thesis we show that exercise can ameliorate nigral degeneration as well as motor function in the AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein model, further

investigation into alternative mechanisms of exercise-induced neuroprotection could provide new insight into novel downstream signalling pathways.

## 7.1 Final conclusions

In summary, this thesis demonstrates that the AAV-α-synuclein model is a reproducible and robust model of PD that can replicate both the motor symptoms and some of the primary NMS associated with the disease. Moreover, the model can be used to investigate potential therapeutic interventions such as voluntary exercise. There are currently no licensed medical therapies that alter the progression of the disease, and promising data from animal studies investigating neurotrophic factors and cell-based therapies did not translate to human clinical trials. Thus, an animal model that can replicate the primary features of PD could be used to screen potential drug compounds, contribute to knowledge needed to interrogate signalling mechanisms and enhance the translational impact of novel therapeutic compounds and interventions.

Chapter 8

## 8.0 Future perspectives

This thesis has demonstrated that the AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein rat model is a consistent and reliable animal model of PD that can be used to reproduce some of the NMS associated with the disease. Moreover, we show that overexpression of AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein is a viable method to investigate potential therapeutic interventions such as voluntary exercise. These findings represent significant contributions to the present understanding of the neuroprotective effects of exercise, and give an insight into the cellular mechanisms behind these effects.

One of the advantages of employing animal models of PD is the ability to comprehensively investigate cellular signalling and mechanisms that would be otherwise impossible in tissue from patients with PD. The discovery that overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein can block the trophic effects of GDNF (M. Decressac et al., 2012) may go some way to explaining the inconsistent results observed in clinical trials of neurotrophic factors (Olanow et al., 2015), and highlights the critical importance of using a viable and representative animal model of PD in pre-clinical research. In this thesis, we show that despite overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein, voluntary running can significantly improve dopaminergic survival and performance on hippocampal-associated tasks, which is at least partly due to enhancing adult hippocampal neurogenesis. However, further work is required to fully elucidate the neuroprotective effects of voluntary running in this study. The neurotrophic factor GDF-5 has been shown in vitro to mediate its trophic effects through a different signalling pathway compared to other NTFs (Hegarty et al., 2013) and recently an *in vivo* study further demonstrated its

ability to protect hippocampal neurons against toxic insult (Zhao et al., 2017). However, the interplay between GDF-5 and  $\alpha$ -synuclein, and other neuropromoting agents, has yet to be investigated.

Overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein has been demonstrated to induce a robust neuro-inflammatory reaction (Alvarez-Erviti et al., 2011; Wilms et al., 2009), and the propagation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein throughout the brain may be in part due to deficits in microglial activity (Bliederhaeuser et al., 2015). Given that exercise is known to attenuate neuroinflammation (reviewed by Ryan and Nolan, 2016; Spielman et al., 2016), it is also possible that some of the neuroprotective effects seen in this thesis could be due to modulation of microglial responses, and this could be a future direction for this work.

From a more clinical perspective, there are a number of outstanding questions that remain unanswered, both specific to the relationship between  $\alpha$ -synuclein and PD, and also about PD itself. Deweerdt recently listed the four big questions about PD (Deweerdt, 2016), namely 1) how does PD begin; 2) what is the role of  $\alpha$ -synuclein in PD; 3) what is the role of the gut in PD and 4) what is the best way to divide people with the disease into subtypes.

Taken together, it is clear that for any major therapeutic advances in PD, a viable, robust and reproducible animal model is necessary to comprehensively identify molecular, cellular and behavioural contributions, which in turn will serve to optimise and enhance the translational impact of preclinical research in the area.

Chapter 9

9.0 Bibliography

- Aarsland, D., Brønnick, K., Larsen, J.P., Tysnes, O.B., Alves, G., 2009. Cognitive impairment in incident, untreated parkinson disease: The norwegian parkwest study. Neurology 72, 1121–1126. doi:10.1212/01.wnl.0000338632.00552.cb
- Aarsland, D., Kramberger, M.G., 2015. Neuropsychiatric Symptoms in Parkinson 's Disease. J. Parkinsons. Dis. 5, 659–667. doi:10.3233/JPD-150604
- Aasly, J.O., Johansen, K.K., Brønstad, G., Warø, B.J., Majbour, N.K.,
  Varghese, S., Alzahmi, F., Paleologou, K.E., Amer, D.A.M., Al-Hayani,
  A., El-Agnaf, O.M.A., 2014. Elevated levels of cerebrospinal fluid α-synuclein oligomers in healthy asymptomatic LRRK2 mutation carriers.
  Front. Aging Neurosci. 6, 1–8. doi:10.3389/fnagi.2014.00248
- Abdelmotilib, H., Maltbie, T., Delic, V., Liu, Z., Hu, X., Fraser, K.B., Moehle, M.S., Stoyka, L., Anabtawi, N., Krendelchtchikova, V., Volpicelli-Daley, L.A., West, A., 2017. α-Synuclein fibril-induced inclusion spread in rats and mice correlates with dopaminergic Neurodegeneration. Neurobiol. Dis. 105, 84–98. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2017.05.014
- Abeliovich, A., Schmitz, Y., Farin, I., Choi-lundberg, D., Ho, W., Castillo, P.E., Shinsky, N., Manuel, J., Verdugo, G., Armanini, M., Ryan, A., Hynes, M., Phillips, H., Sulzer, D., Rosenthal, A., Francisco, S., Valencia, U. De, Francisco, S.S., 2000. Mice Lacking Alpha-Synuclein Display Functional Deficits in the Nigrostriatal Dopamine System. Neuron 25, 239–252.
- Adler, C., Dugger, B., Hentz, J., Hinni, M., Lott, D., Driver-Dunckley, E., Mehta, S., Serrano, G., Sue, L., Duffy, A., Intorcia, A., Filon, J., Pullen, J., Walker, D.G., Beach, T.G., 2016. Peripheral Synucleinopathy in Early Parkinson's Disease: Submandibular Gland Needle Biopsy Findings. Mov. Disord. 31, 250–256. doi:10.1007/s10439-014-1210-6.Engineering
- Ahlskog, J.E., 2011. Pathological behaviors provoked by dopamine agonist therapy of Parkinson's disease. Physiol Behav 104, 168–172. doi:10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.04.055
- Ahlskog, J.E., 2011. Does vigorous exercise have a neuroprotective effect in Parkinson disease? Neurology 77, 288–294. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e318225ab66
- Aidi-Knani, S., Regaya, I., Amalric, M., Mourre, C., 2015. Kv4 channel blockade reduces motor and neuropsychiatric symptoms in rodent models of Parkinson's disease. Behav. Pharmacol. 26, 91–100. doi:10.1097/FBP.000000000000107
- Akbar, U., Friedman, J.H., 2015. Recognition and treatment of neuropsychiatric disturbances in Parkinson's disease. Expert Rev. Neurother. 15, 1053–65. doi:10.1586/14737175.2015.1077703
- Alberts, J.L., Phillips, M., Lowe, M.J., Frankemolle, A., Thota, A., Beall, E.B.,

Feldman, M., Ahmed, A., Ridgel, A.L., 2016. Cortical and motor responses to acute forced exercise in Parkinson's disease. Parkinsonism Relat. Disord. 24, 56–62. doi:10.1016/j.parkreldis.2016.01.015

- Aldrin-Kirk, P., Davidsson, M., Holmqvist, S., Li, J.Y., Björklund, T., 2014. Novel AAV-based rat model of forebrain synucleinopathy shows extensive pathologies and progressive loss of cholinergic interneurons. PLoS One 9. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0100869
- Altman, J., 1969. Autoradiographic and histological studies of postnatal neurogenesis. IV. Cell proliferation and migration in the anterior forebrain, with special reference to persisting neurogenesis in the olfactory bulb. J. Comp. Neurol. 137, 433–457.
- Altmann, L.J.P., Stegemöller, E., Hazamy, A.A., Wilson, J.P., Bowers, D., Okun, M.S., Hass, C.J., 2016. Aerobic Exercise Improves Mood, Cognition, and Language Function in Parkinson's Disease: Results of a Controlled Study. J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc. 1–12. doi:10.1017/S135561771600076X
- Alvarez-Erviti, L., Couch, Y., Richardson, J., Cooper, J., Wood, M., 2011. Alpha-synuclein release by neurons activates the inflammatory response in a microglial cell line. Neurosci. Res. 69, 337–342.
- Amara, A.W., Chahine, L.M., Videnovic, A., 2017. Treatment of Sleep Dysfunction in Parkinson's Disease. Curr. Treat. Options Neurol. 19, 26. doi:10.1007/s11940-017-0461-6
- Amschl, D., Neddens, J., Havas, D., Flunkert, S., Rabl, R., Römer, H.,
   Rockenstein, E., Masliah, E., Windisch, M., Hutter-Paier, B., 2013. Time course and progression of wild type α-synuclein accumulation in a transgenic mouse model. BMC Neurosci. 14, 6. doi:10.1186/1471-2202-14-6
- Anderson, J., Hubbard, B., Coghill, G., Slidders, W., 1983. The effect of advanced old age on the neurone content of the cerebral cortex.
   Observations with an automatic image analyser point counting method. J. Neurol. Sci. 58, 235–246.
- Anderson, J.P., Walker, D.E., Goldstein, J.M., De Laat, R., Banducci, K., Caccavello, R.J., Barbour, R., Huang, J., Kling, K., Lee, M., Diep, L., Keim, P.S., Shen, X., Chataway, T., Schlossmacher, M.G., Seubert, P., Schenk, D., Sinha, S., Gai, W.P., Chilcote, T.J., 2006. Phosphorylation of Ser-129 is the dominant pathological modification of α-synuclein in familial and sporadic lewy body disease. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 29739– 29752. doi:10.1074/jbc.M600933200
- Andican, G., Konukoglu, D., Bozluolcay, M., Bayülkem, K., Firtiina, S., Burcak, G., 2012. Plasma oxidative and inflammatory markers in patients with idiopathic Parkinson's disease. Acta Neurol. Belg. 112,

155-159. doi:10.1007/s13760-012-0015-3

- Ansari, A.M., Ahmed, A.K., Matsangos, A.E., Lay, F., Born, L.J., Marti, G., Harmon, J.W., Sun, Z., 2016. Cellular GFP Toxicity and Immunogenicity : Potential Confounders in in Vivo Cell Tracking Experiments. Stem Cell Rev. Reports 553–559. doi:10.1007/s12015-016-9670-8
- Appel-Cresswell, S., Vilarino-Guell, C., Encarnacion, M., Sherman, H., Yu, I., Shah, B., Weir, D., Thompson, C., Szu-Tu, C., Trinh, J., Aasly, J.O., Rajput, A., Rajput, A.H., Jon Stoessl, A., Farrer, M.J., 2013. Alphasynuclein p.H50Q, a novel pathogenic mutation for Parkinson's disease. Mov. Disord. 28, 811–813. doi:10.1002/mds.25421
- Araki, K., Yagi, N., Ikemoto, Y., Yagi, H., Choong, C., 2015. Synchrotron FTIR micro- spectroscopy for structural analysis of Lewy bodies in the brain of Parkinson 's disease patients. Nat. Publ. Gr. 1–8. doi:10.1038/srep17625
- Arnao, V., Cinturino, A., Valentino, F., Perini, V., Mastrilli, S., Bellavia, G., Savettieri, G., Realmuto, S., D'Amelio, M., 2015. In patients with Parkinson disease, autonomic symptoms are frequent and associated with other non-motor symptoms. Clin. Auton. Res. 25, 301–307. doi:10.1007/s10286-015-0306-x
- Ascherio, A., Schwarzschild, M.A., 2016. The epidemiology of Parkinson's disease: risk factors and prevention. Lancet Neurol. 15, 1257–1272. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(16)30230-7
- Athauda, D., Foltynie, T., 2015. The ongoing pursuit of neuroprotective therapies in Parkinson's disease. Nat. Rev. Neurol. 11, 25–40.
- Auning, E., Kjærvik, V.K., Selnes, P., Aarsland, D., Haram, A., Bjørnerud, A., Hessen, E., Esnaashari, A., Fladby, T., 2014. White matter integrity and cognition in Parkinson's disease: a cross-sectional study. BMJ Open 4, e003976. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2013-003976
- Aurora, R.N., Zak, R.S., Maganti, R.K., Auerbach, S.H., Casey, K.R., Chowdhuri, S., Karippot, A., Ramar, K., Kristo, D.A., Morgenthaler, T.I., Standards of Practice Committee, American Academy of Sleep Medicine, 2010. Best practice guide for the treatment of REM sleep behavior disorder (RBD). J. Clin. Sleep Med. 6, 85–95.
- Bai, J., Cheng, K., Liu, M., Li, C., 2016. Impact of α-Synuclein Initial Ensemble Structure on Fibrillation Pathways and Kinetics. J. Phys. Chem. B acs.jpcb.6b01225. doi:10.1021/acs.jpcb.6b01225
- Barbiero, J.K., Santiago, R., Tonin, F.S., Boschen, S., Da Silva, L.M., De Paula Werner, M.F., Da Cunha, C., Lima, M.M.S., Vital, M.A.B.F., 2014. PPARα agonist fenofibrate protects against the damaging effects of MPTP in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. Prog. Neuro-Psychopharmacology Biol. Psychiatry 53, 35–44. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2014.02.009

- Bardy, C., Pallotto, M., 2010. What happens to olfaction without adult neurogenesis ? Front. Neurosci. 4, 2–5. doi:10.3389/fnnes.2010.00002
- Barnum, C.J., Tansey, M.G., 2010. Modeling neuroinflammatory pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. Prog. Brain Res. 184, 113–132. doi:10.1016/S0079-6123(10)84006-3
- Barone, P., Poewe, W., Albrecht, S., Debieuvre, C., Massey, D., Rascol, O., Tolosa, E., Weintraub, D., 2010. Pramipexole for the treatment of depressive symptoms in patients with Parkinson's disease: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet Neurol 9, 573–580. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(10)70106-X
- Barone, P., Scarzella, L., Marconi, R., Antonini, A., Morgante, L., Bracco, F., Zappia, M., Musch, B., Pellecchia, M.T., Amboni, M., Schiatti, A., Carapelli, S., Pezzoli, G., Tesei, S., Epifanio, A., Gasparoli, E., Arabia, G., Papini, M.G., Battaglia, A., 2006. Pramipexole versus sertraline in the treatment of depression in Parkinson's disease: A national multicenter parallel-group randomized study. J. Neurol. 253, 601–607. doi:10.1007/s00415-006-0067-5
- Barrett, P.J., Timothy Greenamyre, J., 2015. Post-translational modification of α-synuclein in Parkinson's disease. Brain Res. 1–7. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2015.06.002
- Bartus, R.T., Herzog, C.D., Bishop, K., Ostrove, J.M., Tuszynski, M., Kordower, J.H., Gasmi, M., 2007. Issues regarding gene therapy products for Parkinson 's disease : The development of CERE-120 ( AAV-NTN ) as one reference point. Park. Relat. Disord. 13.
- Bartus, R.T., Kordower, J.H., Johnson, E.M., Brown, L., Kruegel, B.R., Chu, Y., Baumann, T.L., Lang, A.E., Olanow, C.W., Herzog, C.D., 2015. Postmortem assessment of the short and long-term effects of the trophic factor neurturin in patients with α-synucleinopathies. Neurobiol. Dis. 78, 162–171. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2015.03.023
- Bassani, T.B., Gradowski, R.W., Zaminelli, T., Barbiero, J.K., Santiago, R.M., Boschen, S.L., Da Cunha, C., Lima, M.M.S., Andreatini, R., Vital, M.A.B.F., 2014. Neuroprotective and antidepressant-like effects of melatonin in a rotenone-induced Parkinson's disease model in rats. Brain Res. 1593, 95–105. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2014.09.068
- Bekinschtein, P., Kent, B.A., Oomen, C.A., Clemenson, G.D., Gage, F.H., Saksida, L.M., Bussey, T.J., 2014. Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor Interacts with Adult-Born Immature Cells in the Dentate Gyrus During Consolidation of Overlapping Memories. Hippocampus 24, 905–911. doi:10.1002/hipo.22304
- Bekinschtein, P., Kent, B.A., Oomen, C.A., Clemenson, G.D., Gage, F.H.,Saksida, L.M., Bussey, T.J., 2013. BDNF in the Dentate Gyrus IsRequired for Consolidation of Pattern-Separated Memories. Cell Rep.

5, 759–768. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2013.09.027

- Bekinschtein, P., Oomen, C.A., Saksida, L.M., Bussey, T.J., 2011. Effects of environmental enrichment and voluntary exercise on neurogenesis, learning and memory, and pattern separation : BDNF as a critical variable ? Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 22, 536–542. doi:10.1016/j.semcdb.2011.07.002
- Bellou, V., Belbasis, L., Tzoulaki, I., Evangelou, E., Ioannidis, J.P.A., 2016. Environmental risk factors and Parkinson's disease: An umbrella review of meta-analyses. Parkinsonism Relat. Disord. 23, 1–9.
- Bendor, J.T., Logan, T.P., Edwards, R.H., 2013. The function of α-synuclein. Neuron 79, 1044–66. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2013.09.004
- Benskey, M.J., Perez, R.G., Manfredsson, F.P., 2016. The contribution of alpha synuclein to neuronal survival and function - Implications for Parkinson's disease. J. Neurochem. 137, 331–359. doi:10.1111/jnc.13570
- Bergman, D., 2013. The endocrinology of exercise. Intern. Emerg. Med. 8, 17–21. doi:10.1007/s11739-013-0921-2
- Bergmann, O., Spalding, K.L., Frisén, J., 2015. Adult Neurogenesis in Humans. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 7, a018994. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a018994
- Betancourt, E., Wachtel, J., Michaelos, M., Haggerty, M., Conforti, J., Kritzer, M.F., 2016. The impact of biological sex and sex hormones on cognition in a rat model of early, pre-motor Parkinson's disease. Neuroscience. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2016.05.041
- Betarbet, R., Sherer, T.B., Mackenzie, G., Garcia-osuna, M., Panov, A. V, Greenamyre, J.T., 2000. Chronic systemic pesticide exposure reproduces features of Parkinson's disease. Nat. Neurosci. 3, 1301– 1306. doi:10.1038/81834
- Bisaglia, M., Mammi, S., Bubacco, L., 2009. Structural insights on physiological functions and pathological effects of alpha-synuclein. FASEB J. 23, 329–340. doi:10.1096/fj.08-119784
- Bitencourt, R.M., Guerra de Souza, A.C., Bicca, M.A., Pamplona, F.A., de Mello, N., Passos, G.F., Medeiros, R., Takahashi, R.N., Calixto, J.B., Prediger, R.D., 2017. Blockade of hippocampal bradykinin B1 receptors improves spatial learning and memory deficits in middle-aged rats. Behav. Brain Res. 316, 74–81. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2016.08.041
- Bizon, J.L., Gallagher, M., 2003. Production of new cells in the rat dentate gyrus over the lifespan: relation to cognitive decline. Eur. J. Neurosci. 18, 215–219. doi:10.1046/j.1460-9568.2003.02733.x
- Bjorklund, A., Steveni, U., 1979. Reconstruction of the nigrostriatal pathway by intracerebral nigral transplants. Brain Res. 177, 555–60.

- Blandini, F., Armentero, M.T., Martignoni, E., 2008. The 6hydroxydopamine model: News from the past. Park. Relat. Disord. 14, 124–129. doi:10.1016/j.parkreldis.2008.04.015
- Bliederhaeuser, C., Grozdanov, V., Speidel, A., Zondler, L., Ruf, W.P., Bayer, H., Kiechle, M., Feiler, M.S., Freischmidt, A., Brenner, D., Witting, A., Hengerer, B., Fandrich, M., Ludolph, A.C., Weishaupt, J.H., Gillardon, F., Danzer, K.M., 2015. Age-dependent defects of alpha-synuclein oligomer uptake in microglia and monocytes. Acta Neuropathol. 1–13. doi:10.1007/s00401-015-1504-2
- Block, M.L., Hong, J.-S., 2007. Chronic microglial activation and progressive dopaminergic neurotoxicity. Biochem. Soc. Trans. 35, 1127–1132. doi:10.1042/BST0351127
- Boccatonda, A., Tripaldi, R., Davi, G., Santilli, F., 2016. Oxidative Stress Modulation Through Habitual Physical Activity. Curr. Pharm. Des. 22, 3648–3680.
- Boeve, B.F., Silber, M.H., Ferman, T.J., 2003. Melatonin for treatment of REM sleep behavior disorder in neurologic disorders: Results in 14 patients. Sleep Med. 4, 281–284. doi:10.1016/S1389-9457(03)00072-8
- Boeve, B.F., Silber, M.H., Ferman, T.J., Lin, S.C., Benarroch, E.E., Schmeichel, A.M., Ahlskog, J.E., Caselli, R.J., Jacobson, S., Sabbagh, M., Adler, C., Woodruff, B., Beach, T.G., Iranzo, A., Gelpi, E., Santamaria, J., Tolosa, E., Singer, C., Mash, D.C., Luca, C., Arnulf, I., Duyckaerts, C., Schenck, C.H., Mahowald, M.W., Dauvilliers, Y., Graff-Radford, N.R., Wszolek, Z.K., Parisi, J.E., Dugger, B., Murray, M.E., Dickson, D.W., 2013. Clinicopathologic correlations in 172 cases of rapid eye movement sleep behavior disorder with or without a coexisting neurologic disorder. Sleep Med. 14, 754–762. doi:10.1016/j.sleep.2012.10.015
- Bohnen, N.I., Kaufer, D.I., Ivanco, L.S., Lopresti, B., Koeppe, R. a, Davis, J.G., Mathis, C. a, Moore, R.Y., DeKosky, S.T., 2003. Cortical cholinergic function is more severely affected in parkinsonian dementia than in Alzheimer disease: an in vivo positron emission tomographic study. Arch. Neurol. 60, 1745–1748. doi:10.1001/archneur.60.12.1745
- Boldrini, M., Underwood, M.D., Hen, R., Rosoklija, G.B., Dwork, A.J., Mann, J.J., Arango, V., 2009. Antidepressants increase neural progenitor cells in the human hippocampus. Neuropsychopharmacology 34, 2376–2389. doi:10.1038/npp.2009.75.Antidepressants
- Bomasang-Layno, E., Fadlon, I., Murray, A.N., Himelhoch, S., 2015. Antidepressive treatments for Parkinson's disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Parkinsonism Relat. Disord. 21, 833–42; discussion 833. doi:10.1016/j.parkreldis.2015.04.018
- Bondolfi, L., Ermini, F., Long, J.M., Ingram, D.K., Jucker, M., 2004. Impact of age and caloric restriction on neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus of

C57BL/6 mice. Neurobiol. Aging 25, 333–340. doi:10.1016/S0197-4580(03)00083-6

- Böttner, M., Zorenkov, D., Hellwig, I., Barrenschee, M., Harde, J., Fricke, T., Deuschl, G., Egberts, J., Becker, T., Fritscher-ravens, A., Arlt, A., Wedel, T., 2012. Expression pattern and localization of alpha-synuclein in the human enteric nervous system. Neurobiol. Dis. 48, 474–480. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2012.07.018
- Bousset, L., Pieri, L., Ruiz-Arlandis, G., Gath, J., Jensen, P.H., Habenstein, B., Madiona, K., Olieric, V., Böckmann, A., Meier, B.H., Melki, R., 2013.
   Structural and functional characterization of two alpha-synuclein strains. Nat. Commun. 4, 2575. doi:10.1038/ncomms3575
- Bové, J., Perier, C., 2012. Neurotoxin-based models of Parkinson's disease. Neuroscience 211, 51–76. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.10.057
- Bower, J.H., Grossardt, B.R., Maraganore, D.M., Ahlskog, J.E., Colligan, R.C., Geda, Y.E., Terry, M., Rocca, W.A., 2010. Anxious Personality Predicts an Increased Risk of Parkinson's Disease. Mov. Disord. 25, 2105–2113. doi:10.1002/mds.23230.Anxious
- Braak, H., De Vos, R.A.I., Bohl, J., Del Tredici, K., 2006a. Gastric α-synuclein immunoreactive inclusions in Meissner's and Auerbach's plexuses in cases staged for Parkinson's disease-related brain pathology. Neurosci. Lett. 396, 67–72. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2005.11.012
- Braak, H., Del Tredici, K., Rüb, U., De Vos, R.A.I., Jansen Steur, E.N.H., Braak,
  E., 2003. Staging of brain pathology related to sporadic Parkinson's disease. Neurobiol. Aging 24, 197–211. doi:10.1016/S0197-4580(02)00065-9
- Braak, H., Rüb, U., Del Tredici, K., 2006b. Cognitive decline correlates with neuropathological stage in Parkinson's disease. J. Neurol. Sci. 248, 255–258. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2006.05.011
- Braak, H., Rüb, U., Gai, W.P., Del Tredici, K., 2003. Idiopathic Parkinson's disease: Possible routes by which vulnerable neuronal types may be subject to neuroinvasion by an unknown pathogen. J. Neural Transm. 110, 517–536. doi:10.1007/s00702-002-0808-2
- Braga, R., Kouzmine, I., Canteras, N.S., Da Cunha, C., 2005. Lesion of the substantia nigra, pars compacta impairs delayed alternation in a Ymaze in rats. Exp. Neurol. 192, 134–141. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2004.11.006
- Brodacki, B., Staszewski, J., Toczyłowska, B., Kozłowska, E., Drela, N., Chalimoniuk, M., Stepien, A., 2008. Serum interleukin (IL-2, IL-10, IL-6, IL-4), TNFα, and INFγ concentrations are elevated in patients with atypical and idiopathic parkinsonism. Neurosci. Lett. 441, 158–162. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2008.06.040

- Brown, R.G., Landau, S., Hindle, J. V, Playfer, J., Samuel, M., Wilson, K.C., Hurt, C.S., Anderson, R.J., Carnell, J., Dickinson, L., Gibson, G., Schaick, R. Van, Sellwood, K., Thomas, B.A., Burn, D.J., Group, P.S., 2011.
  Depression and anxiety related subtypes in Parkinson 's disease. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. psychiatry 82, 803–810. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2010.213652
- Brundin, P., Isacson, O., Gage, F., Prochiantz, A., Bjorklund, A., 1986. The rotating 6-hydroxydopamine-lesioned mouse as a model for assessing functional effects of neuronal grafting. Brain Res. 366, 346–9.
- Brundin, P., Ma, J., Kordower, J.H., 2016. How strong is the evidence that Parkinson's disease is a prion disorder ? Curr. Opin. Neurol. doi:10.1097/WCO.00000000000349
- Brundin, P., Strecker, R., Londos, E., Bjorklund, A., 1987. Dopamine neurons grafted unilaterally to the nucleus accumbens affect drug-induced circling and locomotion. Exp. Brain Res. 69, 183–94.
- Buck, K., Landeck, N., Ulusoy, A., Majbour, N.K., El-Agnaf, O.M.A., Kirik, D., 2015. Ser129 phosphorylation of endogenous α-synuclein induced by overexpression of polo-like kinases 2 and 3 in nigral dopamine neurons is not detrimental to their survival and function. Neurobiol. Dis. 78, 100–114. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2015.03.008
- Buddhala, C., Loftin, S.K., Kuley, B.M., Cairns, N.J., Campbell, M.C., Perlmutter, J.S., Kotzbauer, P.T., 2015. Dopaminergic, serotonergic, and noradrenergic deficits in Parkinson disease. Ann. Clin. Transl. Neurol. 2, 949–959. doi:10.1002/acn3.246
- Buell, A.K., Galvagnion, C., Gaspar, R., Sparr, E., Vendruscolo, M., Knowles, T.P.J., 2014. Solution conditions determine the relative importance of nucleation and growth processes in α -synuclein aggregation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 111, 7671–7676. doi:10.1073/pnas.1315346111
- Bugalho, P., Lampreia, T., Miguel, R., Mendonça, M.D., Caetano, A.,
   Barbosa, R., 2016. Non-Motor symptoms in Portuguese Parkinson's
   Disease patients: correlation and impact on Quality of Life and
   Activities of Daily Living. Sci. Rep. 6, 32267. doi:10.1038/srep32267
- Bungeroth, M., Appenzeller, S., Regulin, A., Völker, W., Lorenzen, I., Grötzinger, J., Pendziwiat, M., Kuhlenbäumer, G., 2014. Differential aggregation properties of alpha-synuclein isoforms. Neurobiol. Aging 35, 1913–1919. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2014.02.009
- Burke, R.E., O'Malley, K., 2013. Axon degeneration in Parkinson's disease. Exp. Neurol. 246, 72–83. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2012.01.011
- Burré, J., Sharma, M., Sudhof, T., 2013a. Systematic Mutagenesis of alphasynuclein Revelas Distinct Sequence Requirements for Physiological and Pathological Activities. J. Neurosci. 32, 15227–15242. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3545-12.2012.Systematic

- Burré, J., Sharma, M., Tsetsenis, T., Buchman, V., Etherton, M.R., Südhof, T.C., 2010. α -Synuclein Promotes SNARE-Complex Assembly in vivo and in vitro. Science (80-. ). 329, 1663–1667. doi:10.1126/science.1195227
- Burré, J., Vivona, S., Diao, J., Sharma, M., Brunger, A.T., Sudhof, T.C., 2013b. Properties of Native Brain  $\alpha$  -Synuclein. Nature 498, 1–6.
- Butler, B., Sambo, D., Khoshbouei, H., 2016. Alpha-synuclein modulates dopamine neurotransmission. J. Chem. Neuroanat. 1–9. doi:10.1016/j.jchemneu.2016.06.001
- Butovsky, O., Ziv, Y., Schwartz, A., Landa, G., Talpalar, A.E., Pluchino, S., Martino, G., Schwartz, M., 2006. Microglia activated by IL-4 or IFN-γ differentially induce neurogenesis and oligodendrogenesis from adult stem/progenitor cells. Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 31, 149–160. doi:10.1016/j.mcn.2005.10.006
- Campos, F.L., Carvalho, M.M., Cristovão, A.C., Je, G., Baltazar, G., Salgado,
   A.J., Kim, Y.-S., Sousa, N., 2013. Rodent models of Parkinson's disease:
   beyond the motor symptomatology. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 7, 175.
   doi:10.3389/fnbeh.2013.00175
- Cao, S., Theodore, S., Standaert, D.G., 2010. Fcγ receptors are required for NF-κB signaling, microglial activation and dopaminergic neurodegeneration in an AAV-synuclein mouse model of Parkinson's disease. Mol. Neurodegener. 5, 42. doi:10.1186/1750-1326-5-42
- Carta, A.R., Simuni, T., 2014. Thiazolidinediones under preclinical and early clinical development for the treatment of Parkinson's disease. Expert Opin. Investig. Drugs 3784, 1–9. doi:10.1517/13543784.2015.963195
- Carvalho, M.M., Campos, F.L., Coimbra, B., Pêgo, J.M., Rodrigues, C., Lima, R., Rodrigues, A.J., Sousa, N., Salgado, A.J., 2013. Behavioral characterization of the 6-hydroxidopamine model of Parkinson's disease and pharmacological rescuing of non-motor deficits. Mol. Neurodegener. 8, 14. doi:10.1186/1750-1326-8-14
- Castro-Caldas, A., Delwaide, P., Jost, W., Merello, M., Williams, A., Lamberti, P., Aguilar, M., Del Signore, S., Cesaro, P., 2006. The Parkinson-control study: A 1-year randomize, double-blind trial comapring piribedil (150 mg/day) with bromocriptine (25 mg/day) in early combination with levodopa in Parkinson's disease. Mov. Disord. 21, 500–509. doi:10.1002/mds.20750
- Castro, A.A., Ghisoni, K., Latini, A., Quevedo, J., Tasca, C.I., Prediger, R.D.S., 2012. Lithium and valproate prevent olfactory discrimination and short-term memory (MPTP) rat model of Parkinson's disease. Behav. Brain Res. 229, 208–215. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2012.01.016
- Castro, A.A., Wiemes, B.P., Matheus, F.C., Lapa, F.R., Viola, G.G., Santos, A.R., Tasca, C.I., Prediger, R.D., 2013. Atorvastatin improves cognitive,

emotional and motor impairments induced by intranasal 1-methyl-4phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP) administration in rats, an experimental model of Parkinson's disease. Brain Res. 1513, 103–116. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2013.03.029

- Caudal, D., Alvarsson, A., Bjorklund, A., Svenningsson, P., 2015. Depressivelike phenotype induced by AAV-mediated overexpression of human αsynuclein in midbrain dopaminergic neurons. Exp. Neurol. 273, 243– 252. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2015.09.002
- Cebrian, C., Loike, J., Sulzer, D., 2015. Neuroinflammation in Parkinson's Disease Animal Models: A Cell Stress Response or a Step in Neurodegeneration? Curr. Top. Behav. Neurosci. doi:10.1007/7854
- Ceravolo, R., Pagni, C., Tognoni, G., Bonuccelli, U., 2012. The epidemiology and clinical manifestations of dysexecutive syndrome in Parkinson's disease. Front. Neurol. NOV, 1–7. doi:10.3389/fneur.2012.00159
- Chahine, L.M., Amara, A.W., Videnovic, A., 2016. A Systematic Review of the Literature on Disorders of Sleep and Wakefulness in Parkinson's Disease From 2005-2015. Sleep Med. Rev. doi:10.1016/j.smrv.2016.08.001
- Chapuis, J., Cohen, Y., He, X., Zhang, Z., Jin, S., Xu, F., Wilson, D.A., 2013.
  Lateral Entorhinal Modulation of Piriform Cortical Activity and Fine
  Odor Discrimination 33, 13449–13459. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1387-13.2013
- Chartier-Harlin, M.C., Kachergus, J., Roumier, C., Mouroux, V., Douay, X., Lincoln, S., Levecque, C., Larvor, L., Andrieux, J., Hulihan, M., Waucquier, N., Defebvre, L., Amouyel, P., Farrer, M., Destée, A., 2004. α-synuclein locus duplication as a cause of familial Parkinson's disease. Lancet 364, 1167–1169. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(04)17103-1
- Chatterjee, A., Fahn, S., 2002. Methylphenidate treats apathy in Parkinson's disease. J. Neuropsychiatry Clin. Neurosci. 14, 461–2. doi:10.1176/jnp.14.4.461
- Chaudhary, H., Stefanovic, A.N.D., Subramaniam, V., Claessens, M.M.A.E., 2014. Membrane interactions and fibrillization of α-synuclein play an essential role in membrane disruption. FEBS Lett. 588, 4457–4463. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2014.10.016
- Chen, H., Jacobs, E., Schwarzschild, M.A., McCullough, M.L., Calle, E.E., Thun, M.J., Ascherio, A., 2005. Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drug use and the risk for Parkinson's disease. Ann. Neurol. 58, 963–967. doi:10.1002/ana.20682
- Chen, H., O'Reilly, E.J., Schwarzschild, M.A., Ascherio, A., 2008. Peripheral inflammatory biomarkers and risk of Parkinson's disease. Am. J. Epidemiol. 167, 90–95. doi:10.1093/aje/kwm260

- Chen, L., Deltheil, T., Turle-Lorenzo, N., Liberge, M., Rosier, C., Watabe, I., Sreng, L., Amalric, M., Mourre, C., 2014. SK channel blockade reverses cognitive and motor deficits induced by nigrostriatal dopamine lesions in rats. Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol. 17, 1295–1306. doi:10.1017/S1461145714000236
- Chen, L., Liu, J., Zhang, Q.J., Feng, J.J., Gui, Z.H., Ali, U., Wang, Y., Fan, L.L., Hou, C., Wang, T., 2011. Alterations of emotion, cognition and firing activity of the basolateral nucleus of the amygdala after partial bilateral lesions of the nigrostriatal pathway in rats. Brain Res. Bull. 85, 329–338. doi:10.1016/j.brainresbull.2011.05.009
- Chen, S.W., Drakulic, S., Deas, E., Ouberai, M., Aprile, F.A., Arranz, R., Ness, S., Roodveldt, C., Guilliams, T., De-Genst, E.J., Klenerman, D., Wood, N.W., Knowles, T.P.J., Alfonso, C., Rivas, G., Abramov, A.Y., Valpuesta, J.M., Dobson, C.M., Cremades, N., 2015. Structural characterization of toxic oligomers that are kinetically trapped during α-synuclein fibril formation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 112, E1994-2003. doi:10.1073/pnas.1421204112
- Chesnokova, V., Pechnick, R.N., Wawrowsky, K., 2016. Chronic peripheral inflammation, hippocampal neurogenesis, and behavior. Brain. Behav. Immun. 58, 1–8. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2016.01.017
- Cho, H.-S., Shin, M.-S., Song, W., Jun, T.-W., Lim, B.-V., Kim, Y.-P., Kim, C.-J., 2013. Treadmill exercise alleviates short-term memory impairment in 6-hydroxydopamine-induced Parkinson's rats. J. Exerc. Rehabil. 9, 354–61. doi:10.12965/jer.130048
- Choe, M.-A., Koo, B.-S., An, G.J., Jeon, S., 2012. Effects of Treadmill Exercise on the Recovery of Dopaminergic Neuron Loss and Muscle Atrophy in the 6-OHDA Lesioned Parkinson's Disease Rat Model. Korean J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 16, 305–12. doi:10.4196/kjpp.2012.16.5.305
- Christiansen, J.R., Olesen, M.N., Romero-Ramos, M., Sanchez-Guajardo, V., 2016. α-Synuclein vaccination modulates regulatory T cell expansion and activation state resulting in a distinct microglia activation pattern in absence of brain pathology. Manuscr. Prep. 1–19. doi:10.1186/s12974-016-0532-8
- Chung, C.Y., Koprich, J., Siddiqi, H., Isacson, O., 2009. Dynamic Changes in Presynaptic and Axonal Transport Proteins Combined with Striatal Neuroinflammation Precede Dopaminergic Neuronal Loss in a Rat Model of AAV α-Synucleinopathy. J. Neurosci. 29, 3365–3373. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5427-08.2009.Dynamic
- Chung, H., Cesari, M., Anton, S., Marzetti, E., Giovannini, S., Seo, A.Y.,
  Carter, C., Yu, B.P., Leeuwenburgh, C., 2009. Molecular Inflammation:
  Underpinnings of Aging and Age- related Diseases. Ageing Res. Rev. 8, 18–30. doi:10.1016/j.arr.2008.07.002.Molecular

- Chung, T.H., Deane, K.H.O., Ghazi-Noori, S., Rickards, H., Clarke, C.E., 2003. Systematic review of antidepressant therapies in Parkinson's disease. Park. Relat. Disord. 10, 59–65. doi:10.1016/S1353-8020(03)00108-1
- Cicchetti, F., Brownell, A.L., Williams, K., Chen, Y.I., Livni, E., Isacson, O., 2002. Neuroinflammation of the nigrostriatal pathway during progressive 6-OHDA dopamine degeneration in rats monitored by immunohistochemistry and PET imaging. Eur. J. Neurosci. 15, 991– 998. doi:10.1046/j.1460-9568.2002.01938.x
- Cicchetti, F., Drouin-Ouellet, J., Gross, R.E., 2009. Environmental toxins and Parkinson's disease: what have we learned from pesticide-induced animal models? Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 30, 475–483. doi:10.1016/j.tips.2009.06.005
- Claas, S.A., Arnett, D.K., 2016. The Role of Healthy Lifestyle in the Primordial Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease. Curr. Cardiol. Rep. 18. doi:10.1007/s11886-016-0728-7
- Clairembault, T., Kamphuis, W., Leclair-Visonneau, L., Rolli-Derkinderen, M., Coron, E., Neunlist, M., Hol, E.M., Derkinderen, P., 2014. Enteric GFAP expression and phosphorylation in Parkinson's disease. J. Neurochem. 130, 805–815. doi:10.1111/jnc.12742
- Clairembault, T., Leclair-Visonneau, L., Coron, E., Bourreille, A., Le Dily, S., Vavasseur, F., Heymann, M.-F., Neunlist, M., Derkinderen, P., 2015. Structural alterations of the intestinal epithelial barrier in Parkinson's disease. Acta Neuropathol. Commun. 3, 12. doi:10.1186/s40478-015-0196-0
- Clelland, C.D., Choi, M., Romberg, C., Jr, G.D.C., Fragniere, A., Tyers, P., 2009. A Functional Role for Adult Hippocampal Neurogenesis in Spatial Pattern Separation. Science (80-.). 325, 210–213. doi:10.1126/science.1173215.A
- Codolo, G., Plotegher, N., Pozzobon, T., Brucale, M., Tessari, I., Bubacco, L., de Bernard, M., 2013. Triggering of Inflammasome by Aggregated α-Synuclein, an Inflammatory Response in Synucleinopathies. PLoS One 8. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0055375
- Colla, E., Coune, P., Liu, Y., Pletnikova, O., Troncoso, J., Iwatsubo, T., Schenider, B., Lee, M., 2012. Endoplasmic reticulum stress is important for the manifestations of α-synucleinopathy in vivo. J. Neurosci. 32, 3306–3320. doi:10.1016/j.biotechadv.2011.08.021.Secreted
- Collett, J., Franssen, M., Meaney, A., Wade, D., Izadi, H., Tims, M., Winward, C., Bogdanovic, M., Farmer, A., Dawes, H., 2017. Phase II randomised controlled trial of a 6-month self-managed community exercise programme for people with Parkinson's disease. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 88, 204–211. doi:10.1136/jnnp-2016-314508

- Collier, T.J., Redmond, D.E., Steece-Collier, K., Lipton, J.W., Manfredsson, F.P., 2016. Is Alpha-Synuclein Loss-of-Function a Contributor to Parkinsonian Pathology? Evidence from Non-human Primates. Front. Neurosci. 10, 1–7. doi:10.3389/fnins.2016.00012
- Collins, L.M., Williams-Gray, C.H., 2016. The genetic basis of cognitive impairment and dementia in parkinson's disease. Front. Psychiatry 7, 1–10. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2016.00089
- Conde, J.R., Streit, W.J., 2006. Microglia in the aging brain. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 65, 199–203. doi:10.1097/01.jnen.0000202887.22082.63
- Constantinescu, R., Rosengren, L., Johnels, B., Zetterberg, H., Holmberg, B., 2010. Consecutive analyses of cerebrospinal fluid axonal and glial markers in Parkinson's disease and atypical parkinsonian disorders. Park. Relat. Disord. 16, 142–145. doi:10.1016/j.parkreldis.2009.07.007
- Cooney, J.W., Stacy, M., 2016. Neuropsychiatric Issues in Parkinson's Disease. Curr. Neurol. Neurosci. Rep. 16, 49. doi:10.1007/s11910-016-0647-4
- Corallo, F., De Cola, M.C., Buono, V. Lo, Di Lorenzo, G., Bramanti, P., Marino, S., 2016. Observational study of quality of life of Parkinson's patients and their caregivers. Psychogeriatrics 1–6. doi:10.1111/psyg.12196
- Courtière, A., Hardouin, J., Burle, B., Vidal, F., Turle-Lorenzo, N., Amalric, M., Hasbroucq, T., 2011. Dynamics of executive control and motor deficits in parkinsonian rats. J. Neurosci. 31, 11929–33. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2550-11.2011
- Courtière, A., Hardouin, J., Locatelli, V., Turle-Lorenzo, N., Amalric, M., Vidal, F., Hasbroucq, T., 2005. Selective effects of partial striatal 6-OHDA lesions on information processing in the rat. Eur. J. Neurosci. 21, 1973–1983. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2005.04015.x
- Covell, D.J., Robinson, J.L., Akhtar, R.S., Grossman, M., Weintraub, D., Bucklin, H.M., Pitkin, R.M., Riddle, D., Yousef, A., Trojanowski, J.Q., Lee, V.M.-Y., 2017. Novel conformation-selective alpha-synuclein antibodies raised against different in vitro fibril forms show distinct patterns of Lewy pathology in Parkinson's disease. Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol. 1–17. doi:10.1111/nan.12402
- Creer, D.J., Romberg, C., Saksida, L.M., van Praag, H., Bussey, T.J., 2010. Running enhances spatial pattern separation in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107, 2367–2372. doi:10.1073/pnas.0911725107
- Cremades, N., Cohen, S.I.A., Deas, E., Abramov, A.Y., Chen, A.Y., Orte, A., Sandal, M., Clarke, R.W., Dunne, P., Aprile, F.A., Bertoncini, C.W., Wood, N.W., Knowles, T.P.J., Dobson, C.M., Klenerman, D., 2012. Direct Observation of the Interconversion of Normal and Toxic Forms of α- -Synuclein. Cell 149, 1048–1059. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2012.03.037

- Crews, L., Mizuno, H., Desplats, P., Rockenstein, E., Adame, A., Patrick, C., Winner, B., Winkler, J., Masliah, E., 2008. α-Synuclein Alters Notch-1 Expression and Neurogenesis in Mouse Embryonic Stem Cells and in the Hippocampus of Transgenic Mice. J. Neurosci. 28, 4250–4260. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0066-08.2008
- Cruise, K.E., Bucks, R.S., Loftus, A.M., Newton, R.U., Pegoraro, R., Thomas, M.G., 2011. Exercise and Parkinson's: Benefits for cognition and quality of life. Acta Neurol. Scand. 123, 13–19. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0404.2010.01338.x
- Cusso, M.E., Donald, K.J., Khoo, T.K., 2016. The Impact of Physical Activity on Non-Motor Symptoms in Parkinson's Disease: A Systematic Review. Front. Med. 3, 35. doi:10.3389/fmed.2016.00035
- Czernecki, V., Schüpbach, M., Yaici, S., Lévy, R., Bardinet, E., Yelnik, J., Dubois, B., Agid, Y., 2008. Apathy following subthalamic stimulation in parkinson disease: A dopamine responsive symptom. Mov. Disord. 23, 964–969. doi:10.1002/mds.21949
- Czlonkowska, A., Kohutnicka, M., Kurkowska-Jastrzebska, I., Członkowski, A., 1996. Microglial reaction in MPTP (1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6tetrahydropyridine) induced Parkinson's disease mice model. Neurodegeneration 5, 137–143.
- Da Cunha, C., Gevaerd, M.S., Vital, M.A.B.F., Miyoshi, E., Andreatini, R., Silveira, R., Takahashi, R.N., Canteras, N.S., 2001. Memory disruption in rats with nigral lesions induced by MPTP: A model for early Parkinson's disease amnesia. Behav. Brain Res. 124, 9–18. doi:10.1016/S0166-4328(01)00211-X
- Damani, M.R., Zhao, L., Fontainhas, A.M., Amaral, J., Fariss, R.N., Wong, W.T., 2011. Age-related Alterations in the Dynamic Behavior of Microglia. Aging Cell 10, 263–276. doi:10.1111/j.1474-9726.2010.00660.x.Age-related
- Danzer, K.M., Haasen, D., Karow, A.R., Moussaud, S., Habeck, M., Giese, A., Kretzschmar, H., Hengerer, B., Kostka, M., 2007. Different Species of -Synuclein Oligomers Induce Calcium Influx and Seeding. J. Neurosci. 27, 9220–9232. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2617-07.2007
- Dashtipour, K., Johnson, E., Kani, C., Kani, K., Hadi, E., Ghamsary, M.,
   Pezeshkian, S., Chen, J.J., 2015. Effect of Exercise on Motor and
   Nonmotor Symptoms of Parkinson's Disease. Parkinsons. Dis. 2015, 1–
   5. doi:10.1155/2015/586378
- David, F.J., Robichaud, J. a., Leurgans, S.E., Poon, C., Kohrt, W.M., Goldman, J.G., Comella, C.L., Vaillancourt, D.E., Corcos, D.M., 2015. Exercise
   Improves Cognition in Parkinson's Disease: The PRET-PDRandomized, Clinical Trial. Mov. Disord. 0, n/a-n/a. doi:10.1002/mds.26291

Davidson, W.S., Jonas, a, Clayton, D.F., George, J.M., 1998. Stabilization of

alpha-synuclein secondary structure upon binding to synthetic membranes. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 9443–9449. doi:10.1074/jbc.273.16.9443

- Deacon, R.M.J., Rawlins, J.N.P., 2006. T-maze alternation in the rodent. Nat. Protoc. 1, 7–12. doi:10.1038/nprot.2006.2
- De Lau, L.M.L., Verbaan, D., Marinus, J., van Hilten, J.J., 2014. Survival in Parkinson's disease. Relation with motor and non-motor features. Park. Relat. Disord. 20, 613–616. doi:10.1016/j.parkreldis.2014.02.030
- de Sousa, C.V., Sales, M.M., Rosa, T.S., Lewis, J.E., de Andrade, R.V., Simões, H.G., 2017. The Antioxidant Effect of Exercise: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Sport. Med. 47, 277–293. doi:10.1007/s40279-016-0566-1
- Decressac, M., Kadkhodaei, B., Mattsson, B., Laguna, A., Perlmann, T., Bjorklund, A., 2012. α-Synuclein-Induced Down-Regulation of Nurr1 Disrupts GDNF Signaling in Nigral Dopamine Neurons. Sci. Transl. Med. 4, 163ra156-163ra156. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3004676
- Decressac, M., Mattsson, B., Lundblad, M., Weikop, P., Björklund, a, 2012. Progressive neurodegenerative and behavioural changes induced by AAV-mediated overexpression of α-synuclein in midbrain dopamine neurons. Neurobiol. Dis. 45, 939–53. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2011.12.013
- Dehay, B., Bourdenx, M., Gorry, P., Przedborski, S., Vila, M., Hunot, S., Singleton, A., Olanow, C.W., Merchant, K.M., Bezard, E., Petsko, G. a, Meissner, W.G., 2015. Targeting α-synuclein for treatment of Parkinson's disease: mechanistic and therapeutic considerations. Lancet Neurol. 4422, 1–12. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(15)00006-X
- Desplats, P., Spencer, B., Crews, L., Pathel, P., Morvinski-Friedmann, D., Kosberg, K., Roberts, S., Patrick, C., Winner, B., Winkler, J., Masliah, E., 2012. α-Synuclein induces alterations in adult neurogenesis in Parkinson disease models via p53-mediated repression of notch. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 31691–31702. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.354522
- Devos, D., Moreau, C., Maltête, D., Lefaucheur, R., Kreisler, A., Eusebio, A., Defer, G., Ouk, T., Azulay, J.-P., Krystkowiak, P., Witjas, T., Delliaux, M., Destée, A., Duhamel, A., Bordet, R., Defebvre, L., Dujardin, K., 2014. Rivastigmine in apathetic but dementia and depression-free patients with Parkinson's disease: a double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomised clinical trial. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 85, 668–74. doi:10.1136/jnnp-2013-306439

Deweerdt, S., 2016. 4 Big Questions. Nature 538, S17. doi:10.1038/538S17a

Dinoff, A., Herrmann, N., Swardfager, W., Liu, C.S., Sherman, C., Chan, S., Lanctot, K.L., 2016. The Effect of exercise training on resting concentrations of peripheral brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF): A meta-analysis. PLoS One 11, 1–21. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0163037

- Dissanayaka, N.N.W., Sellbach, A., Matheson, S., O'Sullivan, J.D., Silburn,
   P.A., Byrne, G.J., Marsh, R., Mellick, G.D., 2010. Anxiety disorders in
   Parkinson's disease: Prevalence and risk factors. Mov. Disord. 25, 838– 845. doi:10.1002/mds.22833
- Dobbs, R.J., Charlett, a, Purkiss, a G., Dobbs, S.M., Weller, C., Peterson, D.W., 1999. Association of circulating TNF-alpha and IL-6 with ageing and parkinsonism. Acta Neurol. Scand. 100, 34–41. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0404.1999.tb00721.x
- Dobkin, R.D., Tröster, A.I., Rubino, J.T., Allen, L.A., Gara, M.A., Mark, M.H., Menza, M., 2014. Neuropsychological outcomes after psychosocial intervention for depression in Parkinson's disease. J. Neuropsychiatry Clin. Neurosci. 26, 57–63. doi:10.1176/appi.neuropsych.12120381
- Domellöf, M.E., Ekman, U., Forsgren, L., Elgh, E., 2015. Cognitive function in the early phase of Parkinson's disease, a five-year follow-up. Acta Neurol. Scand. 132, 79–88. doi:10.1111/ane.12375
- Doorn, K.J., Lucassen, P.J., Boddeke, H.W., Prins, M., Berendse, H.W., Drukarch, B., van Dam, A.M., 2012. Emerging roles of microglial activation and non-motor symptoms in Parkinson's disease. Prog. Neurobiol. 98, 222–238. doi:10.1016/j.pneurobio.2012.06.005
- Doorn, K.J., Moors, T., Drukarch, B., van de Berg, W.D., Lucassen, P.J., van Dam, A.-M., 2014. Microglial phenotypes and toll-like receptor 2 in the substantia nigra and hippocampus of incidental Lewy body disease cases and Parkinson's disease patients. Acta Neuropathol. Commun. 2, 90. doi:10.1186/s40478-014-0090-1
- Dorsey, E., Constantinescu, R., Thompson, J., Biglan, K., Holloway, R., Kieburtz, K., 2007. Projected number of people with Parkinson disease in the most poplous natios, 2005 through 2030. Neurology 68, 384– 386. doi:10.1212/01.wnl.0000271777.50910.73
- Dorval, V., Fraser, P.E., 2006. Small ubiquitin-like modifier (SUMO) modification of natively unfolded proteins tau and α-synuclein. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 9919–9924. doi:10.1074/jbc.M510127200
- Dos Santos, A.C.D., Castro, M.A. V, Jose, E.A.K., Delattre, A.M., Dombrowski, P.A., Da Cunha, C., Ferraz, A.C., Lima, M.M.S., 2013. REM sleep deprivation generates cognitive and neurochemical disruptions in the intranigral rotenone model of Parkinson's disease. J. Neurosci. Res. 91, 1508–1516. doi:10.1002/jnr.23258
- Dowd, E., Monville, C., Torres, E.M., Dunnett, S.B., 2005. The Corridor Task : A simple test of lateralised response selection sensitive to unilateral dopamine deafferentation and graft-derived dopamine replacement in the striatum. Brain Res. Bull. 68, 24–30. doi:10.1016/j.brainresbull.2005.08.009

- Drapeau, E., Abrous, D.N., 2008. Stem Cell Review Series: Role of neurogenesis in age-related memory disorders. Aging Cell 7, 569–589. doi:10.1111/j.1474-9726.2008.00369.x
- Driscoll, I., Howard, S.R., Stone, J.C., Monfils, M.H., Tomanek, B., Brooks, W.M., Sutherland, R.J., 2006. The aging hippocampus: A multi-level analysis in the rat. Neuroscience 139, 1173–1185. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2006.01.040
- Drolet, R.E., Cannon, J.R., Montero, L., Greenamyre, J.T., 2009. Chronic rotenone exposure reproduces Parkinson's disease gastrointestinal neuropathology. Neurobiol. Dis. 36, 96–102. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2009.06.017
- Duchesne, C., Lungu, O., Nadeau, a., Robillard, M.E., Boré, a., Bobeuf, F., Lafontaine, a. L., Gheysen, F., Bherer, L., Doyon, J., 2015. Enhancing both motor and cognitive functioning in Parkinson's disease: Aerobic exercise as a rehabilitative intervention. Brain Cogn. 99, 68–77. doi:10.1016/j.bandc.2015.07.005
- Duda, J.E., Shah, U., Arnold, S.E., Lee, V.M., Trojanowski, J.Q., 1999. The expression of alpha-, beta-, and gamma-synucleins in olfactory mucosa from patients with and without neurodegenerative diseases. Exp. Neurol. 160, 515–22. doi:10.1006/exnr.1999.7228
- Dujardin, K., Defebvre, L., 2012. Apathy in Parkinson disease; What are the underlying mechanisms? Neurology 79, 1082–1083. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e3182698dd4
- Dujardin, K., Leentjens, A.F.G., Langlois, C., Moonen, A.J.H., Duits, A.A., Carette, A.S., Duhamel, A., 2013. The spectrum of cognitive disorders in Parkinson's disease: A data-driven approach. Mov. Disord. 28, 183– 189. doi:10.1002/mds.25311
- Dujardin, K., Moonen, A.J.H., Behal, H., Defebvre, L., Duhamel, A., Duits, A.A., Plomhause, L., Tard, C., Leentjens, A.F.G., 2015. Cognitive disorders in Parkinson's disease: Confirmation of a spectrum of severity. Park. Relat. Disord. 21, 1299–1305. doi:10.1016/j.parkreldis.2015.08.032
- Duman, C., Schlesinger, L., Russell, D., Duman, R., 2008. Voluntary Exercise Produces Antidepressant and Anxiolytic Behavioral Effects in Mice. Brain Res. 1199, 148–158. doi:10.1016/j.humov.2008.02.015.Changes
- Dutra, M.F., Jaeger, M., Ilha, J., Kalil-Gaspar, P.I., Marcuzzo, S., Achaval, M., 2012. Exercise improves motor deficits and alters striatal GFAP expression in a 6-OHDA-induced rat model of Parkinson's disease. Neurol. Sci. 33, 1137–1144. doi:10.1007/s10072-011-0925-5
- Dzamko, N., Gysbers, A., Perera, G., Bahar, A., Shankar, A., Gao, J., Fu, Y.H., Halliday, G.M., 2016. Toll-like receptor 2 is increased in neurons in Parkinson's disease brain and may contribute to alpha-synuclein

pathology. Acta Neuropathol. 1–17. doi:10.1007/s00401-016-1648-8

- Eagle, A.L., Olumolade, O.O., Otani, H., 2015. Partial dopaminergic denervation-induced impairment in stimulus discrimination acquisition in parkinsonian rats: A model for early Parkinson's disease. Neurosci. Res. 92, 71–79. doi:10.1016/j.neures.2014.11.002
- Egan, B., Zierath, J.R., 2013. Exercise metabolism and the molecular regulation of skeletal muscle adaptation. Cell Metab. 17, 162–184. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2012.12.012
- Elgh, E., Domellöf, M., Linder, J., Edström, M., Stenlund, H., Forsgren, L., 2009. Cognitive function in early Parkinson's disease: A populationbased study. Eur. J. Neurol. 16, 1278–1284. doi:10.1111/j.1468-1331.2009.02707.x
- Eliezer, D., Kutluay, E., Bussell, R., Browne, G., 2001. Conformational properties of alpha-synuclein in its free and lipid-associated states. J. Mol. Biol. 307, 1061–1073. doi:10.1006/jmbi.2001.4538
- Engelender, S., Isacson, O., 2017. The Threshold Theory for Parkinson's Disease. Trends Neurosci. 40, 4–14. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2016.10.008
- Eriksson, P.S., Perfilieva, E., Bjork-Eriksson, T., Alborn, A.M., Nordborg, C., Peterson, D.A., Gage, F.H., 1998. Neurogenesis in the adult human hippocampus. Nat Med 4, 1313–1317. doi:10.1038/3305
- Ernst, A., Frisén, J., 2015. Adult Neurogenesis in Humans- Common and Unique Traits in Mammals. PLoS Biol. 13, 1–12. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1002045
- Escanilla, O., Yuhas, C., Marzan, D., Linster, C., 2009. Dopaminergic modulation of olfactory bulb processing affects odor discrimination learning in rats. Behav. Neurosci. 123, 828–833. doi:10.1037/a0015855.Dopaminergic
- Even, C., Weintraub, D., 2012. Is depression in Parkinson's Disease (PD) a specific entity? J. Affect. Disord. 139, 103–112. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2011.07.002
- Falcone, R., Florio, T.M., Di Giacomo, E., Benedetti, E., Cristiano, L.,
  Antonosante, A., Fidoamore, A., Massimi, M., Alecci, M., Ippoliti, R.,
  Giordano, A., Cimini, A., 2014. PPARβ/δ and γ in a Rat Model of
  Parkinson's Disease: Possible Involvement in PD Symptoms. J. Cell.
  Biochem. 855, 1–26. doi:10.1002/jcb.25041
- Farmer, J., Zhao, X., Van Praag, H., Wodtke, K., Gage, F.H., Christie, B.R., 2004. Effects of voluntary exercise on synaptic plasticity and gene expression in the dentate gyrus of adult male sprague-dawley rats in vivo. Neuroscience 124, 71–79. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2003.09.029

Fasano, A., Visanji, N.P., Liu, L.W.C., Lang, A.E., Pfeiffer, R.F., 2015.

Gastrointestinal dysfunction in Parkinson's disease. Lancet Neurol. 14, 625–639. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(15)00007-1

- Favier, M., Duran, T., Carcenac, C., Drui, G., Savasta, M., Carnicella, S.,
  2014. Pramipexole reverses Parkinson's disease-related motivational deficits in rats. Mov. Disord. 29, 912–920. doi:10.1002/mds.25837
- Fearnley, J., Lees, A., 1991. Ageing and Parkinson's disease: substantia nigra regional selectivity. Brain 114, 2283–301.
- Feng, L.R., Federoff, H.J., Vicini, S., Maguire-Zeiss, K. a., 2010. α-Synuclein mediates alterations in membrane conductance: A potential role for α-synuclein oligomers in cell vulnerability. Eur. J. Neurosci. 32, 10–17. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2010.07266.x
- Fereshtenejad, S., Montplaisir, J., Pelletier, A., Gagnon, J., Berg, D.,
  Postuma, R., 2017. Validation of the MDS Research Criteria for
  Prodomal Parkinson's disease: longitudinal assessment in a REM sleep
  behaviour disorder (RBD) cohort. Mov. Disord. 0, 1–9.
  doi:10.1002/mds.26989
- Fernandez, H.H., Standaert, D.G., Hauser, R.A., Lang, A.E., Fung, V.S.C., Klostermann, F., Lew, M.F., Odin, P., Steiger, M., Yakupov, E.Z., Chouinard, S., Suchowersky, O., Dubow, J., Hall, C.M., Chatamra, K., Robieson, W.Z., Benesh, J.A., Espay, A.J., 2015. Levodopa-carbidopa intestinal gel in advanced Parkinson's disease: final 12-month, openlabel results. Mov. Disord. 30, 500–9. doi:10.1002/mds.26123
- Ferrari, C.C., Pott Godoy, M.C., Tarelli, R., Chertoff, M., Depino, A.M., Pitossi, F.J., 2006. Progressive neurodegeneration and motor disabilities induced by chronic expression of IL-1β in the substantia nigra. Neurobiol. Dis. 24, 183–193. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2006.06.013
- Ferro, M.M., Bellissimo, M.I., Anselmo-Franci, J.A., Angellucci, M.E.M., Canteras, N.S., Da Cunha, C., 2005. Comparison of bilaterally 6-OHDAand MPTP-lesioned rats as models of the early phase of Parkinson's disease: Histological, neurochemical, motor and memory alterations. J. Neurosci. Methods 148, 78–87. doi:10.1016/j.jneumeth.2005.04.005
- Fifel, K., 2016. Alterations of the circadian system in Parkinson's disease patients. Mov. Disord. 0, 1–11. doi:10.1002/mds.26865
- Fischer, A.F., Mansfield, K., 2015. Stabilization of Alpha-Synuclein Oligomers In Vitro by the Neurotransmitters , Dopamine and Norepinephrine : The Effect of Oxidized Catecholamines. Neurochem. Res. 40, 1341–1349. doi:10.1007/s11064-015-1597-y
- Fisher, B., Li, Q., Nacca, A., Salem, G., Song, J., Yip, J., Hui, J., Jakowec, M., Petzinger, G., 2013. Treadmill exercise elevates striatal dopamine D2 receptor binding potential in patients with early Parkinson's disease. Neuroreport 24, 509–514.

- Fisher, B.E., Wu, A.D., Salem, G.J., Song, J.E., Lin, J., Yip, J., Cen, S., Gordon, J., Jakowec, M., Petzinger, G., 2008. The effect of exercise training in improving motor performance and corticomotor excitability in persons with early Parkinson's Disease. Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 89, 1221–1229. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2008.01.013.The
- Flores-Cuadrado, A., Ubeda-Bañon, I., Saiz-Sanchez, D., de la Rosa-Prieto, C., Martinez-Marcos, A., 2016. Hippocampal α-synuclein and interneurons in Parkinson's disease: Data from human and mouse models. Mov. Disord. 0, n/a-n/a. doi:10.1002/mds.26586
- Flynn, M., McFarlin, B., 2006. Toll-like receptor 4: link to the antiinflammatory effects of exercise? Exerc. Sport Sci. Rev. 34, 176–181.
- Follmer, C., Coelho-cerqueira, E., Yatabe-franco, D.Y., Araujo, G.D.T., Pinheiro, A.S., Domont, G.B., Eliezer, D., 2015. Oligomerization and Membrane-binding Properties of Covalent Adducts Formed by the Interaction of \_\_\_\_-Synuclein with the Toxic Dopamine Metabolite 3, 4--Dihydroxyphenylacetaldehyde (DOPAL)\*. J. Biol. Chem. 290, 27660– 27679. doi:10.1074/jbc.M115.686584
- Foltynie, T., Brayne, C.E.G., Robbins, T.W., Barker, R.A., 2004. The cognitive ability of an incident cohort of Parkinson's patients in the UK. The CamPaIGN study. Brain 127, 550–560. doi:10.1093/brain/awh067
- Forloni, G., Artuso, V., La Vitola, P., Balducci, C., 2016. Oligomeropathies and pathogenesis of Alzheimer and Parkinson's diseases. Mov. Disord. 0, n/a-n/a. doi:10.1002/mds.26624
- Fox, M.E., Mikhailova, M.A., Bass, C.E., Takmakov, P., Gainetdinov, R.R., Budygin, E.A., Wightman, R.M., 2016. Cross-hemispheric dopamine projections have functional significance. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 113, 6985–6990. doi:10.1073/pnas.1603629113
- Franceschi, C., Campisi, J., 2014. Chronic inflammation (Inflammaging) and its potential contribution to age-associated diseases. Journals Gerontol. - Ser. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 69, S4–S9. doi:10.1093/gerona/glu057
- Freed, C., Greene, P., Breezer, R., Tsai, W., DuMouchel, W., Kao, R., Dillon,
  S., Winfield, H., Culver, S., Trojanowski, J.Q., Eidelberg, D., Fahn, S.,
  2001. TRANSPLANTATION OF EMBRYONIC DOPAMINE NEURONS FOR
  SEVERE PARKINSON'S DISEASE. N. Engl. J. Med. 344, 710–719.
- Fujiwara, H., Hasegawa, M., Dohmae, N., Kawashima, A., Masliah, E., Goldberg, M.S., Shen, J., Takio, K., Iwatsubo, T., 2002. alpha-Synuclein is phosphorylated in synucleinopathy lesions. Nat. Cell Biol. 4, 160– 164. doi:10.1038/ncb748
- Fullard, M.E., Tran, B., Xie, S.X., Toledo, J.B., Scordia, C., Linder, C., Purri, R., Weintraub, D., Duda, J.E., Chahine, L.M., Morley, J.F., 2016. Olfactory impairment predicts cognitive decline in early Parkinson's disease.

Parkinsonism Relat. Disord. 1–7. doi:10.1016/j.parkreldis.2016.02.013

- Fuss, J., Ben Abdallah, N., Hensley, F., Weber, K.-J., Hellweg, R., Gass, P., 2010. Deletion of running-induced hippocampal neurogenesis by irradiation prevents development of an anxious phenotype in mice. PLoS One 5, 1–9. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0012769
- Fuss, J., Ben Abdallah, N.M.B., Vogt, M.A., Touma, C., Pacifici, P.G., Palme, R., Witzemann, V., Hellweg, R., Gass, P., 2010. Voluntary exercise induces anxiety-like behavior in adult C57BL/6J mice correlating with hippocampal neurogenesis. Hippocampus 20, 364–376. doi:10.1002/hipo.20634
- Gage, F.H., 2012. Mammalian Neural Stem Cells. Science (80-. ). 287, 1433– 1438. doi:10.1126/science.287.5457.1433
- Gallagher, D.A., Schrag, A., 2012. Psychosis, apathy, depression and anxiety in Parkinson's disease. Neurobiol. Dis. 46, 581–589. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2011.12.041
- Gallegos, S., Pacheco, C., Peters, C., Opazo, C.M., Aguayo, L.G., 2015. Features of alpha-synuclein that could explain the progression and irreversibility of Parkinson's disease. Front. Neurosci. 9, 1–11. doi:10.3389/fnins.2015.00059
- Games, D., Valera, E., Spencer, B., Rockenstein, E., Mante, M., Adame, A., Patrick, C., Ubhi, K., Nuber, S., Sacayon, P., Zago, W., Seubert, P., Barbour, R., Schenk, D., Masliah, E., 2014. Reducing C-Terminal-Truncated Alpha-Synuclein by Immunotherapy Attenuates Neurodegeneration and Propagation in Parkinson's Disease-Like Models. J. Neurosci. 34, 9441–9454. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5314-13.2014
- Ganapathy, K., Datta, I., Sowmithra, S., Joshi, P., Bhonde, R., 2016.
   Influence of 6-Hydroxydopamine Toxicity on α-Synuclein
   Phosphorylation, Resting Vesicle Expression and Vesicular Dopamine
   Release. J. Cell. Biochem. doi:10.1002/jcb.25570
- Gao, X., Chen, H., Schwarzschild, M.A., Ascherio, A., 2011. Use of ibuprofen and risk of Parkinson's disease. Neurology 76, 863–869. doi:10.1212/01.wnl.0000271883.45010.8a
- Gao, X., Simon, K.C., Schwarzschild, M.A., Ascherio, A., 2012. Prospective study of statin use and risk of Parkinson disease. Arch. Neurol. 69, 380–4. doi:10.1001/archneurol.2011.1060
- García-García, F., Ponce, S., Brown, R., Cussen, V., Krueger, J.M., 2005. Sleep disturbances in the rotenone animal model of Parkinson disease. Brain Res. 1042, 160–168. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2005.02.036
- Garrido Zinn, C., Clairis, N., Silva Cavalcante, L.E., Furini, C.R.G., de Carvalho Myskiw, J., Izquierdo, I., 2016. Major neurotransmitter systems in

dorsal hippocampus and basolateral amygdala control social recognition memory. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 113, E4914–E4919. doi:10.1073/pnas.1609883113

- Gaugler, M.N., Genc, O., Bobela, W., Mohanna, S., Ardah, M.T., El-Agnaf, O.M., Cantoni, M., Bensadoun, J.-C., Schneggenburger, R., Knott, G.W., Aebischer, P., Schneider, B.L., 2012. Nigrostriatal overabundance of α-synuclein leads to decreased vesicle density and deficits in dopamine release that correlate with reduced motor activity. Acta Neuropathol. 123, 653–69. doi:10.1007/s00401-012-0963-y
- Gerhard, A., Pavese, N., Hotton, G., Turkheimer, F., Es, M., Hammers, A., Eggert, K., Oertel, W., Banati, R.B., Brooks, D.J., 2006. In vivo imaging of microglial activation with [11C](R)-PK11195 PET in idiopathic Parkinson's disease. Neurobiol. Dis. 21, 404–412. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2005.08.002
- Gevaerd, M., Miyoshi, E., Silveira, R., Canteras, N.S., Takahashi, R.N., Da Cunha, C., 2001. L-Dopa restores striatal dopamine level but fails to reverse MPTP-induced memory deficits in rats. Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol. 4, 361–70. doi:doi:10.1017/S1461145701002619
- Gevaerd, M.S., Takahashi, R.N., Silveira, R., Da Cunha, C., 2001. Caffeine reverses the memory disruption induced by intra-nigral MPTPinjection in rats. Brain Res. Bull. 55, 101–106. doi:10.1016/S0361-9230(01)00501-9
- Ghazi-noori, S., Chung, T.H., Deane, K.H.O., Rickards, H., Clarke, C.E., 2003. Therapies for Depression in Parkinson 's Disease (Review). Cochrane database Syst. Rev. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD003465.www.cochranelibrary.com
- Gibbons, T., Pence, B., Petr, G., Ossrya, J., Mach, H., Battacharya, T., Perez, S., Martin, S., McCusker, R., Kelley, K., Rhodes, J., Johnson, R., Woods, J., 2014. Voluntary wheel running, but not a diet containing (-)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate and β-alanine, improves learning, memory and hippocampal neurogenesis in aged mice. Behav. Brain Res. 272, 131–140. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2014.05.049.Voluntary
- Glascher, J., Adolphs, R., Damasio, H., Bechara, a., Rudrauf, D., Calamia, M., Paul, L.K., Tranel, D., 2012. Lesion mapping of cognitive control and value-based decision making in the prefrontal cortex. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 109, 14681–14686. doi:10.1073/pnas.1206608109
- Gleeson, M., Bishop, N.C., Stensel, D.J., Lindley, M.R., Mastana, S.S.,
   Nimmo, M.A., 2011. The anti-inflammatory effects of exercise:
   mechanisms and implications for the prevention and treatment of
   disease. Nat. Rev. 11, 607–615. doi:10.1038/nri3041; 10.1038/nri3041

Gleeson, M., McFarlin, B., Flynn, M., 2006. Exercise and toll-like receptors. Exerc. Immunol. Rev. 12, 34–53.

- Godefroy, O., Azouvi, P., Robert, P., Roussel, M., Legall, D., Meulemans, T., 2010. Dysexecutive syndrome: Diagnostic criteria and validation study. Ann. Neurol. 68, 855–864. doi:10.1002/ana.22117
- Goes, A.T.R., Souza, L.C., Filho, C.B., Del Fabbro, L., De Gomes, M.G., Boeira, S.P., Jesse, C.R., 2014. Neuroprotective effects of swimming training in a mouse model of Parkinson's disease induced by 6hydroxydopamine. Neuroscience 256, 61–71. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2013.09.042
- Goetz, C., Tanner, C., Klawans, H., 1984. Bupropion in Parkinson's disease. Neurology 34, 1092–1094.
- Goldman, J., Postuma, R.B., 2014. Premotor and non-motor features of Parkinson's disease. Curr. Opin. Neurol. 27, 434–441. doi:10.1016/j.biotechadv.2011.08.021.Secreted
- Goncalves, J.T., Schafer, S.T., Gage, F.H., 2016. Adult Neurogenesis in the Hippocampus: From Stem Cells to Behavior. Cell 167, 897–914. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2016.10.021
- Gonzalez, M.C., Villar, M.E., Igaz, L.M., Viola, H., Medina, J.H., 2015. Dorsal medial prefrontal cortex contributes to conditioned taste aversion memory consolidation and retrieval. Neurobiol. Learn. Mem. 126, 1–6. doi:10.1016/j.nlm.2015.10.007
- Gorbatyuk, O.S., Li, S., Nash, K., Gorbatyuk, M., Lewin, A.S., Sullivan, L.F., Mandel, R.J., Chen, W., Meyers, C., Manfredsson, F.P., Muzyczka, N., 2010. In vivo RNAi-mediated alpha-synuclein silencing induces nigrostriatal degeneration. Mol. Ther. 18, 1450–1457. doi:10.1038/mt.2010.115
- Gorbatyuk, O.S., Li, S., Sullivan, L.F., Chen, W., Kondrikova, G., Manfredsson, F.P., Mandel, R.J., Muzyczka, N., 2008. The phosphorylation state of Ser-129 in human alpha-synuclein determines neurodegeneration in a rat model of Parkinson disease. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105, 763–768. doi:10.1073/pnas.0711053105
- Gorlé, N., Van Cauwenberghe, C., Libert, C., Vandenbroucke, R.E., 2016. The effect of aging on brain barriers and the consequences for Alzheimer's disease development. Mamm. Genome 27, 407–420. doi:10.1007/s00335-016-9637-8
- Gould, E., Beylin, A., Tanapat, P., Reeves, A., Shors, T., 1999. Learning enhances adult neurogenesis in the hippocampal formation. Nat. Neurosci. 2, 260–265.
- Gould, E., Tanapat, P., McEwen, B.S., Flügge, G., Fuchs, E., 1998.

Proliferation of granule cell precursors in the dentate gyrus of adult monkeys is diminished by stress. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 95, 3168–3171. doi:10.1073/pnas.95.6.3168

- Gourevitch, B., Kay, L., Martin, C., 2010. Directional Coupling From the Olfactory Bulb to the Hippocampus During a Go/No-Go Odor Discrimination Task. J. Neurophysiol. 103.
- Grabert, K., Michoel, T., Karavolos, M.H., Clohisey, S., Baillie, J.K., Stevens, M.P., Freeman, T.C., Summers, K.M., McColl, B.W., 2016. Microglial brain region-dependent diversity and selective regional sensitivities to aging. Nat. Neurosci. 19, 504–516. doi:10.1038/nn.4222
- Grace, J., Amick, M.M., Friedman, J.H., 2009. A double-blind comparison of galantamine hydrobromide ER and placebo in Parkinson disease. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 80, 18–23. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2008.144048
- Gray, M.T., Munoz, D.G., Gray, D.A., Schlossmacher, M.G., Woulfe, J.M., 2014. Alpha-synuclein in the appendiceal mucosa of neurologically intact subjects. Mov. Disord. 29, 991–998. doi:10.1002/mds.25779
- Green, J., McDonald, W.M., Vitek, J.L., Evatt, M., Freeman, A., Haber, M., Bakay, R.A., Triche, S., Sirockman, B., DeLong, M.R., 2002. Cognitive impairments in advanced PD without dementia. Neurology 59, 1320– 1324. doi:10.1212/01.WNL.0000031426.21683.E2
- Greene, J.G., Noorian, A.R., Srinivasan, S., 2009. Delayed gastric emptying and enteric nervous system dysfunction in the rotenone model of Parkinson's disease. Exp. Neurol. 218, 154–161. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2009.04.023
- Greenwood, B.N., Foley, T.E., Day, H.E.W., Campisi, J., Hammack, S.H., Campeau, S., Maier, S.F., Fleshner, M., 2003. Freewheel running prevents learned helplessness/behavioral depression: role of dorsal raphe serotonergic neurons. J. Neurosci. 23, 2889–2898. doi:23/7/2889 [pii]
- Groot, C., Hooghiemstra, A., Raijmakers, P., Van Berckel, B., Scheltens, P., Scherder, E., Van der Flier, W., Ossenkoppele, R., 2016. The effect of physical activity on cognitive function in patients with dementia: A meta-analysis of randomized control trials. Ageing Res. Rev. 25, 13– 23.
- Grün, D., Pieri, V., Vaillant, M., Diederich, N.J., 2016. Contributory Factors to Caregiver Burden in Parkinson Disease. J. Am. Med. Dir. Assoc. 17, 626–632. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2016.03.004
- Gully, J.C., Sergeyev, V.G., Bhootada, Y., Mendez-Gomez, H., Meyers, C.A., Zolotukhin, S., Gorbatyuk, M.S., Gorbatyuk, O.S., 2016. Up-regulation of activating transcription factor 4 induces severe loss of dopamine nigral neurons in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. Neurosci. Lett.

627, 36-41. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2016.05.039

- Guo, J.L., Covell, D.J., Daniels, J.P., Iba, M., Stieber, A., Riddle, D.M., Kwong, L.K., Xu, Y., Trojanowski, J.Q., Lee, M.Y., 2013. Distinct α-Synuclein Strains Differentially Promote Tau Inclusions in Neurons. Cell 154, 1–24. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.05.057.Distinct
- Gustot, A., Gallea, J., Sarroukh, R., Celej, M., Ruysschaert, J., Raussens, V., 2015. Amyloid fibrils are the molecular trigger of inflammation in Parkinson's disease. Biochem. J. 471, 323–333.
- Haberman, R.P., Koh, M.T., Gallagher, M., 2017. Heightened Cortical Excitability in Aged Rodents with Memory Impairment. Neurobiol. Aging 1–8. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2016.12.021
- Hall, H., Jewett, M., Landeck, N., Nilsson, N., Schagerlöf, U., Leanza, G., Kirik, D., 2013. Characterization of Cognitive Deficits in Rats Overexpressing Human Alpha-Synuclein in the Ventral Tegmental Area and Medial Septum Using Recombinant Adeno-Associated Viral Vectors. PLoS One 8. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0064844
- Hanagasi, H.A., Gurvit, H., Unsalan, P., Horozoglu, H., Tuncer, N., Feyzioglu, A., Gunal, D.I., Yener, G.G., Cakmur, R., Sahin, H.A., Emre, M., 2011. The effects of rasagiline on cognitive deficits in Parkinson's disease patients without dementia: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicenter study. Mov. Disord. 26, 1851–1858. doi:10.1002/mds.23738
- Hanagasi, H.A., Tufekcioglu, Z., Emre, M., 2016. Dementia in Parkinson's disease. J. Neurol. Sci. 248, 1–2. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2017.01.012
- Hansson, O., Hall, S., Öhrfelt, A., Zetterberg, H., Blennow, K., Minthon, L., Nägga, K., Londos, E., Varghese, S., Majbour, N.K., Al-Hayani, A., El-Agnaf, O.M., 2014. Levels of cerebrospinal fluid α-synuclein oligomers are increased in Parkinson's disease with dementia and dementia with Lewy bodies compared to Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers. Res. Ther. 6, 25. doi:10.1186/alzrt255
- Harry, G., 2013. Microglia During Development and Aging. Pharmacol. Ther. 139, 313–326. doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2013.04.013.Microglia
- Hasegawa, M., Fujiwara, H., Nonaka, T., Wakabayashi, K., Takahashi, H., Lee, V.M.Y., Trojanowski, J.Q., Mann, D., Iwatsubo, T., 2002.
  Phosphorylated α-synuclein is ubiquitinated in α-synucleinopathy lesions. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 49071–49076. doi:10.1074/jbc.M208046200
- Hauser, R.A., Heritier, S., Rowse, G.J., Hewitt, L.A., Isaacson, S.H., 2016.
  Droxidopa and Reduced Falls in a Trial of Parkinson Disease Patients
  With Neurogenic Orthostatic Hypotension. Clin. Neuropharmacol. 0, 1–7. doi:10.1097/WNF.00000000000168

- Hawkes, C., Shaphard, B., Daniel, S., 1997. Olfactory dysfunction in Parkinson's disease. J. Neurol. neurosugery psychiatry 62, 436–446.
- Healthcare and Products Regulatory Agency, n.d. Summary of Product Characteristics, Duodopa.
- Hegarty, S. V., Sullivan, A.M., O'Keeffe, G.W., 2014. Roles for the TGF- β Superfamily in the Development and Survival of Midbrain
   Dopaminergic Neurons. Mol. Neurobiol. 50, 559–573. doi:10.1007/s12035-014-8639-3
- Hegarty, S. V., Sullivan, A.M., O'Keeffe, G.W., 2013. BMP2 and GDF5 induce neuronal differentiation through a Smad dependant pathway in a model of human midbrain dopaminergic neurons. Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 56, 263–271. doi:10.1016/j.mcn.2013.06.006
- Heine, V.M., Maslam, S., Joëls, M., Lucassen, P.J., 2004. Prominent decline of newborn cell proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis in the aging dentate gyrus, in absence of an age-related hypothalamuspituitary-adrenal axis activation. Neurobiol. Aging 25, 361–375. doi:10.1016/S0197-4580(03)00090-3
- Hellstrand, E., Nowacka, A., Topgaard, D., Linse, S., Sparr, E., 2013. Membrane Lipid Co-Aggregation with α--Synuclein Fibrils. PLoS One 8. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0077235
- Hendricks, S., Ojuka, E., Kellaway, L.A., Mabandla, M. V., Russell, V.A., 2012.
  Effect of maternal separation on mitochondrial function and role of exercise in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. Metab. Brain Dis. 27, 387–392. doi:10.1007/s11011-012-9305-y
- Hill, A.S., Sahay, A., Hen, R., 2015. Increasing Adult Hippocampal Neurogenesis is Sufficient to Reduce Anxiety and Depression-Like Behaviors. Neuropsychopharmacology 1–11. doi:10.1038/npp.2015.85
- Hilton, D., Stephens, M., Kirk, L., Edwards, P., Potter, R., Zajicek, J., Broughton, E., Hagan, H., Carroll, C., 2014. Accumulation of αsynuclein in the bowel of patients in the pre-clinical phase of Parkinson's disease. Acta Neuropathol. 127, 235–241. doi:10.1007/s00401-013-1214-6
- Hirsch, M.A., Iyer, S.S., Sanjak, M., 2016. Exercise-induced neuroplasticity in human Parkinson's disease: What is the evidence telling us? Park.
   Relat. Disord. 22, S78–S81. doi:10.1016/j.parkreldis.2015.09.030
- Ho, S.C., Hsu, C.C., Pawlak, C.R., Tikhonova, M.A., Lai, T.J., Amstislavskaya, T.G., Ho, Y.J., 2014. Effects of ceftriaxone on the behavioral and neuronal changes in an MPTP-induced Parkinson's disease rat model. Behav. Brain Res. 268, 177–184. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2014.04.022

Hoban, D.B., Connaughton, E., Connaughton, C., Hogan, G., Thornton, C.,
Mulcahy, P., Moloney, T.C., Dowd, E., 2013. Further characterisation of the LPS model of Parkinson's disease: A comparison of intra-nigral and intra-striatal lipopolysaccharide administration on motor function, microgliosis and nigrostriatal neurodegeneration in the rat. Brain. Behav. Immun. 27, 91–100. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2012.10.001

- Hoeijmakers, L., Heinen, Y., van Dam, A.-M., Lucassen, P.J., Korosi, A., 2016. Microglial Priming and Alzheimer's Disease: A Possible Role for (Early) Immune Challenges and Epigenetics? Front. Hum. Neurosci. 10, 398. doi:10.3389/fnhum.2016.00398
- Hoenen, C., Gustin, A., Birck, C., Kirchmeyer, M., Beaume, N., Felten, P., Grandbarbe, L., Heuschling, P., Heurtaux, T., 2016. Alpha-synuclein proteins promote pro-inflammatory cascades in microglia: Stronger effects of the a53t mutant. PLoS One 11, 1–24. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0162717
- Hoffmann, A., Ettle, B., Bruno, A., Kulinich, A., Hoffmann, A.C., von Wittgenstein, J., Winkler, J., Xiang, W., Schlachetzki, J.C.M., 2016.
  Alpha-synuclein activates BV2 microglia dependent on its aggregation state. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 479, 881–886. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.09.109
- Höglinger, G.U., Fischer, D.A., Carrión, O.A., Djufri, M., Windolph, A., Keber, U., Borta, A., Ries, V., Schwarting, R.K.W., Scheller, D., Oertel, W.H., 2015. A new dopaminergic nigro olfactory projection. Acta Neuropathol. 130, 333–348. doi:10.1007/s00401-015-1451-y
- Hoglinger, G.U., Rizk, P., Muriel, M.P., Duyckaerts, C., Oertel, W.H., Caille,
  I., Hirsch, E.C., 2004. Dopamine depletion impairs precursor cell proliferation in Parkinson disease. Nat. Neurosci. 7, 726–735. doi:10.1038/nn1265
- Holmqvist, S., Chutna, O., Bousset, L., Li, W., Björklund, T., Laurent, Z.W., Li, R.M.J., 2014. Direct evidence of Parkinson pathology spread from the gastrointestinal tract to the brain in rats. doi:10.1007/s00401-014-1343-6
- Howells, F.M., Russell, V.A., Mabandla, M. V., Kellaway, L.A., 2005. Stress reduces the neuroprotective effect of exercise in a rat model for Parkinson's disease. Behav. Brain Res. 165, 210–220. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2005.06.044
- Hsieh, M.H., Ho, S.C., Yeh, K.Y., Pawlak, C.R., Chang, H.M., Ho, Y.J., Lai, T.J., Wu, F.Y., 2012. Blockade of metabotropic glutamate receptors inhibits cognition and neurodegeneration in an MPTP-induced Parkinson's disease rat model. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 102, 64–71. doi:10.1016/j.pbb.2012.03.022
- Hsieh, T.H., Chen, J.J.J., Chen, L.H., Chiang, P.T., Lee, H.Y., 2011. Timecourse gait analysis of hemiparkinsonian rats following 6-

hydroxydopamine lesion. Behav. Brain Res. 222, 1–9. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2011.03.031

- Huang, C.K., Chang, Y.T., Amstislavskaya, T.G., Tikhonova, M.A., Lin, C.L.,
   Hung, C.S., Lai, T.J., Ho, Y.J., 2015. Synergistic effects of ceftriaxone
   and erythropoietin on neuronal and behavioral deficits in an MPTP induced animal model of Parkinson's disease dementia. Behav. Brain
   Res. 294, 198–207. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2015.08.011
- Hunot, S., Boissière, F., Faucheux, B., Brugg, B., Mouatt-Prigent, A., Agid, Y., Hirsch, E.C., 1996. Nitric oxide synthase and neuronal vulnerability in Parkinson's disease. Neuroscience 72, 355–363. doi:10.1016/0306-4522(95)00578-1
- Hutson, C.B., Lazo, C.R., Mortazavi, F., Giza, C.C., Hovda, D., Chesselet, M.F., 2011. Traumatic brain injury in adult rats causes progressive nigrostriatal dopaminergic cell loss and enhanced vulnerability to the pesticide paraquat. J. Neurotrauma 28, 1783–801. doi:10.1089/neu.2010.1723
- Iannaccone, S., Cerami, C., Alessio, M., Garibotto, V., Panzacchi, A., Olivieri, S., Gelsomino, G., Moresco, R.M., Perani, D., 2013. In vivo microglia activation in very early dementia with Lewy bodies, comparison with Parkinson's disease. Park. Relat. Disord. 19, 47–52. doi:10.1016/j.parkreldis.2012.07.002
- Inden, M., Kitamura, Y., Takeuchi, H., Yanagida, T., Takata, K., Kobayashi, Y., Taniguchi, T., Yoshimoto, K., Kaneko, M., Okuma, Y., Taira, T., Ariga, H., Shimohama, S., 2007. Neurodegeneration of mouse nigrostriatal dopaminergic system induced by repeated oral administration of rotenone is prevented by 4-phenylbutyrate, a chemical chaperone. J. Neurochem. 101, 1491–1504. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2006.04440.x
- Inskip, M., Mavros, Y., Sachdev, P.S., Fiatarone Singh, M.A., 2016. Exercise for individuals with Lewy body Dementia: A systematic review. PLoS One 11, 1–18. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0156520
- Inui, T., Inui-Yamamoto, C., Yoshioka, Y., Ohzawa, I., Shimura, T., 2013. Activation of efferents from the basolateral amygdala during the retrieval of conditioned taste aversion. Neurobiol. Learn. Mem. 106, 210–220. doi:10.1016/j.nlm.2013.09.003
- Iranzo, A., Fernández-Arcos, A., Tolosa, E., Serradell, M., Molinuevo, J.L.,
  Valldeoriola, F., Gelpi, E., Vilaseca, I., Sánchez-Valle, R., Lladó, A., Gaig,
  C., Santamaría, J., 2014. Neurodegenerative disorder risk in idiopathic
  REM sleep behavior disorder: Study in 174 patients. PLoS One 9.
  doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0089741
- Itoi, K., Sugimoto, N., 2010. The brainstem noradrenergic systems in stress, anxiety and depression. J. Neuroendocrinol. 22, 355–361. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2826.2010.01988.x

- Izawa, Y., Tateno, H., Kameda, H., Hirakawa, K., Hato, K., Yagi, H., Hongo, K., Mizobata, T., Kawata, Y., 2012. Role of C-terminal negative charges and tyrosine residues in fibril formation of a -synuclein. Brain Behav. 2, 595–605. doi:10.1002/brb3.86
- Izumi, Y., Kondo, N., Takahashi, R., Akaike, A., Kume, T., 2016. Reduction of Immunoreactivity Against the C-Terminal Region of the Intracellular α-Synuclein by Exogenous α-Synuclein Aggregates: Possibility of Conformational Changes. J. Parkinsons. Dis. 6, 569–579.
- Jain, M.K., Bhat, R., 2014. Modulation of human α -synuclein aggregation by a combined effect of calcium and dopamine. Neurobiol. Dis. 63, 115–128. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2013.11.004
- Jain, N., Bhasne, K., Hemaswasthi, M., Mukhopadhyay, S., 2013. Structural and dynamical insights into the membrane-bound α-synuclein. PLoS One 8. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0083752
- Jang, Y., Koo, J., Kwon, I., Kang, E., Um, H., 2017. Neuroprotective effects of endurance exercise against neuroinflammation in MPTP-induced Parkinson's disease mice. Brain Res. 1655, 186–193. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2016.10.029
- Jessberger, S., Kempermann, G., 2003. Adult-born hippocampal neurons mature into activity-dependent responsiveness. Eur. J. Neurosci. 18, 2707–2712. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2003.02986.x
- Johnson, K.A., Mateo, Y., Lovinger, D.M., 2017. Metabotropic glutamate receptor 2 inhibits thalamically-driven glutamate and dopamine release in the dorsal striatum. Neuropharmacology 117, 114–123. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2017.01.038
- Johnson, M.E., Bobrovskaya, L., 2015. An update on the rotenone models of Parkinson's disease: Their ability to reproduce the features of clinical disease and model gene-environment interactions. Neurotoxicology 46, 101–116. doi:10.1016/j.neuro.2014.12.002
- Jungnickel, J., Kalve, I., Reimers, L., Nobre, A., Wesemann, M., Ratzka, A., Halfer, N., Lindemann, C., Schwabe, K., Töllner, K., Gernert, M., Grothe, C., 2011. Topology of intrastriatal dopaminergic grafts determines functional and emotional outcome in neurotoxin-lesioned rats. Behav. Brain Res. 216, 129–135. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2010.07.023
- Junn, E., Ronchetti, R.D., Quezado, M.M., Kim, S.-Y., Mouradian, M.M., 2003. Tissue transglutaminase-induced aggregation of alphasynuclein: Implications for Lewy body formation in Parkinson's disease and dementia with Lewy bodies. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 100, 2047–2052. doi:10.1073/pnas.0438021100
- Jurado, M.B., Rosselli, M., 2007. The elusive nature of executive functions: A review of our current understanding. Neuropsychol. Rev. 17, 213– 233. doi:10.1007/s11065-007-9040-z

- Kageyama, R., Imayoshi, I., Sakamoto, M., 2012. The role of neurogenesis in olfaction-dependent behaviors. Behav. Brain Res. 227, 459–463.
- Kakkar, A.K., Dahiya, N., 2015. Management of Parkinson's disease: Current and future pharmacotherapy. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 750, 74–81. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2015.01.030
- Kang, L., Janowska, M.K., Moriarty, G.M., Baum, J., 2013. Mechanistic Insight into the Relationship between N- Terminal Acetylation of α-Synuclein and Fibril Formation Rates by NMR and Fluorescence. PLoS One 8, 1–10. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0075018
- Kang, L., Moriarty, G.M., Woods, L.A., Ashcroft, A.E., Radford, S.E., Baum, J., 2012. N-terminal acetylation of a -synuclein induces increased transient helical propensity and decreased aggregation rates in the intrinsically disordered monomer. Protein Sci. 21, 911–917. doi:10.1002/pro.2088
- Kasten, M., Klein, C., 2013. The many faces of alpha-synuclein mutations. Mov. Disord. 28, 697–701. doi:10.1002/mds.25499
- Kaufmann, H., Norcliffe-Kaufmann, L., Palma, J.-A., 2015. Droxidopa in neurogenic orthostatic hypotension. Expert Rev. Cardiovasc. Ther. 13, 875–891. doi:10.1586/14779072.2015.1057504.Droxidopa
- Kefalopoulou, Z., Politis, M., Piccini, P., Mencacci, N., Bhatia, K., Jahanshahi, M., Widner, H., Rehncrona, S., Brundin, P., Björklund, A., Lindvall, O., Limousin, P., Quinn, N., Foltynie, T., 2014. Long-term clinical outcome of fetal cell transplantation for Parkinson disease: two case reports. JAMA Neurol. 71, 83–7. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2013.4749
- Kehagia, A. a., Barker, R. a., Robbins, T.W., 2012. Cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease: The dual syndrome hypothesis. Neurodegener. Dis. 11, 79–92. doi:10.1159/000341998
- Kempadoo, K.A., Mosharov, E. V, Choi, S.J., Sulzer, D., Kandel, E.R., 2016.
   Dopamine release from the locus coeruleus to the dorsal hippocampus promotes spatial learning and memory. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 113, 201616515. doi:10.1073/pnas.1616515114
- Kempermann, G., Kuhn, H.G., Gage, F.H., 1997. More hippocampal neurons in adult mice living in an enriched environment. Nature. doi:10.1038/386493a0
- Keshavarzian, A., Green, S.J., Engen, P. a., Voigt, R.M., Naqib, A., Forsyth,
  C.B., Mutlu, E., Shannon, K.M., 2015. Colonic bacterial composition in
  Parkinson's disease. Mov. Disord. 0, n/a-n/a. doi:10.1002/mds.26307
- Kiely, A.P., Asi, Y.T., Kara, E., Limousin, P., Ling, H., Lewis, P., Proukakis, C., Quinn, N., Lees, A.J., Hardy, J., Revesz, T., Houlden, H., Holton, J.L., 2013. A-synucleinopathy associated with G51D SNCA mutation: A link between Parkinson's disease and multiple system atrophy? Acta

Neuropathol. 125, 753-769. doi:10.1007/s00401-013-1096-7

- Kim, H., Jeon, B.S., Paek, S.H., 2015. Nonmotor Symptoms and Subthalamic Deep Brain Stimulation in Parkinson's Disease. Mov. Disord. 8, 83–91. doi:10.14802/jmd.15010
- Kirik, D., Annett, L.E., Burger, C., Muzyczka, N., Mandel, R.J., Björklund, A., 2003. Nigrostriatal alpha-synucleinopathy induced by viral vectormediated overexpression of human alpha-synuclein: a new primate model of Parkinson's disease. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 100, 2884– 2889. doi:10.1073/pnas.0536383100
- Kirik, D., Rosenblad, C., Björklund, A., 1998. Characterization of behavioral and neurodegenerative changes following partial lesions of the nigrostriatal dopamine system induced by intrastriatal 6hydroxydopamine in the rat. Exp. Neurol. 152, 259–77. doi:10.1006/exnr.1998.6848
- Kirik, D., Rosenblad, C., Burger, C., Lundberg, C., Johansen, T.E., Muzyczka, N., Mandel, R.J., Björklund, A., 2002. Parkinson-like neurodegeneration induced by targeted overexpression of alphasynuclein in the nigrostriatal system. J. Neurosci. 22, 2780–91. doi:20026246
- Klegeris, A., Pelech, S., Giasson, B.I., Maguire, J., Zhang, H., McGeer, E.G., McGeer, P.L., 2008. α-Synuclein activates stress signaling protein kinases in THP-1 cells and microglia. Neurobiol. Aging 29, 739–752. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2006.11.013
- Knafo, S., Barkai, E., Libersat, F., Sandi, C., Venero, C., 2005. Dynamics of olfactory learning-induced up-regulation of L1 in the piriform cortex and hippocampus. Eur. J. Neurosci. 21, 581–586. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2005.03862.x
- Knöchel, C., Oertel-Knöchel, V., O'Dwyer, L., Prvulovic, D., Alves, G.,
  Kollmann, B., Hampel, H., 2012. Cognitive and behavioural effects of physical exercise in psychiatric patients. Prog. Neurobiol. 96, 46–68. doi:10.1016/j.pneurobio.2011.11.007
- Knott, C., Stern, G., Wilkin, G.P., 2000. Inflammatory Regulators in Parkinson's Disease: iNOS, Lipocortin-1, and Cyclooxygenases-1 and 2. Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 16, 724–739. doi:10.1006/mcne.2000.0914
- Knudsen, K., Krogh, K., Østergaard, K., Borghammer, P., 2016. Constipation in parkinson's disease: Subjective symptoms, objective markers, and new perspectives. Mov. Disord. 32, 94–105. doi:10.1002/mds.26866
- Koerts, J., van Beilen, M., Tucha, O., Leenders, K.L., Brouwer, W.H., 2011. Executive functioning in daily life in Parkinson's disease: Initiative, planning and multi-task performance. PLoS One 6, 1–8. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0029254

- Kohl, Z., Ben Abdallah, N., Vogelgsang, J., Tischer, L., Deusser, J., Amato, D., Anderson, S., Muller, C.P., Riess, O., Masliah, E., Nuber, S., Winkler, J., 2016. Severely impaired hippocampal neurogenesis associates with an early serotonergic deficit in a BAC α-synuclein transgenic rat model of Parkinson's disease. Neurobiol. Dis. 85, 206–217. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2015.10.021
- Kondabolu, K., Roberts, E.A., Bucklin, M., McCarthy, M.M., Kopell, N., Han, X., 2016. Striatal cholinergic interneurons generate beta and gamma oscillations in the corticostriatal circuit and produce motor deficits. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 113, E3159–E3168. doi:10.1073/pnas.1605658113
- Koprich, J.B., Johnston, T.H., Huot, P., Reyes, M.G., Espinosa, M., Brotchie, J.M., 2011. Progressive neurodegeneration or endogenous compensation in an animal model of Parkinson's disease produced by decreasing doses of alpha-synuclein. PLoS One 6, 1–9. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0017698
- Koprich, J.B., Johnston, T.H., Reyes, M.G., Sun, X., Brotchie, J.M., 2010.
   Expression of human A53T α-synuclein in the rat substantia nigra using a novel AAV1/2 vector produces a rapidly evolving pathology with protein aggregation, dystrophic neurite architecture and nigrostriatal degeneration with potential to model the pat. Mol. Neurodegener. 5, 43. doi:10.1186/1750-1326-5-43
- Kordower, J.H., Chu, Y., Hauser, R.A., Olanow, C.W., Freeman, T.B., 2008a. Transplanted dopaminergic neurons develop PD pathologic changes: A second case report. Mov. Disord. 23, 2303–2306. doi:10.1002/mds.22369
- Kordower, J.H., Chu, Y., Hauser, R. a, Freeman, T.B., Olanow, C.W., 2008b. Lewy body-like pathology in long-term embryonic nigral transplants in Parkinson's disease. Nat. Med. 14, 504–506. doi:10.1038/nm1747
- Kosillo, P., Zhang, Y.-F., Threlfell, S., Cragg, S.J., 2016. Cortical Control of Striatal Dopamine Transmission via Striatal Cholinergic Interneurons. Cereb. Cortex 26, 4160–4169. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhw252
- Krismer, F., Pinter, B., Mueller, C., Mahlknecht, P., Nocker, M., Reiter, E., Djamshidian-Tehrani, A., Boesch, S.M., Wenning, G.K., Scherfler, C., Poewe, W., Seppi, K., 2016. Sniffing the diagnosis: Olfactory testing in neurodegenerative parkinsonism. Park. Relat Disord 35, 36–41. doi:10.1016/j.parkreldis.2016.11.010
- Kronenberg, G., Bick-Sander, A., Bunk, E., Wolf, C., Ehninger, D.,
  Kempermann, G., 2006. Physical exercise prevents age-related decline in precursor cell activity in the mouse dentate gyrus. Neurobiol. Aging 27, 1505–1513. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2005.09.016

Krüger, R., Kuhn, W., Müller, T., Woitalla, D., Graeber, M., Kösel, S.,

Przuntek, H., Epplen, J.T., Schöls, L., Riess, O., 1998. Ala30Pro mutation in the gene encoding alpha-synuclein in Parkinson's disease. Nat. Genet. 18, 106–108. doi:10.1038/ng0298-106

- Krumova, P., Meulmeester, E., Garrido, M., Tirard, M., Hsiao, H., Bossis, G., Urlaub, H., Zweckstetter, M., Kügler, S., Melchior, F., Bähr, M., Weishaupt, J.H., 2011. Sumoylation inhibits α-synuclein aggregation and toxicity. J. Cell Biol. 194, 49–60. doi:10.1083/jcb.201010117
- Kudlicka, A., Clare, L., Hindle, J. V., 2011. Executive functions in Parkinson's disease: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Mov. Disord. 26, 2305–2315. doi:10.1002/mds.23868
- Kuhn, H.G., Dickinson-Anson, H., Gage, F.H., 1996. Neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus of the adult rat: age-related decrease of neuronal progenitor proliferation. J Neurosci 16, 2027–2033. doi:0270-6474
- Kumar, P., Kaundal, R.K., More, S., Sharma, S.S., 2009. Beneficial effects of pioglitazone on cognitive impairment in MPTP model of Parkinson's disease. Behav. Brain Res. 197, 398–403. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2008.10.010
- Kumari, R., Kumar, J.B.S., Luthra, P.M., 2015. Post-lesion administration of 7-NI attenuated motor and non-motor deficits in 6-OHDA induced bilaterally lesioned female rat model of Parkinson's disease. Neurosci. Lett. 589, 191–195. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2014.12.030
- Kunz, D., Bes, F., 1999. Melatonin as a therapy in REM sleep behavior disorder patients: An open-labeled pilot study on the possible influence of melatonin on REM-sleep regulation. Mov. Disord. 14, 507–511. doi:10.1002/1531-8257(199905)14:3<507::AID-MDS1021>3.0.CO;2-8
- Kwon, D.-Y., Koh, S.-B., Lee, J., Park, H., Kim, H.-J., Shin, H.-W., Youn, J., Park, K., Choi, S.-A., Kim, S., Choi, S.-M., Park, J.-Y., Jeon, B., Kim, J., Chung, S., Lee, C., Park, J.-H., Ahn, T.-B., Kim, W., Kim, H., Cheon, S., Kim, H.-T., Lee, J.-Y., Kim, J., Kim, E.-J., Kim, J.-M., Lee, K., Kim, J.-S., Kim, M.-J., Aik, J., Park, K.-J., Kim, H., Park, M., Kang, J., Song, S., Kim, Y., Yun, J., Lee, H.-W., Oh, H., Cho, J., Song, I.-U., Sohn, Y., Lee, P., Kim, J., 2016. The KMDS-NATION Study : Korean Movement Disorders and Quality of Life in Parkinson 's Disease. J. Clin. Neurol. 12, 393–402.
- LaHue, S.C., Comella, C.L., Tanner, C.M., 2016. The best medicine? The influence of physical activity and inactivity on Parkinson's disease. Mov. Disord. 31, 1444–1454. doi:10.1002/mds.26728
- Lamm, O., Ganz, J., Melamed, E., Offen, D., 2014. Harnessing neurogenesis for the possible treatment of Parkinson's disease. J. Comp. Neurol. 522, 2817–2830. doi:10.1002/cne.23607
- Landers, M.R., Kinney, J.W., Allen, D.N., van Breukelen, F., 2013. A comparison of voluntary and forced exercise in protecting against

behavioral asymmetry in a juvenile hemiparkinsonian rat model. Behav. Brain Res. 248, 121–128. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2013.04.002

- Landers, M.R., Kinney, J.W., Van Breukelen, F., 2014. Forced exercise before or after induction of 6-OHDA-mediated nigrostriatal insult does not mitigate behavioral asymmetry in a hemiparkinsonian rat model. Brain Res. 1543, 263–270. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2013.10.054
- Lang, A.E., Gill, S., Patel, N.K., Lozano, A., Nutt, J.G., Penn, R., Brooks, D.J., Hotton, G., Moro, E., Heywood, P., Brodsky, M.A., Burchiel, K., Kelly, P., Dalvi, A., Scott, B., Stacy, M., Turner, D., Wooten, V.G.F., Elias, W.J., Laws, E.R., Dhawan, V., Stoessl, A.J., Matcham, J., Coffey, R.J., Traub, M., 2006. Randomized controlled trial of intraputamenal glial cell linederived neurotrophic factor infusion in Parkinson disease. Ann. Neurol. 59, 459–466. doi:10.1002/ana.20737
- Lautenschlager, J., Kaminski, C.F., Kaminski Schierle, G.S., 2017. α--Synuclein - Regulator of Exocytosis, Endocytosis, or Both? Trends Cell Biol. 27, 468–479. doi:10.1016/j.tcb.2017.02.002
- Lavedan, C., 1998. The synuclein family. Genome Res. 8, 871–880. doi:10.1101/gr.8.9.871
- Lawand, N.B., Saadé, N.E., El-Agnaf, O.M., Safieh-Garabedian, B., 2015. Targeting α-synuclein as a therapeutic strategy for Parkinson's disease. Expert Opin. Ther. Targets 1–10. doi:10.1517/14728222.2015.1062877
- Lawson, L., Perry, V., Dri, P., Gordon, S., 1990. Heterogeneity in the Distribution and Morphology of Microglia in the Normal Adult-Mouse Brain. Neuroscience 39, 151–170.
- Lax, P., Esquiva, G., Esteve-Rudd, J., Otalora, B.B., Madrid, J.A., Cuenca, N., 2012. Circadian Dysfunction in a Rotenone-Induced Parkinsonian Rodent Model. Chronobiol. Int. 29, 147–156. doi:10.3109/07420528.2011.649870
- Lazarini, F., Lledo, P., 2011. Is adult neurogenesis essential for olfaction ? Trends Neurosci. 34, 20–30.
- Le Grand, J.N., Gonzalez-Cano, L., Pavlou, M.A., Schwamborn, J.C., 2015. Neural stem cells in Parkinson's disease: A role for neurogenesis defects in onset and progression. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 72, 773–797. doi:10.1007/s00018-014-1774-1
- Lee, H.J., Kang, S.J., Lee, K., Im, H., 2011. Human α--synuclein modulates vesicle trafficking through its interaction with prenylated Rab acceptor protein 1. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 412, 526–531. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2011.07.028
- Lee, J., Hong, C., Lee, S., Yang, J., Park, Y. II, Lee, D., Hyeon, T., Jung, S., Paik, S.R., 2012. Radiating Amyloid Fibril Formation on the Surface of Lipid

Membranes through Unit-Assembly of Oligomeric Species of a -Synuclein. PLoS One 7, 2–10. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0047580

- Lee, J., Seroogy, K.B., Mattson, M.P., 2002. Dietary restriction enhances neurotrophin expression and neurogenesis in the hippocampus of adult mice. J. Neurochem. 80, 539–547. doi:10.1046/j.0022-3042.2001.00747.x
- Lee, J.K., Tran, T., Tansey, M.G., 2009. Neuroinflammation in Parkinson's disease. J. Neuroimmune Pharmacol. 4, 419–429. doi:10.1007/s11481-009-9176-0
- Lee, S.W., Clemenson, G., Gage, F., 2012. New neurons in an aged brain. Behav. Brain Res. 227, 497–507. doi:10.1097/OPX.0b013e3182540562.The
- Leentjens, A.F.G., Dujardin, K., Marsh, L., Martinez-Martin, P., Richard, I.H., Starkstein, S.E., 2011. Symptomatology and markers of anxiety disorders in Parkinson's disease: A cross-sectional study. Mov. Disord. 26, 484–492. doi:10.1002/mds.23528
- Leentjens, A.F.G., Koester, J., Fruh, B., Shephard, D.T.S., Barone, P., Houben, J.J.G., 2009. The effect of pramipexole on mood and motivational symptoms in parkinson's disease: A meta-analysis of placebo-controlled studies. Clin. Ther. 31, 89–98. doi:10.1016/j.clinthera.2009.01.012
- Lelan, F., Boyer, C., Thinard, R., Rémy, S., Usal, C., Tesson, L., Anegon, I., Neveu, I., Damier, P., Naveilhan, P., Lescaudron, L., 2011. Effects of Human Alpha-Synuclein A53T-A30P Mutations on SVZ and Local Olfactory Bulb Cell Proliferation in a Transgenic Rat Model of Parkinson Disease. Parkinsons. Dis. 2011, 987084. doi:10.4061/2011/987084
- Lemanne, D., Cassileth, B., Gubili, J., 2013. The role of physical activity in cancer prevention, treatment, recovery, and survivorship. Oncology (Williston Park). 27, 580–585.
- Lemkau, L.R., Comellas, G., Lee, S.W., Rikardsen, L.K., Woods, W.S., George, J.M., Rienstra, C.M., 2013. Site-Specific Perturbations of Alpha-Synuclein Fibril Structure by the Parkinson 's Disease Associated Mutations A53T and E46K. PLoS One 8, 1–8. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0049750
- Leroi, I., Atkinson, R., Overshott, R., 2014. Memantine improves goal attainment and reduces caregiver burden in Parkinson's disease with dementia. Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry 29, 900–905.
- Lesage, S., Anheim, M., Letournel, F., Bousset, L., Honoré, A., Rozas, N., Pieri, L., Madiona, K., Dürr, A., Melki, R., Verny, C., Brice, A., 2013. G51D α-synuclein mutation causes a novel Parkinsonian-pyramidal syndrome. Ann. Neurol. 73, 459–471. doi:10.1002/ana.23894

- Levy, D.A., Hopkins, R.O., Squire, L.R., 2004. Impaired odor recognition memory in patients with hippocampal lesions. Learn. Mem. 11, 794–6. doi:10.1101/lm.82504
- Levy, R., Czernecki, V., 2006. Apathy and the basal ganglia. J. Neurol. 253, 54–61. doi:10.1007/s00415-006-7012-5
- Lewis, S.J.G., Shine, J.M., Duffy, S., Halliday, G., Naismith, S.L., 2012. Anterior cingulate integrity: Executive and neuropsychiatric features in Parkinson's disease. Mov. Disord. 27, 1262–1267. doi:10.1002/mds.25104
- Lezak, M.D., 1982. the Problem of Assessing Executive Functions. Int. J. Psychol. 17, 281–297. doi:10.1080/00207598208247445
- Li, J.-Y., Englund, E., Holton, J.L., Soulet, D., Hagell, P., Lees, A.J., Lashley, T., Quinn, N.P., Rehncrona, S., Björklund, A., Widner, H., Revesz, T., Lindvall, O., Brundin, P., 2008. Lewy bodies in grafted neurons in subjects with Parkinson's disease suggest host-to-graft disease propagation. Nat. Med. 14, 501–3. doi:10.1038/nm1746
- Li, W., Englund, E., Widner, H., Mattsson, B., Westen, D. Van, Lätt, J., Rehncrona, S., 2016. Extensive graft-derived dopaminergic innervation is maintained 24 years after transplantation in the degenerating parkinsonian brain. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 113, 1–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.1605245113
- Lindgren, H.S., Dunnett, S.B., 2012. Cognitive dysfunction and depression in Parkinson's disease: What can be learned from rodent models? Eur. J. Neurosci. 35, 1894–1907. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2012.08162.x
- Lindgren, H.S., Lelos, M.J., Dunnett, S.B., 2012. Do α-synuclein vector injections provide a better model of Parkinson's disease than the classic 6-hydroxydopamine model? Exp. Neurol. 237, 36–42. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2012.05.022
- Lindner, M.D., Cain, C.K., Plone, M. a., Frydel, B.R., Blaney, T.J., Emerich, D.F., Hoane, M.R., 1999. Incomplete nigrostriatal dopaminergic cell loss and partial reductions in striatal dopamine produce akinesia, rigidity, tremor and cognitive deficits in middle-aged rats. Behav. Brain Res. 102, 1–16.
- Lindqvist, D., Kaufman, E., Brundin, L., Hall, S., Surova, Y., Hansson, O., 2012. Non-Motor Symptoms in Patients with Parkinson's Disease -Correlations with Inflammatory Cytokines in Serum. PLoS One 7. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0047387
- Lindvall, O., Brundin, P., Widner, H., Rehncrona, S., Gustavii, B., Frackowiak, R., Leenders, K.L., Sawle, G., Rothwell, J.C., Marsden, C.D., 1990.
   Grafts of fetal dopamine neurons survive and improve motor function in Parkinson's disease. Science 247, 574–577. doi:10.1126/science.2105529

- Lindvall, O., Rehncrona, S., Brundin, P., Gustavii, B., Astedt, B., Widner, H., Lindholm, T., Bjorklund, A., Leenders, K., Rothwell, J., Frackowiak, R., Marsden, D., Johnels, B., Steg, G., Freedman, R., Hoffer, B., Seiger, A., Bygdeman, M., Stromberg, I., Olson, L., 1989. Human fetal dopamine neurons grafted into the striatum in two patients with severe Parkinson's disease. A detailed account of methodology and a 6month follow-up. Arch. Neurol. 46, 615–31.
- Litvan, I., Goldman, J., Troster, A., Schmand, B., Weintraub, D., Petrsen, R., Molenhauer, B., Adler, C., Marder, K., Williams-Gray, C.H., Aarsland, D., Kulisevsky, J., Rodriguez-Oroz, M.C., Burn, D.J., Barker, R.A., Emre, M., 2012. Diagnostic Criteria for Mild Cognitive Impairment in Parkinson's Disease: Movement Disorder Society Task Force Guidelines. Mov. Disord. 27, 349–356. doi:10.1002/mds.24893.Diagnostic
- Liu, J., Dong, J., Wang, L., Su, Y., Yan, P., Sun, S., 2013. Comparative Efficacy and Acceptability of Antidepressants in Parkinson's Disease: A Network Meta-Analysis. PLoS One 8, 1–10. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0076651
- Liu, M., Bing, G., 2011. Lipopolysaccharide animal models for Parkinson's disease. Parkinsons. Dis. 2011, 327089. doi:10.4061/2011/327089
- Long-Smith, C.M., Sullivan, A.M., Nolan, Y.M., 2009. The influence of microglia on the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. Prog. Neurobiol. 89, 277–287. doi:10.1016/j.pneurobio.2009.08.001
- Lorenzen, N., Lemminger, L., Pedersen, J.N., Nielsen, S.B., Otzen, D.E., 2014. The N-terminus of α-synuclein is essential for both monomeric and oligomeric interactions with membranes. FEBS Lett. 588, 497– 502. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2013.12.015
- Lowry, C.A., Hale, M.W., Evans, A.K., Heerkens, J., Staub, D.R., Gasser, P.J., Shekhar, A., 2008. Serotonergic systems, anxiety, and affective disorder: Focus on the dorsomedial part of the dorsal raphe nucleus. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1148, 86–94. doi:10.1196/annals.1410.004
- Lu, J., Sun, F., Ma, H., Qing, H., Deng, Y., 2015. Comparison between αsynuclein wild-type and A53T mutation in a progressive Parkinson's disease model. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 464, 988–993. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2015.07.007
- Luk, K.C., Kehm, V., Carroll, J., Zhang, B., Brien, P.O., John, Q., Lee, V.M., 2012. Pathological α-Synuclein Transmission Initiates Parkinson-like Neurodegeneration in Non-transgenic Mice. Science (80-.). 338, 949– 953. doi:10.1126/science.1227157.Pathological
- Lukiw, W., 2004. Gene expression profiling in fetal, aged, and Alzheimer hippocampus: a continuum of stress-related signaling. Neurochem. Res. 29, 1287–1297.

- Luth, E., Stavrovskaya, I., Bartels, T., Kristal, B., Selkoe, D., 2014. Soluble, prefibrillar α-synuclein oligomers promote complex I-dependent, Ca2+-induced mitochondrial dysfunction. J. Biol. Chem. 289.
- Ma, C.L., Ma, X.T., Wang, J.J., Liu, H., Chen, Y.F., Yang, Y., 2017. Physical exercise induces hippocampal neurogenesis and prevents cognitive decline. Behav. Brain Res. 317, 332–339. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2016.09.067
- Ma, M.-R., Hu, Z.-W., Zhao, Y.-F., Chen, Y.-X., Li, Y.-M., 2016. Phosphorylation induces distinct alpha-synuclein strain formation. Sci. Rep. 6, 37130. doi:10.1038/srep37130
- Ma, Y., Tang, C., Chaly, T., Greene, P., Breeze, R., Freed, C., Dhawan, V., Eidelberg, D., 2010. Dopamine Cell Implantation in Parkinson's Disease: Long-Term Clinical and 18 F-FDOPA PET Outcomes. J Nucl Med. 51, 7–15. doi:10.2967/jnumed.109.066811.Dopamine
- Ma, Y., Zhan, M., OuYang, L., Li, Y., Chen, S., Wu, J., Chen, J., Luo, C., Lei, W., 2014. The effects of unilateral 6-OHDA lesion in medial forebrain bundle on the motor, cognitive dysfunctions and vulnerability of different striatal interneuron types in rats. Behav. Brain Res. 266, 37–45. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2014.02.039
- Mabandla, M., Kellaway, L., Gibson, A.S.C., Russell, V.A., 2004. Voluntary running provides neuroprotection in rats after 6-hydroxydopamine injection into the medial forebrain bundle. Metab. Brain Dis. 19, 43– 50. doi:10.1023/B:MEBR.0000027416.13070.c3
- Magen, I., Chesselet, M.-F., 2010. Genetic mouse models of Parkinson's disease: The state of the art, in: Progress in Brain Research. pp. 53–87.
- Mahul-Mellier, A.-L., Vercruysse, F., Maco, B., Roo, M. De, Muller, D., Lashuel, H.A., 2015. Fibril growth and seeding capacity play key roles in α -synuclein-mediated apoptotic cell death. Cell Death Differ. 22, 2107–2122. doi:10.1038/cdd.2015.79
- Majbour, N.K., Vaikath, N.N., Eusebi, P., Chiasserini, D., Ardah, M.,
  Varghese, S., Haque, M.E., Tokuda, T., Auinger, P., Calabresi, P.,
  Parnetti, L., El-Agnaf, O.M.A., 2016a. Longitudinal changes in CSF α-synuclein species reflect Parkinson's disease progression. Mov. Disord. 31, 1535–1542. doi:10.1002/mds.26754
- Majbour, N.K., Vaikath, N.N., van Dijk, K.D., Ardah, M.T., Varghese, S., Vesterager, L.B., Montezinho, L.P., Poole, S., Safieh-Garabedian, B., Tokuda, T., Teunissen, C.E., Berendse, H.W., van de Berg, W.D.J., El-Agnaf, O.M.A., 2016b. Oligomeric and phosphorylated alpha-synuclein as potential CSF biomarkers for Parkinson's disease. Mol. Neurodegener. 11, 7. doi:10.1186/s13024-016-0072-9
- Malberg, J.E., Eisch, a J., Nestler, E.J., Duman, R.S., 2000. Chronic antidepressant treatment increases neurogenesis in adult rat

hippocampus. J. Neurosci. 20, 9104–9110. doi:20/24/9104 [pii]

- Malek, N., Swallow, D., Grosset, K.A., Anichtchik, O., Spillantini, M., Grosset, D.G., 2014. Alpha-synuclein in peripheral tissues and body fluids as a biomarker for Parkinson's disease - a systematic review. Acta Neurol. Scand. 130, 59–72. doi:10.1111/ane.12247
- Mamikonyan, E., Xie, S.X., Melvin, E., Weintraub, D., 2015. Rivastigmine for mild cognitive impairment in Parkinson disease: A placebo-controlled study. Mov. Disord. 0, 1–7. doi:10.1002/mds.26236
- Manda, K.M., Yedlapudi, D., Korukonda, S., Bojja, S., Kalivendi, S. V, 2014. The Chaperone-Like Activity of α-Synuclein Attenuates Aggregation of Its Alternatively Spliced Isoform, 112- Synuclein In Vitro : Plausible Cross-Talk between Isoforms in Protein Aggregation. PLoS One 9, 1–9. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0098657
- Mandel, S., Grunblatt, E., Youdim, M., 2000. cDNA microarray to study gene expression of dopaminergic neurodegeneration and neuroprotection in MPTP and 6-hydroxydopamine models: implications for idiopathic Parkinson's disease. J. Neural Transm. Suppl. 60, 117–124.
- Marei, H.E.S., Lashen, S., Farag, A., Althani, A., Afifi, N., a, A.-E., Rezk, S., Pallini, R., Casalbore, P., Cenciarelli, C., 2015. Human olfactory bulb neural stem cells mitigate movement disorders in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. J. Cell. Physiol. 230, 1614–1629. doi:10.1002/jcp.24909
- Marinova-Mutafchieva, L., Sadeghian, M., Broom, L., Davis, J.B., Medhurst, A.D., Dexter, D.T., 2009. Relationship between microglial activation and dopaminergic neuronal loss in the substantia nigra: A time course study in a 6-hydroxydopamine model of Parkinson's disease. J. Neurochem. 110, 966–975. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2009.06189.x
- Marks, W.J., Bartus, R.T., Siffert, J., Davis, C.S., Lozano, A., Boulis, N., Vitek, J., Stacy, M., Turner, D., Verhagen, L., Bakay, R., Watts, R., Guthrie, B., Jankovic, J., Simpson, R., Tagliati, M., Alterman, R., Stern, M., Baltuch, G., Starr, P.A., Larson, P.S., Ostrem, J.L., Nutt, J., Kieburtz, K., Kordower, J.H., Olanow, C.W., 2010. Gene delivery of AAV2-neurturin for Parkinson's disease: A double-blind, randomised, controlled trial. Lancet Neurol. 9, 1164–1172. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(10)70254-4
- Marlatt, M.W., 2012. Running throughout middle-age improves memory function, hippocampal neurgenesis and BDNF levels in female C57BI/6J mice. Dev. Neurobiol. 72, 943–952. doi:10.1002/dneu.22009.Running
- Marsh, L., Bigland, K., Gersternhaber, M., Williams, J., 2009. Atomoxetine for the treatment of executive dysfunction in Parkinson's disease: A pilot open-label study. Mov. Disord. 24, 277–282.

doi:10.1002/mds.22307.Atomoxetine

- Martin, C., Beshel, J., Kay, L.M., 2007. An Olfacto-Hippocampal Network Is Dynamically Involved in Odor-Discrimination Learning. J. Neurophysiol. 98, 2196–2205. doi:10.1152/jn.00524.2007
- Martinez-Martín, P., Rodriguez-Blazquez, C., Paz, S., Forjaz, M.J., Frades-Payo, B., Cubo, E., de Pedro-Cuesta, J., Lizán, L., 2015. Parkinson Symptoms and Health Related Quality of Life as Predictors of Costs: A Longitudinal Observational Study with Linear Mixed Model Analysis. PLoS One 10, e0145310. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0145310
- Martinez-Moreno, A., Rodriguez-Duran, L.F., Escobar, M.L., 2016. Brainderived neurotrophic factor into adult neocortex strengthens a taste aversion memory. Behav. Brain Res. 297, 1–4. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2015.09.034
- Marxreiter, F., Ettle, B., May, V.E., Esmer, H., Patrick, C., Kragh, C., Klucken, J., Winner, B., Riess, O., Winkler, J., Masliah, E., Nuber, S., 2013. Glial A30P alpha-synuclein pathology segregates neurogenesis from anxiety-related behavior in conditional transgenic mice. Neurobiol. Dis. 59, 38–51. doi:10.1016/j.pestbp.2011.02.012.Investigations
- Mason, D.M., Nouraei, N., Pant, D.B., Miner, K.M., Hutchison, D.F., Luk, K.C., Stolz, J.F., Leak, R.K., 2016. Transmission of α -synucleinopathy from olfactory structures deep into the temporal lobe 1–12. doi:10.1186/s13024-016-0113-4
- Masuda-suzukake, M., Nonaka, T., Hosokawa, M., Kubo, M., Shimozawa, A., 2014. Pathological alpha-synuclein propagates through neural networks. Acta Neuropathol. Commun. 2, 1–12. doi:10.1186/s40478-014-0088-8
- Masuda-suzukake, M., Nonaka, T., Hosokawa, M., Oikawa, T., Arai, T., Akiyama, H., Mann, D.M.A., Hasegawa, M., 2013. Prion-like spreading of pathological alpha-synuclein in brain. Brain 136, 1128–1138. doi:10.1093/brain/awt037
- Matheus, F.C., Rial, D., Real, J.I., Lemos, C., Ben, J., Guaita, G.O., Pita, I.R., Sequeira, A.C., Pereira, F.C., Walz, R., Takahashi, R.N., Bertoglio, L.J., Cunha, C. Da, Cunha, R.A., Prediger, R.D., 2016. Decreased synaptic plasticity in the medial prefrontal cortex underlies short-term memory deficits in 6-OHDA-lesioned rats. Behav. Brain Res. 301, 43–54. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2015.12.011
- Maurice, N., Liberge, M., Jaouen, F., Ztaou, S., Hanini, M., Camon, J.,
  Deisseroth, K., Amalric, M., Kerkerian-Le Goff, L., Beurrier, C., 2015.
  Striatal Cholinergic Interneurons Control Motor Behavior and Basal
  Ganglia Function in Experimental Parkinsonism. Cell Rep. 13, 657–666.
  doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2015.09.034

Mazzulli, J.R., Zunke, F., Isacson, O., Studer, L., Krainc, D., 2016. α-

Synuclein–induced lysosomal dysfunction occurs through disruptions in protein trafficking in human midbrain synucleinopathy models. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 201520335. doi:10.1073/pnas.1520335113

- McCoy, M., Martinez, T., Ruhn, K., Szymkowski, D., Smith, C., Botterman, B., Tansey, K., Tansey, M., 2006. Blocking Soluble Tumor Necrosis Factor Signaling with Dominant-Negative Tumor Necrosis Factor Inhibitor Attenuates Loss of Dopaminergic Neurons in Models of Parkinson's Disease. J. Neurosci. 26, 9365–9375. doi:10.1097/OPX.0b013e3182540562.The
- Mccoy, M.K., Ruhn, K. a, Martinez, T.N., Mcalpine, F.E., Tansey, M.G., 2008. Intranigral lentiviral delivery of dominant negative TNF attenuates neurodegeneration and behavioral deficits in hemiparkinsonian rats. Mol. Ther. 16, 1572–1579. doi:10.1038/mt.2008.146.Intranigral
- McFarland, N., Fan, Z., Xu, K., Schwarzschild, M., Feany, M., Hyman, B.,
   Mclean, P.J., 2009. α-Synuclein S129 Phosphorylation Mutants Do Not
   Alter Nigrostriatal Toxicity in a Rat Model of Parkinson Disease. J.
   Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 68, 515–524.
   doi:10.1097/NEN.0b013e3181a24b53.Alpha-Synuclein
- McGeer, P., Itagaki, S., Boyes, B., McGeer, E., 1988. Reactive microglia are positive for HLA-DR in the substantia nigra of Parkinson's and Alzheimer's disease brains. Neurology 38, 1285–1291.
- McGeer, P.L., Schwab, C., Parent, A., Doudet, D., 2003. Presence of Reactive Microglia in Monkey Substantia Nigra Years after 1-Methyl-4-Phenyl-1,2,3,6-Tetrahydropyridine Administration. Ann. Neurol. 54, 599–604. doi:10.1002/ana.10728
- Mendes, A., Goncalves, A., Vila-Cha, N., Moreira, I., Fernandes, J., Damasio, J., Teixeira-Pinto, A., Taipa, R., Lima, A.B., Cavaco, S., 2015.
  Appendectomy may delay Parkinson's disease Onset. Mov. Disord. 30, 1404–1407. doi:10.1002/mds.26311
- Menza, M., Dobkin, R.D., Marin, H., Mark, M.H., Gara, M., Bienfait, K.,
  Dicke, A., Kusnekov, A., 2010. The Role of Inflammatory Cytokines in Cognition and other Non- Motor Symptoms of Parkinson's Disease.
  Psychosomatics 51, 474–479. doi:10.1176/appi.psy.51.6.474.The
- Menza, M., Dobkin, R.D., Marin, H., Mark, M.H., Gara, M., Buyske, S., Bienfait, K., Dicke, A., 2009. The Impact of Treatment of Depression on Quality of Life, Disability and Relapse in Patients with Parkinson's Disease. Mov. Disord. 24. doi:10.1002/mds.22586.The
- Merrill, D.A., Karim, R., Darraq, M., Chiba, A.A., Tuszynski, M.H., 2003. Hippocampal Cell Genesis Does Not Correlate with Spatial Learning Ability in Aged Rats. J. Comp. Neurol 459, 201–207. doi:10.1002/cne.10616

Michalik, L., Auwerx, J., Berger, J.P., Chatterjee, V.K., Glass, C.K., Gonzalez,

F.J., Grimaldi, P. a, Kadowaki, T., Lazar, M. a, Rahilly, S.O., Palmer, C.N. a, Plutzky, J., Reddy, J.K., Spiegelman, B.M., Staels, B., 2006. International Union of Pharmacology. LXI. Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptors. Pharmacol. Rev. 58, 726–741. doi:10.1124/pr.58.4.5.(NR1C1)

- Michell, A.W., Luheshi, L.M., Barker, R.A., 2005. Skin and platelet αsynuclein as peripheral biomarkers of Parkinson's disease. Neurosci. Lett. 381, 294–298. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2005.02.030
- Miyasaki, J.M., Shannon, K., Voon, V., Ravina, B., 2006. Practice Parameter : Evaluation and treatment of depression, psychosis, and dementia in Parkinson disease (an evidence-based review) Report of the Quality Standards Subcommittee of the. Neurology 66.
- Mogi, M., Kondo, T., Mizuno, Y., Nagatsu, T., 2007. p53 protein, interferonγ, and NF-κB levels are elevated in the parkinsonian brain. Neurosci. Lett. 414, 94–97. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2006.12.003
- Mogi, Togari, Kondo, Mizuno, Komure, Kuno, Ichinose, Nagatsu, 2000. Caspase activities and tumor necrosis factor receptor R1 (p55) level are elevated in the substantia nigra from parkinsonian brain. J. Neural Transm. 107, 335–341. doi:10.1007/s007020050028
- Monje, M.L., Toda, H., Palmer, T., 2003. Inflammatory Blockade Restores Adult Hippocampal Neurogenesis. Science (80-.). 302, 1760–1765.
- Monville, C., Torres, E.M., Dunnett, S.B., 2006. Comparison of incremental and accelerating protocols of the rotarod test for the assessment of motor deficits in the 6-OHDA model. J. Neurosci. Methods 158, 219– 223. doi:10.1016/j.jneumeth.2006.06.001
- Moreau, C., Delval, A., Defebvre, L., Dujardin, K., Duhamel, A., Petyt, G., Vuillaume, I., Corvol, J.C., Brefel-Courbon, C., Ory-Magne, F., Guehl, D., Eusebio, A., Fraix, V., Saulnier, P.J., Lagha-Boukbiza, O., Durif, F., Faighel, M., Giordana, C., Drapier, S., Maltete, D., Tranchant, C., Houeto, J.L., Debu, B., Sablonniere, B., Azulay, J.P., Tison, F., Rascol, O., Vidailhet, M., Destee, A., Bloem, B.R., Bordet, R., Devos, D., 2012. Methylphenidate for gait hypokinesia and freezing in patients with Parkinson's disease undergoing subthalamic stimulation: A multicentre, parallel, randomised, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet Neurol. 11, 589–596. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(12)70106-0
- Morgan, A., Andrews, Z., Davies, J., Testa, S., Tosetto, A., 2017. Less is more: caloric regulation of neurogenesis and adult brain function. J. Neuroendocrinol. Aug 3. doi:10.1111/ijlh.12426
- Moriarty, G., Janowska, M., Kang, L., Baum, J., 2014. Exploring the accessible conformations of N-terminal acetylated α-synuclein. FEBS Lett. 587, 1128–1138. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2013.02.049.Exploring
- Mulcahy, P., O'Doherty, A., Paucard, A., O'Brien, T., Kirik, D., Dowd, E.,

2013. The behavioural and neuropathological impact of intranigral AAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein is exacerbated by systemic infusion of the Parkinson's disease-associated pesticide, rotenone, in rats. Behav. Brain Res. 243, 6–15. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2012.12.051

- Mulcahy, P., O'Doherty, a, Paucard, a, O'Brien, T., Kirik, D., Dowd, E.,
  2012. Development and characterisation of a novel rat model of
  Parkinson's disease induced by sequential intranigral administration of
  AAV-α-synuclein and the pesticide, rotenone. Neuroscience 203, 170–
  9. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.12.011
- Muntané, G., Ferrer, I., Martinez-Vicente, M., 2012. A-Synuclein Phosphorylation and Truncation Are Normal Events in the Adult Human Brain. Neuroscience 200, 106–119. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.10.042
- Murray, D.K., Sacheli, M. a, Eng, J.J., Stoessl, a J., 2014. The effects of exercise on cognition in Parkinson's disease: a systematic review. Transl. Neurodegener. 3, 5. doi:10.1186/2047-9158-3-5
- Muslimovic, D., Post, B., Speelman, J.D., Schmand, B., 2005. Cognitive profile of patients with newly diagnosed Parkinson disease 1239–1245.
- Na, S.J., DiLella, A.G., Lis, E. V., Jones, K., Levine, D.M., Stone, D.J., Hess, J.F., 2010. Molecular profiling of a 6-hydroxydopamine model of parkinson's disease. Neurochem. Res. 35, 761–772. doi:10.1007/s11064-010-0133-3
- Nagatsu, T., Sawada, M., 2005. Inflammatory process in Parkinson's disease: role for cytokines. Curr. Pharm. Des. 11, 999–1016. doi:10.2174/1381612053381620
- Narkiewicz, J., Giachin, G., Legname, G., 2014. In vitro aggregation assays for the characterization of  $\alpha$  -synuclein prion-like properties. Prion 8, 19–32.
- National Institute for Clinical Health and Excellence, 2006. Parkinson's disease in over 20s: diagnosis and management.
- Naughton, C., O'Toole, D., Kirik, D., Dowd, E., 2017. Interaction between subclinical doses of the Parkinson's disease associated gene, αsynuclein, and the pesticide, rotenone, precipitates motor dysfunction and nigrostriatal neurodegeneration in rats. Behav. Brain Res. 316, 160–168. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2016.08.056
- Nemani, V.M., Lu, W., Berge, V., Nakamura, K., Onoa, B., Michael, K., Chaudhry, F. a, Nicoll, R. a, Edwards, R.H., 2011. Increased Expression of α-Synuclein Reduces Neurotransmitter Release by Inhibiting Synaptic Vesicle Reclustering After Endocytosis. Neuron 65, 66–79. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2009.12.023.Increased

- Nicklas, W., Vyas, I., Heikkila, R., 1985. Inhibition of NADH-linked oxidation in brain mitochondria by 1-methyl-4-phenyl-pyridine, a metabolite of the neurotoxin, 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,5,6-tetrahydropyridine. Life Sci. 36, 2503–8.
- Nielsen, S.B., Macchi, F., Raccosta, S., Langkilde, A.E., Giehm, L., Kyrsting,
  A., Sigrid, A., Svane, P., Manno, M., Christiansen, G., Nielsen, N.C.,
  Oddershede, L., Vestergaard, B., Otzen, D.E., 2013. Wildtype and A30P
  Mutant Alpha-Synuclein Form Different Fibril Structures. PLoS One 8,
  1–13. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0067713
- Niewada, M., Michel, P., 2016. Lifestyle modification for stroke prevention: facts and fiction. Curr. Opin. Neurol. 29, 9–13.

 Nimmerjahn, A., Kirchhoff, F., Helmchen, F., 2005. Resting Microglial Cells Are Highly Dynamic Surveillants of Brain Parenchyma in Vivo — Resting Microglial Cells Are Highly Dynamic Surveillants of Brain Parenchyma in Vivo — Supporting Online Material. Science (80-.). 308, 1314–1319. doi:10.1126/science.1110647

- Nombela, C., Rowe, J.B., Winder-Rhodes, S.E., Hampshire, A., Owen, A.M., Breen, D.P., Duncan, G.W., Khoo, T.K., Yarnall, A.J., Firbank, M.J., Chinnery, P.F., Robbins, T.W., O'Brien, J.T., Brooks, D.J., Burn, D.J., Barker, R. a, 2014. Genetic impact on cognition and brain function in newly diagnosed Parkinson's disease: ICICLE-PD study. Brain. doi:10.1093/brain/awu201
- Nonaka, T., Iwatsubo, T., Hasegawa, M., 2005. Ubiquitination of alphasynuclein. Biochemistry 44, 361–368. doi:10.1016/S0197-4580(04)81549-5
- Nuber, S., Harmuth, F., Kohl, Z., Adame, A., Trejo, M., Schönig, K.,
  Zimmermann, F., Bauer, C., Casadei, N., Giel, C., Calaminus, C., Pichler,
  B.J., Jensen, P.H., Müller, C.P., Amato, D., Kornhuber, J., Teismann, P.,
  Yamakado, H., Takahashi, R., Winkler, J., Masliah, E., Riess, O., 2013. A
  progressive dopaminergic phenotype associated with neurotoxic
  conversion of α-synuclein in BAC-transgenic rats. Brain 136, 412–432.
  doi:10.1093/brain/aws358
- Nutt, J.G., Burchiel, K.J., Comella, C.L., Jankovic, J., Lang, A.E., Laws Jr, E.R., Lozano, A.M., Penn, R.D., Simpson Jr, R.K., Stacy, M., Wooten, G.F., Johnston, L., Lopez, J., Harrigan, M., Marciano, F.F., Carter, J.H., Stone, C., Trugman, J., Rost-Ruffner, E., O'Brien, C., McVicker, J.H., Davis, T.L., Charles, D., Allen, G., Weiner, W., Landy, H.J., Bronstein, J., Koller, W., Pahwa, R., Wilkinson, S., Siemers, E.R., Wojcieszek, J.M., Witt, T., Tuite, P.J., Ebbitt, B.J., Maxwell, R., Cravets, M., Hilt, D., Klein, M., Lee, D.R., Schultz, B., 2003. Randomized, double-blind trial of glial cell linederived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) in PD 60, 69–73.
- O'Connor, K.A., Feustel, P.J., Ramirez-Zamora, A., Molho, E., Pilitsis, J.G., Shin, D.S., 2016. Investigation of diazepam efficacy on anxiety-like

behavior in hemiparkinsonian rats. Behav. Brain Res. 301, 226–237. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2015.12.045

- O'Dell, S.J., Gross, N.B., Fricks, A.N., Casiano, B.D., Nguyen, T.B., Marshall, J.F., 2007. Running wheel exercise enhances recovery from nigrostriatal dopamine injury without inducing neuroprotection. Neuroscience 144, 1141–1151. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2006.10.042
- O'Leary, O.F., Cryan, J.F., 2014. A ventral view on antidepressant action: Roles for adult hippocampal neurogenesis along the dorsoventral axis. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 35, 675–687. doi:10.1016/j.tips.2014.09.011
- Oikawa, T., Nonaka, T., Terada, M., Tamaoka, A., Hisanaga, S.I., Hasegawa, M., 2016. α-Synuclein fibrils exhibit gain of toxic function, promoting tau aggregation and inhibiting microtubule assembly. J. Biol. Chem. 291, 15046–15056. doi:10.1074/jbc.M116.736355
- Olanow, C.W., Bartus, R.T., Volpicelli-daley, L. a, Kordower, J.H., 2015. Trophic Factors for Parkinson's Disease : To Live or Let Die. Mov. Disord. 30, 1715–1723. doi:10.1002/mds.26426
- Olanow, C.W., Goetz, C.G., Kordower, J.H., Stoessl, a J., Sossi, V., Brin, M.F., Shannon, K.M., Nauert, G.M., Perl, D.P., Godbold, J., Freeman, T.B., 2003. A Double-blind Controlled Trial of Bilateral Fetal Nigral Transplantation in Parkinson 's Disease. Ann. Neurol. 403–414. doi:10.1002/ana.10720
- Olanow, C.W., Hauser, R.A., Jankovic, J., Langston, W., Lang, A., Poewe, W., Tolosa, E., Stocchi, F., Melamed, E., Eyal, E., Rascol, O., 2008. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, delayed start study to assess rasagiline as a disease modifying therapy in Parkinson's disease (the ADAGIO study): Rationale, design, and baseline characteristics. Mov. Disord. 23, 2194–2201. doi:10.1002/mds.22218
- Olanow, C.W., Kordower, J.H., 2017. Targeting α-Synuclein as a therapy for Parkinson's disease: The battle begins. Mov. Disord. 32, 203–207. doi:10.1002/mds.26935
- Olin, J., Aarsland, D., Meng, X., 2010. Rivastigmine in the Treatment of Dementia Associated with Parkinson's Disease: Effects on Activities of Daily Living. Dement. Geriatr. Cogn. Disord. 29, 510–515.
- Oliveira, L.M.A., Falomir-Lockhart, L.J., Botelho, M.G., Lin, K.-H., Wales, P., Koch, J.C., Gerhardt, E., Taschenberger, H., Outeiro, T.F., Lingor, P., Schüle, B., Arndt-Jovin, D.J., Jovin, T.M., 2015. Elevated α-synuclein caused by SNCA gene triplication impairs neuronal differentiation and maturation in Parkinson's patient-derived induced pluripotent stem cells. Cell Death Dis. 6, e1994. doi:10.1038/cddis.2015.318
- Olson, E., Boeve, B., Silber, M., 2000. Rapid eye movement sleep behaviour disorder: demographic, clinical and laboratory findings in 93 cases.

Brain 123, 331–9.

Olsson, M., Nikkhah, G., Bentlage, C., Bjorklund, A., 1995. Forelimb Akinesia in the Rat Parkinson Model : Differential Effects of Dopamine Agonists and Nigral Transplants as Assessed by a New Stepping Test. J. Neurosci. 15, 3863–3875.

Ono, K., Ikeda, T., Takasaki, J. ichi, Yamada, M., 2011. Familial Parkinson disease mutations influence α-Synuclein assembly. Neurobiol. Dis. 43, 715–724. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2011.05.025

Oomen, C.A., Kent, B.A., Bussey, T.J., 2014. Adult hippocampal neurogenesis and its role in cognition. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Cogn. Sci. 5, 573–587. doi:10.1002/wcs.1304.Adult

Osorio-Gómez, D., Guzmán-Ramos, K., Bermúdez-Rattoni, F., 2016. Differential involvement of glutamatergic and catecholaminergic activity within the amygdala during taste aversion retrieval on memory expression and updating" (Behav. Brain Res. (2016) 307 (120–125)). Behav. Brain Res. 311, 441. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2016.05.053

Oueslati, A., 2016. Implication of Alpha-Synuclein Phosphorylation at S129 in Synucleinopathies: What Have We Learned in the Last Decade? J Park. Dis 6, 39–51. doi:10.3233/JPD-160779

Oueslati, a., Paleologou, K.E., Schneider, B.L., Aebischer, P., Lashuel, H. a., 2012. Mimicking Phosphorylation at Serine 87 Inhibits the Aggregation of Human -Synuclein and Protects against Its Toxicity in a Rat Model of Parkinson's Disease. J. Neurosci. 32, 1536–1544. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3784-11.2012

Outeiro, T.F., Klucken, J., Bercury, K., Tetzlaff, J., Putcha, P., Luis, M.A., Quintas, A., Mclean, P.J., Hyman, B.T., 2009. Dopamine-Induced Conformational Changes in Alpha- Synuclein. PLoS One 4, 1–11. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0006906

 Pacheco, C.R., Morales, C.N., Ramírez, A.E., Muñoz, F.J., Gallegos, S.S., Caviedes, P.A., Aguayo, L.G., Opazo, C.M., 2015. Extracellular αsynuclein alters synaptic transmission in brain neurons by perforating the neuronal plasma membrane. J. Neurochem. 132, 731–741. doi:10.1111/jnc.13060

Pagonabarraga, J., Kulisevsky, J., Strafella, A.P., Krack, P., 2015. Apathy in Parkinson's disease: Clinical features, neural substrates, diagnosis, and treatment. Lancet Neurol. 14, 518–531. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(15)00019-8

Paillard, T., Rolland, Y., de Souto Barreto, P., 2015. Protective Effects of Physical Exercise in Alzheimer's Disease 11, 212–219.

Paleologou, K.E., Kragh, C.L., Mann, D.M.A., Salem, S.A., Al-shami, R., Allsop, D., Hassan, A.H., Jensen, P.H., El-agnaf, O.M.A., 2009. Detection of elevated levels of soluble a -synuclein oligomers in postmortem brain extracts from patients with dementia with Lewy bodies. Brain 132, 1093–1101. doi:10.1093/brain/awn349

- Paleologou, K.E., Oueslati, A., Shakked, G., Rospigliosi, C.C., Kim, Y., Lamberto, G.R., Fernandez, C.O., Schmid, A., Gai, W.P., Chiappe, D., Moniatte, M., Schneider, B.L., Eliezer, D., Zweckstetter, M., Masliah, E., Hilal, A., 2010. Phosphorylation at S87 is enhanced in synucleinopathies, inhibits α-synuclein oligomerization and influences synuclein-membrane interactions. J. Neurosci. 30, 3184–3198. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5922-09.2010.Phosphorylation
- Parihar, M.S., Parihar, A., Fujita, M., Hashimoto, M., Ghafourifar, P., 2009.
   Alpha-synuclein overexpression and aggregation exacerbates impairment of mitochondrial functions by augmenting oxidative stress in human neuroblastoma cells. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 41, 2015– 2024. doi:10.1016/j.biocel.2009.05.008
- Parihar, M.S., Parihar, a, Fujita, M., Hashimoto, M., Ghafourifar, P., 2008. Mitochondrial association of alpha-synuclein causes oxidative stress. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 65, 1272–84. doi:10.1007/s00018-008-7589-1
- Parkinson, J., 2002. An essay on the shaking palsy. 1817. J. Neuropsychiatry Clin. Neurosci. 14, 223–36; discussion 222. doi:10.1176/jnp.14.2.223
- Parnetti, L., Castrioto, A., Chiasserini, D., Persichetti, E., Tambasco, N., El-Agnaf, O., Calabresi, P., 2013. Cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers in Parkinson disease. Nat. Rev. Neurol. 9, 131–140. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2013.10
- Pasanen, P., Myllykangas, L., Siitonen, M., Raunio, A., Kaakkola, S.,
  Lyytinen, J., Tienari, P.J., Pöyhönen, M., Paetau, A., 2014. A novel α-synuclein mutation A53E associated with atypical multiple system atrophy and Parkinson's disease-type pathology. Neurobiol. Aging 35, 2180.e1-2180.e5. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2014.03.024
- Paumier, K.L., Luk, K.C., Manfredsson, F.P., Kanaan, N.M., Lipton, J.W., Collier, T.J., Steece-Collier, K., Kemp, C.J., Celano, S., Schulz, E., Sandoval, I.M., Fleming, S., Dirr, E., Polinski, N.K., Trojanowski, J.Q., Lee, V.M., Sortwell, C.E., 2015. Intrastriatal injection of pre-formed mouse α-synuclein fibrils into rats triggers α-synuclein pathology and bilateral nigrostriatal degeneration. Neurobiol. Dis. 82, 185–199. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2015.06.003
- Pedersen, K.F., Larsen, J.P., Tysnes, O.-B., Alves, G., 2013. Prognosis of mild cognitive impairment in early Parkinson disease: the Norwegian ParkWest study. JAMA Neurol. 70, 580–6. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2013.2110
- Peelaerts, W., Bousset, L., Van der Perren, a., Moskalyuk, a., Pulizzi, R., Giugliano, M., Van den Haute, C., Melki, R., Baekelandt, V., 2015. α-

Synuclein strains cause distinct synucleinopathies after local and systemic administration. Nature. doi:10.1038/nature14547

- Peinado, M., Quesada, A., Pedrosa, J., Torres, M., Martinez, M., Esteban, F., Del Moral, M., Hernandez, R., Rodrigo, J., Peinado, J., 1998.
   Quantitative and ultrastructural changes in glia and pericytes in the parietal cortex of the aging rat. Microsc. Res. Tech. 43, 34–42.
- Perdersen, M.N., Foderà, V., Horvath, I., Maarschalkerweerd, A. Van, Toft, K.N., Weise, C., Almqvist, F., Wolf-watz, M., 2015. Direct Correlation Between Ligand- Induced α -Synuclein Oligomers and Amyloid-like Fibril Growth. Sci. Rep. 1–11. doi:10.1038/srep10422
- Pereira-Caixeta, A.R., Guarnieri, L.O., Pena, R.R., Dias, T.L., Pereira, G.S., 2016. Neurogenesis Inhibition Prevents Enriched Environment to Prolong and Strengthen Social Recognition Memory, But Not to Increase BDNF Expression. Mol. Neurobiol. 1–8. doi:10.1007/s12035-016-9922-2
- Pereira, J.B., Svenningsson, P., Weintraub, D., Brønnick, K., Lebedev, A., Westman, E., Aarsland, D., 2014. Initial cognitive decline is associated with cortical thinning in early Parkinson disease. Neurology 82, 2017– 2025. doi:10.1212/WNL.000000000000483
- Pereira, J.R., Viana, L., Santos, D., Maria, R., Santos, S., Luíza, A., Campos, F., Pimenta, A.L., Silva De Oliveira, M., Bacheti, G.G., Rocha, N.P., Teixeira, A.L., Pereira Christo, P., Scalzo, P.L., 2016. IL-6 serum levels are elevated in Parkinson's disease patients with fatigue compared to patients without fatigue. J. Neurol. Sci. 370, 153–156. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2016.09.030
- Pérez, V., Marin, C., Rubio, A., Aguilar, E., Barbanoj, M., Kulisevsky, J., 2009. Effect of the additional noradrenergic neurodegeneration to 6-OHDAlesioned rats in levodopa-induced dyskinesias and in cognitive disturbances. J. Neural Transm. 116, 1257–1266. doi:10.1007/s00702-009-0291-0
- Perlow, M.J., Freed, W.J., Hoffer, B.J., Seiger, A., Olson, L., 1979. Brain Grafts Reduce Motor Abnormalities Produced by Destruction of Nigrostriatal Dopamine System. Science (80-.). 204, 643–647.
- Perry, V.H., Holmes, C., 2014. Microglial priming in neurodegenerative disease. Nat. Rev. Neurol. 10, 217–24. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2014.38
- Petzinger, G.M., D.P, H., B.E., F., S., M., N., K., M., H., W., T., Walsh, J.W., Beeler J., J.M.W., 2015. The Effects of Exercise on Doapmine Neurotransmission in Parkinson's Disease: Targeting Neuroplasticity to Modulate Basla Ganglia Circuitry. Brain Plast. 1, 29–39. doi:10.3233/BPL-150021
- Petzinger, G.M., Fisher, B.E., McEwen, S., Beeler, J.A., Walsh, J.P., Jakowec, M.W., 2013. Exercise-enhanced neuroplasticity targeting motor and

cognitive circuitry in Parkinson's disease. Lancet Neurol. 12, 716–726. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(13)70123-6

- Pfeiffer, R.F., 2010. Gastrointestinal, urological, and sexual dysfunction in Parkinson's disease. Mov. Disord. 25, 94–97. doi:10.1002/mds.22715
- Pham, C.L.L., Cappai, R., 2013. The interplay between lipids and dopamine on  $\alpha$  -synuclein oligomerization and membrane binding Bioscience Reports. Biosci. Rep. 33, 807–814. doi:10.1042/BSR20130092
- Picelli, A., Varalta, V., Melotti, C., Zatezalo, V., Fonte, C., Amato, S., Saltuari, L., Santamato, A., Fiore, P., Smania, N., 2016. Effects of treadmill training on cognitive and motor features of patients with mild to moderate Parkinson's disease: A pilot, single-blind, randomized controlled trial. Funct. Neurol. 31, 25–31. doi:10.11138/FNeur/2016.31.1.025
- Pioli, E.Y., Meissner, W., Sohr, R., Gross, C.E., Bezard, E., Bioulac, B.H., 2008. Differential behavioral effects of partial bilateral lesions of ventral tegmental area or substantia nigra pars compacta in rats. Neuroscience 153, 1213–1224. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2008.01.084
- Po, K.T., Siu, A.M.H., Lau, B.W.M., Chan, J.N.M., So, K.F., Chan, C.C.H., 2015. Repeated, high-dose dextromethorphan treatment decreases neurogenesis and results in depression-like behavior in rats. Exp. Brain Res. 233, 2205–2214. doi:10.1007/s00221-015-4290-0
- Polymeropoulos, M.H., Lavedan, C., Leroy, E., Ide, S.E., Dehejia, A., Dutra, A., Pike, B., Root, H., Rubenstein, J., Boyer, R., Stenroos, E.S., Chandrasekharappa, S., Athanassiadou, A., Papapetropoulos, T., Johnson, W.G., Lazzarini, A.M., Duvoisin, R.C., Iorio, G. Di, Golbe, L.I., Nussbaum, R.L., 1997. Mutation in the α -Synuclein Gene Identified in Families with Parkinson â€<sup>TM</sup> s Disease Mutation in the \_ -Synuclein Gene Identified in Families with Parkinson ' s Disease. Science (80-. ). 276, 2045–2047. doi:10.1126/science.276.5321.2045
- Pont-Sunyer, C., Hotter, A., Gaig, C., Seppi, K., Compta, Y., Katzenschlager, R., Mas, N., Hofeneder, D., Brücke, T., Bayés, A., Wenzel, K., Infante, J., Zach, H., Pirker, W., Posada, I.J., Álvarez, R., Ispierto, L., De Fàbregues, O., Callén, A., Palasí, A., Aguilar, M., Martí, M.J., Valldeoriola, F., Salamero, M., Poewe, W., Tolosa, E., 2015. The onset of nonmotor symptoms in parkinson's disease (the onset pd study). Mov. Disord. 30, 229–237. doi:10.1002/mds.26077
- Pontone, G.M., Williams, J.R., Anderson, K., Chase, G., Goldstein, S., Grill,
  S., Hirsch, E.S., Little, J.T., Margolis, R.L., Rabins, P. V, Marsh, L., 2009.
  Prevalence of Anxiety Disorders and Anxiety Subtypes in Patients With
  Parkinson's Disease. Mov. Disord. 24, 1333–1338.
  doi:10.1002/mds.22611.Prevalence

- Postuma, R.B., Aarsland, D., Barone, P., Burn, D.J., Hawkes, C.H., Oertel, W., Ziemssen, T., 2012. Identifying prodromal Parkinson's disease: Pre-Motor disorders in Parkinson's disease. Mov. Disord. 27, 617–626. doi:10.1002/mds.24996
- Postuma, R.B., Adler, C.H., Dugger, B.N., Hentz, J.G., Shill, H.A., Driver-Dunckley, E., Sabbagh, M.N., Jacobson, S.A., Belden, C.M., Sue, L.I., Serrano, G., Beach, T.G., 2015. REM sleep behavior disorder and neuropathology in Parkinson's disease. Mov. Disord. 30, 1413–1417. doi:10.1002/mds.26347
- Poulton, N.P., Muir, G.D., 2005. Treadmill training ameliorates dopamine loss but not behavioral deficits in hemi-Parkinsonian rats. Exp. Neurol. 193, 181–197. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2004.12.006
- Prakash, K.M., Nadkarni, N. V, Lye, W.-K., Yong, M.-H., Tan, E.-K., 2016. The impact of non-motor symptoms on the quality of life of Parkinson's disease patients: a longitudinal study. Eur. J. Neurol. 23, 854–60. doi:10.1111/ene.12950
- Prediger, R.D.S., Matheus, F.C., Schwarzbold, M.L., Lima, M.M.S., Vital, M.A.B.F., 2012. Anxiety in Parkinson's disease: A critical review of experimental and clinical studies. Neuropharmacology 62, 115–124. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2011.08.039
- Price, A., Rayner, L., Okon-Rocha, E., Evans, A., Valsraj, K., Higginson, I.J., Hotopf, M., 2011. Antidepressants for the treatment of depression in neurological disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 82, 914– 23. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2010.230862
- Prodoehl, J., Rafferty, M., David, F., Poon, C., Vaillancourt, D., Comella, C., Leurgans, S., Kohr, W., Corcos, D., Robchaud, J., 2015. Two Year Exercise Program Improves Physical Function in Parkinson's Disease: the PRET-PD Study. Neurorehabil. Neural Repair 29, 112–122. doi:10.1016/j.pestbp.2011.02.012.Investigations
- Prots, I., Veber, V., Brey, S., Campioni, S., Buder, K., Riek, R., Böhm, K.J., 2013. Alpha-Synuclein Oligomers Impair Neuronal Microtubule-Kinesin. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 21742–21754. doi:10.1074/jbc.M113.451815
- Proukakis, C., Dudzik, C.G., Brier, T., MacKay, D.S., Cooper, J.M., Millhauser, G.L., Houlden, H., Schapira, A.H., 2013. A novel α-synuclein missense mutation in Parkinson disease. Neurology 80, 1062–1064. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e31828727ba
- Prusiner, S.B., Woerman, A.L., Mordes, D. a., Watts, J.C., Rampersaud, R., Berry, D.B., Patel, S., Oehler, A., Lowe, J.K., Kravitz, S.N., Geschwind, D.H., Glidden, D. V., Halliday, G.M., Middleton, L.T., Gentleman, S.M., Grinberg, L.T., Giles, K., 2015. Evidence for α-synuclein prions causing

multiple system atrophy in humans with parkinsonism. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 201514475. doi:10.1073/pnas.1514475112

- Qin, Z., Hu, D., Han, S., Hong, D.-P., Fink, A.L., 2007. Role of different regions of alpha-synuclein in the assembly of fibrils. Biochemistry 46, 13322–13330. doi:10.1021/bi7014053
- Raber, J., Rola, R., LeFevour, A., Morardt, D., Curley, J., Mizumatsu, S., VandenBerg, S., Fike, J., 2004. Radiation-induced cognitive impairments are associated with changes in indicators of hippocampal neurogenesis. Radiat. Res. 162, 39–47.
- Rada, D., Seco, J., Echevarría, E., Tijero, B., Abecia, L.C., Gómez-Esteban,
   J.C., 2016. Dysautonomia Differentially Influences the Effect of
   Affective Pain Perception on Quality of Life in Parkinson's Disease
   Patients. Parkinsons. Dis. 2016. doi:10.1155/2016/3067426
- Ransohoff, R.M., 2016. How neuroinflammation contributes to neurodegeneration. Science (80-.). 353, 777–83. doi:10.1126/science.aag2590
- Raskin, S., Durst, R., 2010. Bupropion as the treatment of choice in depression associated with Parkinson's disease and it's various treatments. Med. Hypotheses 75, 544–546. doi:10.1016/j.mehy.2010.07.024
- Rasmussen, P., Brassard, P., Adser, H., Pedersen, M. V, Leick, L., Hart, E., Secher, N.H., Pedersen, B.K., Pilegaard, H., 2009. Evidence for a release of brain-derived neurotrophic factor from the brain during exercise. Exp. Physiol. 94, 1062–1069. doi:10.1113/expphysiol.2009.048512
- Real, C.C., Ferreira, A.F.B., Chaves-Kirsten, G.P., Torrão, A.S., Pires, R.S., Britto, L.R.G., 2013. BDNF receptor blockade hinders the beneficial effects of exercise in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. Neuroscience 237, 118–129. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2013.01.060
- Reale, M., Iarlori, C., Thomas, A., Gambi, D., Perfetti, B., Di Nicola, M., Onofrj, M., 2009. Peripheral cytokines profile in Parkinson's disease. Brain. Behav. Immun. 23, 55–63. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2008.07.003
- Recasens, A., Dehay, B., 2014. Alpha-synuclein spreading in Parkinson's disease. Front. Neuroanat. 8, 1–9. doi:10.3389/fnana.2014.00159
- Regensburger, M., Prots, I., Winner, B., 2014. Adult hippocampal neurogenesis in Parkinson's disease: Impact on neuronal survival and plasticity. Neural Plast. 2014. doi:10.1155/2014/454696
- Reichmann, H., Brandt, M., Klingelhoefer, L., 2016. The nonmotor features of Parkinson's disease: pathophysiology and management advances. Curr. Opin. Neurol. 29, 467–73.

Reijnders, J.S.A.M., Ehrt, U., Weber, W.E.J., Aarsland, D., Leentjens, A.F.G.,

2008. A systematic review of prevalence studies of depression in Parkinson's disease. Mov. Disord. 23, 183–189. doi:10.1002/mds.21803

- Rektorova, I., Biundo, R., Marecek, R., Weis, L., Aarsland, D., Antonini, A., 2014. Grey matter changes in cognitively impaired Parkinson's disease patients. PLoS One 9, e85595. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0085595
- Remy, P., Doder, M., Lees, A., Turjanski, N., Brooks, D., 2005. Depression in Parkinson's disease: Loss of dopamine and noradrenaline innervation in the limbic system. Brain 128, 1314–1322. doi:10.1093/brain/awh445
- Rentzos, M., Nikolaou, C., Andreadou, E., Paraskevas, G.P., Rombos, A.,
  Zoga, M., Tsoutsou, A., Boufidou, F., Kapaki, E., Vassilopoulos, D.,
  2009. Circulating interleukin-10 and interleukin-12 in Parkinson's disease. Acta Neurol. Scand. 119, 332–337. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0404.2008.01103.x
- Rentzos, M., Nikolaou, C., Andreadou, E., Paraskevas, G.P., Rombos, A.,
  Zoga, M., Tsoutsou, A., Boufidou, F., Kapaki, E., Vassilopoulos, D.,
  2007. Circulating interleukin-15 and RANTES chemokine in Parkinson's disease. Acta Neurol. Scand. 116, 374–379. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0404.2007.00894.x
- Restivo, L., Roman, F.S., Ammassari-Teule, M., Marchetti, E., 2006. Simultaneous olfactory discrimination elicits a strain-specific increase in dendritic spines in the hippocampus of inbred mice. Hippocampus 16, 472–479. doi:10.1002/hipo.20174
- Revest, J.-M., Dupret, D., Koehl, M., Funk-Reiter, C., Grosjean, N., Piazza, P.-V., Abrous, D., 2009. Adult hippocampal neurogenesis is involved in anxiety-related behaviors. Mol. Psychiatry 1415, 959–967. doi:10.1038/mp.2009.15
- Rey, N.L., Petit, G.H., Bousset, L., Melki, R., Brundin, P., 2013. Transfer of human α-synuclein from the olfactory bulb to interconnected brain regions in mice. Acta Neuropathol. 126, 555–573. doi:10.1007/s00401-013-1160-3
- Reynolds, N.P., Soragni, A., Rabe, M., Verdes, D., Liverani, E., Handschin, S.,
   Riek, R., Seeger, S., 2011. Mechanism of Membrane Interaction and
   Disruption by α -Synuclein. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 133, 19366–19375.
- Richard, I.H., McDermott, M.P., Kurlan, R., Lyness, J.M., Como, P.G.,
  Pearson, N., Factor, S.A., Juncos, J., Ramos, C.S., Brodsky, M.,
  Manning, C., Marsh, L., Shulman, L., Fernandez, H.H., Black, K.J.,
  Panisset, M., Christine, C.W., Jiang, W., Singer, C., Horn, S., Pfeiffer, R.,
  Rottenberg, D., Slevin, J., Elmer, L., Press, D., Hyson, H.C., McDonald,
  W., 2012. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of
  antidepressants in Parkinson disease. Neurology 78, 1229–1236.

doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e3182516244

- Richardson, R.M., Kells, A.P., Rosenbluth, K.H., Salegio, E.A., Fiandaca, M.S., Larson, P.S., Starr, P. a, Martin, A.J., Lonser, R.R., Federoff, H.J., Forsayeth, J.R., Bankiewicz, K.S., 2011. Interventional MRI-guided putaminal delivery of AAV2-GDNF for a planned clinical trial in Parkinson's disease. Mol. Ther. 19, 1048–57. doi:10.1038/mt.2011.11
- Ridgel, A.L., Kim, C., Fickes, E.J., Muller, M.D., Alberts, J.L., 2010. Changes in Executive Function After Acute Bouts of Passive Cycling in Parkinson' s Disease. J. Aging Phys. Act. 1–12.
- Roberts, H.L., Brown, D.R., 2015. Seeking a Mechanism for the Toxicity of Oligomeric Į-Synuclein. Biomolecules 5, 282–305. doi:10.3390/biom5020282
- Rocha, N.P., Teixeira, A.L., Scalzo, P.L., Barbosa, I.G., de Sousa, M.S., Morato, I.B., Vieira, E.L., Christo, P.P., Palotas, A., Reis, H.J., 2014.
  Plasma levels of soluble tumor necrosis factor receptors are associated with cognitive performance in Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord 29, 527–531. doi:10.1002/mds.25752
- Rodrigues, L.S., Targa, A.D.S., Noseda, A.C.D., Aurich, M.F., Da Cunha, C., Lima, M.M.S., 2014. Olfactory impairment in the rotenone model of Parkinson's disease is associated with bulbar dopaminergic D2 activity after REM sleep deprivation. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 8, 383. doi:10.3389/fncel.2014.00383
- Rodriguez-Blazquez, C., Forjaz, M.J., Lizan, L., Paz, S., Martinez-Martin, P., 2015. Estimating the direct and indirect costs associated with Parkinson's disease. Expert Rev. Pharmacoecon. Outcomes Res. 15, 889–911. doi:10.1586/14737167.2015.1103184 [doi]
- Rodríguez-Leyva, I., Calderón-Garcidueñas, A.L., Jiménez-Capdeville, M.E., Rentería-Palomo, A.A., Hernandez-Rodriguez, H.G., Valdés-Rodríguez, R., Fuentes-Ahumada, C., Torres-Álvarez, B., Sepúlveda-Saavedra, J., Soto-Domínguez, A., Santoyo, M.E., Rodriguez-Moreno, J.I., Castanedo-Cázares, J.P., 2014. α-Synuclein inclusions in the skin of Parkinson's disease and parkinsonism. Ann. Clin. Transl. Neurol. n/an/a. doi:10.1002/acn3.78
- Rodriguez, J.A., Ivanova, M.I., Sawaya, M.R., Cascio, D., Reyes, F.E., Shi, D., Sangwan, S., Guenther, E.L., Johnson, L.M., Zhang, M., Jiang, L., Arbing, M.A., Nannenga, B.L., Hattne, J., Whitelegge, J., Brewster, A.S., Messerschmidt, M., Boutet, S., Sauter, N.K., Gonen, T., Eisenberg, D.S., 2015. Structure of the toxic core of α-synuclein from invisible crystals. Nature advance on, 486–490. doi:10.1038/nature15368
- Roig, M., Nordbrandt, S., Geertsen, S.S., Nielsen, J.B., 2013. The effects of cardiovascular exercise on human memory: A review with meta-analysis. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 37, 1645–1666.

doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.06.012

- Rojo, A.I., Cavada, C., de Sagarra, M.R., Cuadrado, A., 2007. Chronic inhalation of rotenone or paraquat does not induce Parkinson's disease symptoms in mice or rats. Exp. Neurol. 208, 120–126. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2007.07.022
- Roodveldt, C., Labrador-Garrido, A., Gonzalez-Rey, E., Lachaud, C.C.,
  Guilliams, T., Fernandez-Montesinos, R., Benitez-Rondan, A., Robledo,
  G., Hmadcha, A., Delgado, M., Dobson, C.M., Pozo, D., 2013.
  Preconditioning of microglia by α-synuclein strongly affects the
  response induced by toll-like receptor (TLR) stimulation. PLoS One 8,
  1–17. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0079160
- Rooijen, B.D. Van, Claessens, M.M.A.E., Subramaniam, V., 2010. Membrane Permeabilization by Oligomeric a -Synuclein : In Search of the Mechanism. PLoS One 5, 1–9. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0014292
- Rosenfeldt, A.B., Dey, T., Alberts, J.L., 2016. Aerobic Exercise Preserves Olfaction Function in Individuals with Parkinson's Disease 2016. doi:10.1155/2016/9725089
- Roussel, M., Lhommée, E., Narme, P., Czernecki, V., Gall, D. Le, Krystkowiak, P., Diouf, M., Godefroy, O., 2016. Dysexecutive syndrome in Parkinson's disease: the GREFEX study. Aging, Neuropsychol. Cogn. 5585, 1–12. doi:10.1080/13825585.2016.1226248
- Rowe, W.B., Blalock, E.M., Chen, K.-C., Kadish, I., Wang, D., Barrett, J.E., Thibault, O., Porter, N.M., Rose, G.M., Landfield, P.W., 2007.
  Hippocampal Expression Analyses Reveal Selective Association of Immediate-Early, Neuroenergetic, and Myelinogenic Pathways with Cognitive Impairment in Aged Rats. J. Neurosci. 27, 3098–3110. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4163-06.2007
- Rozas, G., Guerra, M.J., Labandeira-García, J.L., 1997. An automated rotarod method for quantitative drug-free evaluation of overall motor deficits in rat models of parkinsonism. Brain Res. Protoc. 2, 75–84. doi:10.1016/S1385-299X(97)00034-2
- Rutten, S., Ghielen, I., Vriend, C., Hoogendoorn, A.W., Berendse, H.W., Leentjens, A.F.G., van der Werf, Y.D., Smit, J.H., van den Heuvel, O.A., 2015. Anxiety in Parkinson's disease: Symptom dimensions and overlap with depression and autonomic failure. Park. Relat. Disord. 21, 189–193. doi:10.1016/j.parkreldis.2014.11.019
- Ryan, S.M., Nolan, Y.M., 2016. Neuroinflammation negatively affects adult hippocampal neurogenesis and cognition: Can exercise compensate? Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 61, 121–131. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2015.12.004

Sacino, A.N., Thomas, M.A., Ceballos-diaz, C., Cruz, P.E., Rosario, A.M.,

Lewis, J., Giasson, B.I., Golde, T.E., 2013. Conformational templating of  $\alpha$  -synuclein aggregates in neuronal-glial cultures. Mol. Neurodegener. 8, 1. doi:10.1186/1750-1326-8-17

- Sagna, A., Gallo, J., Pontone, G.M., 2014. Systematic Review of Factors Associated with Depression and Anxiety Disorders among Older Adults with Parkinson's Disease. Parkinsonism Relat. Disord. 20, 708–715. doi:10.1038/nbt.3121.ChIP-nexus
- Sahay, A., Wilson, D., Hen, R., 2011. Pattern separation: a common function for new neurons in hippocampus and olfactory bulb. Neuron 70, 582–588. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.12.017.Two-stage
- Sahay, S., Ghosh, D., Dwivedi, S., Anoop, A., Mohite, G.M., Kombrabail, M., Krishnamoorthy, G., Maji, S.K., 2015. Familial Parkinson Diseaseassociated Mutations Alter the Site-specific Microenvironment and Dynamics of. J. Biol. Chem. 290, 7804–7822. doi:10.1074/jbc.M114.598607
- Sahin, C., Lorenzen, N., Lemminger, L., Christiansen, G., Møller, I.M.,
   Vesterager, L.B., Pedersen, L.Ø., Fog, K., Kallunki, P., Otzen, D.E., 2016.
   Antibodies against the C-terminus of α-synuclein modulate its
   fibrillation. Biophys. Chem. 220, 34–41. doi:10.1016/j.bpc.2016.11.002
- Sailor, K.A., Schinder, A.F., Lledo, P.-M., 2017. Adult neurogenesis beyond the niche: its potential for driving brain plasticity. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 42, 111–117. doi:10.1016/j.conb.2016.12.001
- Salat, D., Tolosa, E., 2013. Levodopa in the treatment of Parkinson's disease: Current status and new developments. J. Parkinsons. Dis. 3, 255–269. doi:10.3233/JPD-130186
- Samuel, F., Flavin, W.P., Iqbal, S., Pacelli, C., Renganathan, S.D.S., Trudeau, L.E., Campbell, E.M., Fraser, P.E., Tandon, A., 2016. Effects of serine 129 phosphorylation on α-synuclein aggregation, membrane association, and internalization. J. Biol. Chem. 291, 4374–4385. doi:10.1074/jbc.M115.705095
- Samuel, F., Flavin, W.P., Iqbal, S., Pacelli, C., Sri Renganathan, S.D., Trudeau, L.-E., Campbell, E.M., Fraser, P.E., Tandon, A., 2015. Effects of Serine 129 phosphorylation on α-synuclein aggregation, membrane association, and internalization. J. Biol. Chem. jbc.M115.705095. doi:10.1074/jbc.M115.705095
- Sánchez-Ferro, Á., Rábano, A., Catalán, M.J., Rodríguez-Valcárcel, F.C., Díez, S.F., Herreros-Rodríguez, J., García-Cobos, E., Álvarez-Santullano, M.M., López-Manzanares, L., Mosqueira, A.J., Desojo, L.V., López-Lozano, J.J., López-Valdés, E., Sánchez-Sánchez, R., Molina-Arjona, J.A., 2014. In vivo gastric detection of α-synuclein inclusions in Parkinson's disease. Mov. Disord. 0, n/a-n/a. doi:10.1002/mds.25988

Sanchez-Guajardo, V., Febbraro, F., Kirik, D., Romero-Ramos, M., 2010.

Microglia acquire distinct activation profiles depending on the degree of  $\alpha$ -synuclein neuropathology in a rAAV based model of Parkinson's disease. PLoS One 5. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0008784

- Santarelli, L., Saxe, M., Gross, C., Surget, A., Battaglia, F., Dulawa, S.,
  Weisstaub, N., Lee, J., Duman, R., Arancio, O., Belzung, C., Hen, R.,
  2003. Requirement of Hippocampal Neurogenesis for the Behavioral Effects of Antidepressants. Sci. (New York, NY) 301, 805–809.
  doi:10.1126/science.1083328
- Santiago, R.M., Barbieiro, J., Lima, M.M.S., Dombrowski, P. a., Andreatini, R., Vital, M. a B.F., 2010. Depressive-like behaviors alterations induced by intranigral MPTP, 6-OHDA, LPS and rotenone models of Parkinson's disease are predominantly associated with serotonin and dopamine. Prog. Neuro-Psychopharmacology Biol. Psychiatry 34, 1104–1114. doi:10.1016/j.pnpbp.2010.06.004
- Santiago, R.M., Tonin, F.S., Barbiero, J., Zaminelli, T., Boschen, S.L., Andreatini, R., Da Cunha, C., Lima, M.M.S., Vital, M.A.B.F., 2015. The nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drug piroxicam reverses the onset of depressive-like behavior in 6-OHDA animal model of Parkinson's disease. Neuroscience 300, 246–253. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015.05.030
- Santos, L., Fernandez-Rio, J., Winge, K., Barragán-Pérez, B., González-Gómez, L., Rodríguez-Pérez, V., González-Díez, V., Lucía, A., Iglesias-Soler, E., Dopico-Calvo, X., Fernández-Del-Olmo, M., Del-Valle, M., Blanco-Traba, M., Suman, O.E., Rodríguez-Gómez, J., 2017. Effects of progressive resistance exercise in akinetic-rigid Parkinson's disease patients: a randomized controlled trial. Eur. J. Phys. Rehabil. Med. doi:10.23736/S1973-9087.17.04572-5
- Sarafian, T.A., Ryan, C.M., Souda, P., Masliah, E., Kar, U.K., Vinters, H. V., Mathern, G.W., Faull, K.F., Whitelegge, J.P., Watson, J.B., 2013. Impairment of mitochondria in adult mouse brain overexpressing predominantly full-length, N-terminally acetylated human alphasynuclein. PLoS One 8, e63557. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0063557
- Sasajima, H., Miyazono, S., Noguchi, T., Kashiwayanagi, M., 2015. Intranasal administration of rotenone in mice attenuated olfactory functions through the lesion of dopaminergic neurons in the olfactory bulb. Neurotoxicology 51, 106–115. doi:10.1016/j.neuro.2015.10.006
- Sasco, A., Paffenbarger, R.J., Gendre, I., Wing, A., 1992. The role of physical exercise in the occurrence of Parkinson's disease. Arch. Neurol. 49, 360–365.
- Sato, H., Arawaka, S., Hara, S., Fukushima, S., Koga, K., Koyama, S., Kato, T., 2011. Authentically Phosphorylated α-Synuclein at Ser129 Accelerates Neurodegeneration in a Rat Model of Familial Parkinson's Disease. J. Neurosci. 31, 16884–16894. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3967-11.2011

- Sato, H., Kato, T., Arawaka, S., 2014. Potential of Cellular and Animal Models Based on a Prion-Like Propagation of α-Synuclein for Assessing Antiparkinson Agents. Mol. Neurobiol. doi:10.1007/s12035-014-8858-7
- Savica, R., Grossardt, M., Bower, J., Ahlskog, J., Rocca, W., 2016. Trends in the Incidence of Parkinson Disease in the General Population. JAMA Neurol. 73, 981–989. doi:10.1093/aje/kwv271
- Sawada, H., Hishida, R., Hirata, Y., Ono, K., Suzuki, H., Muramatsu, S., Nakano, I., Nagatsu, T., Sawada, M., 2007. Activated Microglia Affect the Nigro- Striatal Dopamine Neurons Differently in Neonatal and Aged Mice Treated with 1-Methyl-4-Phenyl-1,2,3,6-Tetrahydropyridine. J. Neurosci. Res. 85, 2352–2359. doi:10.1002/jnr
- Sawle, G., Bloomfield, P., Bjorklund, A., Brooks, D., Brundin, P., Leenders, K., Lindvall, O., Marsden, C., Rehncrona, S., Widner, H., 1992.
  Transplantation of fetal dopamine neurons in Parkinson's disease: PET [18F]6-L-fluorodopa studies in two patients with putaminal implants. Ann. Neurol. 31, 166–73.
- Scalzo, P., Kümmer, A., Cardoso, F., Teixeira, A.L., 2009. Increased serum levels of soluble tumor necrosis factor-α receptor-1 in patients with Parkinson's disease. J. Neuroimmunol. 216, 122–125. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2009.08.001
- Schallert, T., Fleming, S.M., Leasure, J.L., Tillerson, J.L., Bland, S.T., 2000. CNS plasticity and assessment of forelimb sensorimotor outcome in unilateral rat models of stroke, cortical ablation, parkinsonism and spinal cord injury. Neuropharmacology 39, 777–787.
- Schapira, A.H.V., Chaudhuri, K.R., Jenner, P., 2017. Non-motor features of Parkinson disease. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. doi:10.1038/nrn.2017.62
- Schenck, C.H., Boeve, B.F., Mahowald, M.W., 2013. Delayed emergence of a parkinsonian disorder or dementia in 81% of older men initially diagnosed with idiopathic rapid eye movement sleep behavior disorder: A 16-year update on a previously reported series. Sleep Med. 14, 744–748. doi:10.1016/j.sleep.2012.10.009
- Schenck, C.H., Mahowald, M.W., 2002. REM sleep behavior disorder: clinical, developmental, and neuroscience perspectives 16 years after its formal identification in SLEEP. Sleep 25, 120–38. doi:10.1038/nrn915
- Schenk, D.B., Koller, M., Ness, D.K., Griffith, S.G., Grundman, M., Zago, W., Soto, J., Atiee, G., Ostrowitzki, S., Kinney, G.G., 2017. First-in-human assessment of PRX002, an anti α-synuclein monoclonal antibody, in healthy volunteers. Mov. Disord. 32, 211–218. doi:10.1002/mds.26878

Schlachetzki, J.C.M., Grimm, T., Schlachetzki, Z., Ben Abdallah, N.M.B.,

Ettle, B., Vohringer, P., Ferger, B., Winner, B., Nuber, S., Winkler, J., 2016. Dopaminergic lesioning impairs adult hippocampal neurogenesis by distinct modification of α-synuclein. J. Neurosci. Res. 94, 62–73. doi:10.1002/jnr.23677

- Schmitt, F.A., Farlow, M.R., Meng, X., Tekin, S., Olin, J.T., 2010. Efficacy of rivastigmine on executive function in patients with parkinson's disease dementia. CNS Neurosci. Ther. 16, 330–336. doi:10.1111/j.1755-5949.2010.00182.x
- Schmitt, F., Aarsland, D., Bronnick, K., Xiangyi Meng, Tekin, S., Olin, J., 2010. Evaluating Rivastigmine in Mild-to-Moderate Parkinson's Disease Dementia Using ADAS-Cog Items. Am. J. Alzheimers. Dis. Other Demen. 25, 407–413. doi:10.1177/1533317510367486
- Schneider, S.A., Boettner, M., Alexoudi, A., Zorenkov, D., Deuschl, G.,
  Wedel, T., 2016. Can we use peripheral tissue biopsies to diagnose
  Parkinson's disease? A review of the literature. Eur. J. Neurol. 23, 247–261. doi:10.1111/ene.12753
- Schrag, A., Jahanshahi, M., Quinn, N., 2001. What contributes to depression in Parkinson's disease? Psychol. Med. 31, 65–73.
- Schramm-Sapyta, N.L., Difeliceantonio, A., Foscue, E., Haseeb, N., Wang, N., Zhou, C., 2011. Aversive Effects of Ethanol in Adolescent vs. Adult Rats: Potential Causes and Implication for Future Drinking. Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res. 34, 2061–2069. doi:10.1111/j.1530-0277.2010.01302.x.Aversive
- Schrauwen, P., van Marken Lichtenbelt, W.D., 2016. Combatting type 2 diabetes by turning up the heat. Diabetologia 59, 1–11. doi:10.1007/s00125-016-4068-3
- Schreurs, S., Gerard, M., Derua, R., Waelkens, E., Taymans, J., Baekelandt, V., Engelborghs, Y., 2014. In Vitro Phosphorylation Does not Influence the Aggregation Kinetics of WT α -Synuclein in Contrast to Its Phosphorylation Mutants. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 15, 1040–1067. doi:10.3390/ijms15011040
- Schuitemaker, A., van der Doef, T.F., Boellaard, R., van der Flier, W.M.,
  Yaqub, M., Windhorst, A.D., Barkhof, F., Jonker, C., Kloet, R.W.,
  Lammertsma, A.A., Scheltens, P., van Berckel, B.N.M., 2012. Microglial
  activation in healthy aging. Neurobiol. Aging 33, 1067–1072.
  doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2010.09.016
- Sehm, B., Taubert, M., Conde, V., Weise, D., Classen, J., Dukart, J., Draganski, B., Villringer, A., Ragert, P., 2014. Structural brain plasticity in parkinson's disease induced by balance training. Neurobiol. Aging 35, 232–239. doi:10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2013.06.021
- Senechal, Y., Kelly, P.H., Cryan, J.F., Natt, F., Dev, K.K., 2007. Amyloid precursor protein knockdown by siRNA impairs spontaneous

alternation in adult mice. J. Neurochem. 102, 1928–1940. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2007.04672.x

- Seppi, K., Weintraub, D., Coelho, M., Perez-Lloret, S., Fox, S., Katzenschlager, R., Hametner, E.-M., Poewe, W., Rascol, O., Goetz, C., Sampaio, C., 2011. The Movement Disorder Society Evidence-Based Medicine Review Update: Treatments for the Non-Motor Symptoms of Parkinson's Disease. Mov. Disord. 26, S42–S80. doi:10.1002/mds.23884.The
- Sestakova, N., Puzserova, A., Kluknavsky, M., Bernatova, I., 2013. Determination of motor activity and anxiety-related behaviour in rodents: methodological aspects and role of nitric oxide. Interdiscip. Toxicol. 6, 126–135. doi:10.2478/intox-2013-0020
- Sforza, E., Krieger, J., Petiau, C., 1997. REM sleep behavior disorder: clinical physiopathological findings. Sleep Med. Rev. 1, 57–69.
- Shahaduzzaman, M., Nash, K., Hudson, C., Sharif, M., Grimmig, B., Lin, X., Bai, G., Liu, H., Ugen, K.E., Cao, C., Bickford, P.C., 2015. Anti-Human α-Synuclein N-Terminal Peptide Antibody Protects against Dopaminergic Cell Death and Ameliorates Behavioral Deficits in an AAV-α-Synuclein Rat Model of Parkinson's Disease. PLoS One 10, e0116841. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0116841
- Sharma, N., Nehru, B., 2015. Characterization of the lipopolysaccharide induced model of Parkinson's disease: Role of oxidative stress and neuroinflammation. Neurochem. Int. 87, 92–105. doi:10.1016/j.neuint.2015.06.004
- Shephard, R.J., Balady, G.J., 1999. Clinical Cardiology : New Frontiers Exercise as Cardiovascular Therapy. Circulation 0, 963–972. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.99.7.963
- Sherrick, M.F., Brunner, R.L., Roth, T.G., Dember, W.N., 1979. Rats' sensitivity to their direction of movement and spontaneous alternation behaviour. Q. J. Exp. Psychol. 31, 83–93. doi:10.1080/14640747908400708
- Shi, K., Liu, X., Qiao, D., Hou, L., 2017. Effects of Treadmill Exercise on Spontaneous Firing Activities of Striatal Neurons in a Rat Model of Parkinson's Disease. Motor Control 21, 58–71.
- Shih, I.-F., Liew, Z., Krause, N., Ritz, B., 2016. Lifetime occupational and leisure time physical activity and risk of Parkinson's disease.
  Parkinsonism Relat. Disord. 28, 112–117. doi:10.1016/j.parkreldis.2016.05.007
- Shimoji, M., Pagan, F., Healton, E.B., Mocchetti, I., 2009. CXCR4 and CXCL12 expression is increased in the nigro-striatal system of Parkinson's disease. Neurotox. Res. 16, 318–328. doi:10.1007/s12640-009-9076-3

- Shimoji, M., Zhang, L., Mandir, A.S., Dawson, V.L., Dawson, T.M., 2005. Absence of inclusion body formation in the MPTP mouse model of Parkinson's disease. Mol. Brain Res. 134, 103–108. doi:10.1016/j.molbrainres.2005.01.012
- Shin, M., Kim, T., Lee, J., Ji, E., Lim, B., 2017. Treadmill exercise alleviates nigrostriatal dopaminergic loss of neurons and fibers in rotenoneinduced Parkinson rats. J. Exerc. Rehabil. 13, 30–35.
- Shoji, Y., Nishio, Y., Baba, T., Uchiyama, M., Yokoi, K., Ishioka, T., Hosokai,
  Y., Hirayama, K., Fukuda, H., Aoki, M., Hasegawa, T., Takeda, A., Mori,
  E., 2014. Neural Substrates of Cognitive Subtypes in Parkinson's
  Disease: A 3-Year Longitudinal Study. PLoS One 9, e110547.
  doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0110547
- Siegert, R.J., Weatherall, M., Taylor, K.D., Abernethy, D.A., 2008. A metaanalysis of performance on simple span and more complex working memory tasks in Parkinson's disease. Neuropsychology 22, 450–61. doi:10.1037/0894-4105.22.4.450
- Sierra, A., Beccari, S., Diaz-Aparicio, I., Encinas, J.M., Comeau, S., Tremblay, M.È., 2014. Surveillance, phagocytosis, and inflammation: How neverresting microglia influence adult hippocampal neurogenesis. Neural Plast. 2014. doi:10.1155/2014/610343
- Silva, T.P. da, Poli, A., Hara, D.B., Takahashi, R.N., 2016. Time course study of microglial and behavioral alterations induced by 6hydroxydopamine in rats. Neurosci. Lett. 622, 83–87. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2016.04.049
- Singleton, A.B., 2003. α-Synuclein Locus Triplication Causes Parkinson's Disease. Science (80-. ). 302, 841–841. doi:10.1126/science.1090278
- Skapinakis, P., Bakola, E., Salanti, G., Lewis, G., Kyritsis, a P., Mavreas, V., 2010. Efficacy and acceptability of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors for the treatment of depression in Parkinson's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. BMC Neurol 10, 49. doi:1471-2377-10-49 [pii]\r10.1186/1471-2377-10-49
- Smith, K.M., Eyal, E., Weintraub, D., 2015. Combined rasagiline and antidepressant use in Parkinson disease in the ADAGIO study: effects on nonmotor symptoms and tolerability. JAMA Neurol. 72, 88–95. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2014.2472
- Spencer, B., Valera, E., Rockenstein, E., Overk, C., Mante, M., Adame, A., Zago, W., Seubert, P., Barbour, R., Schenk, D., Games, D., Rissman, R.A., Masliah, E., 2017. Anti-α-synuclein immunotherapy reduces α-synuclein propagation in the axon and degeneration in a combined viral vector and transgenic model of synucleinopathy. Acta Neuropathol. Commun. 5, 7. doi:10.1186/s40478-016-0410-8

- Spielman, L.J., Little, J.P., Klegeris, A., 2016. Physical activity and exercise attenuate neuroinflammation in neurological diseases. Brain Res. Bull. 125, 19–29. doi:10.1016/j.brainresbull.2016.03.012
- Spillantini, M.G., Schmidt, M.L., Lee, V.M., Trojanowski, J.Q., Jakes, R., Goedert, M., 1997. Alpha-synuclein in Lewy bodies. Nature 388, 839– 840. doi:10.1038/42166
- Spinelli, K.J., Taylor, J.K., Osterberg, V.R., Churchill, M.J., Pollock, E., Moore, C., Meshul, C.K., Unni, V.K., 2014. Presynaptic alpha-synuclein aggregation in a mouse model of Parkinson's disease. J. Neurosci. 34, 2037–50. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2581-13.2014
- Steele, J.C., McGeer, P.L., 2008. The ALS/PDC syndrome of Guam and the cycad hypothesis. Neurology 70, 1984–1990. doi:10.1212/01.wnl.0000312571.81091.26
- Stefanis, L., 2012. a -Synuclein in Parkinson's Disease. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. 1–23. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a009399
- Stirpe, P., Hoffman, M., Badiali, D., Colosimo, C., 2016. Constipation: an emerging risk factor for Parkinson's disease? Eur. J. Neurol. 23, 1606– 1613. doi:10.1111/ene.13082
- Streit, W.J., Sammons, N.W., Kuhns, A.J., Sparks, D.L., 2004. Dystrophic Microglia in the Aging Human Brain. Glia 45, 208–212. doi:10.1002/glia.10319
- Stypula, G., Kunert-Radek, J., Stepien, H., Zylińska, K., Pawlikowski, M., 1996. Evaluation of interleukins, ACTH, cortisol and prolactin concentrations in the blood of patients with parkinson's disease. Neuroimmunomodulation 3, 131–134.
- Sullivan, A.M., Toulouse, A., 2011. Neurotrophic factors for the treatment of Parkinson's disease. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 22, 157–65. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2011.05.001
- Sveinbjornsdottir, S., 2016. The clinical symptoms of Parkinson's disease. J. Neurochem. 139, 318–324. doi:10.1111/jnc.13691
- Svensson, E., Horváth-Puhó, E., Thomsen, R.W., Djurhuus, J.C., Pedersen, L., Borghammer, P., Sørensen, H.T., 2015. Vagotomy and subsequent risk of Parkinson's disease. Ann. Neurol. 78, 522–529. doi:10.1002/ana.24448
- Sykova, E., Mazel, T., Simonova, Z., 1998. Diffusion contraints and neuronglia interaction during aging. Exp. Gerontol. 33, 837–851.
- Tadaiesky, M.T., Dombrowski, P. a., Figueiredo, C.P., Cargnin-Ferreira, E., Da Cunha, C., Takahashi, R.N., 2008. Emotional, cognitive and neurochemical alterations in a premotor stage model of Parkinson's disease. Neuroscience 156, 830–840. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2008.08.035

- Tait, D.S., Phillips, J.M., Blackwell, A.D., Brown, V.J., 2016. Effects of lesions of the subthalamic nucleus/zona incerta area and dorsomedial striatum on attentional set-shifting in the rat. Neuroscience. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2016.08.008
- Tajiri, N., Yasuhara, T., Shingo, T., Kondo, A., Yuan, W., Kadota, T., Wang, F., Baba, T., Tayra, J.T., Morimoto, T., Jing, M., Kikuchi, Y., Kuramoto, S., Agari, T., Miyoshi, Y., Fujino, H., Obata, F., Takeda, I., Furuta, T., Date, I., 2010. Exercise exerts neuroprotective effects on Parkinson's disease model of rats. Brain Res. 1310, 200–207. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2009.10.075
- Takeuchi, N., Uchimura, N., Hashizume, Y., Mukai, M., Etoh, Y., Yamamoto, K., Kotorii, T., Ohshima, H., Ohshima, M., Maeda, H., 2001. Melatonin therapy for REM sleep behavior disorder. Psychiatry Clin. Neurosci. 55, 267–9. doi:10.1046/j.1440-1819.2001.00854.x
- Tanaka, K., Quadros, A.C. De, Santos, R.F., Stella, F., Gobbi, L.T.B., Gobbi, S., 2009. Benefits of physical exercise on executive functions in older people with Parkinson's disease. Brain Cogn. 69, 435–441. doi:10.1016/j.bandc.2008.09.008
- Tang, P., Chong, L., Li, X., Liu, Y., Liu, P., Hou, C., Li, R., 2014. Correlation between serum RANTES levels and the severity of Parkinson's disease. Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev. 2014. doi:10.1155/2014/208408
- Tanimizu, T., Kenney, J.W., Okano, E., Kadoma, K., Frankland, P.W., Kida, S., 2017. Functional connectivity of multiple brain regions required for the consolidation of social recognition memory. J. Neurosci. 37, 3451– 16. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3451-16.2017
- Taschenberger, G., Garrido, M., Tereshchenko, Y., Bähr, M., Zweckstetter, M., Kügler, S., 2012. Aggregation of αSynuclein promotes progressive in vivo neurotoxicity in adult rat dopaminergic neurons. Acta Neuropathol. 123, 671–83. doi:10.1007/s00401-011-0926-8
- Tatarewicz, S.M., Wei, X., Gupta, S., Masterman, D., Swanson, S.J., Moxness, M.S., 2007. Development of a maturing T-cell-mediated immune response in patients with idiopathic Parkinson's disease receiving r-metHuGDNF via continuous intraputaminal infusion. J. Clin. Immunol. 27, 620–627. doi:10.1007/s10875-007-9117-8
- Temel, Y., Visser-Vandewalle, V., Aendekerk, B., Rutten, B., Tan, S., Scholtissen, B., Schmitz, C., Blokland, A., Steinbusch, H.W.M., 2005.
  Acute and separate modulation of motor and cognitive performance in parkinsonian rats by bilateral stimulation of the subthalamic nucleus. Exp. Neurol. 193, 43–52.
  doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2004.12.025
- Tenreiro, S., Eckermann, K., Outeiro, T.F., 2014. Protein phosphorylation in neurodegeneration : friend or foe ? Front. Mol. Neurosci. 7, 1–30.
doi:10.3389/fnmol.2014.00042

- Terada, T., Yokokura, M., Yoshikawa, E., Futatsubashi, M., Kono, S., Konishi, T., Miyajima, H., Hashizume, T., Ouchi, Y., 2016. Extrastriatal spreading of microglial activation in Parkinson's disease: a positron emission tomography study. Ann. Nucl. Med. 30, 579–587. doi:10.1007/s12149-016-1099-2
- Terry, R., DeTeresa, R., Hansen, L., 1987. Neocortical cell counts in normal human adult aging. Ann. Neurol. 21, 530–9.
- Theodore, S., Cao, S., McLean, P., Standaert, D., 2008. Targeted Overexpression of Human Alpha-Synuclein Triggers Microglial Activation and an Adaptive Immune Response in a Mouse Model of Parkinson Disease. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 67, 1149–1158. doi:10.1097/NEN.0b013e31818e5e99.Targeted
- Thobois, S., Lhommée, E., Klinger, H., Ardouin, C., Schmitt, E., Bichon, A., Kistner, A., Castrioto, A., Xie, J., Fraix, V., Pelissier, P., Chabardes, S., Mertens, P., Quesada, J.L., Bosson, J.L., Pollak, P., Broussolle, E., Krack, P., 2013. Parkinsonian apathy responds to dopaminergic stimulation of D2/D3 receptors with piribedil. Brain 136, 1568–1577. doi:10.1093/brain/awt067
- Tillerson, J.L., Caudle, W.M., Reverón, M.E., Miller, G.W., 2003. Exercise induces behavioral recovery and attenuates neurochemical deficits in rodent models of Parkinson's disease. Neuroscience 119, 899–911. doi:10.1016/S0306-4522(03)00096-4
- Titova, N., Padmakumar, C., Lewis, S.J.G., Chaudhuri, K.R., 2016. Parkinson's: a syndrome rather than a disease? J. Neural Transm. doi:10.1007/s00702-016-1667-6
- Todorova, A., Jenner, P., Ray Chaudhuri, K., 2014. Non-motor Parkinson's: integral to motor Parkinson's, yet often neglected. Pract. Neurol. 1– 13. doi:10.1136/practneurol-2013-000741
- Tokuda, T., Qureshi, M.M., Ardah, M.T., Varghese, S., Shehab, S. a, Kasai, T., Ishigami, N., Tamaoka, a, Nakagawa, M., El-Agnaf, O.M., 2010.
  Detection of elevated levels of alpha-synuclein oligomers in CSF from patients with Parkinson disease. Neurology 75, 1766–1772. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181fd613b
- Tomic, S., Rajkovaca, I., Pekic, V., Salha, T., Misevic, S., 2016. Impact of autonomic dysfunctions on the quality of life in Parkinson's disease patients. Acta Neurol. Belg. doi:10.1007/s13760-016-0739-6
- Tosatto, L., Andrighetti, A.O., Plotegher, N., Antonini, V., Tessari, I., Ricci, L., Bubacco, L., Dalla, M., 2012. Alpha-synuclein pore forming activity upon membrane association. Biochem. Biophys. Acta 1818, 2876– 2883. doi:10.1016/j.bbamem.2012.07.007

- Tozzi, A., de lure, A., Bagetta, V., Tantucci, M., Durante, V., Quiroga-Varela, A., Costa, C., Di Filippo, M., Ghiglieri, V., Latagliata, E.C., Wegrzynowicz, M., Decressac, M., Giampà, C., Dalley, J.W., Xia, J., Gardoni, F., Mellone, M., El-Agnaf, O.M., Ardah, M.T., Puglisi-Allegra, S., Björklund, A., Spillantini, M.G., Picconi, B., Calabresi, P., 2015.
  Alpha-Synuclein Produces Early Behavioral Alterations Via Striatal Cholinergic Synaptic Dysfunction by Interacting with GluN2D N-Methyl-D-Aspartate Receptor Subunit. Biol. Psychiatry 1–13. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.08.013
- Tran, H., Chung, C.H.-Y., Iba, M., Zhang, B., Trojanowski, J.Q., Luk, K.C., Lee, V.M.-Y., 2014. α-Synuclein Immunotherapy Blocks Uptake and Templated Propagation of Misfolded α-Synuclein and Neurodegeneration. Cell Rep. 7, 2054–2065. doi:10.1037/emo0000122.Do
- Tsigelny, I., Sharikov, Y., Wrasidlo, W., Gonzalez, T., Desplats, P., Crews, L., Spencer, B., Masliah, E., 2012. Role of α-synuclein penetration into the membrane in the mechanisms of oligomer pore formation. FEBS J 279, 1000–1013. doi:10.1016/j.micinf.2011.07.011.Innate
- Tsujimura, A., Taguchi, K., Watanabe, Y., Tatebe, H., Tokuda, T., Mizuno, T., Tanaka, M., 2015. Lysosomal enzyme cathepsin B enhances the aggregate forming activity of exogenous α -synuclein fi brils. Neurobiol. Dis. 73, 244–253. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2014.10.011
- Umehara, T., Nakahara, A., Matsuno, H., Toyoda, C., Oka, H., 2016. Body weight and dysautonomia in early Parkinson's disease. Acta Neurol. Scand. 1–8. doi:10.1111/ane.12633
- Ungerstedt, U., 1968. 6-hydroxy-dopamine induced degeneration of central monoamine neurons. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 5, 107–110.
- Ungerstedt, U., Arbuthnott, G., 1970. Quantitative recording of rotational behavior in rats after 6-hydroxy-dopamine lesions of the nigrostriatal dopamine system. Brain Res. 24, 485–493.
- Uva, L., De Curtis, M., 2005. Polysynaptic olfactory pathway to the ipsi- and contralateral entorhinal cortex mediated via the hippocampus. Neuroscience 130, 249–258. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2004.08.042
- Vakhrusheva, J., Marino, B., Stroup, T.S., Kimhy, D., 2016. Aerobic Exercise in People with Schizophrenia: Neural and Neurocognitive Benefits. Curr. Behav. Neurosci. Reports 1–11. doi:10.1007/s40473-016-0077-2
- Van Kampen, J.M., Baranowski, D.C., Robertson, H.A., Shaw, C.A., Kay, D.G., Lewis, P., 2015. The progressive BSSG rat model of Parkinson's: Recapitulating multiple key features of the human disease. PLoS One 10, 1–26. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0139694
- van Praag, H., Christie, B.R., Sejnowski, T.J., Gage, F. H., 1999. Running enhances neurogenesis, learning, and long-term potentiation in mice.

Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 96, 13427–13431. doi:10.1073/pnas.96.23.13427

- van Praag, H., Schinder, A.F., Christie, B.R., Toni, N., Palmer, T.D., Gage, F.H., 2002. Functional neurogenesis in the adult hippocampus. Nature 415, 1030–1034. doi:10.1038/4151030a
- van Praag, H., Shubert, T., Zhao, C., Gage, F.H., 2005. Exercise enhances learning and hippocampal neurogenesis in aged mice. J. Neurosci. 25, 8680–5. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1731-05.2005
- van Rooijen, B.D., Claessens, M.M.A.E., Subramaniam, V., 2010. Membrane permeabilization by oligomeric α-synuclein: In search of the mechanism. PLoS One 5, 1–9. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0014292
- van Rossum, D., Hanisch, U., 2004. Microglia. Metab. Brain Dis. 19, 393–412.
- Vandeputte, C., Taymans, J.-M., Casteels, C., Coun, F., Ni, Y., Van Laere, K., Baekelandt, V., 2010. Automated quantitative gait analysis in animal models of movement disorders. BMC Neurosci. 11, 92. doi:10.1186/1471-2202-11-92
- Vaughan, D., Peters, A., 1974. Neuroglial cells in the cerebral cortex of rats from young adulthood to old age: an electron microscope study. J. Neurocytol. 3, 405–429.
- Vazquez-Claverie, M., Garrido-Gil, P., San Sebastian, W., Izal-Azcarate, A., Belzunequi, S., Marcilla, I., Lopez, B., Luquin, M., 2009. Acute and chronic 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine administrations elicit similar microglial activation in the substantia nigra of monkeys. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 68, 977–984.
- Vichayanrat, E., Low, D.A., Iodice, V., Stuebner, E., Hagen, E.M., Mathias, C.J., 2016. Twenty-four-hour ambulatory blood pressure and heart rate profiles in diagnosing orthostatic hypotension in Parkinson's disease and multiple system atrophy. Eur. J. Neurol. 90–97. doi:10.1111/ene.13135
- Videnovic, A., 2017. Management of sleep disorders in Parkinson's disease and multiple system atrophy. Mov. Disord. 0, 1–10. doi:10.1002/mds.26918
- Vilela, T.C., Muller, A.P., Damiani, A.P., Macan, T.P., da Silva, S., Canteiro, P.B., de Sena Casagrande, A., Pedroso, G.D.S., Nesi, R.T., de Andrade, V.M., de Pinho, R.A., 2016. Strength and Aerobic Exercises Improve Spatial Memory in Aging Rats Through Stimulating Distinct Neuroplasticity Mechanisms. Mol. Neurobiol. 1–10. doi:10.1007/s12035-016-0272-x
- Villar-Piqué, A., da Fonseca, T.L., Outeiro, T.F., 2015. Structure, function and toxicity of alpha-synuclein: the Bermuda triangle in

synucleinopathies. J. Neurochem. n/a-n/a. doi:10.1111/jnc.13249

- Visanji, N., Marras, C., 2015. The relevance of pre-motor symptoms in Parkinson's disease. Expert Rev. Neurother. 15, 1205–1217. doi:10.1586/14737175.2015.1083423
- Volpicelli-Daley, L.A., Kirik, D., Stoyka, L.E., Standaert, D.G., Harms, A.S., 2016. How can rAAV- α -synuclein and the fibril α -synuclein models advance our understanding of Parkinson disease? J. Neurochem. n/an/a. doi:10.1111/jnc.13627
- von Bernhardi, R., Eugenín-von Bernhardi, L., Eugenín, J., 2015. Microglial cell dysregulation in brain aging and neurodegeneration. Front. Aging Neurosci. 7, 1–21. doi:10.3389/fnagi.2015.00124
- Voon, V., Fernagut, P.O., Wickens, J., Baunez, C., Rodriguez, M., Pavon, N., Juncos, J.L., Obeso, J.A., Bezard, E., 2009. Chronic dopaminergic stimulation in Parkinson's disease: from dyskinesias to impulse control disorders. Lancet Neurol. 8, 1140–1149. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(09)70287-X
- Vriend, C., Raijmakers, P., Veltman, D.J., van Dijk, K.D., van der Werf, Y.D., Foncke, E.M.J., Smit, J.H., Berendse, H.W., van den Heuvel, O. a, 2013.
  Depressive symptoms in Parkinson's disease are related to reduced [1231]FP-CIT binding in the caudate nucleus. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 85, 159–164. doi:10.1136/jnnp-2012-304811
- Wagner, G., Herbsleb, M., Cruz, F. de la, Schumann, A., Köhler, S., Puta, C., Gabriel, H.W., Reichenbach, J.R., Bär, K.-J., 2017. Changes in fMRI activation in anterior hippocampus and motor cortex during memory retrieval after an intense exercise intervention. Biol. Psychol. 124, 65– 78. doi:10.1016/j.biopsycho.2017.01.003
- Wales, P., Lázaro, D.F., Pinho, R., Outeiro, T.F., 2013. Limelight on alphasynuclein: Pathological and mechanistic implications in neurodegeneration. J. Parkinsons. Dis. 3, 415–459. doi:10.3233/JPD-130216
- Wang, B., Abraham, N., Gao, G., Yang, Q., 2016. Dysregulation of autophagy and mitochondrial function in Parkinson's disease. Transl. Neurodegener. 5, 19. doi:10.1186/s40035-016-0065-1
- Wang, H.-F., Yu, J.-T., Tang, S.-W., Jiang, T., Tan, C.-C., Meng, X.-F., Wang, C., Tan, M.-S., Tan, L., 2015. Efficacy and safety of cholinesterase inhibitors and memantine in cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease, Parkinson's disease dementia, and dementia with Lewy bodies: systematic review with meta-analysis and trial sequential analysis. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 86, 135–43. doi:10.1136/jnnp-2014-307659
- Wang, Q., Zhang, Z., Li, L., Wen, H., Xu, Q., 2014. Assessment of cognitive impairment in patients with Parkinson's disease: prevalence and risk

factors. Clin. Interv. Aging 9, 275–281.

- Wang, S., Chu, C.-H., Guo, M., Jiang, L., Nie, H., Zhang, W., Wilson, B., Yang, L., Stewart, T., Hong, J.-S., Zhang, J., 2016. Identification of a specific α-synuclein peptide (α-Syn 29-40) capable of eliciting microglial superoxide production to damage dopaminergic neurons. J. Neuroinflammation 13, 158. doi:10.1186/s12974-016-0606-7
- Wang, X.-M., Zhang, Y.-G., Li, A.-L., Long, Z.-H., Wang, D., Li, X.-X., Xia, J.-H., Luo, S.-Y., Shan, Y.-H., 2016. Relationship between levels of inflammatory cytokines in the peripheral blood and the severity of depression and anxiety in patients with Parkinson's disease. Eur. Rev. Med. Pharmacol. Sci. 20, 3853–3856.
- Wang, Z., Myers, K.G., Guo, Y., Ocampo, M. a., Pang, R.D., Jakowec, M.W., Holschneider, D.P., 2013. Functional reorganization of motor and limbic circuits after exercise training in a rat model of bilateral parkinsonism. PLoS One 8. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0080058
- Waxman, E., Giasson, B., 2009. Molecular Mechanisms of α-Synuclein Neurodegeneration. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1792, 616–624. doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2008.09.013.Molecular
- Weintraub, D., Mavandadi, S., Mamikonyan, E., Siderowf, A.D., Duda, J.E., Hurtig, H.I., Colcher, A., Horn, S.S., Nazem, S., Ten Have, T.R., Stern, M.B., 2010. Atomoxetine for depression and other neuropsychiatric symptoms in Parkinson disease. Neurology 75, 448–455. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181ebdd79
- Wenning, G.K., Odin, P., Morrish, P., Rehncrona, S., Widner, H., Brundin, P., Rothwell, J., Brown, R., Gustavii, B., Hagell, P., Jahanshahi, M., Sawle, G., Bjorklund, A., Brooks, D., Marsden, C., Quinn, N.P., Lindvall, O., 1997. Short- and long-term survival and function of unilateral intrastriatal dopaminergic grafts in Parkinson's disease. Ann. Neurol. 42, 95–107.
- Wesnes, K., Aarsland, D., Ballard, C., Londos, E., 2015. Memantine improves attention and episodic memory in Parkinson's disease dementia and dementia with Lewy bodies. Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry 30, 46–54.
- Westin, J.E., Janssen, M.L.F., Sager, T.N., Temel, Y., 2012. Automated gait analysis in bilateral Parkinsonian rats and the role of I-DOPA therapy. Behav. Brain Res. 226, 519–528. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2011.10.006
- Widner, H., Tetrud, J., Rehncrona, S., Snow, B., Brundin, P., Gustavii, B.,
  Bjorklund, A., Lindvall, O., Langston, J., 1992. Bilateral fetal
  mesencephalic grafting in two patients with parkinsonism induced by
  1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP). N. Engl. J. Med.
  327, 1556–63.

Williams-Gray, C.H., Evans, J.R., Goris, A., Foltynie, T., Ban, M., Robbins,

T.W., Brayne, C., Kolachana, B.S., Weinberger, D.R., Sawcer, S.J., Barker, R.A., 2009. The distinct cognitive syndromes of Parkinson's disease: 5 year follow-up of the CamPaIGN cohort. Brain 132, 2958– 2969. doi:10.1093/brain/awp245

- Williams-Gray, C.H., Mason, S.L., Evans, J.R., Foltynie, T., Brayne, C., Robbins, T.W., Barker, R. a, 2013. The CamPalGN study of Parkinson's disease: 10-year outlook in an incident population-based cohort. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 84, 1258–64. doi:10.1136/jnnp-2013-305277
- Williams-Gray, C.H., Wijeyekoon, R., Yarnall, A.J., Lawson, R.A., Breen, D.P., Evans, J.R., Cummins, G.A., Duncan, G.W., Khoo, T.K., Burn, D.J., Barker, R.A., 2016. Serum immune markers and disease progression in an incident Parkinson's disease cohort (ICICLE-PD). Mov. Disord. 31, 995–1003. doi:10.1002/mds.26563
- Williams, A., Gill, S., Varma, T., Jenkinson, C., Quinn, N., Mitchell, R., Scott, R., Ives, N., Rick, C., Daniels, J., Patel, S., Wheatley, K., 2010. Deep brain stimulation plus best medical therapy versus best medical therapy alone for advanced Parkinson's disease (PD SURG trial): a randomised, open-label trial. Lancet Neurol. 9, 581–591. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(10)70093-4
- Wilms, H., Rosenstiel, P., Romera-Ramos, M., Arlt, A., Schafer, H., Seegert, D., Kahle, P., Odoy, S., Claasen, J., Holzknecht, C., Brandenburg, L., Deuschl, G., Schreiber, S., Kirik, D., Lucius, R., 2009. Suppression of MAP kinases inhibits microglial activation and attenuates neuronal cell death induced by alpha-synuclein protofibrils. Int. J. Immunopathol. Pharmacol. 22, 897–909.
- Winner, B., Lie, D.C., Rockenstein, E., Aigner, R., Aigner, L., Masliah, E., Kuhn, H.G., Winkler, J., 2004. Human wild-type alpha-synuclein impairs neurogenesis. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 63, 1155–1166.
- Winner, B., Regensburger, M., Schreglmann, S., Boyer, L., Prots, I., Rockenstein, E., Mante, M., Zhao, C., Winkler, J., Masliah, E., Gage, F.H., 2012. Role of α-synuclein in adult neurogenesis and neuronal maturation in the dentate gyrus. J. Neurosci. 32, 16906–16. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2723-12.2012
- Wirdefeldt, K., Odin, P., Nyholm, D., 2016. Levodopa-Carbidopa intestinal gel in patients with Parkinson's disease: a systematic review. CNS Drugs 30, 381–404.
- Wisman, L.A.B., Sahin, G., Maingay, M., Leanza, G., Kirik, D., 2008.
   Functional Convergence of Dopaminergic and Cholinergic Input Is Critical for Hippocampus-Dependent Working Memory. J. Neurosci. 28, 7797–7807. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1885-08.2008

Wong, Y.C., Krainc, D., 2017. A-Synuclein Toxicity in Neurodegeneration:

Mechanism and Therapeutic Strategies. Nat. Med. 23, 1–13. doi:10.1038/nm.4269

- Wrasidlo, W., Tsigelny, I., Price, D., Dutta, G., Rockenstein, E., Schwarz, T., Ledolter, K., Bonhaus, D., Paulino, A., Eleuteri, S., Skjevik, A., Kouznetsova, V., Spencer, B., Desplats, P., Gonzalez-Ruelas, T., Trejo-Morales, M., Overk, C., Winter, S., Zhu, C., Chesselet, M., Meier, D., Moessler, H., Konrat, R., E, M., 2016. A de novo compound targeting α-synuclein improves deficits in models of Parkinson's disease. Brain.
- Wu, C.K., Hohler, A.D., 2015. Management of orthostatic hypotension in patients with Parkinson's disease. Pract. Neurol. 15, 100–104. doi:10.1136/practneurol-2014-001000
- Wu, M. V, Luna, V.M., Hen, R., 2015. Running rescues a fear-based contextual discrimination deficit in aged mice. Front. Syst. Neurosci. 9, 114. doi:10.3389/fnsys.2015.00114
- Xu, Q., Park, Y., Huang, X., Hollenbeck, A., Blair, A., Schatzkin, A., Chen, H.,
   2010. Physical activities and future risk of Parkinson disease.
   Neurology 75, 341–348. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181ea1597
- Xu, Y., Deng, Y., Qing, H., 2015. The phosphorylation of α-synuclein: development and implication for the mechanism and therapy of the Parkinson's disease. J. Neurochem. n/a-n/a. doi:10.1111/jnc.13234
- Yamamoto, T., Ueji, K., 2011. Brain Mechanisms of Flavor Learning. Front. Syst. Neurosci. 5, 1–7. doi:10.3389/fnsys.2011.00076
- Yang, F., Lagerros, Y.T., Bellocco, R., Adami, H., Fang, F., Pedersen, N.L., Wirdefeldt, K., 2015. Physical activity and risk of Parkinson's disease in the Swedish National March Cohort. Brain 138, 269–275. doi:10.1093/awu351
- Yarnall, A.J., Breen, D.P., Khoo, T.K., Coleman, S.Y., Firbank, M.J., Nombela, C., Winder-Rhodes, S., Evans, J.R., Rowe, J.B., Mollenhauer, B., Kruse, N., Hudson, G., Chinnery, P.F., O'Brien, J.T., Robbins, T.W., Wesnes, K., Brooks, D.J., Barker, R.A., Burn, D.J., ICICLE-PD Study Group, 2014. Characterising mild cognitive impairment in incident Parkinson's disease: The ICICLE-PD study. Neurology 82, 308–316. doi:10.1212/WNL.00000000000066
- Yasuda, T., Nakata, Y., Mochizuki, H., 2013. α -Synuclein and Neuronal Cell Death. Mol. Neurobiol. 47, 466–483. doi:10.1007/s12035-012-8327-0
- Ye, S.M., Johnson, R.W., 2001. An age-related decline in interleukin-10 may contribute to the increased expression of interleukin-6 in brain of aged mice. Neuroimmunomodulation 9, 183–192. doi:10.1159/000049025
- Ye, S.M., Johnson, R.W., 1999. Increased interleukin-6 expression by microglia from brain of aged mice. J. Neuroimmunol. 93, 139–148.

doi:10.1016/S0165-5728(98)00217-3

- Yoo, D., Jung, H., Kim, J., Yim, H., Kim, D., Nam, H., Suh, J., Choi, J., Won, M., Yoon, Y., Hwang, I., 2016. Reduction of dynamin 1 in the hippocampus of aged mice is associated with the decline in hippocampal-dependent memory. Mol. Med. Rep. 14, 4755–4760.
- Yoon, M.C., Shin, M.S., Kim, T.S., Kim, B.K., Ko, I.G., Sung, Y.H., Kim, S.E., Lee, H.H., Kim, Y.P., Kim, C.J., 2007. Treadmill exercise suppresses nigrostriatal dopaminergic neuronal loss in 6-hydroxydopamineinduced Parkinson's rats. Neurosci. Lett. 423, 12–17. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2007.06.031
- Zaltieri, M., Longhena, F., Pizzi, M., Missale, C., Spano, P., Bellucci, A., 2015. Mitochondrial Dysfunction and α-Synuclein Synaptic Pathology in Parkinson's Disease: Who's on First? Parkinsons. Dis. 2015, 1–10. doi:10.1155/2015/108029
- Załuska, M., Dyduch, A., 2011. Bupropion in the treatment of depression in Parkinson's disease. Int. Psychogeriatr. 23, 325–7. doi:10.1017/S1041610210001687
- Zaminelli, T., Gradowski, R.W., Bassani, T.B., Barbiero, J.K., Santiago, R.M., Maria-Ferreira, D., Baggio, C.H., Vital, M.A.B.F., 2014. Antidepressant and Antioxidative Effect of Ibuprofen in the Rotenone Model of Parkinson's Disease. Neurotox. Res. 26, 351–362. doi:10.1007/s12640-014-9467-y
- Zarranz, J.J., Alegre, J., Gómez-Esteban, J.C., Lezcano, E., Ros, R., Ampuero, I., Vidal, L., Hoenicka, J., Rodriguez, O., Atarés, B., Llorens, V., Gomez Tortosa, E., Del Ser, T., Muñoz, D.G., De Yebenes, J.G., 2004. The New Mutation, E46K, of α-synuclein Causes Parkinson and Lewy Body Dementia. Ann. Neurol. 55, 164–173. doi:10.1002/ana.10795
- Zgaljardic, D.J., Borod, J.C., Foldi, N.S., Mattis, P.J., Gordon, M.F., Feigin, A., Eidelberg, D., 2006. An examination of executive dysfunction associated with frontostriatal circuitry in Parkinson's disease. J. Clin. Exp. Neuropsychol. 28, 1127–1144. doi:10.1080/13803390500246910
- Zhang, W., Dallas, S., Zhang, D., Guo, J.-P., Pang, H., Wilson, B., Mille, r D., Chen, B., Zhang, W., McGeer, P., Hong, J.-S., Zhang, J., 2007. Microglial PHOX and Mac-1 are essential to the enhanced dopaminergic neurodegeneration elicited by A30P and A53T mutant alphasynuclein. Glia 55, 1416–1425. doi:10.1002/glia
- Zhao, Y., Zhang, M., Liu, H., Wang, J., 2017. Signaling by growth / differentiation factor 5 through the bone morphogenetic protein receptor type IB protects neurons against kainic acid-induced neurodegeneration. Neurosci. Lett. 651, 36–42. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2017.04.055

Zharikov, A.D., Cannon, J.R., Tapias, V., Bai, Q., Horowitz, M.P., Shah, V., El

Ayadi, A., Hastings, T.G., Greenamyre, J.T., Burton, E.A., 2015. shRNA targeting  $\alpha$ -synuclein prevents neurodegeneration in a Parkinson's disease model. J. Clin. Invest. 125, 2721–35. doi:10.1172/JCI64502

- Zheng, Q., Cui, G., Chen, J., Gao, H., Wei, Y., Uede, T., Chen, Z., Diao, H., 2015. Regular Exercise Enhances the Immune Response Against Microbial Antigens Through Up-Regulation of Toll-like Receptor Signaling Pathways. Cell. Physiol. Biochem. 37, 735–746. doi:10.1159/000430391
- Zhou, M., Zhang, W., Chang, J., Wang, J., Zheng, W., Yang, Y., Wen, P., Li, M., Xiao, H., 2015. Gait analysis in three different 6-hydroxydopamine rat models of Parkinson's disease. Neurosci. Lett. 584, 184–189. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2014.10.032
- Ztaou, S., Maurice, N., Camon, J., Guiraudie-Capraz, G., Kerkerian-Le Goff, L., Beurrier, C., Liberge, M., Amalric, M., 2016. Involvement of Striatal Cholinergic Interneurons and M1 and M4 Muscarinic Receptors in Motor Symptoms of Parkinson's Disease. J. Neurosci. 36, 9161–9172. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0873-16.2016

Chapter 10

## 10.0 Publications arising from this work

## Journal articles

Crowley EK, Nolan YM and Sullivan AM, 2017. Neuroprotective effects of voluntary running on cognitive dysfunction in an  $\alpha$ -synuclein rat model of Parkinson's disease. (*Submitted to Neurobiology of Aging*).

Crowley EK, Nolan YM and Sullivan AM, 2017. Exercise as a therapeutic intervention for motor and non-motor symptoms in Parkinson's disease: evidence from rodent models. (*Submitted to Progress in Neurobiology*).

## Abstracts

SM O'Donovan, EK Crowley, OF O'Leary, S Timmons, PW O'Toole, DJ Clarke, NP Hyland, SA Joyce, AM Sullivan, C O'Neill. The brain  $\leftrightarrow$  gut axis in Parkinson's disease (PD): Altered gut pathology and increased gut inflammation in the rAAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein rat model of PD. International Conference on Alzheimer's & Parkinson's Diseases, Vienna, April 2017.

SM O'Donovan, EK Crowley, OF O'Leary, S Timmons, PW O'Toole, DJ Clarke, NP Hyland, SA Joyce, AM Sullivan, C O'Neill. The brain  $\leftrightarrow$  gut axis in Parkinson's disease: defining gut pathology in the rAAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein rat model of PD. New Horizons Conference, University College Cork, December 2016.

262

SM O'Donovan, EK Crowley, OF O'Leary, S Timmons, PW O'Toole, DJ Clarke, NP Hyland, SA Joyce, AM Sullivan, C O'Neill. The brain  $\leftrightarrow$  gut axis in Parkinson's disease (PD): Altered gut pathology and increased gut inflammation in the rAAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein rat model of PD. The Biochemistry Society Conference, Maynooth, November 2016

SM O'Donovan, EK Crowley, OF O'Leary, S Timmons, PW O'Toole, DJ Clarke, NP Hyland, SA Joyce, AM Sullivan, C O'Neill. The brain  $\leftrightarrow$  gut axis in Parkinson's disease: defining gut pathology in the rAAV- $\alpha$ -synuclein rat model of PD. APC Microbiome Institute Symposium, UCC, September 2016

Dolan EK, Nolan YM and Sullivan AM. Characterisation of cognitive deficits in an  $\alpha$ -synuclein model of Parkinson's disease. New Horizons conference, University College Cork, December 2015.

Dolan EK, Nolan YM and Sullivan AM. Characterisation of cognitive deficits in an  $\alpha$ -synuclein model of Parkinson's disease. Network for European CNS Transplantation and Restoration, Lund, Sweden, December 2015

Dolan EK, Nolan YM and Sullivan AM. Characterisation of cognitive deficits in an  $\alpha$ -synuclein model of Parkinson's disease. Society for Neuroscience Annual Meeting, Chicago USA. October 2015. Dolan EK, Nolan YM and Sullivan AM. Motor effects of unilateral and bilateral lesions induced by viral vector-mediated overexpression of alphasynuclein in a rodent model of Parkinson's disease. Euron: New targets in neurodegenerative diseases, University of Minho, Braga, Portugal, September 2014.

Dolan EK, Nolan YM and Sullivan AM. Characterisation of cognitive deficits in an α-synuclein model of Parkinson's disease. Molecular Medicine Ireland Education and Training Annual Meeting, Trinity College Dublin, March 2014.

Chapter 11

## 11.0 Acknowledgements

Firstly, I'd like to start by sincerely thanking Molecular Medicine Ireland for providing me with the funding to complete this PhD.

To my supervisors Aideen Sullivan and Yvonne Nolan. I can't thank you enough for your endless support, patience, wisdom and enthusiasm over the last 4 years. Your constant guidance, advice and friendship ensured that I never felt overwhelmed, and I am so incredibly grateful to have had you both with me on this journey.

To the staff in the Department of Anatomy and Neuroscience for all your help, especially Tara, Gerry, Caitríona, Suzanne, Miriam and Mary. In the Biological Services Unit, a sincere thanks to Kieran Mc, Trish, Jay, Noelle, Brian, Áine, Vince and Fachtna for all the lunch time craic and for keeping me (relatively) sane during the endless animal work. A special thanks to Cynthia Brouwers for her help on the first animal study.

To my fellow students that I have been especially fortunate to complete this journey with. For all the coffee breaks, ice-cream trips, nights out and knowing that despite everything we're all in this together, thanks to Séamus 'No Effect' O'Leary, Ciarán O'Lemon, Alan Hoban, Ken 'Wonton' Howick and Shauna Wallace. A particularly special thanks to the ever-wonderful Cara Hueston for all that you've done for me, for always putting me up for the night (and always putting up with me). Also, in fond remembrance of Wesley, who will always be missed.

To my resident Irish family, my in-laws Michael and Eileen. Thanks for your support, your kindness and your generosity, and for all the wonderfully

266

considerate little things you have done for me knowing that it would make my day a little easier.

To my parents Peter and Trish and my brothers Matt and Liam. You have always encouraged me, supported me and instilled in me the belief that I can do whatever I set my mind to. I have gone through my life knowing that whatever happens, you are always behind me. You can add another score to that board, Dad.

To Molly. No matter how big my problems seemed or how bad my day was, you always reminded me that nothing could possibly be more important than you.

Finally, to Ger. You have been with me every step of the way, and your unwavering love and support has made this possible. You listened, consoled, advised, encouraged and guided me through the last 4 years, and when none of that worked you always had the bottle of wine ready. This thesis is dedicated to you.